
 

 

 
Strategic 
Monitoring 
Committee 

 

 

Date: Monday, 20th October, 2008 

Time: 9.30 a.m. 

Place: The Council Chamber, Brockington, 35 
Hafod Road, Hereford 

Notes: Please note the time, date and venue of the 
meeting. 

For any further information please contact: 

Tim Brown, Committee Manager Scrutiny, Tel 
01432 260239 
E-mail tbrown@herefordshire.gov.uk 

  
 
 
 
Herefordshire Council 

 

 



 
 



HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL  20TH OCTOBER, 2008 
 
 

AGENDA 
for the Meeting of the Strategic Monitoring 
Committee 
 
To: Councillor PJ Edwards (Chairman) 

Councillor WLS Bowen (Vice-Chairman) 
 
 Councillors PA Andrews, WU Attfield, KG Grumbley, TM James, RI Matthews, 

PM Morgan, AT Oliver, SJ Robertson and JK Swinburne 
 

  

  

 Pages 

  
   
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE     
   
 To receive apologies for absence.  
   
2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST     
   
 To receive any declarations of interest by Members in respect of items on 

the Agenda. 
 
GUIDANCE ON DECLARING PERSONAL AND PREJUDICIAL 
INTERESTS AT MEETINGS 
 
The Council’s Members’ Code of Conduct requires Councillors to declare 
against an Agenda item(s) the nature of an interest and whether the 
interest is personal or prejudicial.  Councillors have to decide first whether 
or not they have a personal interest in the matter under discussion.  They 
will then have to decide whether that personal interest is also prejudicial. 
  
A personal interest is an interest that affects the Councillor more than most 
other people in the area.  People in the area include those who live, work 
or have property in the area of the Council.  Councillors will also have a 
personal interest if their partner, relative or a close friend, or an 
organisation that they or the member works for, is affected more than other 
people in the area.  If they do have a personal interest, they must declare it 
but can stay and take part and vote in the meeting.   
 
Whether an interest is prejudicial is a matter of judgement for each 
Councillor.  What Councillors have to do is ask themselves whether a 
member of the public – if he or she knew all the facts – would think that the 
Councillor’s interest was so important that their decision would be affected 
by it.  If a Councillor has a prejudicial interest then they must declare what 
that interest is and leave the meeting room. 

 

   
3. MINUTES   1 - 6  
   
 To approve and sign the Minutes of the meeting held on 10 September 

2008. 
 
 
 

 

   



 
4. SUGGESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC ON ISSUES FOR 

FUTURE SCRUTINY   
  

   
 To consider suggestions from members of the public on issues the 

Committee could scrutinise in the future. 
 

   
5. INTEGRATED CORPORATE PERFORMANCE REPORT FOR APRIL TO 

JULY 2008   
7 - 82  

   
 To report the Council’s performance for the first four months of 2008/09 

against the Corporate Plan 2008/11 and national performance indicators 
used externally to measure the Council’s performance, taking account of 
the separate but complementary financial performance report, the updated 
Council risk register and progress against the action plans produced 
following the Crookall review. 

 

   
6. COMPREHENSIVE AREA ASSESSMENT - JOINT INSPECTORATE 

PROPOSALS AND THE IMPLICATIONS FOR HEREFORDSHIRE'S 
PREPARATIONS   

83 - 138  

   
 To note the detailed proposals for the new system of Comprehensive Area 

Assessment and how Cabinet has agreed Herefordshire’s preparations are 
to be taken forward. 

 

   
7. BUDGET MONITORING   139 - 164  
   
 To report on the Council’s performance against revenue and capital 

budgets as at 31 August 2008 and provide an indication of the estimated 
outturn for the 2008/09 financial year.   

 

   
8. SCRUTINY ACTIVITY REPORT   165 - 168  
   
 To consider the work being undertaken by the Scrutiny Committees.  
   
9. WORK PROGRAMMES   169 - 178  
   
 To consider the Scrutiny Committee’s current and future work programmes.  
   
 



PUBLIC INFORMATION 

HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL'S SCRUTINY COMMITTEES 

The Council has established Scrutiny Committees for Adult Social Care 
and Strategic Housing, Childrens’ Services, Community Services, 
Environment, and Health.  A Strategic Monitoring Committee scrutinises 
corporate matters and co-ordinates the work of these Committees. 

The purpose of the Committees is to ensure the accountability and 
transparency of the Council's decision making process. 

The principal roles of Scrutiny Committees are to 
 

•  Help in developing Council policy 
 

• Probe, investigate, test the options and ask the difficult questions 
before and after decisions are taken 

 

• Look in more detail at areas of concern which may have been raised 
by the Cabinet itself, by other Councillors or by members of the public 

 

• "call in" decisions  - this is a statutory power which gives Scrutiny 
Committees the right to place a decision on hold pending further 
scrutiny. 

 

• Review performance of the Council 
 

• Conduct Best Value reviews  
 

• Undertake external scrutiny work engaging partners and the public  
 
Formal meetings of the Committees are held in public and information 
on your rights to attend meetings and access to information are set out 
overleaf 
 



PUBLIC INFORMATION 

Public Involvement at Scrutiny Committee Meetings 

You can contact Councillors and Officers at any time about Scrutiny 
Committee matters and issues which you would like the Scrutiny 
Committees to investigate.  

There are also two other ways in which you can directly contribute at 
Herefordshire Council’s Scrutiny Committee meetings. 

1. Identifying Areas for Scrutiny 

At the meeting the Chairman will ask the members of the public present if 
they have any issues which they would like the Scrutiny Committee to 
investigate, however, there will be no discussion of the issue at the time 
when the matter is raised.  Councillors will research the issue and consider 
whether it should form part of the Committee’s work programme when 
compared with other competing priorities. 

Please note that the Committees can only scrutinise items which fall within 
their specific remit (see below).  If a matter is raised which falls within the 
remit of another Scrutiny Committee then it will be noted and passed on to 
the relevant Chairman for their consideration.   

2. Questions from Members of the Public for Consideration at 
Scrutiny Committee Meetings and Participation at Meetings 

You can submit a question for consideration at a Scrutiny Committee 
meeting so long as the question you are asking is directly related to an item 
listed on the agenda.  If you have a question you would like to ask then 
please submit it no later than two working days before the meeting to 
the Committee Officer.  This will help to ensure that an answer can be 
provided at the meeting.  Contact details for the Committee Officer can be 
found on the front page of this agenda.   

Generally, members of the public will also be able to contribute to the 
discussion at the meeting.  This will be at the Chairman’s discretion.   

(Please note that the Scrutiny Committees are not able to discuss 
questions relating to personal or confidential issues.) 



 
Remits of Herefordshire Council’s Scrutiny Committees 
 
Adult Social Care and Strategic Housing 
 
Statutory functions for adult social services including: 
Learning Disabilities 
Strategic Housing 
Supporting People 
Public Health 
 
Children’s Services 
 
Provision of services relating to the well-being of children including 
education, health and social care. 
 
Community Services Scrutiny Committee 
 
Libraries 
Cultural Services including heritage and tourism 
Leisure Services 
Parks and Countryside 
Community Safety 
Economic Development 
Youth Services 
 
Health 
 
Planning, provision and operation of health services affecting the area 
Health Improvement 
Services provided by the NHS 
 
Environment 
 
Environmental Issues 
Highways and Transportation 
 
Strategic Monitoring Committee 
Corporate Strategy and Finance 
Resources  
Corporate and Customer Services 
Human Resources 

 

 



The Public’s Rights to Information and Attendance at 
Meetings  
 
YOU HAVE A RIGHT TO: - 
 
 

• Attend all Council, Cabinet, Committee and Sub-Committee meetings unless the 
business to be transacted would disclose ‘confidential’ or ‘exempt’ information. 

• Inspect agenda and public reports at least five clear days before the date of the 
meeting. 

• Inspect minutes of the Council and all Committees and Sub-Committees and written 
statements of decisions taken by the Cabinet or individual Cabinet Members for up to 
six years following a meeting. 

• Inspect background papers used in the preparation of public reports for a period of up 
to four years from the date of the meeting.  (A list of the background papers to a 
report is given at the end of each report).  A background paper is a document on 
which the officer has relied in writing the report and which otherwise is not available 
to the public. 

• Access to a public Register stating the names, addresses and wards of all 
Councillors with details of the membership of Cabinet and of all Committees and 
Sub-Committees. 

• Have a reasonable number of copies of agenda and reports (relating to items to be 
considered in public) made available to the public attending meetings of the Council, 
Cabinet, Committees and Sub-Committees. 

• Have access to a list specifying those powers on which the Council have delegated 
decision making to their officers identifying the officers concerned by title. 

• Copy any of the documents mentioned above to which you have a right of access, 
subject to a reasonable charge (20p per sheet subject to a maximum of £5.00 per 
agenda plus a nominal fee of £1.50 for postage). 

• Access to this summary of your rights as members of the public to attend meetings of 
the Council, Cabinet, Committees and Sub-Committees and to inspect and copy 
documents. 

 

 

 



 

Please Note: 

Agenda and individual reports can be made available in large 
print.  Please contact the officer named on the front cover of this 
agenda in advance of the meeting who will be pleased to deal 
with your request. 

The Council Chamber where the meeting will be held is accessible for 
visitors in wheelchairs, for whom toilets are also available. 

A public telephone is available in the reception area. 
 
Public Transport Links 
 
 
• Public transport access can be gained to Brockington via the service runs 

approximately every half hour from the ‘Hopper’ bus station at the Tesco store in 
Bewell Street (next to the roundabout junction of Blueschool Street / Victoria Street / 
Edgar Street). 

• The nearest bus stop to Brockington is located in Old Eign Hill near to its junction 
with Hafod Road.  The return journey can be made from the same bus stop. 

 
 
 
 
 
If you have any questions about this agenda, how the Council works or would like more 
information or wish to exercise your rights to access the information described above, 
you may do so either by telephoning the officer named on the front cover of this agenda 
or by visiting in person during office hours (8.45 a.m. - 5.00 p.m. Monday - Thursday 
and 8.45 a.m. - 4.45 p.m. Friday) at the Council Offices, Brockington, 35 Hafod Road, 
Hereford. 

 

 

 

 

 
Where possible this agenda is printed on paper made from 100% Post-Consumer waste. De-

inked without bleaching and free from optical brightening agents (OBA). Awarded the 

Nordic Swan for low emissions during production and the Blue Angel environmental label. 

 



 

COUNTY OF HEREFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
 

BROCKINGTON, 35 HAFOD ROAD, HEREFORD. 
 
 
 

FIRE AND EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE 
 
 

 

In the event of a fire or emergency the alarm bell will ring 
continuously. 

You should vacate the building in an orderly manner through the 
nearest available fire exit. 

You should then proceed to Assembly Point J which is located at 
the southern entrance to the car park.  A check will be undertaken 
to ensure that those recorded as present have vacated the 
building following which further instructions will be given. 

Please do not allow any items of clothing, etc. to obstruct any of 
the exits. 

Do not delay your vacation of the building by stopping or returning 
to collect coats or other personal belongings. 
 



HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL 

MINUTES of the meeting of Strategic Monitoring 
Committee held at The Council Chamber, Brockington, 35 
Hafod Road, Hereford on Wednesday, 10 September 2008 
at 9.30 a.m. 
  

Present: Councillor PJ Edwards (Chairman) 
Councillor  WLS Bowen (Vice Chairman) 

   
 Councillors: PA Andrews, KG Grumbley, TM James, RI Matthews, 

PM Morgan, AT Oliver and JK Swinburne 
 

  
In attendance: Councillors MD Lloyd-Hayes and RJ Phillips 
  
  
24. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   
  
 Apologies were received from Councillor WU Attfield and SJ Robertson. 
  
25. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
  
 Councillor PJ Edwards declared a personal interest as a former Cabinet Member in 

the agenda item on suggestions by members of the public. 
  
26. MINUTES   
  
 

RESOLVED:  That the Minutes of the meeting held on 16 July 2008 be 
confirmed as a correct record and signed by the Chairman. 

  
27. SUGGESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC ON ISSUES FOR FUTURE 

SCRUTINY   
  
 (Councillor PJ Edwards declared a personal interest as a former Cabinet Member.) 

 
In summary, a member of the public requested that the Committee call-in Council’s 
decision on the Notice of Motion submitted to the extraordinary meeting of Council 
on 4 September relating to the legal challenge to the Herefordshire Unitary 
Development Plan, the majority of the points raised in the Notice of Motion not 
having been accepted by Council.  He said that no answers had been given to these 
points and questions raised in the Notice of Motion and that they warranted further 
investigation and clarification. 
 
The Assistant Chief Executive – Legal and Democratic Services advised that the 
legal power of call-in did not apply to Council’s decision. The Council's constitution 
only permitted key decisions taken by the Executive to be called in.  The Council had 
properly debated the Notice of Motion and an amendment to the motion had been 
properly put and carried by Council.  The matter had been fully debated and 
accordingly scrutinised by Council. 
 
A Member noted that an appeal had been lodged by Bloor Homes against the High 
Court judgment on the challenge to the Council’s resolution of July 2006 allocating 
land for housing at Bullinghope and was ongoing.  It was suggested that this limited 
the extent to which the issues involved could be discussed. 

AGENDA ITEM 3

1



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE WEDNESDAY, 10 SEPTEMBER 2008 

 

 

 
In summary, another member of the public requested the Committee to examine the 
Council’s approach to disclosure of evidence in connection with the High Court 
challenge to the Unitary Development Plan. 
 
The Assistant Chief Executive – Legal and Democratic Services advised that Legal 
Services had acted in accordance with the advice of Counsel and had complied with 
the Court Rules.  The Judge had expressed his dissatisfaction with the Court Rules 
and it was understood he intended to issue a new practice directive. 
 
The Chairman said that he looked forward to the directive being received. 
 

  
28. REVIEW OF THE SERVICE DELIVERY PARTNERSHIP WITH AMEY WYE 

VALLEY LIMITED   
  
  

The Committee considered what comments it wished to make to Cabinet on the 
Service Delivery Review of the Council’s Service Delivery Partnership with Amey. 
 
The report to be considered by Cabinet on 11 September had been circulated with 
the agenda papers.  This sought authority to commence formal negotiations with 
Amey based on a Herefordshire Model of service delivery, as outlined in the report, 
as the preferred model. This was a “managing agent” model under which, subject to 
successful negotiations, Amey would take on the relevant Council staff responsible 
for the relevant service areas under TUPE arrangements.  It was proposed that a 
further report would be submitted to Cabinet on conclusion of the negotiations.   
Negotiation of the preferred model would not restrict the recommendation of a 
different model if it was clear that this would be in the Council’s best interests.  
 
The report also proposed that Asset Management and Property Services should be 
excluded from the negotiation whilst a wider review of the property estate and its 
management was carried out, to be completed by the end of March 2009. 
 
The Director of Environment and Culture invited comments on the report, the 
substance of which had been previously debated by the Committee in June. 
 
In the course of discussion the principal points were made: 
 

• Concern was expressed as to whether due weight was being given in the 
discussions to the importance of quality of service.  It was suggested that it was 
hard to accept that savings of £1million per annum could be generated in the 
context of the current level of the contract and improvements made to the quality 
of service at the same time.  The Director said that he considered it was possible 
both to make savings and improve the quality of service.  The detailed report it 
was proposed to provide to Cabinet in December would set out how 
improvements in quality would be secured. 

 

• A number of questions were asked about the views of staff on the proposals and 
the effect the proposals would have on them.  The Director noted that the report 
to Cabinet was seeking approval to enter into detailed negotiations.  He believed 
staff were satisfied with the way the process had been conducted and 
communicated to date.  There had been regular newsletters and briefings.  
However, staff had understandable concern about the implications of transferring 
to Amey.  Advice would need to be offered to staff on their individual positions. 

 
 

2



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE WEDNESDAY, 10 SEPTEMBER 2008 

 

 

 
 Members observed that the TUPE provisions protecting terms and conditions on 

transfer to Amey did have their limitations in that they ceased to apply if an 
employee changed their role or, for example, secured a promotion. 

 

• That there had been considerable tension between the Council and the 
contractor.  The managing agent model seemed to be the best way of resolving 
that difficulty.  However, it was important that reassurance was provided on the 
employment issues. 

 

• In response to a question the Director confirmed that the Trades Unions had 
been invited to all meetings of the Project Board, although they had only 
attended a few times, and would continue to be involved in the process and in 
discussions about staff transfers. 

 

• It was asked how many posts would be cut under the proposals and at what 
levels.  The Director said that the negotiations would determine how many staff 
would transfer and the number of posts the Council would need to retain and 
contract management arrangements that would need to be put in place.  He said 
that the Directorate had managed vacancies in the last year and that there were 
currently 20 vacancies within Highways some of which are being covered by 
temporary agency staff.  This would help to minimise the need for any 
redundancies and the associated costs. 

 

• Reference was made to a newspaper report in autumn 2007 that 60 posts were 
to be cut to make savings of £2 million.  It was asked if this reduction had taken 
place or whether it was linked to the current proposals.  The Director replied that 
this figure had been produced by the Trades Unions.  The need for savings had 
been identified to address budgetary pressures.  The Medium Term Financial 
Strategy specifically excluded provision for inflation on non-pay budgets.  
Budgetary pressures to be met from within existing budgets included a reduction 
in budgeted fee income from planning services, and inflation in contract costs 
which had a particular impact because the directorate held some of the largest 
contracts.  Investment in ICT also needed to be financed.  There had been some 
redundancies in Environmental Health and Trading Standards and a reduction in 
the provision of specialised services.  Further information could be provided if 
requested.   

 

• The cost of renegotiating the contract was estimated to be £200,000 including 
consultancy fees for external legal and contract negotiation advice.  Questions 
were asked about the need for this expenditure and the sum involved.  The 
Director said that the expenditure needed to be considered in the context of the 
size and length of the contract and the level of expertise required given the 
complexity of the negotiations.  The Council’s advice would be secured through a 
consultancy firm owned by the Local Government Association that had a 
reputation for being extremely competent.  He expected Amey would be 
spending considerably more than this on its advisors.   

 

• An explanation was sought of the estimated savings of £308,000 per annum 
through the recovery of costs for damage to immobile property (eg highways, 
street lighting, and signage) by individuals and businesses, as referred to on 
page 74 of the agenda papers, and why this was not currently being achieved.  
The Director replied that the potential for securing this level of savings had been 
identified during the review.  

 
 

3



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE WEDNESDAY, 10 SEPTEMBER 2008 

 

 

• It was suggested that one of the key failings of the current arrangements was 
that the specification provided by the Council as client to the contractor often 
seemed to be flawed.  In addition quality of service varied from area to area.   
This suggested that it was the teams on the ground and how they were managed 
that was also a key factor.  It was asked how the proposed move to a managing 
agent model would lead to an improvement.  The Director said that it was 
important to shift the emphasis to a focus on outcomes. The interim Head of 
Highways said that the onus would be on the contractor to design and develop a 
scheme to their own specification.  The Council as client would need to manage 
the contract to ensure the outcome was then delivered to its satisfaction and, 
through auditing a sample of jobs, ensure that value for money was achieved.   

 

• It was asked how Amey would be accountable and be seen to be accountable.  
The Director said that the agreement would be based on transparency and 
Amey’s books being open to Council inspection.   

 

• Further concern was expressed about how to ensure that quality of service was 
being delivered and the Council was getting what it was paying for.  The Director 
said that a large amount of performance data was already available to the 
Council in addition to the national performance indicator data that could be used 
to measure quality.  Part of an agreed performance framework would include a 
greater focus on material already in the Council’s possession.  It would be 
important, however, that the steps taken to measure quality were proportionate. 

 

• The Chairman remarked on the importance of the Council ensuring robust 
monitoring arrangements were in place and insisting on timely reporting, noting 
the slippage in presenting the Council’s own Integrated Performance and 
Finance Report to the Committee. 

 

• The Director noted that despite the complaints about the current contract hardly 
any variations to it had been negotiated during its life.  In future where there was 
evidence of difficulties these would need to be addressed and changes made to 
the contract 

 

• Further concern was expressed about the level of supervision of the contractors.  
It was suggested that there should not be overreliance on the “Watchman” 
scheme referred to in the report as a substitute for regular supervision. 

 

• In response to a question the Assistant Chief Executive – Legal and Democratic 
confirmed that the contract as a whole was not being renegotiated.  That would 
require a new procurement process.  The negotiations were confined to service 
delivery arrangements and were practical and pragmatic. 

 

• Reference was made to the provision in Bedfordshire’s contract with Amey for 
incentives to Amey to deliver on target.  The interim Head of Highways confirmed 
that it was the intention to seek to negotiate financial and contractual incentives 
as part of the performance management regime. 

 

• There remained some concern about how the Council could satisfy itself that 
value for money was being secured and whether the projected savings would 
materialise.  The Director acknowledged that the public sector generally had not 
been good at making savings.  He was more optimistic that the current proposals 
would achieve savings because of the disciplines that governed the way in which 
Amey as a private contractor operated.  The Council could not afford to monitor 
every action of Amey and therefore had to ensure in the negotiations that any 
inefficiency on the part of the contractor would be to Amey’s financial detriment 

4



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE WEDNESDAY, 10 SEPTEMBER 2008 

 

 

not the Council’s. 
 

• It was noted that the financial implications would be the subject of further detailed 
negotiations. 

 

• That the Audit Commission had highlighted that good contract management was 
key to delivering core benefits and that savings from these types of service 
delivery partnership contracts were not guaranteed.  The Herefordshire model it 
was proposed to adopt was the most costly option to introduce.  The Director of 
Resources reported that the Project Board had taken careful account of the Audit 
Commission publication, “For better or worse: Value for money in strategic 
service-delivery partnerships.” 

 

• It was asked whether the proposals had any implications for works at schools.  
The Director of Resources replied that schools were not obliged to take property 
services from the Council.  The Council had service level agreements with 
schools for property matters.  There was no proposal to change the current 
arrangements but consideration might be given to this issue as part of the wider 
review of property services that was being undertaken.  It was noted that the 
elements of the contract with Amey in relation to property matters would not be 
part of the proposed negotiations because of the implications of imminent 
decisions on the Council’s accommodation strategy and would be subject to the 
recommended review of Asset Management and Property Service.  It had been 
considered important not to await the outcome of that review which would have 
delayed making progress with negotiations on highways and related issues as a 
priority. 

 

• The Director of Environment and Culture outlined the timetable for taking the 
proposal forward, subject to Cabinet approval.  This envisaged a further report to 
Cabinet in December, with staff being consulted and notified of proposed 
changes and TUPE arrangements in accordance with Human Resources and 
legal requirements with a view to new arrangements coming into force in April 
2009. 

 
RESOLVED 
 
That (a)  the Committee broadly supports the recommendations being made 

to Cabinet on the Service Delivery Review of the Council’s Service 
Delivery partnership with Amey; 

 
 (b)  the Committee notes that detailed negotiations will give rise to a 

further opportunity to scrutinise the methods being proposed to 
measure both quality and value for money of both individual 
projects as well as the contract as a whole; 

 
(c)  further reassurance be sought on the employment matters and 

financial implications once firm proposals have been agreed by both 
parties; 

 
(d)  the Committee be reconsulted once the asset management and 

property review is completed at the latest by March 2009; and  
 

(e)  regard be had by Cabinet to the Committee’s other principal 
observations as set out above. 

 
 

5



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE WEDNESDAY, 10 SEPTEMBER 2008 

 

 

 
  
29. WORK PROGRAMME   
  
 The Committee considered its work programme. 

 
Further to discussion at the Committee’s meeting in July the Chairman of the 
Children’s Services Scrutiny Committee had requested that the proposal by the 
Children’s’ Services Scrutiny Committee regarding the appointment of Councillors on 
the Committee as champions for one of each of the outcome areas of the Every 
Child Matters agenda be authorised to proceed. 
 
The following addition was noted:  a report consulting the Committee on completion 
of the asset management and property review. 
 
It was requested that consideration be given to the agenda for the October meeting 
which already appeared too heavy, even after agreeing to move consideration of the 
Medium Term Financial Strategy to November.   
 
A request was made that lengthy reports should be accompanied by a proper 
summary of their content. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That  (a) the work programme as amended serve as a basis for further 

development; and 
 

(b)  the proposal by the Children’s’ Services Scrutiny Committee 
regarding the appointment of Councillors on the Committee as 
champions for one of each of the outcome areas of the Every 
Child Matters agenda be authorised to proceed. 

 
 
 
 
 

  
The meeting ended at 11.10 a.m. CHAIRMAN 
 

6



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE 20 OCTOBER 2008 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
Steve martin, Corporate Policy and Research Manager on 01432 261877 

 

 

Smciprjuly07 

 INTEGRATED CORPORATE PERFORMANCE REPORT 
FOR APRIL TO JULY 2008 

Report By: Corporate Policy and Research Manager 

 

Wards Affected 

 County-wide 

Purpose 

1. To note the Council’s performance for the first four months of 2008-09 against the 
Corporate Plan 2008-11 and national performance indicators used externally to 
measure the Council’s performance, taking account of the separate but 
complementary financial performance report, the updated Council risk register and 
progress against the action plans produced following the Crookall review.   

Background 

2. The report to Cabinet on 2 October 2008 is attached together with supporting 
appendices.  Cabinet noted progress in implementing the action plans produced 
following the Crookall review and agreed that future reports be made quarterly, 
namely in relation to performance at the end of September, December, March and 
June.  

RECOMMENDATION 

THAT the report be noted, subject to any comments the Committee 
wishes to make 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

• None identified 

AGENDA ITEM 5

7



8



 

 
Further information on the subject of this report is available from Steve Martin,  

Corporate Policy and Research Manager, on 01432 261877 
 

INTEGRATED CORPORATE PERFORMANCE REPORT  
FOR APRIL TO JULY 2008 

 
PORTFOLIO RESPONSIBILITY: CORPORATE AND CUSTOMER SERVICES 

AND HUMAN RESOURCES 
 
CABINET 2 OCTOBER 2008 

 
 

Wards Affected 

County-wide  

Purpose 

To report the Council’s performance for the first four months of 2008-09 against the 
Corporate Plan 2008-11 and national performance indicators used externally to measure 
the Council’s performance, taking account of the separate but complementary financial 
performance report, the updated Council risk register and progress against the action 
plans produced following the Crookall review.   

Key Decision  

This is not a Key Decision.  

Recommendations 

THAT Cabinet 

(i) considers performance to the end of July 2008 and the measures being 
taken, where necessary, to improve it;  

(ii) in particular notes progress in implementing the action plans produced 
following the Crookall review; and 

(iii) agrees that future reports be made quarterly, namely in relation to 
performance at the end of September, December, March and June.  

Reasons 

The Council’s Corporate Plan sets out its objectives, priorities, targets and key actions 
for each of the three years 2008-11. It includes all the indicators and targets in the new 
Local Area Agreement (LAA), as well as those in the Herefordshire Community Strategy 
(HCS). Progress needs to be assessed regularly, together with the risks to achievement 
and the action being taken to address these and improve performance. 

9



  

Considerations 

1. This is the first of a new-style of corporate performance report, aligned with the 
seven themes of the new Corporate Plan. This approach will be followed through 
into the quarterly reviews of performance to be carried out by the Leader and Chief 
Executive with lead Cabinet members, as well as the rolling self-evaluation, to be 
updated quarterly, that will enable the Council and its partners to provide the 
evidence required for Comprehensive Area Assessment (CAA), which comes into 
effect from April 2009. 

2. The details of performance are provided in the appendices, with the highlights and 
directors’ commentaries in respect of each Corporate Plan theme in appendices 2 
to 8.  Appendix 1 provides the key to the full details in appendices 2A to 8A. 

3. Appendix 1A provides an overall summary. It shows a broadly positive aggregate 
position, particularly in respect of Direction of Travel indicators, the majority of 
which are improving.  This picture is, however, tempered by the large number of 
Corporate Plan indicators (58 out of 111, including 23 of the 35 in the LAA) in 
respect of which it is not yet possible to determine whether targets are likely to be 
achieved. 

4. Assessed in terms of the Council’s priorities, as set out in the Corporate Plan, the 
highlights are: 

Best possible life for every child 

• A generally positive picture in respect of Corporate Plan indicators 

• But a significant number of reds against a wider basket of indicators, 
including timely assessment, referrals going to initial assessment and a 
number in respect of looked-after children 

Reshaped health and social care 

• Too early to judge the majority of indicators, but a positive picture in 
respect of those relevant to Direction of Travel 

• A few reds, notably in respect of the timeliness of assessments and 
packages, direct payments and telecare 

• Over-spending projection to be retrieved, with a risk of this becoming 
greater, depending on the extent to which cases are deemed to require 
continuing health care and are therefore funded by the PCT 

Essential infrastructure for a successful economy 

• Little substantive performance information because the majority of 
indicators are part of the new National Indicator Set and have as their 
target this year the establishment of a baseline 

10



  

• Over-spending projection to be retrieved, at the same time as meeting new 
demands as a result of the economic down-turn, rising energy costs and 
loss of car parking income 

Affordable housing 

• A number of reds, reflecting the substantial increased demand being 
fuelled by the economic down-turn 

• But successful action has been taken – and continues - to minimise the 
impact, including increased preventative work and the use of the private 
sector; this has already reduced projected overspending to 300K 

Better services, quality of life and value for money, particularly through 
partnership with the PCT and other organisations  

• A reassuring Annual Governance Letter 2008 from the Audit Commission 

•  Improvements in a number of Revenues and Benefits and Human 
Resources indicators, but action having to be taken to address higher than 
target levels of sickness absence  

5. The key risks to the achievement of the Corporate Plan targets are set out in the 
risk register at Appendix 9.  This has been subject to a major overhaul and 
rationalisation.  The risks numbered from C37 onwards are new.  A number of 
these are about the management within agreed budgets of currently projected 
overspends (for the details, see the complementary financial report being 
considered at this meeting). Others concern matters affecting the delivery of 
targets for benefits and local tax systems; the waste management PFI; the impact 
of the economic downturn on income from car parking; corporate workforce 
planning; and systems for the effective management of human resources. 

6. Three risks score “high” (i.e. a residual score of 15 or above) even after the 
mitigating measures have been taken into account. They are:   

• CR5 – inability to provide critical services due to the failure of ICT networks 

• CR29 – potential loss of data centres  

• CR30 – legacy systems out of support from vendors 

7. Progress against the action plans put in place in the light of the Crookall review is 
at Appendix 10.  Since last reported, a further 14 actions have been completed. 
None of the remainder is red-flagged. 

11



  

Risk Management 

By highlighting progress against the Council’s Corporate Plan, including the risks to 
achievement and how they are being mitigated, this report is an essential component of 
the Council’s management of risks.       

Alternative Options 

Not applicable. 

Consultees 

Not applicable.  

Appendices 

Appendix 1 – Key to the detailed reports against indicators by Corporate Plan theme 

Appendix 1A – Summary of overall progress against indicators 

Appendix 2 – Children and young people: headlines 

Appendix 2A – Children and young people: details 

Appendix 3 – Health and well-being: headlines 

Appendix 3A – Health and well-being: details 

Appendix 4 – Older people: headlines 

Appendix 4A – Older people: details 

Appendix 5 – Economic development and enterprise: headlines 

Appendix 5A - Economic development and enterprise: details 

Appendix 6 – Safer and stronger communities: headlines 

Appendix 6A – Safer and stronger communities: details 

Appendix 7 – Sustainable communities: headlines 

Appendix 7A – Sustainable communities: details 

Appendix 8 – Organisational improvement and greater efficiency: headlines 

Appendix 8A - Organisational improvement and greater efficiency: details 

Appendix 9 – The Council’s current risk register 

Appendix 10 – Progress in implementing the Crookall review action plans   

Background Papers  

None identified. 

12



A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 1

In
d
ic
a
to
r

L
e
a
d
  

D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te

2
0
0
7
/2
0
0
8
 

o
u
tt
u
rn

2
0
0
8
/2
0
0
9
 

ta
rg
e
t

Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
1
 

o
u
tt
u
rn

A
n
a
ly
s
is

R
A
G
 r
a
ti
n
g
D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 

T
ra
v
e
l

N
IS

C
P
L
A
A
H
C
S
B
V
P
I
P
A
F

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 N
u
m
b
e
r

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 

In
d
ic
a
to
r

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 I
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
R
e
fe
re
n
c
e
:

N
IS
 =
 N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
In
d
ic
a
to
r 
S
e
t

C
P
 =
 C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 P
la
n

L
A
A
 =
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
re
a
 A
g
re
e
m
e
n
t

H
C
S
 =
 H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 S
tr
a
te
g
y

B
V
P
I 
=
 B
e
s
t 
V
a
lu
e
 P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 I
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
(r
e
ta
in
e
d
 f
o
r 
th
is
 y
e
a
r 
o
n
ly
)

P
A
F
 =
 P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk

B
a
s
e
lin
e

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 t
o
 

d
a
te

C
o
m
m
e
n
ta
ry
, 
e
it
h
e
r 
p
u
tt
in
g
 

la
te
s
t 
o
u
tt
u
rn
 i
n
to
 c
o
n
te
x
t,
 

o
r 
d
e
ta
ili
n
g
 t
h
e
 a
c
ti
v
it
y
 

u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
 t
h
a
t 
w
ill
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 

o
u
tt
u
rn
 w
h
e
n
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d

J
u
d
g
e
m
e
n
t 
a
g
a
in
s
t 
ta
rg
e
t 
fo
r 
C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 P
la
n
, 
L
A
A
 a
n
d
 H
C
S
 

in
d
ic
a
to
rs
. 
 O
th
e
r 
in
d
ic
a
to
rs
 a
re
 j
u
d
g
e
d
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
la
s
t 
y
e
a
r'
s
 

p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 o
n
ly
.

R
e
d
 =
 d
a
ta
 o
r 
a
n
a
ly
s
is
 s
u
g
g
e
s
ts
 t
h
a
t 
ta
rg
e
t 
w
ill
 n
o
t 
b
e
 

a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
, 
o
r 
th
e
re
 i
s
 n
o
 e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 o
f 
a
c
ti
v
it
y
 t
a
k
in
g
 p
la
c
e

A
m
b
e
r 
=
 d
a
ta
/l
a
c
k
 o
f 
d
a
ta
 o
r 
a
n
a
ly
s
is
 s
u
g
g
e
s
ts
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 t
a
rg
e
t 

m
a
y
 n
o
t 
b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
, 
b
u
t 
s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 c
a
p
a
b
le
 o
f 
a
c
h
ie
v
e
m
e
n
t 
if
 

re
m
e
d
ia
l 
a
c
ti
o
n
 i
s
 t
a
k
e
n

G
re
e
n
 =
 o
n
 t
a
rg
e
t 
/ 
m
e
t 
ta
rg
e
t,
 o
r,
 w
h
e
re
 a
 b
a
s
e
lin
e
 i
s
 t
o
 b
e
 

s
e
t,
 a
c
ti
v
it
y
 i
s
 t
a
k
in
g
 p
la
c
e
 t
o
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
 t
h
e
 b
a
s
e
lin
e
 a
n
d
 

im
p
ro
v
e
 p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 c
o
m
p
a
re
d
 

to
 l
a
s
t 
y
e
a
r

13



14



Appendix 1A 

 No. of 
indicators 

On course 
to achieve 
target (or 
establish 
baseline) 

Some 
progress, 
but data not 
available to 
determine 
whether the 
target will 
be achieved 

Not on 
target / no 
activity 
reported 

Corporate Plan (including 
LAA and HCS) 

111 32 58 21 

of which     

Local Area Agreement 
(LAA) 

35 8 23 4 

Herefordshire Community 
Strategy (HCS) 

55 13 33 9 

     

All reported indicators 196 77 73 46 

 

Direction of Travel 

Improving 53 

No real change 14 

Deteriorating 32 

Total 99 

 

15



16



Appendix 2 

Children and Young People 

 No. of 
indicators 

On course 
to achieve 
target (or 
establish 
baseline) 

Some 
progress, 
but data not 
available to 
determine 
whether the 
target will 
be achieved 

Not on 
target / no 
activity 
reported 

Corporate Plan (including 
LAA and HCS) 

13 4 8 1 

of which     

Local Area Agreement 
(LAA) 

6 1 5 0 

Herefordshire Community 
Strategy (HCS) 

4 1 3 0 

     

All reported indicators 42 18 9 15 

 

Direction of Travel 

Improving 14 

No real change 2 

Deteriorating 15 

Total 31 

Headlines 

• A generally positive picture in respect of Corporate Plan, LAA and Community 
Strategy indicators 

• But a significant number of reds against the wider basket of indicators, 
including those relevant to Direction of Travel assessment, e.g. timely core 
assessments, referrals going to initial assessment, foundation years 
achievement, youth work outcomes and a number of PIs in respect of looked-
after children 

• Currently projected end-year over-spending of some £300K will have to be 
retrieved.  The directorate is carrying out work to stay within budget, whilst 
minimising the impact on services. 

Children’s and Young People’s Director commentary 

‘Performance overall is on track across the range of Local Area Agreement, 
Herefordshire Sustainable Community Strategy and Herefordshire Council Corporate 
Plan children and young people related indicators.  Data for many of the indicators 
are not available in Quarter 1 because they relate to examination results and the 

17



Appendix 2 

outcome of the TellUs survey of children and young people; these outturns will be 
available in September (examination results in unvalidated form).  However, 
provisional data for GCSE results this year show a significant improvement on last 
year with 69.5% of pupils achieving 5 A*-C GCSEs, compared with 62% in 2007. 

A larger survey of children and young people, building on the previous Teenage 
Lifestyle Survey of 2006, will take place later in the year and will provide outturns for 
a number of the Community Strategy indicators. 

In relation to children's social care, the focus on improving the timeliness of initial 
assessments and the percentage of referrals going on to initial assessment 
continues.  In the first quarter, 64.7% of initial assessments were completed in 7 
working days, an improvement on the 2007/2008 outturn (57.4%) and ahead of the 
2008/2009 target (60%).  Current practice is being reviewed and revised in the light 
of comparative information from our statistical neighbours to ensure there is good 
referral taking to enable effective decision making about the need for assessment.’ 

18



C
h
ild
re
n
 Y
o
u
n
g
 P
e
o
p
le

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 2
A

N
IS

L
A
A

H
C
S

C
P

B
V
P
I

P
A
F

A
P
A

5
1

Y
e
s

E
ff
e
ct
iv
e
n
e
ss
 o
f 
ch
ild
 a
n
d
 

a
d
o
le
sc
e
n
t 
m
e
n
ta
l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 

(C
A
M
H
s)
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

1
5

1
5

N
o
 D
a
ta

T
h
e
re
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
s 
to
 b
e
 p
ro
g
re
ss
 t
o
w
a
rd
s 
a
 c
o
m
p
re
h
e
n
si
v
e
 

C
A
M
H
S
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
. 
T
h
e
re
 i
s 
n
o
w
 a
 C
A
M
H
S
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 a
n
d
 a
n
 

o
p
e
ra
ti
o
n
a
l 
m
e
e
ti
n
g
 m
o
n
it
o
rs
 t
h
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 u
se
d
 b
y
 c
h
ild
re
n
 a
n
d
 

a
d
o
le
sc
e
n
ts
 t
o
 e
n
su
re
 t
h
a
t 
se
rv
ic
e
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
s 
to
 m
e
e
t 
cl
ie
n
ts
' 

n
e
e
d
s.

A

5
9

Y
e
s

2
0
2
0
 S
C
 

/ 
D
IS
 

1
7
0
4

In
it
ia
l 
a
ss
e
ss
m
e
n
ts
 f
o
r 

ch
ild
re
n
’s
 s
o
ci
a
l 
ca
re
 c
a
rr
ie
d
 

o
u
t 
w
it
h
in
 7
 w
o
rk
in
g
 d
a
y
s 
o
f 

re
fe
rr
a
l

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

5
7
.4
%

6
0
%

6
4
.7
%

T
h
is
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
is
 b
e
in
g
 c
lo
se
ly
 m
o
n
it
o
re
d
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 R
e
fe
rr
a
l 

a
n
d
 A
ss
e
ss
m
e
n
t 
T
e
a
m
 a
n
d
 w
o
rk
in
g
 p
ra
ct
ic
e
 r
e
v
ie
w
e
d
 a
n
d
 

re
v
is
e
d
 t
o
 e
n
su
re
 e
v
e
ry
th
in
g
 p
o
ss
ib
le
 i
s 
b
e
in
g
 d
o
n
e
 t
o
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 

ti
m
e
ly
 a
ss
e
ss
m
e
n
t.
 

G
� ���

6
0

C
6
4

C
o
re
 a
ss
e
ss
m
e
n
ts
 f
o
r 
ch
ild
re
n
’s
 

so
ci
a
l 
ca
re
 t
h
a
t 
w
e
re
 c
a
rr
ie
d
 

o
u
t 
w
it
h
in
 3
5
 w
o
rk
in
g
 d
a
y
s 
o
f 

th
e
ir
 c
o
m
m
e
n
ce
m
e
n
t

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

7
5
%

7
5
%

7
1
%

T
h
is
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
o
u
tt
u
rn
 h
a
s 
im
p
ro
v
e
d
 g
re
a
tl
y
 o
v
e
r 
th
e
 l
a
st
 y
e
a
r,
 

a
ch
ie
v
in
g
 b
e
tt
e
r 
th
a
n
 t
h
e
 t
a
rg
e
t.
 T
h
e
 f
ir
st
 q
u
a
rt
e
r 
d
o
w
n
tu
rn
 i
n
 

p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
ce
, 
b
a
se
d
 o
n
 a
 r
o
lli
n
g
 y
e
a
r,
 r
e
fl
e
ct
s 
th
e
 e
ff
e
ct
 o
f 
th
e
 

d
e
la
y
s 
in
 t
im
e
ly
 c
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
 o
f 
in
it
ia
l 
a
ss
e
ss
m
e
n
ts
, 
d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 

fi
n
a
l 
q
u
a
rt
e
r 
o
f 
2
0
0
7
/8
, 
d
u
e
 t
o
 s
ta
ff
in
g
 s
h
o
rt
a
g
e
s 
in
 R
e
fe
rr
a
l 

a
n
d
 A
ss
e
ss
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 b
y
 c
a
p
a
ci
ty
 i
ss
u
e
s 
in
 t
h
e
 t
e
a
m
s 

u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
in
g
 c
o
re
 a
ss
e
ss
m
e
n
ts
. 
In
cr
e
a
se
d
 f
o
cu
s 
o
n
 t
im
e
ly
 

co
m
p
le
ti
o
n
 i
n
 R
e
fe
rr
a
l 
a
n
d
 A
ss
e
ss
m
e
n
t 
is
 a
n
ti
ci
p
a
te
d
 t
o
 

p
ro
d
u
ce
 a
 g
ra
d
u
a
l 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
in
 p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
ce
.

R
� ���

6
1

2
0
5
8
 S
C
 

/ 
D
IS
 

1
1
1
5

T
im
e
lin
e
ss
 o
f 
p
la
ce
m
e
n
ts
 o
f 

lo
o
k
e
d
 a
ft
e
r 
ch
ild
re
n
 f
o
r 

a
d
o
p
ti
o
n
 f
o
llo
w
in
g
 a
n
 a
g
e
n
cy
 

d
e
ci
si
o
n
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 c
h
ild
 s
h
o
u
ld
 

b
e
 p
la
ce
d
 f
o
r 
a
d
o
p
ti
o
n

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

9
0
%

1
0
0
%

8
0
%

T
h
is
 d
ro
p
 i
n
 p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
ce
 r
e
la
te
s 
to
 a
 s
m
a
ll 
g
ro
u
p
 o
f 
ch
ild
re
n
 -
 

th
e
 e
x
a
ct
 r
e
a
so
n
s 
fo
r 
th
is
 d
ro
p
 w
ill
 b
e
 t
h
e
 s
u
b
je
ct
 o
f 
fu
rt
h
e
r 

a
n
a
ly
si
s.

R
� ���

6
2

4
9

A
1

S
ta
b
ili
ty
 o
f 
p
la
ce
m
e
n
ts
 o
f 

lo
o
k
e
d
 a
ft
e
r 
ch
ild
re
n
: 
n
u
m
b
e
r 

o
f 
m
o
v
e
s

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

6
.5
%

8
%

6
%

P
la
ce
m
e
n
t 
st
a
b
ili
ty
, 
a
lo
n
g
si
d
e
 q
u
a
lit
y
 o
f 
p
ro
v
is
io
n
, 
re
m
a
in
s 
a
 

ce
n
tr
a
l 
co
n
ce
rn
 o
f 
th
e
 l
o
o
k
e
d
 a
ft
e
r 
ch
ild
re
n
 r
e
v
ie
w
 p
ro
ce
ss
e
s.
  

W
e
 a
re
 l
o
o
k
in
g
 a
t 
w
a
y
s 
to
 e
n
g
a
g
e
 e
x
te
rn
a
l 
p
ro
v
id
e
rs
 m
o
re
 

e
ff
e
ct
iv
e
ly
 t
o
 r
e
d
u
ce
 t
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
p
la
ce
m
e
n
ts
 m
a
d
e
 i
n
 c
ri
si
s.
  

G
� ���

6
3

D
7
8

S
ta
b
ili
ty
 o
f 
p
la
ce
m
e
n
ts
 o
f 

lo
o
k
e
d
 a
ft
e
r 
ch
ild
re
n
: 
le
n
g
th
 o
f 

p
la
ce
m
e
n
t

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

7
1
%

6
2
%

7
1
.7
%

A
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 t
h
is
 i
s 
a
n
 e
n
co
u
ra
g
in
g
 r
e
su
lt
, 
w
e
 a
ck
n
o
w
le
d
g
e
 t
h
a
t 

w
e
 c
o
u
ld
 s
ti
ll 
e
n
h
a
n
ce
 o
u
r 
p
e
rm
a
n
e
n
ce
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 p
ro
ce
ss
e
s.

G
� ���

6
4

Y
e
s

C
2
1

C
h
ild
 p
ro
te
ct
io
n
 p
la
n
s 
la
st
in
g
 2
 

y
e
a
rs
 o
r 
m
o
re

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

0
%

0
%

0
.0
%

In
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 
R
e
v
ie
w
in
g
 O
ff
ic
e
rs
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 s
cr
u
ti
n
is
e
 c
h
ild
 

p
ro
te
ct
io
n
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 t
o
 e
n
su
re
 i
t 
re
m
a
in
s 
p
u
rp
o
se
fu
l.

G
� ���

6
5

2
6

Y
e
s

A
3

C
h
ild
re
n
 b
e
co
m
in
g
 t
h
e
 s
u
b
je
ct
 

o
f 
a
 C
h
ild
 P
ro
te
ct
io
n
 P
la
n
 f
o
r 
a
 

se
co
n
d
 o
r 
su
b
se
q
u
e
n
t 
ti
m
e

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

1
4
%

1
4
%

1
3
%

S
te
a
d
y
 p
ro
g
re
ss
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
s 
to
 b
e
 m
a
d
e
 i
n
 t
h
is
 a
re
a
 a
n
d
 

a
n
ti
ci
p
a
te
d
 g
re
a
te
r 
st
a
b
ili
ty
 i
n
 o
u
r 
w
o
rk
fo
rc
e
 s
h
o
u
ld
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 

im
p
ro
v
e
 t
h
e
 q
u
a
lit
y
 o
f 
ri
sk
 m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
in
 t
h
is
 a
re
a
. 

G
� ���

6
6

Y
e
s

C
6
8

L
o
o
k
e
d
 a
ft
e
r 
ch
ild
re
n
 c
a
se
s 

w
h
ic
h
 w
e
re
 r
e
v
ie
w
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 

re
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
im
e
sc
a
le
s

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

9
9
%

1
0
0
%

9
8
%

A
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 p
o
si
ti
v
e
 c
o
m
p
a
re
d
 t
o
 o
u
r 
st
a
ti
st
ic
a
l 
n
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rs
, 
th
is
 

sl
ig
h
t 
d
ro
p
 i
n
 p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
ce
 i
s 
d
is
a
p
p
o
in
ti
n
g
 a
n
d
 w
ill
 b
e
 

a
d
d
re
ss
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 c
o
m
in
g
 q
u
a
rt
e
r.

A
� ���

6
7

Y
e
s

1
6
2

C
2
0

C
h
ild
 p
ro
te
ct
io
n
 c
a
se
s 
w
h
ic
h
 

w
e
re
 r
e
v
ie
w
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 

ti
m
e
sc
a
le
s 

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

9
3
%

1
0
0
%

9
4
.7
%

T
h
e
 d
ro
p
 i
n
 p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
ce
 r
e
la
te
s 
to
 t
h
re
e
 c
h
ild
re
n
 w
h
o
se
 

re
v
ie
w
 w
a
s 
e
rr
o
n
e
o
u
sl
y
 b
o
o
k
e
d
 f
o
r 
n
in
e
 d
a
y
s 
o
u
ts
id
e
 t
h
e
 

re
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
im
e
sc
a
le
. 
 A
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 m
e
a
su
re
s 
h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 t
a
k
e
n
 t
o
 

a
v
o
id
 r
e
cu
rr
e
n
ce
 o
f 
th
is
 e
rr
o
r.

A
� ���

6
8

Y
e
s

R
e
fe
rr
a
ls
 t
o
 c
h
ild
re
n
’s
 s
o
ci
a
l 

ca
re
 g
o
in
g
 o
n
 t
o
 i
n
it
ia
l 

a
ss
e
ss
m
e
n
t

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

5
2
.1
%

6
5
%

5
1
%

P
ra
ct
ic
e
 r
e
g
a
rd
in
g
 r
e
fe
rr
a
l 
a
n
d
 i
n
it
ia
l 
a
ss
e
ss
m
e
n
t 
in
 l
ig
h
t 
o
f 

co
m
p
a
ra
ti
v
e
 d
a
ta
 a
n
d
 p
ra
ct
ic
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 s
ta
ti
st
ic
a
l 
n
e
ig
h
b
o
u
r 

g
ro
u
p
 i
s 
b
e
in
g
 r
e
v
ie
w
e
d
 a
n
d
 r
e
v
is
e
d
, 
to
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 g
o
o
d
 r
e
fe
rr
a
l 

ta
k
in
g
 t
o
 e
n
a
b
le
 e
ff
e
ct
iv
e
 d
e
ci
si
o
n
-m
a
k
in
g
 a
b
o
u
t 
th
e
 n
e
e
d
 f
o
r 

a
ss
e
ss
m
e
n
t.

R
� ���

R
A
G
 

ra
ti
n
g

D
ir
e
ct
io
n
 

o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l

2
0
0
7
-0
8
 O
u
tt
u
rn

2
0
0
8
-0
9
 T
a
rg
e
t
L
a
te
st
 O
u
tt
u
rn

A
ct
iv
it
y
 R
e
p
o
rt
e
d

R
e
fe
re
n
ce

In
d
ic
a
to
r

L
e
a
d
 D
ir
e
ct
o
ra
te

19



C
h
ild
re
n
 Y
o
u
n
g
 P
e
o
p
le

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 2
A

N
IS

L
A
A

H
C
S

C
P

B
V
P
I

P
A
F

A
P
A

R
A
G
 

ra
ti
n
g

D
ir
e
ct
io
n
 

o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l

2
0
0
7
-0
8
 O
u
tt
u
rn

2
0
0
8
-0
9
 T
a
rg
e
t
L
a
te
st
 O
u
tt
u
rn

A
ct
iv
it
y
 R
e
p
o
rt
e
d

R
e
fe
re
n
ce

In
d
ic
a
to
r

L
e
a
d
 D
ir
e
ct
o
ra
te

7
2

A
ch
ie
v
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
a
t 
le
a
st
 7
8
 

p
o
in
ts
 a
cr
o
ss
 t
h
e
 E
a
rl
y
 Y
e
a
rs
 

F
o
u
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 S
ta
g
e
 w
it
h
 a
t 
le
a
st
 

6
 i
n
 e
a
ch
 o
f 
th
e
 s
ca
le
s 
in
 

P
e
rs
o
n
a
l 
S
o
ci
a
l 
a
n
d
 E
m
o
ti
o
n
a
l 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
, 
L
a
n
g
u
a
g
e
 a
n
d
 

L
it
e
ra
cy

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

4
8
.9
%
 (
to
 b
e
 

co
n
fi
rm
e
d
)

5
3
%

4
3
.4
%

D
a
ta
 h
a
s 
o
n
ly
 r
e
ce
n
tl
y
 b
e
e
n
 c
o
lla
te
d
. 
In
it
ia
l 
a
n
a
ly
si
s 
w
o
u
ld
 

su
g
g
e
st
 t
h
a
t 
re
su
lt
s 
a
re
 f
a
lli
n
g
 d
u
e
 t
o
 (
1
) 
g
re
a
te
r 
ri
g
o
u
r 
in
 t
h
e
 

F
o
u
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 S
ta
g
e
 P
ro
fi
le
 M
o
d
e
ra
ti
o
n
 p
ro
ce
ss
 (
2
) 
e
v
id
e
n
ce
 

b
e
in
g
 g
a
th
e
re
d
 m
o
re
 f
ro
m
 c
h
ild
-i
n
it
ia
te
d
 a
ct
iv
it
ie
s 
ra
th
e
r 
th
a
n
 

a
d
u
lt
-d
ir
e
ct
e
d
 t
a
sk
s 
a
s 
p
e
r 
g
u
id
a
n
ce
 f
ro
m
 N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
A
ss
e
ss
m
e
n
t 

A
g
e
n
cy
 (
3
) 
th
e
 i
n
cr
e
a
si
n
g
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
ch
ild
re
n
 w
it
h
 E
n
g
lis
h
 a
s 

a
n
 A
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
L
a
n
g
u
a
g
e
 c
o
m
in
g
 i
n
to
 H
e
re
fo
rd
sh
ir
e
.

R
� ���

7
5

Y
e
s

3
1

A
ch
ie
v
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
5
 o
r 
m
o
re
 A
*
-C
 

g
ra
d
e
s 
a
t 
G
C
S
E
 o
r 
e
q
u
iv
a
le
n
t 

in
cl
u
d
in
g
 E
n
g
lis
h
 a
n
d
 M
a
th
s 

(T
h
re
sh
o
ld
)

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

5
1
.7
%

5
6
%

N
o
 D
a
ta

A
n
n
u
a
lly
 -
 U
n
v
a
lid
a
te
d
 r
e
su
lt
s 
fo
r 
a
ca
d
e
m
ic
 y
e
a
r 
e
n
d
in
g
 2
0
0
8
 

a
v
a
ila
b
le
 i
n
 S
e
p
t 
- 
F
in
a
l 
R
e
su
lt
s 
a
v
a
ila
b
le
 e
a
rl
y
 J
a
n
 2
0
0
9
.

A

8
8

N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
E
x
te
n
d
e
d
 S
ch
o
o
ls
 

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

5
8
%

7
3
.7
%

A
s 
o
f 
0
1
/0
7
/0
8
  
- 
1
0
0
%
 H
ig
h
 S
ch
o
o
ls
, 
 1
0
0
%
 S
p
e
ci
a
l 
S
ch
o
o
ls
, 

6
8
%
 P
ri
m
a
ry
 s
ch
o
o
ls
 p
ro
v
id
e
 a
cc
e
ss
 t
o
 t
h
e
 F
u
ll 
C
o
re
 O
ff
e
r 
- 

T
h
is
 i
s 
b
e
tt
e
r 
th
a
n
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
v
e
ra
g
e
 o
f 
 5
2
%
.

G

8
9

N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
sc
h
o
o
ls
 i
n
 s
p
e
ci
a
l 

m
e
a
su
re
s 

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

0
1

T
h
e
re
 i
s 
o
n
e
 p
ri
m
a
ry
 s
ch
o
o
l 
in
 O
fs
te
d
 s
p
e
ci
a
l 
m
e
a
su
re
s.

R

9
2

N
a
rr
o
w
in
g
 t
h
e
 g
a
p
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 t
h
e
 

lo
w
e
st
 a
ch
ie
v
in
g
 2
0
%
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

E
a
rl
y
 Y
e
a
rs
 F
o
u
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 S
ta
g
e
 

P
ro
fi
le
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 r
e
st

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

3
5
%
 (
to
 b
e
 

co
n
fi
rm
e
d
)

3
3
%

3
7
%

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
a
n
a
ly
si
s 
n
e
e
d
s 
to
 b
e
 c
a
rr
ie
d
 o
u
t 
in
 o
rd
e
r 
to
 e
st
a
b
lis
h
 

w
h
e
th
e
r 
th
e
 i
n
it
ia
l 
h
y
p
o
th
e
si
s 
(s
e
e
 N
I 
7
2
 a
b
o
v
e
) 
is
 r
e
sp
o
n
si
b
le
 

fo
r 
th
e
 d
e
cl
in
in
g
 r
e
su
lt
s 
a
b
o
v
e
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 w
id
e
n
in
g
 o
f 
th
e
 g
a
p
.

R
� ���

9
3

Y
e
s

Y
e
s

P
ro
g
re
ss
io
n
 b
y
 2
 l
e
v
e
ls
 i
n
 

E
n
g
lis
h
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 K
e
y
 S
ta
g
e
 1
 

a
n
d
 K
e
y
 S
ta
g
e
 2

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

8
6
%

N
o
 D
a
ta

A
n
n
u
a
lly
 -
 U
n
v
a
lid
a
te
d
 r
e
su
lt
s 
fo
r 
a
ca
d
e
m
ic
 y
e
a
r 
e
n
d
in
g
 2
0
0
8
 

a
v
a
ila
b
le
 i
n
 S
e
p
t 
- 
F
in
a
l 
R
e
su
lt
s 
a
v
a
ila
b
le
 e
a
rl
y
 J
a
n
 2
0
0
9
.

A

9
4

Y
e
s

Y
e
s

P
ro
g
re
ss
io
n
 b
y
 2
 l
e
v
e
ls
 i
n
 

M
a
th
s 
b
e
tw
e
e
n
 K
e
y
 S
ta
g
e
 1
 

a
n
d
 K
e
y
 S
ta
g
e
 2
 

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

8
3
%

N
o
 D
a
ta

A
n
n
u
a
lly
 -
 U
n
v
a
lid
a
te
d
 r
e
su
lt
s 
fo
r 
a
ca
d
e
m
ic
 y
e
a
r 
e
n
d
in
g
 2
0
0
8
 

a
v
a
ila
b
le
 i
n
 S
e
p
t 
- 
F
in
a
l 
R
e
su
lt
s 
a
v
a
ila
b
le
 e
a
rl
y
 J
a
n
 2
0
0
9
.

A

1
0
3

S
p
e
ci
a
l 
E
d
u
ca
ti
o
n
a
l 
N
e
e
d
s 
–
 

st
a
te
m
e
n
ts
 i
ss
u
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 2
6
 

w
e
e
k
s

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

9
0
%

1
0
0
%

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
F
in
a
l 
S
ta
te
m
e
n
ts
 o
f 
S
E
N
 i
ss
u
e
d
 s
in
ce
 t
h
e
 

co
m
m
e
n
ce
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
in
g
 p
e
ri
o
d
 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
8
 i
s 
9
 (
co
rr
e
ct
 

a
s 
a
t 
0
1
/0
7
/2
0
0
8
).

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
F
in
a
l 
S
ta
te
m
e
n
ts
 o
f 
S
E
N
, 
e
x
cl
u
d
in
g
 e
x
ce
p
ti
o
n
 

ca
se
s,
 i
ss
u
e
d
 s
in
ce
 t
h
e
 c
o
m
m
e
n
ce
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
in
g
 p
e
ri
o
d
 

A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
8
 i
s 
8
 (
co
rr
e
ct
 a
s 
a
t 
0
1
/0
7
/2
0
0
8
).
  
O
n
e
 c
a
se
 m
is
se
d
 

th
e
 2
6
 w
e
e
k
 t
a
rg
e
t 
d
e
a
d
lin
e
 a
s 
a
n
 e
x
ce
p
ti
o
n
a
l 
ca
se
 u
n
d
e
r 

R
e
g
u
la
ti
o
n
 1
7
 (
4
c 
a
n
d
 4
d
) 
a
n
d
 i
s 
th
e
re
fo
re
 e
x
cl
u
d
e
d
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 

ca
lc
u
la
ti
o
n
.

G

1
0
9

N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
S
u
re
 S
ta
rt
 C
h
ild
re
n
 

C
e
n
tr
e
s

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

8
3
%

1
0
0
%

T
h
e
re
 a
re
 9
 d
e
si
g
n
a
te
d
 S
u
re
 S
ta
rt
 C
h
ild
re
n
 C
e
n
tr
e
s 
a
s 
o
f 

0
1
/0
7
/0
8
. 
 A
ll 
9
 c
h
ild
re
n
’s
 c
e
n
tr
e
s 
fr
o
m
 P
h
a
se
 1
 a
n
d
 P
h
a
se
 2
 

a
re
 d
e
si
g
n
a
te
d
 a
n
d
 d
e
liv
e
ri
n
g
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s.
 P
la
n
n
in
g
 i
s 
u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
 

fo
r 
P
h
a
se
 3
.

G

1
1
0

Y
e
s

Y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
’s
 p
a
rt
ic
ip
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 

p
o
si
ti
v
e
 a
ct
iv
it
ie
s 

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

N
/A

E
st
a
b
lis
h
 

b
a
se
lin
e

N
o
 D
a
ta

T
h
is
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
w
ill
 b
e
 m
e
a
su
re
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 a
n
n
u
a
l 
T
e
llu
s 

su
rv
e
y
 c
o
n
d
u
ct
e
d
 i
n
 s
ch
o
o
ls
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 A
p
ri
l 
a
n
d
 J
u
n
e
. 
 I
t 
w
ill
 

m
e
a
su
re
 t
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
 o
f 
y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 i
n
 s
ch
o
o
l 
y
e
a
r 
1
0
 

re
sp
o
n
d
in
g
 ‘
y
e
s’
 t
o
 t
h
e
 q
u
e
st
io
n
 “
In
 t
h
e
 l
a
st
 4
 w
e
e
k
s,
 h
a
v
e
 y
o
u
 

p
a
rt
ic
ip
a
te
d
 i
n
 a
n
y
 g
ro
u
p
 a
ct
iv
it
y
 l
e
d
 b
y
 a
n
 a
d
u
lt
 o
u
ts
id
e
 s
ch
o
o
l 

le
ss
o
n
s 
(s
u
ch
 a
s 
sp
o
rt
s,
 a
rt
s 
o
r 
a
 y
o
u
th
 g
ro
u
p
)?
”.
  
T
h
e
 T
e
llu
s 

su
rv
e
y
 r
e
su
lt
s 
w
ill
 b
e
 r
e
le
a
se
d
 i
n
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r.
  
S
y
st
e
m
s 
fo
r 

co
lle
ct
in
g
 i
n
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 a
b
o
u
t 
p
o
si
ti
v
e
 a
ct
iv
it
ie
s 
a
re
 b
e
in
g
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 a
s 
is
 t
h
e
 M
y
P
la
ce
 w
e
b
si
te
 t
o
 p
ro
m
o
te
 p
o
si
ti
v
e
 

a
ct
iv
it
ie
s.

G

20



C
h
ild
re
n
 Y
o
u
n
g
 P
e
o
p
le

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 2
A

N
IS

L
A
A

H
C
S

C
P

B
V
P
I

P
A
F

A
P
A

R
A
G
 

ra
ti
n
g

D
ir
e
ct
io
n
 

o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l

2
0
0
7
-0
8
 O
u
tt
u
rn

2
0
0
8
-0
9
 T
a
rg
e
t
L
a
te
st
 O
u
tt
u
rn

A
ct
iv
it
y
 R
e
p
o
rt
e
d

R
e
fe
re
n
ce

In
d
ic
a
to
r

L
e
a
d
 D
ir
e
ct
o
ra
te

1
1
7

Y
e
s

4
0

1
6
 t
o
 1
8
 y
e
a
r 
o
ld
s 
w
h
o
 a
re
 n
o
t 

in
 e
d
u
ca
ti
o
n
, 
tr
a
in
in
g
 o
r 

e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
(N
E
E
T
)

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

5
.4
%

5
.2
%

N
o
 D
a
ta

A
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 s
it
u
a
ti
o
n
 d
o
e
s 
n
o
t 
b
e
co
m
e
 c
le
a
r 
u
n
ti
l 
e
d
u
ca
ti
o
n
 

le
a
v
e
rs
 c
o
m
e
 i
n
to
 t
h
e
 N
E
E
T
 g
ro
u
p
 i
n
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r,
 t
h
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 

N
E
E
T
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 (
M
a
y
 '
0
8
) 
is
 c
o
n
si
d
e
ra
b
ly
 l
e
ss
 t
h
a
n
 t
h
e
 s
a
m
e
 

ti
m
e
 l
a
st
 y
e
a
r.
 T
h
is
 w
ill
 p
u
t 
u
s 
in
 a
 g
o
o
d
 p
o
si
ti
o
n
 t
o
 r
e
d
u
ce
 t
h
e
 

p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
N
E
E
T
 b
y
 D
e
ce
m
b
e
r.

A

1
4
8

4
1

1
6
1

A
4

C
a
re
 l
e
a
v
e
rs
 i
n
 e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t,
 

e
d
u
ca
ti
o
n
 o
r 
tr
a
in
in
g

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

9
4
%

1
0
0
%

N
o
 D
a
ta

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
ce
 i
s 
a
n
ti
ci
p
a
te
d
 t
o
 b
e
 g
o
o
d
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
is
 a
re
a
, 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

A
ft
e
rc
a
re
 S
e
rv
ic
e
 h
a
s 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 a
 r
a
n
g
e
 o
f 
se
rv
ic
e
s 
to
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 

ca
re
 l
e
a
v
e
rs
 i
n
 e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 t
ra
in
in
g
 a
s 
w
e
ll 
a
s 
su
p
p
o
rt
in
g
 

th
e
m
 i
n
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
a
n
d
 h
ig
h
e
r 
e
d
u
ca
ti
o
n
a
l 
o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s.

A

2
2
1
a

Y
o
u
th
 W
o
rk
 –
 T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 

o
f 
y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 a
g
e
d
 1
3
-1
9
 

g
a
in
in
g
 a
 r
e
co
rd
e
d
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
 

co
m
p
a
re
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 

y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 i
n
 t
h
e
 L
o
ca
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 a
re
a

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

8
2
.9
%

6
0
%

3
6
.4
%

O
u
tt
u
rn
 b
a
se
d
 o
n
 f
ig
u
re
s 
co
lle
ct
e
d
 f
o
r 
A
p
ri
l/
M
a
y
 a
s 
Y
o
u
th
 b
a
se
 

M
IS
 h
a
s 
b
e
e
n
 d
o
w
n
. 
R
e
cr
u
it
m
e
n
t 
fo
r 
a
ss
is
ta
n
t 
v
a
ca
n
ci
e
s 
is
 

n
o
w
 u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
 t
o
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
ce
.

R
� ���

2
2
1
b

Y
o
u
th
 W
o
rk
 –
 T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 

o
f 
y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 a
g
e
d
 1
3
-1
9
 

g
a
in
in
g
 a
n
 a
cc
re
d
it
e
d
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
 

co
m
p
a
re
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 

y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 i
n
 t
h
e
 L
o
ca
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 a
re
a

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

5
4
%

3
0
%

3
5
.7
%

O
u
tt
u
rn
 b
a
se
d
 o
n
 f
ig
u
re
s 
co
lle
ct
e
d
 f
o
r 
A
p
ri
l/
M
a
y
 a
s 
Y
o
u
th
 b
a
se
 

M
IS
 h
a
s 
b
e
e
n
 d
o
w
n
.

G
� ���

4
3
a

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
ro
p
o
se
d
 

st
a
te
m
e
n
ts
 o
f 
S
p
e
ci
a
l 

E
d
u
ca
ti
o
n
a
l 
N
e
e
d
 i
ss
u
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

L
o
ca
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 i
n
 a
 f
in
a
n
ci
a
l 

y
e
a
r 
a
n
d
 p
re
p
a
re
d
 w
it
h
in
 1
8
 

w
e
e
k
s 
e
x
cl
u
d
in
g
 e
x
ce
p
ti
o
n
s

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

1
0
0
%

1
0
0
%

1
0
0
%

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
P
ro
p
o
se
d
 S
ta
te
m
e
n
ts
 o
f 
S
E
N
 i
ss
u
e
d
 s
in
ce
 

co
m
m
e
n
ce
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
in
g
 p
e
ri
o
d
 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
8
 i
s 
9
 (
co
rr
e
ct
 

a
s 
a
t 
0
1
/0
7
/2
0
0
8
).
  

G
� ���

4
3
b

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
ro
p
o
se
d
 

st
a
te
m
e
n
ts
 o
f 
S
p
e
ci
a
l 

E
d
u
ca
ti
o
n
a
l 
N
e
e
d
 i
ss
u
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

L
o
ca
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 i
n
 a
 f
in
a
n
ci
a
l 

y
e
a
r 
a
n
d
 p
re
p
a
re
d
 w
it
h
in
 1
8
 

w
e
e
k
s 
in
cl
u
d
in
g
 e
x
ce
p
ti
o
n
s

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

1
0
0
%

1
0
0
%

1
0
0
%

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
P
ro
p
o
se
d
 S
ta
te
m
e
n
ts
 o
f 
S
E
N
 i
ss
u
e
d
 s
in
ce
 

co
m
m
e
n
ce
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
in
g
 p
e
ri
o
d
 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
8
 i
s 
9
 (
co
rr
e
ct
 

a
s 
a
t 
0
1
/0
7
/2
0
0
8
).
  

G
� ���

1
6
3

C
2
3

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
ch
ild
re
n
 w
h
o
 

ce
a
se
d
 t
o
 b
e
 l
o
o
k
e
d
 a
ft
e
r 

d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 y
e
a
r 
a
s 
a
 r
e
su
lt
 o
f 

th
e
 g
ra
n
ti
n
g
 o
f 
a
n
 a
d
o
p
ti
o
n
 o
r 

sp
e
ci
a
l 
g
u
a
rd
ia
n
sh
ip
 o
rd
e
r,
 a
s 
a
 

p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
th
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 

ch
ild
re
n
 l
o
o
k
e
d
 a
ft
e
r 
a
t 
3
1
 

M
a
rc
h
 (
e
x
cl
u
d
in
g
 

u
n
a
cc
o
m
p
a
n
ie
d
 a
sy
lu
m
 

se
e
k
e
rs
) 
w
h
o
 h
a
d
 b
e
e
n
 l
o
o
k
e
d
 

a
ft
e
r 
fo
r 
6
 m
o
n
th
s 
o
r 
m
o
re
 o
n
 

th
a
t 
d
a
y

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

1
1
.8
%

8
%

1
0
.8
%

W
it
h
 s
u
ch
 a
 s
m
a
ll 
co
h
o
rt
, 
so
m
e
 f
lu
ct
u
a
ti
o
n
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 q
u
a
rt
e
rs
 i
s 

a
n
ti
ci
p
a
te
d
, 
b
u
t 
th
e
 p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
ce
 r
e
m
a
in
s 
in
 l
in
e
 w
it
h
 o
u
r 

e
x
p
e
ct
a
ti
o
n
s.

G
�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

21



C
h
ild
re
n
 Y
o
u
n
g
 P
e
o
p
le

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 2
A

N
IS

L
A
A

H
C
S

C
P

B
V
P
I

P
A
F

A
P
A

R
A
G
 

ra
ti
n
g

D
ir
e
ct
io
n
 

o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l

2
0
0
7
-0
8
 O
u
tt
u
rn

2
0
0
8
-0
9
 T
a
rg
e
t
L
a
te
st
 O
u
tt
u
rn

A
ct
iv
it
y
 R
e
p
o
rt
e
d

R
e
fe
re
n
ce

In
d
ic
a
to
r

L
e
a
d
 D
ir
e
ct
o
ra
te

B
7
9

O
f 
ch
ild
re
n
 a
g
e
d
 a
t 
le
a
st
 1
0
 

a
n
d
 u
n
d
e
r 
1
6
 l
o
o
k
e
d
 a
ft
e
r 
a
t 

3
1
 M
a
rc
h
 (
e
x
cl
u
d
in
g
 t
h
o
se
 

p
la
ce
d
 w
it
h
 p
a
re
n
ts
) 
th
e
 

p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 w
h
o
 w
e
re
 i
n
 f
o
st
e
r 

p
la
ce
m
e
n
ts
 o
r 
p
la
ce
d
 f
o
r 

a
d
o
p
ti
o
n

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

8
0
%

8
0
%

8
6
%

T
h
is
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
is
 s
h
o
w
in
g
 s
te
a
d
y
 y
e
a
r 
o
n
 y
e
a
r 
p
ro
g
re
ss
. 
 

S
p
e
ci
fi
c 
w
o
rk
 t
o
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 o
u
r 
p
la
ce
m
e
n
t 
st
ra
te
g
y
 i
s 
b
e
in
g
 

p
ro
g
re
ss
e
d
 a
s 
p
a
rt
 o
f 
o
u
r 
re
v
ie
w
 o
f 
o
u
r 
in
 h
o
u
se
 f
o
st
e
ri
n
g
 

se
rv
ic
e
 a
n
d
 t
h
is
 w
ill
 r
e
su
lt
 i
n
 m
e
a
su
re
s 
to
 e
n
su
re
 t
h
a
t 
o
n
ly
 

th
o
se
 c
h
ild
re
n
 w
h
o
 a
re
 u
n
a
b
le
 t
o
 s
e
tt
le
 i
n
 f
a
m
ily
 s
e
tt
in
g
s 
a
re
 

p
la
ce
d
 i
n
 r
e
si
d
e
n
ti
a
l 
ca
re
. 
 

G
� ���

2
0
5
4
S
C
 /
 

D
IS
 

1
1
1
1

P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
lo
o
k
e
d
 a
ft
e
r 

ch
ild
re
n
 f
o
st
e
re
d
 b
y
 r
e
la
ti
v
e
s 
o
r 

fr
ie
n
d
s

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

1
5
.8
%

1
6
.0
%

1
4
.6
%

T
h
is
 r
e
m
a
in
s 
sl
ig
h
tl
y
 s
h
o
rt
 o
f 
o
u
r 
ta
rg
e
t 
le
v
e
l.
  
F
u
rt
h
e
r 
a
n
a
ly
si
s 

w
ill
 b
e
 c
a
rr
ie
d
 o
u
t 
to
 e
st
a
b
lis
h
 w
h
e
th
e
r 
th
is
 i
s 
p
a
rt
 o
f 
a
 t
re
n
d
 i
n
 

p
la
ce
m
e
n
t 
ch
o
ic
e
 o
r 
si
m
p
ly
 t
h
e
 r
e
su
lt
 o
f 
a
 s
m
a
ll 
co
h
o
rt
.

R
� ���

2
0
6
0
S
C
 /
 

D
IS
 

1
1
1
4

P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
lo
o
k
e
d
 a
ft
e
r 

ch
ild
re
n
 w
it
h
 a
 n
a
m
e
d
 s
o
ci
a
l 

w
o
rk
e
r 
w
h
o
 i
s 
q
u
a
lif
ie
d
 a
s 
a
 

so
ci
a
l 
w
o
rk
e
r

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

9
8
.7
%

1
0
0
%

9
1
.8
%

D
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 p
a
st
 1
2
 m
o
n
th
s,
 t
h
e
re
 h
a
s 
b
e
e
n
 a
 s
h
o
rt
a
g
e
 o
f 

so
ci
a
l 
w
o
rk
e
rs
 a
cr
o
ss
 a
ll 
so
ci
a
l 
w
o
rk
 t
e
a
m
s,
 p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

la
st
 q
u
a
rt
e
r 
o
f 
2
0
0
7
/2
0
0
8
, 
w
h
ic
h
 h
a
s 
h
a
d
 a
 s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 
im
p
a
ct
 

o
n
 t
h
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 o
v
e
ra
ll.
 H
o
w
e
v
e
r,
 t
h
e
re
 h
a
s 
b
e
e
n
 a
 d
ri
v
e
 

th
ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 w
o
rk
fo
rc
e
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 t
o
 i
n
cr
e
a
se
 t
h
e
 s
o
ci
a
l 
w
o
rk
 

p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 t
o
 e
n
su
re
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 i
s 
fu
lly
 r
e
so
u
rc
e
d
 t
o
 m
e
e
t 

th
e
 n
e
e
d
s 
o
f 
it
s 
cl
ie
n
ts
, 
in
cl
u
d
in
g
 l
o
o
k
e
d
 a
ft
e
r 
ch
ild
re
n
 h
a
v
in
g
 

a
n
 a
llo
ca
te
d
 s
o
ci
a
l 
w
o
rk
e
r.
 A
s 
a
 r
e
su
lt
, 
b
e
tw
e
e
n
 A
p
ri
l 
a
n
d
 J
u
n
e
 

2
0
0
8
, 
fi
v
e
 p
e
rm
a
n
e
n
t 
fu
ll-
ti
m
e
 s
o
ci
a
l 
w
o
rk
e
rs
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 

re
cr
u
it
e
d
 a
n
d
 a
re
 i
n
 p
o
st
. 
A
s 
p
a
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
, 
th
e
 S
e
n
io
r 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
T
e
a
m
 i
s 
a
ls
o
 c
o
m
m
it
te
d
 t
o
 o
v
e
rs
e
a
s 
re
cr
u
it
m
e
n
t 

w
h
ic
h
 h
a
s 
se
cu
re
d
 s
e
v
e
n
 q
u
a
lif
ie
d
 a
n
d
 t
ra
in
e
d
 A
m
e
ri
ca
n
 s
o
ci
a
l 

w
o
rk
e
rs
 w
h
o
 w
ill
 b
e
 i
n
 p
o
st
 i
n
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
.

R
� ���

2
0
2
4
S
C
 /
 

D
IS
 

1
2
1
9

P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
ch
ild
re
n
 a
n
d
 

y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 w
h
o
 a
re
 t
h
e
 

su
b
je
ct
 o
f 
a
 c
h
ild
 p
ro
te
ct
io
n
 

p
la
n
, 
o
r 
o
n
 t
h
e
 c
h
ild
 p
ro
te
ct
io
n
 

re
g
is
te
r,
 w
h
o
 a
re
 n
o
t 
a
llo
ca
te
d
 

to
 a
 s
o
ci
a
l 
w
o
rk
e
r.

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

1
4
.2
8
%

0
%

0
%

A
ll 
ch
ild
re
n
 s
u
b
je
ct
 t
o
 c
h
ild
 p
ro
te
ct
io
n
 p
la
n
s 
a
re
 a
llo
ca
te
d
 t
o
 a
 

so
ci
a
l 
w
o
rk
e
r.
 T
h
is
 r
e
m
a
in
s 
th
e
 h
ig
h
e
st
 p
ri
o
ri
ty
. 
T
h
e
 

"s
n
a
p
sh
o
t"
 f
ig
u
re
 a
t 
3
1
st
 M
a
rc
h
 h
ig
h
lig
h
te
d
 t
h
e
 i
ss
u
e
 o
f 

p
ro
m
p
t 
u
p
d
a
ti
n
g
 o
f 
th
e
 s
y
st
e
m
, 
w
h
ic
h
 i
s 
b
e
in
g
 a
d
d
re
ss
e
d
. 
T
h
e
 

te
m
p
o
ra
ry
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 t
o
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 c
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
 o
f 
in
it
ia
l 

a
ss
e
ss
m
e
n
ts
 a
ls
o
 a
ff
e
ct
e
d
 t
h
e
 o
u
tt
u
rn
, 
d
u
e
 t
o
 c
a
p
a
ci
ty
 i
ss
u
e
s 

in
 t
h
e
 C
h
ild
re
n
 a
n
d
 F
a
m
ili
e
s 
T
e
a
m
s.
 T
h
e
se
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
re
 

b
e
in
g
 k
e
p
t 
u
n
d
e
r 
re
v
ie
w
, 
a
s 
a
re
 w
o
rk
in
g
 p
ra
ct
ic
e
s 
a
n
d
 

p
ro
to
co
ls
 f
o
r 
tr
a
n
sf
e
r 
o
f 
ca
se
s.
  
 

G
� ���

2
0
3
5
S
C
 /
 

K
IG
S
 

C
H
1
0

C
h
ild
re
n
 w
h
o
se
 c
h
ild
 p
ro
te
ct
io
n
 

p
la
n
s 
w
e
re
 d
is
co
n
ti
n
u
e
d
, 
o
r 

w
e
re
 d
e
-r
e
g
is
te
re
d
, 
p
e
r 
1
0
,0
0
0
 

p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 a
g
e
d
 u
n
d
e
r 
1
8

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

1
8
.8

1
7

1
8
.8

P
u
rp
o
se
fu
l 
ch
ild
 p
ro
te
ct
io
n
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
s 
to
 k
e
e
p
 o
u
r 

p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
ce
 p
o
si
ti
v
e
 i
n
 t
h
is
 a
re
a
. 
 

G
�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

2
0
5
2
S
C
/

K
IG
S
 

C
H
4
4

P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
ch
ild
re
n
 l
o
o
k
e
d
 

a
ft
e
r 
in
 r
e
si
d
e
n
ti
a
l 

a
cc
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

1
2
.3

1
3
%

1
3
.9
%

A
s 
o
u
tl
in
e
d
 a
b
o
v
e
 i
n
 N
I 
6
2
, 
w
e
 a
re
 u
n
d
e
rg
o
in
g
 f
o
rm
a
l 
co
n
tr
a
ct
 

re
v
ie
w
s 
w
it
h
 o
u
r 
re
si
d
e
n
ti
a
l 
p
ro
v
id
e
rs
 t
o
 e
n
su
re
 p
u
rp
o
se
fu
l 

p
la
n
n
in
g
 i
s 
su
p
p
o
rt
e
d
. 
 S
p
e
ci
a
lis
t 
fo
st
e
r 
ca
re
 i
s 
a
ls
o
 b
e
in
g
 

e
x
p
lo
re
d
 a
s 
a
n
 o
p
ti
o
n
 t
o
 r
e
d
u
ce
 r
e
lia
n
ce
 u
p
o
n
 r
e
si
d
e
n
ti
a
l 

p
ro
v
is
io
n
.

R
� ���

2
0
1
6
S
C
 /
 

K
IG
S
 

C
H
1
4
2

P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
re
fe
rr
a
ls
 t
h
a
t 
a
re
 

re
p
e
a
t 
re
fe
rr
a
ls
 w
it
h
in
 1
2
 

m
o
n
th
s

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

2
2
.1
%

1
8
%

2
3
.1
%

T
h
is
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
re
m
a
in
s 
w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 s
ta
ti
st
ic
a
l 
n
e
ig
h
b
o
u
r 
a
v
e
ra
g
e
. 

C
A
F
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 s
h
o
u
ld
 h
a
v
e
 a
n
 i
m
p
a
ct
 o
n
 t
h
is
 t
h
o
u
g
h
 n
o
t 

in
 t
h
e
 n
e
a
r 
fu
tu
re
. 
M
e
a
n
w
h
ile
, 
th
e
 w
o
rk
 o
n
 r
e
fe
rr
a
l 
p
ra
ct
ic
e
 i
s 

in
te
n
d
e
d
 t
o
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
d
 o
u
tt
u
rn
 i
n
 t
h
is
 a
re
a
.

R
� ���

22



C
h
ild
re
n
 Y
o
u
n
g
 P
e
o
p
le

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 2
A

N
IS

L
A
A

H
C
S

C
P

B
V
P
I

P
A
F

A
P
A

R
A
G
 

ra
ti
n
g

D
ir
e
ct
io
n
 

o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l

2
0
0
7
-0
8
 O
u
tt
u
rn

2
0
0
8
-0
9
 T
a
rg
e
t
L
a
te
st
 O
u
tt
u
rn

A
ct
iv
it
y
 R
e
p
o
rt
e
d

R
e
fe
re
n
ce

In
d
ic
a
to
r

L
e
a
d
 D
ir
e
ct
o
ra
te

2
0
3
7
S
C
 /
 

K
IG
S
 

C
H
1
2

P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
ch
ild
re
n
 w
h
o
 

w
e
re
 s
u
b
je
ct
 t
o
 s
4
7
 e
n
q
u
ir
ie
s 

w
h
ic
h
 l
e
d
 t
o
 i
n
it
ia
l 
ch
ild
 

p
ro
te
ct
io
n
 c
o
n
fe
re
n
ce
s 
w
h
ic
h
 

w
e
re
 h
e
ld
 w
it
h
in
 1
5
 w
o
rk
in
g
 

d
a
y
s

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

2
6
.4
%

5
0
%

2
8
.7
%

A
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 s
o
m
e
 p
ro
g
re
ss
 h
a
s 
b
e
e
n
 m
a
d
e
 i
n
 t
h
is
 a
re
a
, 
w
e
 a
re
 

st
ill
 a
 l
o
n
g
 w
a
y
 f
ro
m
 o
u
r 
a
n
ti
ci
p
a
te
d
 f
ig
u
re
s.
  
S
p
e
ci
fi
c 
w
o
rk
 w
ill
 

b
e
 c
a
rr
ie
d
 o
u
t 
to
 a
ss
e
ss
 t
h
e
 o
b
st
a
cl
e
s 
to
 p
ro
g
re
ss
. 
 

R
� ���

C
6
9

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
ch
ild
re
n
 

n
e
w
ly
 l
o
o
k
e
d
 a
ft
e
r 
in
 t
h
e
 y
e
a
r,
 

a
n
d
 s
ti
ll 
lo
o
k
e
d
 a
ft
e
r 
a
t 
3
1
 

M
a
rc
h
, 
w
h
o
 w
e
re
 p
la
ce
d
 a
t 
3
1
 

M
a
rc
h
 m
o
re
 t
h
a
n
 2
0
 m
ile
s 
fr
o
m
 

th
e
ir
 h
o
m
e
 a
d
d
re
ss
 f
ro
m
 w
h
ic
h
 

fi
rs
t 
p
la
ce
d

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

1
2
%

1
0
%

1
3
.2
%

A
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 t
h
is
 i
s 
a
n
 i
m
p
ro
v
in
g
 a
re
a
 o
f 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
ce
, 
th
e
 t
a
rg
e
t 

re
m
a
in
s 
a
 c
h
a
lle
n
g
in
g
 o
n
e
 f
o
r 
a
n
 a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 w
it
h
 l
a
rg
e
 r
u
ra
l 

a
re
a
s.
  
W
e
 a
re
 e
x
p
lo
ri
n
g
 m
o
re
 c
o
lla
b
o
ra
ti
v
e
 c
o
m
m
is
si
o
n
in
g
 

m
o
d
e
ls
 w
it
h
 l
o
ca
l 
p
ro
v
id
e
rs
 t
o
 a
v
o
id
 t
h
e
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 u
se
 

p
la
ce
m
e
n
ts
 o
u
ts
id
e
 o
f 
th
e
 c
o
u
n
ty
 b
o
u
n
d
a
ri
e
s,
 e
x
ce
p
t 
w
h
e
n
 t
h
e
 

m
o
st
 c
o
m
p
le
x
 n
e
e
d
s 
re
q
u
ir
in
g
 a
n
y
 s
p
e
ci
a
lis
t 
su
p
p
o
rt
 m
a
k
e
 t
h
is
 

a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
.

R
� ���

C
6
3
4
0
1
6
S
C
 /
 

C
F
 6
3

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
ch
ild
re
n
 a
n
d
 

y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 w
h
o
 

co
m
m
u
n
ic
a
te
d
 t
h
e
ir
 v
ie
w
s 

sp
e
ci
fi
ca
lly
 f
o
r 
e
a
ch
 o
f 
th
e
ir
 

st
a
tu
to
ry
 r
e
v
ie
w
s 
a
s 
a
 

p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
th
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 

ch
ild
re
n
 a
n
d
 y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 w
h
o
 

h
a
d
 b
e
e
n
 l
o
o
k
e
d
 a
ft
e
r 
a
t 
3
1
 

M
a
rc
h
 f
o
r 
m
o
re
 t
h
a
n
 f
o
u
r 

w
e
e
k
s

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

9
7
%

1
0
0
%

9
6
%

A
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
ce
 i
n
 t
h
is
 a
re
a
 r
e
m
a
in
s 
st
ro
n
g
 w
e
 w
ill
 n
e
e
d
 

to
 e
n
su
re
 t
h
a
t 
o
u
r 
ta
rg
e
t 
fo
r 
th
e
 y
e
a
r 
is
 a
ch
ie
v
e
d
. 

R
� ���

5
0
2
6
S
C

W
h
a
t 
p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
ch
ild
re
n
 

w
it
h
 d
is
a
b
ili
ti
e
s 
a
g
e
d
 1
4
+
 h
a
d
 

a
 t
ra
n
si
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 t
o
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 

th
e
ir
 m
o
v
e
 f
ro
m
 C
h
ild
re
n
's
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s 
to
 A
d
u
lt
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s?

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

U
p
 t
o
 9
0
%

N
o
 T
a
rg
e
t

1
0
0
%

A
ll 
y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 o
p
e
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 C
h
ild
re
n
 w
it
h
 D
is
a
b
ili
ti
e
s 
T
e
a
m
 

h
a
v
e
 t
h
e
ir
 t
ra
n
si
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 s
ta
rt
e
d
 a
t 
th
e
 a
g
e
 o
f 
1
4
. 
 A
t 
th
is
 

st
a
g
e
, 
th
e
 p
la
n
 i
s 
u
n
lik
e
ly
 t
o
 b
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 f
o
rm
 o
f 
a
 w
ri
tt
e
n
 p
la
n
 

b
e
ca
u
se
 t
h
e
 y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
rs
o
n
’s
 f
u
tu
re
 n
e
e
d
s 
a
re
 e
v
o
lv
in
g
 a
n
d
 i
t 
is
 

n
o
t 
u
su
a
lly
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 t
o
 h
a
v
e
 d
e
ci
d
e
d
 w
h
a
t 
su
p
p
o
rt
, 
tr
a
in
in
g
, 

e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
e
tc
. 
w
ill
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 b
e
 a
cc
e
ss
e
d
 a
t 
th
is
 s
ta
g
e
. 
 S
o
ci
a
l 

W
o
rk
e
rs
 a
re
 a
ct
iv
e
ly
 c
o
n
si
d
e
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
rs
o
n
’s
 m
o
v
e
 t
o
 

a
d
u
lt
h
o
o
d
 a
n
d
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 a
cc
o
rd
in
g
ly
. 
 T
h
is
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
s 
lia
is
in
g
 w
it
h
 

a
d
u
lt
 s
o
ci
a
l 
ca
re
 t
e
a
m
s 
to
 m
a
k
e
 t
h
e
m
 a
w
a
re
 o
f 
th
e
 y
o
u
n
g
 

p
e
rs
o
n
. 
 T
h
is
 b
e
g
in
s 
a
 p
ro
ce
ss
 o
f 
e
x
ch
a
n
g
in
g
 i
n
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 &
 

a
ft
e
r 
a
 p
e
ri
o
d
, 
u
su
a
lly
 t
o
w
a
rd
s 
th
e
 l
a
tt
e
r 
p
a
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 y
o
u
n
g
 

p
e
rs
o
n
’s
 t
im
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 c
h
ild
re
n
’s
 t
e
a
m
, 
a
d
u
lt
 t
e
a
m
s 
w
ill
 a
tt
e
n
d
 

k
e
y
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
s,
 s
u
ch
 a
s 
re
v
ie
w
s 
a
lo
n
g
 w
it
h
 c
h
ild
re
n
’s
 t
e
a
m
 

w
o
rk
e
rs
. 
 A
t 
th
e
 t
im
e
 o
f 
tr
a
n
sf
e
rr
in
g
 t
o
 a
d
u
lt
h
o
o
d
, 
a
ll 
y
o
u
n
g
 

p
e
o
p
le
 o
p
e
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 C
h
ild
re
n
 w
it
h
 D
is
a
b
ili
ti
e
s 
T
e
a
m
 h
a
v
e
 a
 

w
ri
tt
e
n
 t
ra
n
si
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
. 
 T
h
e
re
 i
s 
a
 t
ra
n
si
ti
o
n
s 
p
ro
to
co
l 
w
it
h
 

g
u
id
e
lin
e
s 
in
 p
la
ce
 t
o
 e
n
su
re
 t
h
is
 p
ro
ce
ss
 i
s 
ca
rr
ie
d
 o
u
t.

G
� ���

B
8

A
v
e
ra
g
e
 g
ro
ss
 w
e
e
k
ly
 

e
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re
 p
e
r 
lo
o
k
e
d
 a
ft
e
r 

ch
ild
 i
n
 f
o
st
e
r 
ca
re
 o
r 
in
 a
 

ch
ild
re
n
’s
 h
o
m
e

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

£
8
1
9

£
7
6
0

£
7
8
1

T
h
e
re
 w
a
s 
a
 r
e
d
u
ct
io
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
ch
ild
re
n
 p
la
ce
d
 i
n
 

a
g
e
n
cy
 p
la
ce
m
e
n
ts
, 
re
su
lt
in
g
 i
n
 l
o
w
e
r 
e
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re
 d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 

fi
rs
t 
q
u
a
rt
e
r 
b
u
t 
fu
rt
h
e
r 
re
d
u
ct
io
n
 w
ill
 b
e
 n
e
e
d
e
d
 t
o
 m
e
e
t 
th
e
 

ta
rg
e
t.

R
� ���

23



C
h
ild
re
n
 Y
o
u
n
g
 P
e
o
p
le

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 2
A

N
IS

L
A
A

H
C
S

C
P

B
V
P
I

P
A
F

A
P
A

R
A
G
 

ra
ti
n
g

D
ir
e
ct
io
n
 

o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l

2
0
0
7
-0
8
 O
u
tt
u
rn

2
0
0
8
-0
9
 T
a
rg
e
t
L
a
te
st
 O
u
tt
u
rn

A
ct
iv
it
y
 R
e
p
o
rt
e
d

R
e
fe
re
n
ce

In
d
ic
a
to
r

L
e
a
d
 D
ir
e
ct
o
ra
te

E
4
4

G
ro
ss
 e
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re
 o
n
 c
h
ild
re
n
 

in
 n
e
e
d
 b
u
t 
n
o
t 
lo
o
k
e
d
 a
ft
e
r,
 a
s 

a
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
g
ro
ss
 

e
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re
 o
n
 a
ll 
ch
ild
re
n
’s
 

se
rv
ic
e
s

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

2
9
%

3
3
%

2
9
.0
1
%

L
a
st
 y
e
a
r'
s 
fi
g
u
re
s 
w
e
re
 s
lig
h
tl
y
 d
is
to
rt
e
d
 b
y
 a
n
 e
x
ce
p
ti
o
n
a
lly
 

h
ig
h
 a
m
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
e
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re
 o
n
 d
ir
e
ct
 p
a
y
m
e
n
ts
. 
 C
h
a
n
g
e
s 
to
 

th
e
 w
a
y
 g
ra
n
ts
 t
o
 v
o
lu
n
ta
ry
 o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s 
a
re
 r
e
co
rd
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

E
X
1
 s
ta
tu
to
ry
 r
e
tu
rn
 h
a
v
e
 a
ls
o
 a
ff
e
ct
e
d
 t
h
is
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r.

A
� ���

D
7
4

P
ra
ct
ic
e
 l
e
a
rn
in
g
: 
T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 

o
f 
a
ss
e
ss
e
d
 s
o
ci
a
l 
w
o
rk
 p
ra
ct
ic
e
 

le
a
rn
in
g
 d
a
y
s 
p
e
r 
w
h
o
le
 t
im
e
 

e
q
u
iv
a
le
n
t 
so
ci
a
l 
w
o
rk
e
r 
fo
r 

e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s 
w
o
rk
in
g
 i
n
 c
h
ild
re
n
’s
 

se
rv
ic
e
s

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

1
8
.3

1
5

1
5
.7

T
h
is
 f
ig
u
re
 i
s 
e
x
tr
a
p
o
la
te
d
 f
ro
m
 f
ig
u
re
s 
p
ro
d
u
ce
d
 i
n
 J
u
ly
. 
A
s 

H
e
re
fo
rd
sh
ir
e
 i
s 
a
 r
u
ra
l 
a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 a
n
d
 s
tu
d
e
n
ts
 a
re
 o
ft
e
n
 

re
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
o
 d
ri
v
e
 c
o
n
si
d
e
ra
b
le
 d
is
ta
n
ce
 f
o
r 
p
la
ce
m
e
n
ts
, 

st
u
d
e
n
ts
 w
ill
 b
e
 d
e
te
rr
e
d
 f
ro
m
 a
cc
e
p
ti
n
g
 p
la
ce
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 

H
e
re
fo
rd
sh
ir
e
 b
e
ca
u
se
 o
f 
th
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
e
co
n
o
m
ic
 c
lim
a
te
 a
n
d
 

h
ig
h
 f
u
e
l 
co
st
s.

G
� ���

24



Appendix 3 

Health and Well-being 

 No. of 
indicators 

On course 
to achieve 
target (or 
establish 
baseline) 

Some 
progress, 
but data not 
available to 
determine 
whether the 
target will 
be achieved 

Not on 
target / no 
activity 
reported 

Corporate Plan (including 
LAA and HCS) 

26 5 18 3 

of which     

Local Area Agreement 
(LAA) 

7 1 5 1 

Herefordshire Community 
Strategy (HCS) 

16 3 12 1 

     

All reported indicators 38 10 22 6 

 

Direction of Travel 

Improving 10 

No real change 3 

Deteriorating 4 

Total 17 

Headlines 

• It’s too early to form a clear judgement about the majority of indicators, often 
because in-year data is not yet available. 

• But a positive picture in respect of indicators relevant to Direction of Travel 
assessment. 

• Three reds are because no information has been provided. 

• The other three are in respect of the timeliness of social care assessments 
and packages, and direct payments. 

• A projected end-year overspend of some £300K will have to be retrieved. This 
could be greater depending on the balance of care falling on the council (in 
the case of social care) or on the PCT (in the case of continuing health care). 

Adult Social Care Director commentary 

Overall reasonable progress is being made against the range of adult social care 
indicators. The CSCI have required councils with Adult Social Services 
responsibilities to continue to collect and report against the PAF set. The latest 

25



Appendix 3 

forecasting of the PAF set reports that all but four of the PIs are currently showing a 
positive Direction of Travel. Good progress continues to be made against the 'access' 
indicators, assessment, care plans and reviews, which are key areas considered by 
CSCI. The levels of people being placed in permanent residential care are in line with 
the low targets set and we are continuing to sustain the excellent end of year out-turn 
in this area. More people than ever before now have the opportunity of a single room 
if they need to go into residential care. The integrated equipment store and telecare 
service, which now includes Just Checking, continues to support high levels of 
people to remaining independent and in control at home. 

Data for a range of the National Indicator Set is not currently available from health 
colleagues, some of which are monitored only on a bi-annual basis. Work has begun 
to consider more joined-up reporting and sharing of performance data with health 
colleagues - it is intended that joint reporting across both agencies will become 
routine by the end of the year. We are in discussions with the Director of Public 
Health about how to monitor progress against certain health PIs. 

Good progress is also being made in line with the corporate plan actions; single line 
management is agreed for intermediate care and care pathways are being re-
designed; the Single Assessment Process continues to strengthen through joint 
policies and procedures and consistent practice across health and social care, and a 
new suite of assessment and care management policies, procedures and pathways 
are being developed in line with the new Frameworki electronic solution, which is due 
to go live in November 2008. 

A new adult safeguarding trainer is in place, personalisation is now being rolled out 
across the Directorate, and the carers hub is now up and running, with the new CEO 
in post. The Signposting Scheme is also being extended to provide information and 
advice to self-funders. 

26



H
e
a
lt
h
 w
e
ll-
b
e
in
g

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 3
A

N
IS

L
A
A

H
C
S

C
P
B
V
P
I
P
A
F

A
P
A

8
Y
e
s

A
d
u
lt
 p
a
rt
ic
ip
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 s
p
o
rt

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

2
2
.0
2
%
 (
2
0
0
6
)

>
2
2
.0
2
%

W
a
lk
in
g
 f
o
r 
h
e
a
lt
h
 –
 B
ri
ti
sh
 H
e
a
rt
 F
o
u
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 a
cc
re
d
it
a
ti
o
n
 

re
ce
iv
e
d
 a
n
d
 f
ir
st
 o
f 
th
e
 t
w
o
 w
a
lk
 l
e
a
d
e
r 
co
u
rs
e
s 
co
m
p
le
te
d
 

w
it
h
 6
 n
e
w
 t
ra
in
e
d
 l
e
a
d
e
rs
 n
o
w
 a
ct
iv
e
.

2
0
1
2
 O
ly
m
p
ic
 G
a
m
e
s 
- 
3
 V
e
n
u
e
s 
se
le
ct
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 P
a
ra
ly
m
p
ic
s 

T
ra
in
in
g
 G
u
id
e
. 
R
a
is
in
g
 o
u
r 
G
a
m
e
 L
o
g
o
 a
n
d
 A
ct
io
n
 P
la
n
 

la
u
n
ch
e
d
. 
M
o
M
 '
0
9
 h
a
v
e
 a
p
p
lie
d
 f
o
r 
In
sp
ir
e
 M
a
rk
 (
C
u
lt
u
ra
l 

O
ly
m
p
ia
d
).
 T
a
le
n
t 
ID
 F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 o
b
ta
in
e
d
 f
u
n
d
in
g
. 
B
ro
m
y
a
rd
 

E
q
u
e
st
ri
a
n
 C
e
n
tr
e
 h
o
st
e
d
 P
a
ra
ly
m
p
ic
s 
fu
n
d
ra
is
e
r.

A

5
3

2
0

P
re
v
a
le
n
ce
 o
f 
b
re
a
st
fe
e
d
in
g
 a
t 

6
–
8
 w
e
e
k
s 
fr
o
m
 b
ir
th

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

N
/A

E
st
a
b
lis
h
 

b
a
se
lin
e

5
1
.1
0
%

T
h
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
m
e
a
su
re
s 
th
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
b
a
b
ie
s 
th
a
t 
a
re
 t
o
ta
lly
 

o
r 
p
a
rt
ia
lly
 b
re
a
st
fe
d
 a
t 
6
-8
 w
e
e
k
s.
  
1
0
0
%
 o
f 
b
a
b
ie
s 
h
a
v
e
 t
h
e
ir
 

b
re
a
st
fe
e
d
in
g
 s
ta
tu
s 
re
co
rd
e
d
. 
C
o
m
p
a
re
d
 w
it
h
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
lly
, 

H
e
re
fo
rd
sh
ir
e
 h
a
s 
a
 g
o
o
d
 t
ra
ck
 r
e
co
rd
 o
f 
b
re
a
st
fe
e
d
in
g
 .
  
T
h
e
 

fo
cu
s 
is
 o
n
 t
ra
in
in
g
 b
re
a
st
fe
e
d
in
g
 p
e
e
r 
co
u
n
se
llo
rs
 t
o
 e
d
u
ca
te
 

m
o
th
e
rs
 t
o
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 o
th
e
r 
m
o
th
e
rs
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
ir
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
. 
 

T
h
e
 i
n
it
ia
l 
w
a
v
e
 h
a
s 
tr
a
in
e
d
 2
0
 m

o
th
e
rs
 i
n
 S
o
u
th
 W

y
e
, 
fo
u
r 
o
f 

w
h
o
m
 a
re
 t
e
e
n
a
g
e
 p
a
re
n
ts
.

G

5
6

Y
e
s

2
2
d

O
b
e
si
ty
 a
m
o
n
g
 p
ri
m
a
ry
 s
ch
o
o
l 

a
g
e
 c
h
ild
re
n
 i
n
 Y
e
a
r 
6
 

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

1
6
.7
%

1
6
%

N
o
 D
a
ta

D
a
ta
 w
ill
 b
e
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 i
n
 M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
. 
 T
h
e
 w
e
ig
h
in
g
 a
n
d
 

m
e
a
su
ri
n
g
 s
u
rv
e
y
 o
f 
Y
e
a
r 
6
 c
h
ild
re
n
 t
o
o
k
 p
la
ce
 i
n
 J
u
n
e
 2
0
0
8
. 
 

A
n
 o
b
e
si
ty
 C
a
re
 P
a
th
w
a
y
 h
a
s 
b
e
e
n
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 f
o
r 
re
fe
rr
a
ls
 

fr
o
m
 o
th
e
r 
so
u
rc
e
s 
a
n
d
 a
 p
ilo
t 
p
ro
je
ct
 o
f 
th
e
 M
in
d
, 
E
x
e
rc
is
e
, 

N
u
tr
it
io
n
 a
n
d
 D
ie
t 
(M

E
N
D
) 
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 w
ill
 b
e
 r
u
n
 l
a
te
r 
th
is
 

y
e
a
r,
 w
h
ic
h
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
s 
co
u
n
se
lli
n
g
 a
n
d
 l
if
e
st
y
le
 c
h
a
n
g
e
s,
 f
o
r 

ch
ild
re
n
 w
it
h
 o
b
e
si
ty
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
ir
 p
a
re
n
ts
.

A

5
7

Y
e
s

2
2
b

C
h
ild
re
n
 a
n
d
 y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
’s
 

p
a
rt
ic
ip
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 h
ig
h
-q
u
a
lit
y
 P
E
 

a
n
d
 s
p
o
rt
 

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

E
st
a
b
lis
h
 

b
a
se
lin
e

N
o
 D
a
ta

F
o
r 
in
tr
o
d
u
ct
io
n
 i
n
 2
0
0
9
/1
0
. 
 T
h
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
m
e
a
su
re
s 
th
e
 n
e
w
 

P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 w
h
ic
h
 e
x
te
n
d
s 
2
 h
o
u
rs
 h
ig
h
 q
u
a
lit
y
 P
E
 &
 s
p
o
rt
 t
o
 5
 

h
o
u
r 
h
ig
h
 q
u
a
lit
y
 P
E
 &
 s
p
o
rt
. 
R
e
p
o
rt
in
g
 i
s 
d
u
e
 t
e
rm

ly
; 
E
n
d
 o
f 

Ju
ly
, 
e
n
d
 o
f 
D
e
ce
m
b
e
r 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 e
n
d
 o
f 
M
a
rc
h
 (
y
e
a
r 
E
n
d
).

G

1
1
3

2
3

P
re
v
a
le
n
ce
 o
f 
C
h
la
m
y
d
ia
 i
n
 

u
n
d
e
r 
2
0
 y
e
a
r 
o
ld
s

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

N
/A

3
,3
5
0

1
7
3

T
h
is
 y
e
a
r,
 t
h
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
m
e
a
su
re
s 
th
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
y
o
u
n
g
 

p
e
o
p
le
 a
cc
e
p
ti
n
g
 a
 t
e
st
/s
cr
e
e
n
 f
o
r 
C
h
la
m
y
d
ia
. 
 T
h
is
 r
e
m
a
in
s 
a
 

h
ig
h
 r
is
k
 a
re
a
 w
it
h
 a
 l
im
it
e
d
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
sc
re
e
n
s 
co
m
p
le
te
d
 b
y
 

th
e
 e
n
d
 o
f 
Ju
n
e
. 
 I
n
 o
rd
e
r 
to
 a
ch
ie
v
e
 t
h
e
 t
a
rg
e
t,
 a
ct
iv
it
ie
s 

in
cl
u
d
e
 e
x
p
a
n
si
o
n
 o
f 
sc
re
e
n
in
g
 s
it
e
s 
to
 i
n
cl
u
d
e
 s
ch
o
o
ls
, 

G
e
n
e
ra
l 
P
ra
ct
ic
e
, 
Y
o
u
th
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s 
a
n
d
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 b
a
se
d
 

p
h
a
rm

a
ci
e
s 
a
n
d
 a
 s
u
st
a
in
e
d
 m

e
d
ia
 c
a
m
p
a
ig
n
 t
o
 e
n
g
a
g
e
 

sc
re
e
n
in
g
 s
it
e
s 
a
n
d
 y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
.

A

1
1
9

1
2
a
-d

S
e
lf
-r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 m

e
a
su
re
 o
f 

p
e
o
p
le
’s
 o
v
e
ra
ll 
h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 

w
e
llb
e
in
g

A
d
u
lt
 S
o
ci
a
l 
C
a
re

E
st
a
b
lis
h
 

b
a
se
lin
e

T
o
 b
e
 c
o
lle
ct
e
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 P
la
ce
 S
u
rv
e
y

G

1
2
0

1
1

A
ll-
a
g
e
 a
ll 
ca
u
se
 m

o
rt
a
lit
y
 r
a
te

A
d
u
lt
 S
o
ci
a
l 
C
a
re

6
0
3
.4
 p
e
r 

1
0
0
,0
0
0

(2
0
0
4
-0
6
)

<
6
0
3
.4

In
-y
e
a
r 
d
a
ta
 n
o
t 
cu
rr
e
n
tl
y
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
. 
 I
n
 d
is
cu
ss
io
n
 w
it
h
 

D
ir
e
ct
o
r 
o
f 
P
u
b
lic
 H
e
a
lt
h
 a
b
o
u
t 
lin
k
s 
to
 p
la
n
s.

A

1
2
1

Y
e
s

9

M
o
rt
a
lit
y
 r
a
te
 f
ro
m
 a
ll 

ci
rc
u
la
to
ry
 d
is
e
a
se
s 
a
t 
a
g
e
s 

u
n
d
e
r 
7
5
 p
e
r 
1
0
0
,0
0
0
 

p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n

A
d
u
lt
 S
o
ci
a
l 
C
a
re

5
9
.4

5
7
.8

In
-y
e
a
r 
d
a
ta
 n
o
t 
cu
rr
e
n
tl
y
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
. 
 I
n
 d
is
cu
ss
io
n
 w
it
h
 

D
ir
e
ct
o
r 
o
f 
P
u
b
lic
 H
e
a
lt
h
 a
b
o
u
t 
lin
k
s 
to
 p
la
n
s.

A

R
e
fe
re
n
ce

In
d
ic
a
to
r

L
e
a
d
 D
ir
e
ct
o
ra
te

R
A
G
 r
a
ti
n
g

D
ir
e
ct
io
n
 

o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l

2
0
0
7
-0
8
 O
u
tt
u
rn

2
0
0
8
-0
9
 T
a
rg
e
t
L
a
te
st
 O
u
tt
u
rn

A
ct
iv
it
y
 R
e
p
o
rt
e
d

27



H
e
a
lt
h
 w
e
ll-
b
e
in
g

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 3
A

N
IS

L
A
A

H
C
S

C
P

B
V
P
I
P
A
F

A
P
A

R
e
fe
re
n
ce

In
d
ic
a
to
r

L
e
a
d
 D
ir
e
ct
o
ra
te

R
A
G
 r
a
ti
n
g

D
ir
e
ct
io
n
 

o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l

2
0
0
7
-0
8
 O
u
tt
u
rn

2
0
0
8
-0
9
 T
a
rg
e
t
L
a
te
st
 O
u
tt
u
rn

A
ct
iv
it
y
 R
e
p
o
rt
e
d

1
2
2

8

M
o
rt
a
lit
y
 f
ro
m
 a
ll 
ca
n
ce
rs
 a
t 

a
g
e
s 
u
n
d
e
r 
7
5
 p
e
r 
1
0
0
,0
0
0
 

p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n

A
d
u
lt
 S
o
ci
a
l 
C
a
re

1
0
3
.2

<
1
0
3
.2

In
-y
e
a
r 
d
a
ta
 n
o
t 
cu
rr
e
n
tl
y
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
. 
 I
n
 d
is
cu
ss
io
n
 w
it
h
 

D
ir
e
ct
o
r 
o
f 
P
u
b
lic
 H
e
a
lt
h
 a
b
o
u
t 
lin
k
s 
to
 p
la
n
s.

A

1
2
3

Y
e
s

1
6
+
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
sm

o
k
in
g
 r
a
te
 

p
re
v
a
le
n
ce
 p
e
r 
1
0
0
,0
0
0
 

p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 a
g
e
d
 1
6
+

A
d
u
lt
 S
o
ci
a
l 
C
a
re

7
8
0
.6

8
0
8
.1

In
-y
e
a
r 
d
a
ta
 n
o
t 
cu
rr
e
n
tl
y
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
. 
 I
n
 d
is
cu
ss
io
n
 w
it
h
 

D
ir
e
ct
o
r 
o
f 
P
u
b
lic
 H
e
a
lt
h
 a
b
o
u
t 
lin
k
s 
to
 p
la
n
s.
  
T
h
is
 P
I 
 i
s 
b
e
in
g
 

re
v
is
e
d
 f
o
r 
2
0
0
9
, 
w
it
h
 d
a
ta
 t
o
 b
e
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 I
n
te
g
ra
te
d
 

H
o
u
se
h
o
ld
 S
u
rv
e
y
.

A

1
3
0

Y
e
s

Y
e
s

S
o
ci
a
l 
C
a
re
 c
lie
n
ts
 r
e
ce
iv
in
g
 

S
e
lf
 D
ir
e
ct
e
d
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 (
D
ir
e
ct
 

P
a
y
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 I
n
d
iv
id
u
a
l 

B
u
d
g
e
ts
) 
p
e
r 
1
0
0
,0
0
0
 

p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 a
g
e
d
 1
8
+

A
d
u
lt
 S
o
ci
a
l 
C
a
re

9
7

1
0
7

1
0
1
.4

T
h
is
 P
I 
is
 b
e
in
g
 r
e
v
is
e
d
 f
o
r 
2
0
0
9
.

A
� ���

1
3
2

1
9
5

D
5
5

T
im
e
lin
e
ss
 o
f 
so
ci
a
l 
ca
re
 

a
ss
e
ss
m
e
n
t

A
d
u
lt
 S
o
ci
a
l 
C
a
re

8
9
.6
0
%

9
2
%

8
9
.2
0
%

C
o
m
p
a
re
d
 t
o
 9
4
.1
%
 a
t 
sa
m
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
 l
a
st
 y
e
a
r.

R
� ���

1
3
3

1
9
6

D
5
6

T
im
e
lin
e
ss
 o
f 
so
ci
a
l 
ca
re
 

p
a
ck
a
g
e
s

A
d
u
lt
 S
o
ci
a
l 
C
a
re

8
4
.7
0
%

9
0
%

8
0
.9
0
%

C
o
m
p
a
re
d
 t
o
 9
4
.1
%
 a
t 
sa
m
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
 l
a
st
 y
e
a
r.

R
� ���

1
3
5

Y
e
s

Y
e
s

C
a
re
rs
 r
e
ce
iv
in
g
 n
e
e
d
s 

a
ss
e
ss
m
e
n
t 
o
r 
re
v
ie
w
 a
n
d
 a
 

sp
e
ci
fi
c 
ca
re
r’
s 
se
rv
ic
e
, 
o
r 

a
d
v
ic
e
 a
n
d
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n

A
d
u
lt
 S
o
ci
a
l 
C
a
re

1
2
.9
0
%

1
7
.9
%

1
3
%

C
a
re
rs
 h
u
b
 e
x
p
e
ct
e
d
 t
o
 b
e
 a
 s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 
co
n
tr
ib
u
to
r 
to
 t
h
e
 

su
cc
e
ss
 o
f 
th
is
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r.
 S
e
rv
ic
e
 o
n
ly
 s
ta
rt
e
d
 i
n
 A
p
ri
l 
th
is
 y
e
a
r.

A

1
4
2

Y
e
s

Y
e
s

N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 p
e
o
p
le
 

w
h
o
 a
re
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
o
 m

a
in
ta
in
 

in
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 
liv
in
g

A
d
u
lt
 S
o
ci
a
l 
C
a
re

9
6
.7
3

9
7
.7
5

(2
0
1
0
-1
1
)

N
o
 a
c
ti
v
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d

R

1
0

M
o
rt
a
lit
y
 r
a
te
 f
ro
m
 c
h
ro
n
ic
 

d
is
e
a
se
s

A
d
u
lt
 S
o
ci
a
l 
C
a
re

1
5
0

(2
0
0
4
-0
6
)

<
1
5
0

In
-y
e
a
r 
d
a
ta
 n
o
t 
cu
rr
e
n
tl
y
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
. 
In
 d
is
cu
ss
io
n
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 

D
ir
e
ct
o
r 
o
f 
P
u
b
lic
 H
e
a
lt
h
 a
b
o
u
t 
lin
k
s 
to
 p
la
n
s.

A

2
8

P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
re
sp
o
n
d
e
n
ts
 w
h
o
 

sa
id
 t
h
e
y
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 b
u
lli
e
d
 i
n
 

th
e
 p
re
v
io
u
s 
1
2
 m

o
n
th
s

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

2
4
%

<
2
4
%

N
o
 D
a
ta

S
u
rv
e
y
 w
ill
 b
e
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 i
n
 O
ct
o
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 -
 r
e
su
lt
s 
a
v
a
ila
b
le
 

in
 J
a
n
u
a
ry
 2
0
0
9
.

A

5
3

N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
fa
lls
/a
cc
id
e
n
ts
 

a
d
m
is
si
o
n
s 
to
 A
&
E
 

A
d
u
lt
 S
o
ci
a
l 
C
a
re

<
2
2

N
o
 a
c
ti
v
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d

R

2
2
a

P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
re
sp
o
n
d
e
n
ts
 w
h
o
 

sa
id
 t
h
e
y
 s
m
o
k
e
d
 a
t 
le
a
st
 1
 

ci
g
a
re
tt
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 l
a
st
 7
 d
a
y
s

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

7
%

<
7
%

N
o
 D
a
ta

S
u
rv
e
y
 w
ill
 b
e
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 i
n
 O
ct
o
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 -
 r
e
su
lt
s 
a
v
a
ila
b
le
 

in
 J
a
n
u
a
ry
 2
0
0
9
. 
 T
h
e
 S
to
p
 S
m
o
k
in
g
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 P
C
T
 

d
e
liv
e
rs
 a
 r
a
n
g
e
 o
f 
in
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
s 
a
n
d
 w
o
rk
s 
cl
o
se
ly
 w
it
h
 a
 

ra
n
g
e
 o
f 
p
ro
fe
ss
io
n
a
ls
 t
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 r
e
fe
rr
a
ls
 a
n
d
 d
e
liv
e
r 
sm

o
k
in
g
 

ce
ss
a
ti
o
n
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s.
  
A
 S
to
p
 S
m
o
k
in
g
 m

id
w
if
e
 s
p
e
ci
a
lis
t 

p
ro
v
id
e
s 
a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
su
p
p
o
rt
 t
o
 e
n
co
u
ra
g
e
 p
re
g
n
a
n
t 
w
o
m
e
n
 t
o
 

st
o
p
 s
m
o
k
in
g
, 
w
h
ic
h
, 
in
 t
u
rn
, 
re
d
u
ce
s 
th
e
 r
is
k
s 
o
f 
se
co
n
d
 h
a
n
d
 

sm
o
k
e
 t
o
 o
th
e
r 
ch
ild
re
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 h
o
m
e
. 
 I
n
 a
d
d
it
io
n
, 
th
e
re
 i
s 

e
ff
e
ct
iv
e
 e
n
fo
rc
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
u
n
d
e
ra
g
e
 c
ig
a
re
tt
e
 s
a
le
s 
le
g
is
la
ti
o
n
.

A

2
2
c

P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
re
sp
o
n
d
e
n
ts
 w
h
o
 

sa
id
 t
h
e
y
 a
te
 a
t 
le
a
st
 5
 p
o
rt
io
n
s 

o
f 
fr
u
it
 a
n
d
 v
e
g
e
ta
b
le
s 
th
e
 

p
re
v
io
u
s 
d
a
y

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

2
4
%

>
2
4
%

N
o
 D
a
ta

S
u
rv
e
y
 w
ill
 b
e
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 i
n
 O
ct
o
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 -
 r
e
su
lt
s 
a
v
a
ila
b
le
 

in
 J
a
n
u
a
ry
 2
0
0
9
. 
 F
o
o
d
 i
n
 s
ch
o
o
ls
 h
a
s 
a
 h
ig
h
 p
ri
o
ri
ty
 a
n
d
 a
 

sc
h
o
o
ls
 F
o
o
d
 S
te
e
ri
n
g
 G
ro
u
p
 i
s 
ch
a
ir
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 P
C
T
, 
b
ri
n
g
in
g
 

to
g
e
th
e
r 
sc
h
o
o
l 
fo
o
d
 p
ro
v
id
e
rs
, 
sc
h
o
o
ls
 c
o
lle
a
g
u
e
s 
a
n
d
 

H
e
a
lt
h
y
 S
ch
o
o
ls
 t
o
 p
ro
m
o
te
 b
e
st
 p
ra
ct
ic
e
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

im
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 n
e
w
 f
o
o
d
 s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s.
  
T
h
is
 i
s 
a
 p
ri
o
ri
ty
 

a
re
a
 f
o
r 
th
e
 H
e
a
lt
h
y
 S
ch
o
o
ls
 t
e
a
m
.

A

28



H
e
a
lt
h
 w
e
ll-
b
e
in
g

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 3
A

N
IS

L
A
A

H
C
S

C
P

B
V
P
I
P
A
F

A
P
A

R
e
fe
re
n
ce

In
d
ic
a
to
r

L
e
a
d
 D
ir
e
ct
o
ra
te

R
A
G
 r
a
ti
n
g

D
ir
e
ct
io
n
 

o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l

2
0
0
7
-0
8
 O
u
tt
u
rn

2
0
0
8
-0
9
 T
a
rg
e
t
L
a
te
st
 O
u
tt
u
rn

A
ct
iv
it
y
 R
e
p
o
rt
e
d

2
2
e

P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
u
p
ils
 

co
n
su
m
in
g
 2
 o
r 
m
o
re
 u
n
it
s 
o
f 

a
lc
o
h
o
l 
in
 t
h
e
 p
re
v
io
u
s 
w
e
e
k

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

1
8
%

<
1
8
%

N
o
 D
a
ta

S
u
rv
e
y
 w
ill
 b
e
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 i
n
 O
ct
o
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 -
 r
e
su
lt
s 
a
v
a
ila
b
le
 

in
 J
a
n
u
a
ry
 2
0
0
9
. 
 A
ct
iv
it
ie
s 
u
n
d
e
rw

a
y
 t
o
 r
e
d
u
ce
 a
lc
o
h
o
l 
m
is
u
se
 

in
cl
u
d
e
 t
h
e
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 a
n
n
u
a
l 
Y
o
u
n
g
 P
e
rs
o
n
s 

S
u
b
st
a
n
ce
 M
is
u
se
 P
la
n
/A
lc
o
h
o
l 
R
e
d
u
ct
io
n
 P
la
n
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 H
id
d
e
n
 

H
a
rm

 a
ct
io
n
 p
la
n
 a
n
d
 t
e
e
n
a
g
e
 a
lc
o
h
o
l 
a
b
u
se
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
s 
in
 

se
co
n
d
a
ry
 s
ch
o
o
ls
.

A

2
2
f

P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
re
sp
o
n
d
e
n
ts
 w
h
o
 

sa
id
 t
h
e
y
 h
a
d
 t
a
k
e
n
 s
o
m
e
 f
o
rm

 

o
f 
ill
e
g
a
l 
d
ru
g
 i
n
 t
h
e
 p
re
v
io
u
s 

1
2
 m

o
n
th
s

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

6
%

<
6
%

N
o
 D
a
ta

S
u
rv
e
y
 w
ill
 b
e
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 i
n
 O
ct
o
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 -
 r
e
su
lt
s 
a
v
a
ila
b
le
 

in
 J
a
n
u
a
ry
 2
0
0
9
. 
 A
ct
iv
it
ie
s 
u
n
d
e
rw

a
y
 a
s 
p
e
r 
2
2
e
 a
b
o
v
e
.

A

2
2
g

P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
re
sp
o
n
d
e
n
ts
 w
h
o
 

sa
id
 t
h
e
y
 w
o
rr
y
 a
b
o
u
t 
o
n
e
 

p
ro
b
le
m
 '
q
u
it
e
 a
 l
o
t'
 o
r 
'a
 l
o
t'

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

7
1
%

<
7
1
%

N
o
 D
a
ta

S
u
rv
e
y
 w
ill
 b
e
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 i
n
 O
ct
o
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 -
 r
e
su
lt
s 
a
v
a
ila
b
le
 

in
 J
a
n
u
a
ry
 2
0
0
9
. 
 T
h
e
 m

e
n
ta
l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 n
e
e
d
s 
o
f 
ch
ild
re
n
 a
n
d
 

y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 a
re
 b
e
in
g
 m

e
t 
th
ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 

th
e
 C
A
M
H
S
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 (
se
e
 N
I 
5
1
).

A

1
0
4
1
Y
J

T
h
e
 r
e
fe
rr
a
l 
o
f 
ju
v
e
n
ile
s 

m
a
n
if
e
st
in
g
 m

e
n
ta
l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 

d
if
fi
cu
lt
ie
s 
to
 C
h
ild
 a
n
d
 

A
d
o
le
sc
e
n
t 
M
e
n
ta
l 
H
e
a
lt
h
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

1
0
0
%

1
0
0
%

1
0
0
%

G
� ���

Y
e
s

5
6

D
5
4

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
it
e
m
s 
o
f 

e
q
u
ip
m
e
n
t 
d
e
liv
e
re
d
 a
n
d
 

a
d
a
p
ta
ti
o
n
s 
m
a
d
e
 w
it
h
in
 7
 

w
o
rk
in
g
 d
a
y
s

A
d
u
lt
 S
o
ci
a
l 
C
a
re

9
6
.3
6
%

9
7
%

9
6
.2
0
%

C
o
m
p
a
re
d
 t
o
 9
4
.1
5
 a
t 
sa
m
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
 l
a
st
 y
e
a
r.

G
� ���

2
0
1

C
5
1

A
d
u
lt
s 
a
n
d
 o
ld
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 

re
ce
iv
in
g
 d
ir
e
ct
 p
a
y
m
e
n
ts
 a
t 
3
1
 

M
a
rc
h
 p
e
r 
1
0
0
,0
0
0
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 

a
g
e
d
 1
8
 o
r 
o
v
e
r 
(a
g
e
 

st
a
n
d
a
rd
is
e
d
)

A
d
u
lt
 S
o
ci
a
l 
C
a
re

9
7
.6

1
1
5

9
5
.8

R
� ���

Y
e
s

C
2
9

N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
a
d
u
lt
s 
w
it
h
 p
h
y
si
ca
l 

d
if
fi
cu
lt
ie
s 
h
e
lp
e
d
 t
o
 l
iv
e
 a
t 

h
o
m
e
 (
p
e
r 
‘0
0
0
 o
f 
p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 

a
g
e
d
 1
8
 t
o
 6
4
)

A
d
u
lt
 S
o
ci
a
l 
C
a
re

4
.8

5
3
.4

C
o
m
p
a
re
d
 t
o
 2
.9
5
 a
t 
sa
m
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
 l
a
st
 y
e
a
r.

G
� ���

Y
e
s

C
3
0

N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
a
d
u
lt
s 
w
it
h
 l
e
a
rn
in
g
 

d
if
fi
cu
lt
ie
s 
h
e
lp
e
d
 t
o
 l
iv
e
 a
t 

h
o
m
e
 (
p
e
r 
‘0
0
0
 o
f 
p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 

a
g
e
d
 1
8
 t
o
 6
4
)

A
d
u
lt
 S
o
ci
a
l 
C
a
re

2
.9

3
2
.9

A
�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

Y
e
s

C
3
1

N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
a
d
u
lt
s 
w
it
h
 m

e
n
ta
l 

h
e
a
lt
h
 d
if
fi
cu
lt
ie
s 
h
e
lp
e
d
 t
o
 l
iv
e
 

a
t 
h
o
m
e
 (
p
e
r 
‘0
0
0
 o
f 

p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 a
g
e
d
 1
8
 t
o
 6
4
)

A
d
u
lt
 S
o
ci
a
l 
C
a
re

4
.3

4
.4

4
.2

C
o
m
p
a
re
d
 t
o
 4
.2
1
 a
t 
sa
m
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
 l
a
st
 y
e
a
r.

A
�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

Y
e
s

L
o
ca
l 
in
d
ic
a
to
r:
 (
S
a
fe
g
u
a
rd
in
g
) 

P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
ca
se
s 
d
e
a
lt
 w
it
h
 

w
it
h
in
 5
 d
a
y
s 
fr
o
m
 r
e
fe
rr
a
l 
to
 

d
a
te
 o
f 
st
ra
te
g
y
 d
is
cu
ss
io
n

A
d
u
lt
 S
o
ci
a
l 
C
a
re

7
5
%

N
o
 a
c
ti
v
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d

R

29



H
e
a
lt
h
 w
e
ll-
b
e
in
g

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 3
A

N
IS

L
A
A

H
C
S

C
P

B
V
P
I
P
A
F

A
P
A

R
e
fe
re
n
ce

In
d
ic
a
to
r

L
e
a
d
 D
ir
e
ct
o
ra
te

R
A
G
 r
a
ti
n
g

D
ir
e
ct
io
n
 

o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l

2
0
0
7
-0
8
 O
u
tt
u
rn

2
0
0
8
-0
9
 T
a
rg
e
t
L
a
te
st
 O
u
tt
u
rn

A
ct
iv
it
y
 R
e
p
o
rt
e
d

B
1
1

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
h
o
u
se
h
o
ld
s 

re
ce
iv
in
g
 i
n
te
n
si
v
e
 h
o
m
e
 

h
e
lp
/c
a
re
 a
s 
a
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
a
ll 

a
d
u
lt
s 
a
n
d
 o
ld
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 i
n
 

re
si
d
e
n
ti
a
l 
a
n
d
 n
u
rs
in
g
 c
a
re
 

a
n
d
 h
o
u
se
h
o
ld
s 
re
ce
iv
in
g
 

in
te
n
si
v
e
 h
o
m
e
 h
e
lp
/c
a
re
.

A
d
u
lt
 S
o
ci
a
l 
C
a
re

1
9
.7
5
%

2
2
%

2
0
.5
0
%

A
� ���

B
1
2

A
v
e
ra
g
e
 g
ro
ss
 w
e
e
k
ly
 

e
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re
 p
e
r 
p
e
rs
o
n
 o
n
 

su
p
p
o
rt
in
g
 a
d
u
lt
s 
a
n
d
 o
ld
e
r 

p
e
o
p
le
 i
n
 r
e
si
d
e
n
ti
a
l 
a
n
d
 

n
u
rs
in
g
 c
a
re
 a
n
d
 p
ro
v
id
in
g
 

in
te
n
si
v
e
 h
o
m
e
 c
a
re

A
d
u
lt
 S
o
ci
a
l 
C
a
re

£
5
2
7
.9
2

£
5
0
0

£
5
1
4

A
� ���

D
3
7

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
si
n
g
le
 a
d
u
lt
s 

a
n
d
 o
ld
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 g
o
in
g
 i
n
to
 

p
e
rm

a
n
e
n
t 
re
si
d
e
n
ti
a
l 
a
n
d
 

n
u
rs
in
g
 c
a
re
 w
h
o
 w
e
re
 

a
llo
ca
te
d
 s
in
g
le
 r
o
o
m
s

A
d
u
lt
 S
o
ci
a
l 
C
a
re

9
5
.6
0
%

9
6
%

9
3
.3
0
%

C
o
m
p
a
re
d
 t
o
 8
4
.1
 a
t 
sa
m
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
 l
a
st
 y
e
a
r.

G
� ���

D
3
9

P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 r
e
ce
iv
in
g
 

a
 s
ta
te
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
ir
 n
e
e
d
s 
a
n
d
 

h
o
w
 t
h
e
y
 w
ill
 b
e
 m

e
t

A
d
u
lt
 S
o
ci
a
l 
C
a
re

9
6
.1
0
%

1
0
0
%

9
6
.7
0
%

C
o
m
p
a
re
d
 t
o
 9
4
.0
1
 a
t 
sa
m
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
 l
a
st
 y
e
a
r.

A
� ���

D
4
0

A
d
u
lt
 a
n
d
 o
ld
e
r 
cl
ie
n
ts
 

re
ce
iv
in
g
 a
 r
e
v
ie
w
 a
s 
a
 

p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
th
o
se
 r
e
ce
iv
in
g
 a
 

se
rv
ic
e

A
d
u
lt
 S
o
ci
a
l 
C
a
re

7
8
.0
6
%

8
0
%

3
4
%

C
o
m
p
a
re
d
 t
o
 2
4
.7
2
 a
t 
sa
m
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
 l
a
st
 y
e
a
r.

O
u
tt
u
rn
 i
s 
cu
m
u
la
ti
v
e
.

G
� ���

E
8
2

A
ss
e
ss
m
e
n
ts
 o
f 
a
d
u
lt
s 
a
n
d
 

o
ld
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 l
e
a
d
in
g
 t
o
 

p
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
se
rv
ic
e

A
d
u
lt
 S
o
ci
a
l 
C
a
re

8
3
.6
0
%

7
8
%

7
6
.8
0
%

C
o
m
p
a
re
d
 t
o
 7
9
.4
2
 a
t 
sa
m
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
 l
a
st
 y
e
a
r.

A
� ���

C
7
3

A
d
u
lt
s 
a
g
e
d
 1
8
-6
4
 a
d
m
it
te
d
 o
n
 

a
 p
e
rm

a
n
e
n
t 
b
a
si
s 
in
 t
h
e
 y
e
a
r 

to
 r
e
si
d
e
n
ti
a
l 
o
r 
n
u
rs
in
g
 c
a
re

A
d
u
lt
 S
o
ci
a
l 
C
a
re

1
.5

1
.5

1
.5
 (
fo
re
ca
st
)

G
�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

C
6
2

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
ca
re
rs
 r
e
ce
iv
in
g
 

a
 ‘
ca
re
r’
s 
b
re
a
k
’ 
o
r 
a
 s
p
e
ci
fi
c 

ca
re
rs
’ 
se
rv
ic
e
 a
s 
a
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 

o
f 
cl
ie
n
ts
 r
e
ce
iv
in
g
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

b
a
se
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s

A
d
u
lt
 S
o
ci
a
l 
C
a
re

1
1
.5
0
%

1
2
%

1
2
.5
0
%

C
o
m
p
a
re
d
 t
o
 9
.6
3
 a
t 
sa
m
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
 l
a
st
 y
e
a
r.

G
� ���

30



Appendix 4 

Older People 

N.B.  This section covers performance in respect of indicators that relate wholly or 
mainly to older people.  All-age indicators that are also relevant to performance in 
respect of older people feature elsewhere, notably under the Heath and well-being 
theme in Appendix 3. 

 No. of 
indicators 

On course 
to achieve 
target (or 
establish 
baseline) 

Some 
progress, 
but data not 
available to 
determine 
whether the 
target will 
be achieved 

Not on 
target / no 
activity 
reported 

Corporate Plan (including 
LAA and HCS) 

7 3 3 1 

of which     

Local Area Agreement 
(LAA) 

1 0 1 0 

Herefordshire Community 
Strategy (HCS) 

1 1 0 0 

     

All reported indicators 9 5 3 1 

 

Direction of Travel 

Improving 4 

No real change 0 

Deteriorating 1 

Total 5 

Headlines 

• A positive overall picture, with only telecare red. 

• A projected end-year overspend of some £300K will have to be retrieved. This 
could be greater depending on the balance of care falling on the council (in 
the case of social care) or on the PCT (in the case of continuing health care). 

Adult Social Care Director commentary 

Overall reasonable progress is being made against the range of adult social care 
indicators. The CSCI have required councils with Adult Social Services 
responsibilities to continue to collect and report against the PAF set. The latest 
forecasting of the PAF set reports that all but four of the PIs are currently showing a 
positive Direction of Travel. Good progress continues to be made against the 'access' 

31



Appendix 4 

indicators, assessment, care plans and reviews, which are key areas considered by 
CSCI. The levels of people being placed in permanent residential care are in line with 
the low targets set and we are continuing to sustain the excellent end of year out-turn 
in this area. More people than ever before now have the opportunity of a single room 
if they need to go into residential care. The integrated equipment store and telecare 
service, which now includes Just Checking, continues to support high levels of 
people to remaining independent and in control at home. 

Data for a range of the National Indicator Set is not currently available from health 
colleagues, some of which are monitored only on a bi-annual basis. Work has begun 
to consider more joined-up reporting and sharing of performance data with health 
colleagues - it is intended that joint reporting across both agencies will become 
routine by the end of the year. We are in discussions with the Director of Public 
Health about how to monitor progress against certain health PIs. 

Good progress is also being made in line with the corporate plan actions; single line 
management is agreed for intermediate care and care pathways are being re-
designed; the Single Assessment Process continues to strengthen through joint 
policies and procedures and consistent practice across health and social care, and a 
new suite of assessment and care management policies, procedures and pathways 
are being developed in line with the new Frameworki electronic solution, which is due 
to go live in November 2008. 

A new adult safeguarding trainer is in place, personalisation is now being rolled out 
across the Directorate, and the carers hub is now up and running, with the new CEO 
in post. The Signposting Scheme is also being extended to provide information and 
advice to self-funders.’ 

32



O
ld
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 4
A

N
IS

L
A
A
H
C
S

C
P
B
V
P
I
P
A
F
A
P
A

1
2
5

Y
e
s

A
ch
ie
v
in
g
 i
n
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
ce
 f
o
r 

o
ld
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 

re
h
a
b
ili
ta
ti
o
n
/ 
in
te
rm

e
d
ia
te
 

ca
re

A
d
u
lt
 S
o
ci
a
l 
C
a
re

E
st
a
b
lis
h
 

b
a
se
lin
e

Jo
in
t 
te
a
m
 e
st
a
b
lis
h
e
d
 u
n
d
e
r 
si
n
g
le
 l
in
e
 m

a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
to
 

e
n
su
re
 c
o
n
si
st
e
n
t 
a
p
p
ro
a
ch
. 
B
a
se
lin
e
 b
e
in
g
 e
st
a
b
lis
h
e
d
 i
n
-

y
e
a
r.

G

1
3
1

Y
e
s

D
e
la
y
e
d
 t
ra
n
sf
e
rs
 o
f 
ca
re
 f
ro
m
 

h
o
sp
it
a
ls
 p
e
r 
1
0
0
,0
0
0
 

p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 a
g
e
d
 1
8
+

A
d
u
lt
 S
o
ci
a
l 
C
a
re

E
st
a
b
lis
h
 

b
a
se
lin
e

R
e
p
la
ce
m
e
n
t 
fo
r 
P
A
F
 D
4
1
. 
 D
e
p
a
rt
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
H
e
a
lt
h
 w
ill
 p
ro
v
id
e
 

th
e
 b
a
se
lin
e
. 
 T
h
e
 C
o
u
n
ci
l 
h
a
s 
a
n
 e
x
e
m
p
la
ry
 r
e
co
rd
: 
n
o
 d
e
la
y
s 

d
u
e
 t
o
 a
d
u
lt
 s
o
ci
a
l 
ca
re
 a
n
d
 n
o
 r
e
im
b
u
se
m
e
n
ts
 t
h
e
re
fo
re
 

p
a
y
a
b
le
. 
 

G

1
3
6

Y
e
s

Y
e
s

P
e
o
p
le
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
o
 l
iv
e
 

in
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
tl
y
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 s
o
ci
a
l 

se
rv
ic
e
s 
(a
ll 
a
g
e
s)
 p
e
r 
1
0
0
,0
0
0
 

p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n

A
d
u
lt
 S
o
ci
a
l 
C
a
re

3
,0
9
5

3
,7
9
3

2
,5
5
0

M
e
a
su
re
m
e
n
t 
d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 y
e
a
r 
in
cl
u
d
e
s 
o
n
ly
 a
ct
iv
it
y
 r
e
co
rd
e
d
 

o
n
 t
h
e
 c
lie
n
t 
in
d
e
x
 d
a
ta
b
a
se
. 
O
th
e
r 
se
rv
ic
e
s 
a
d
d
e
d
 a
t 
th
e
 y
e
a
r 

e
n
d
 w
ill
 s
e
e
 t
h
e
 a
ct
u
a
l 
re
co
rd
e
d
 v
a
lu
e
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
. 
T
h
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 

re
p
o
rt
e
d
 a
ct
iv
it
y
 i
s 
in
 l
in
e
 w
it
h
 e
x
p
e
ct
e
d
 r
e
su
lt
s 
fo
r 
th
e
 t
im
e
 o
f 

y
e
a
r.

A
� ���

1
3
9

1
8
a
-c

T
h
e
 e
x
te
n
t 
to
 w
h
ic
h
 o
ld
e
r 

p
e
o
p
le
 r
e
ce
iv
e
 t
h
e
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
h
e
y
 

n
e
e
d
 t
o
 l
iv
e
 i
n
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
tl
y
 a
t 

h
o
m
e

A
d
u
lt
 S
o
ci
a
l 
C
a
re

E
st
a
b
lis
h
 

b
a
se
lin
e

T
o
 b
e
 c
o
lle
ct
e
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 P
la
ce
 S
u
rv
e
y

G

Y
e
s

5
3

C
2
8

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
h
o
u
se
h
o
ld
s 

re
ce
iv
in
g
 i
n
te
n
si
v
e
 h
o
m
e
 c
a
re
 

p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 a
g
e
d
 6
5
 

o
r 
o
v
e
r

A
d
u
lt
 S
o
ci
a
l 
C
a
re

7
.5

9
7
.5

C
o
m
p
a
re
d
 t
o
 6
.7
 a
t 
sa
m
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
 l
a
st
 y
e
a
r.

A
� ���

5
4

C
3
2

O
ld
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 h
e
lp
e
d
 t
o
 l
iv
e
 a
t 

h
o
m
e
 p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 

a
g
e
d
 6
5
 o
r 
o
v
e
r

A
d
u
lt
 S
o
ci
a
l 
C
a
re

8
1
.3

8
3

5
8
.5

C
o
m
p
a
re
d
 t
o
 5
1
.0
8
 a
t 
sa
m
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
 l
a
st
 y
e
a
r.

G
� ���

Y
e
s

C
7
2

R
e
d
u
ct
io
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 

n
e
w
 a
d
m
is
si
o
n
s 
to
 r
e
si
d
e
n
ti
a
l 

ca
re

A
d
u
lt
 S
o
ci
a
l 
C
a
re

5
3
.2

5
5

1
2
.4

C
o
m
p
a
re
d
 t
o
 1
7
.2
4
 a
t 
sa
m
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
 l
a
st
 y
e
a
r.

G
� ���

Y
e
s

L
o
ca
l 
in
d
ic
a
to
r:
 N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 

p
e
o
p
le
 u
si
n
g
 T
e
le
ca
re

A
d
u
lt
 S
o
ci
a
l 
C
a
re

5
7
1

6
2
5

5
5
3

R
� ���

Y
e
s

L
P
S
A
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r:
  
T
h
e
 g
a
p
 

b
e
tw
e
e
n
 t
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 

p
e
o
p
le
 6
5
 a
n
d
 o
v
e
r 
u
si
n
g
 h
o
m
e
 

ca
re
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s 
p
ro
v
id
e
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 

S
o
ci
a
l 
C
a
re
, 
a
n
d
 p
e
o
p
le
 6
5
 a
n
d
 

o
v
e
r 
w
h
o
 d
ir
e
ct
ly
 p
u
rc
h
a
se
d
 

se
rv
ic
e
s 
u
si
n
g
 D
ir
e
ct
 P
a
y
m
e
n
ts
, 

w
h
o
 r
e
p
o
rt
 b
e
in
g
 s
a
ti
sf
ie
d
 w
it
h
 

th
e
 h
e
lp
 t
h
e
y
 r
e
ce
iv
e
d
 f
ro
m
 

H
e
re
fo
rd
sh
ir
e
 S
o
ci
a
l 
C
a
re
 a
n
d
 

p
e
rf
e
ct
io
n
 (
1
0
0
%
) 

A
d
u
lt
 S
o
ci
a
l 
C
a
re

5
8
%

(2
0
0
6
 

su
rv
e
y
)

6
6
%

A
ct
io
n
 p
la
n
 i
n
 p
la
ce
 t
o
 m

a
x
im
is
e
 o
u
t-
tu
rn
 a
t 
p
o
in
t 
o
f 
fi
n
a
l 

su
rv
e
y
 i
n
 e
a
rl
y
 2
0
0
9
. 
In
cl
u
d
e
s 
S
p
o
tl
ig
h
t 
o
n
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s 
n
e
w
sl
e
tt
e
r 

a
n
d
 D
V
D
: 
P
u
tt
in
g
 P
e
o
p
le
 F
ir
st
 

A

R
e
fe
re
n
ce

In
d
ic
a
to
r

L
e
a
d
 D
ir
e
ct
o
ra
te

R
A
G
 r
a
ti
n
g

D
ir
e
ct
io
n
 

o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l

2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

O
u
tt
u
rn

2
0
0
8
-0
9
 

T
a
rg
e
t

L
a
te
st
 

O
u
tt
u
rn

A
ct
iv
it
y
 R
e
p
o
rt
e
d

33



34



Appendix 5 

Economic Development and Enterprise 

 No. of 
indicators 

On course 
to achieve 
target (or 
establish 
baseline) 

Some 
progress, 
but data not 
available to 
determine 
whether the 
target will 
be achieved 

Not on 
target / no 
activity 
reported 

Corporate Plan (including 
LAA and HCS) 

14 5 8 1 

of which     

Local Area Agreement 
(LAA) 

6 1 4 1 

Herefordshire Community 
Strategy (HCS) 

9 3 5 1 

     

All reported indicators 15 6 8 1 

 

Direction of Travel 

Improving 1 

No real change 0 

Deteriorating 0 

Total 1 

Highlights 

• There is little substantive performance information, since the majority of the 
indicators are part of the new National Indicator set and have as their target 
that baselines should be established this year. 

• The Regeneration Directorate has to retrieve a currently projected out-turn 
some £500K over budget, at the same time as meeting major new demands 
arising from the economic down-turn (for those in respect of homelessness 
see Appendix 7 – Sustainable communities). 

Regeneration Director Commentary 

'The overall performance is on track to meet the identified targets for 2008/2009 
across a range of Local Area Agreement, Herefordshire Community Strategy and 
Herefordshire Council Corporate Plan indicators. 

The introduction of the National Indicator Framework has meant that there are a 
number of indicators for which in year data is not presently available, as many rely on 
the new Place Survey, which is being carried out during the second half of this year.  
In the meantime, work is being conducted to influence the outcome of the survey 

35



Appendix 5 

across the directorate.  The change to the National Indicator set has meant that there 
is a greater reliance on services delivering agreed service plan actions, to enable the 
services to establish and agree baseline data. 

In addition there are a number of performance indicators that whilst the council are 
responsible for reporting, the services are being delivered by partnership agencies.  
We continue to work in partnership with these agencies in order to influence and 
monitor the performance outturn.' 

36



E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 e
n
te
rp
ri
s
e

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 5
A

N
IS

L
A
A
H
C
S
C
P
B
V
P
I
P
A
F
A
P
A

1
5
2
Y
e
s

W
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 o
n
 o
u
t 
o
f 

w
o
rk
 b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

E
st
a
b
lis
h
 

b
a
se
lin
e

S
ch
e
m
e
s 
b
e
in
g
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 t
o
 a
d
d
re
ss
 "
W
o
rk
le
ss
n
e
ss
".
  

S
ch
e
m
e
s 
fu
n
d
e
d
 b
y
 E
U
 s
o
u
rc
e
s 

A

1
6
1

5
Y
e
s

L
e
a
rn
e
rs
 a
ch
ie
v
in
g
 a
 L
e
v
e
l 
1
 

q
u
a
lif
ic
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 l
it
e
ra
cy

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

5
8

3
2

A
ch
ie
v
e
m
e
n
t 
d
a
ta
 f
o
r 
e
a
ch
 a
ca
d
e
m
ic
 y
e
a
r 
w
ill
 b
e
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 i
n
 

th
e
 A
p
ri
l 
fo
llo
w
in
g
 t
h
e
 e
n
d
 o
f 
th
e
 a
ca
d
e
m
ic
 y
e
a
r.
  
i.
e
. 
2
0
0
8
/0
9
 

w
ill
 b
e
 g
e
n
e
ra
te
d
 i
n
 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
1
0
. 
 T
h
is
 i
s 
co
n
tr
a
ct
e
d
 o
u
t 
to
 t
h
e
 

sk
ill
s 
fo
r 
lif
e
 v
o
lu
n
ta
ry
 s
e
ct
o
r 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
 -
 L
e
a
rn
in
g
 A
ct
iv
it
ie
s 

h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 n
e
g
o
ti
a
te
d
 a
n
d
 a
g
re
e
d
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
ci
l 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

sk
ill
s 
fo
r 
lif
e
 v
o
lu
n
ta
ry
 s
e
ct
o
r 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n

A

1
6
2

5
Y
e
s

L
e
a
rn
e
rs
 a
ch
ie
v
in
g
 a
n
 E
n
tr
y
 

L
e
v
e
l 
3
 q
u
a
lif
ic
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 

n
u
m
e
ra
cy

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

E
st
a
b
lis
h
 

b
a
se
lin
e

A
ch
ie
v
e
m
e
n
t 
d
a
ta
 f
o
r 
e
a
ch
 a
ca
d
e
m
ic
 y
e
a
r 
w
ill
 b
e
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 i
n
 

th
e
 A
p
ri
l 
fo
llo
w
in
g
 t
h
e
 e
n
d
 o
f 
th
e
 a
ca
d
e
m
ic
 y
e
a
r.
  
i.
e
. 
2
0
0
8
/0
9
 

w
ill
 b
e
 g
e
n
e
ra
te
d
 i
n
 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
1
0
. 
 T
h
is
 i
s 
co
n
tr
a
ct
e
d
 o
u
t 
to
 t
h
e
 

sk
ill
s 
fo
r 
lif
e
 v
o
lu
n
ta
ry
 s
e
ct
o
r 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
 -
 L
e
a
rn
in
g
 A
ct
iv
it
ie
s 

h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 n
e
g
o
ti
a
te
d
 a
n
d
 a
g
re
e
d
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
ci
l 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

sk
ill
s 
fo
r 
lif
e
 v
o
lu
n
ta
ry
 s
e
ct
o
r 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n

G

1
6
3
Y
e
s

W
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 

q
u
a
lif
ie
d
 t
o
 a
t 
le
a
st
 L
e
v
e
l 
2
 o
r 

h
ig
h
e
r 

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

E
st
a
b
lis
h
 

b
a
se
lin
e

In
it
ia
ti
v
e
s 
in
cl
u
d
e
 t
h
e
 C
o
lle
g
e
 o
f 
T
e
ch
n
o
lo
g
y
 a
n
d
 T
ra
in
 t
o
 G
a
in
 

a
re
 b
e
in
g
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 t
o
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
 l
e
a
rn
e
rs
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
o
u
t 
th
e
 c
o
u
n
ty
 

in
 a
 r
a
n
g
e
 o
f 
le
a
rn
in
g
 a
ct
iv
it
ie
s 
w
h
ic
h
 m
a
y
 l
e
a
d
 t
o
 

q
u
a
lif
ic
a
ti
o
n
s.
  
2
5
%
 o
f 
th
o
se
 i
n
 d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
d
 w
a
rd
s 
a
re
 b
e
in
g
 

ta
rg
e
te
d
. 
 I
n
 a
d
d
it
io
n
 o
th
e
r 
n
e
e
d
s 
m
a
y
 b
e
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 f
ro
m
 

se
ct
o
r 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s.
  
(i
.e
. 
H
ig
h
e
r 
E
d
u
ca
ti
o
n
)

G

1
6
4

4
a

W
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 

q
u
a
lif
ie
d
 t
o
 a
t 
le
a
st
 L
e
v
e
l 
3
 o
r 

h
ig
h
e
r 

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

E
st
a
b
lis
h
 

b
a
se
lin
e

In
it
ia
ti
v
e
s 
in
cl
u
d
e
 t
h
e
 C
o
lle
g
e
 o
f 
T
e
ch
n
o
lo
g
y
 a
n
d
 T
ra
in
 t
o
 G
a
in
 

a
re
 b
e
in
g
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 t
o
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
 l
e
a
rn
e
rs
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
o
u
t 
th
e
 c
o
u
n
ty
 

in
 a
 r
a
n
g
e
 o
f 
le
a
rn
in
g
 a
ct
iv
it
ie
s 
w
h
ic
h
 m
a
y
 l
e
a
d
 t
o
 

q
u
a
lif
ic
a
ti
o
n
s.
  
2
5
%
 o
f 
th
o
se
 i
n
 d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
d
 w
a
rd
s 
a
re
 b
e
in
g
 

ta
rg
e
te
d
. 
 I
n
 a
d
d
it
io
n
 o
th
e
r 
n
e
e
d
s 
m
a
y
 b
e
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 f
ro
m
 

se
ct
o
r 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s.
  
(i
.e
. 
H
ig
h
e
r 
E
d
u
ca
ti
o
n
)

G

1
6
5

4
a

W
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 

q
u
a
lif
ie
d
 t
o
 a
t 
le
a
st
 L
e
v
e
l 
4
 o
r 

h
ig
h
e
r

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

E
st
a
b
lis
h
 

b
a
se
lin
e

In
it
ia
ti
v
e
s 
in
cl
u
d
e
 t
h
e
 C
o
lle
g
e
 o
f 
T
e
ch
n
o
lo
g
y
 a
n
d
 T
ra
in
 t
o
 G
a
in
 

a
re
 b
e
in
g
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 t
o
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
 l
e
a
rn
e
rs
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
o
u
t 
th
e
 c
o
u
n
ty
 

in
 a
 r
a
n
g
e
 o
f 
le
a
rn
in
g
 a
ct
iv
it
ie
s 
w
h
ic
h
 m
a
y
 l
e
a
d
 t
o
 

q
u
a
lif
ic
a
ti
o
n
s.
  
2
5
%
 o
f 
th
o
se
 i
n
 d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
d
 w
a
rd
s 
a
re
 b
e
in
g
 

ta
rg
e
te
d
. 
 I
n
 a
d
d
it
io
n
 o
th
e
r 
n
e
e
d
s 
m
a
y
 b
e
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 f
ro
m
 

se
ct
o
r 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s.
  
(i
.e
. 
H
ig
h
e
r 
E
d
u
ca
ti
o
n
)

G

1
6
6

1
A
v
e
ra
g
e
 e
a
rn
in
g
s 
o
f 
e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s 

in
 t
h
e
 a
re
a
 

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

£
3
8
4
.4
0

>
£
3
8
4
.4
0

R
o
th
e
rw
a
s 
F
u
tu
re
s 
is
 a
 k
e
y
 s
ch
e
m
e
 t
o
 r
a
is
e
 s
a
la
ry
 l
e
v
e
ls
. 
 N
e
w
 

ro
a
d
 o
p
e
n
e
d
 i
n
 J
u
ly
 a
n
d
 E
n
te
rp
ri
se
 C
e
n
tr
e
 o
p
e
ra
ti
o
n
a
l.

A

R
A
G
 r
a
ti
n
g
D
ir
e
ct
io
n
 

o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l

2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

O
u
tt
u
rn

2
0
0
8
-0
9
 

T
a
rg
e
t

L
a
te
st
 

O
u
tt
u
rn

A
ct
iv
it
y
 R
e
p
o
rt
e
d

R
e
fe
re
n
ce

In
d
ic
a
to
r

L
e
a
d
 D
ir
e
ct
o
ra
te

37



E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 e
n
te
rp
ri
s
e

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 5
A

N
IS

L
A
A
H
C
S

C
P
B
V
P
I
P
A
F
A
P
A

R
A
G
 r
a
ti
n
g
D
ir
e
ct
io
n
 

o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l

2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

O
u
tt
u
rn

2
0
0
8
-0
9
 

T
a
rg
e
t

L
a
te
st
 

O
u
tt
u
rn

A
ct
iv
it
y
 R
e
p
o
rt
e
d

R
e
fe
re
n
ce

In
d
ic
a
to
r

L
e
a
d
 D
ir
e
ct
o
ra
te

1
6
7

7
a
-b

C
o
n
g
e
st
io
n
 –
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
 j
o
u
rn
e
y
 

ti
m
e
 p
e
r 
m
ile
 d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 

m
o
rn
in
g
 p
e
a
k
 

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

E
st
a
b
lis
h
 

b
a
se
lin
e

A
 r
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
tr
a
ff
ic
 c
o
n
tr
o
l 
sy
st
e
m
s 
h
a
s 
co
m
m
e
n
ce
d
 t
o
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
 

a
 p
la
n
n
e
d
 r
e
p
la
ce
m
e
n
t 
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
.

P
ri
o
r 
to
 t
h
e
 i
n
tr
o
d
u
ct
io
n
 o
f 
fi
x
e
d
 p
e
n
a
lt
y
 n
o
ti
ce
s 
fo
r 

st
re
e
tw
o
rk
s 
th
e
 s
tr
e
e
t 
w
o
rk
s 
sy
st
e
m
 h
a
s 
b
e
e
n
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
d
 

T
e
st
in
g
 i
s 
u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
 w
it
h
 a
ll 
u
ti
lit
ie
s.

N
e
w
 p
ro
to
co
l 
fo
r 
tr
a
ff
ic
 r
e
g
u
la
ti
o
n
 o
rd
e
rs
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
.

A

1
6
8
Y
e
s

Y
e
s
2
2
3

P
ri
n
ci
p
a
l 
ro
a
d
s 
w
h
e
re
 

m
a
in
te
n
a
n
ce
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 

co
n
si
d
e
re
d

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

6
%

5
%

A
 d
e
ta
ile
d
 a
n
a
ly
si
s 
o
f 
th
e
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 s
u
rv
e
y
 h
a
s 
in
fo
rm
e
d
 t
h
e
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 2
0
0
8
-0
9
 J
o
in
e
d
 U
p
 P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 w
it
h
 A
m
e
y
 

w
h
ic
h
 i
s 
n
o
w
 b
e
in
g
 d
e
liv
e
re
d
.

A

1
6
9
Y
e
s

Y
e
s
2
2
4
a

N
o
n
-p
ri
n
ci
p
a
l 
ro
a
d
s 
w
h
e
re
 

m
a
in
te
n
a
n
ce
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 

co
n
si
d
e
re
d

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

1
1
%

1
0
%

A
 d
e
ta
ile
d
 a
n
a
ly
si
s 
o
f 
th
e
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
 s
u
rv
e
y
 h
a
s 
in
fo
rm
e
d
 t
h
e
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 2
0
0
8
-0
9
 J
o
in
e
d
 U
p
 P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 w
it
h
 A
m
e
y
 

w
h
ic
h
 i
s 
n
o
w
 b
e
in
g
 d
e
liv
e
re
d
.

A

1
7
1
Y
e
s

2
Y
e
s

N
e
w
 b
u
si
n
e
ss
 r
e
g
is
tr
a
ti
o
n
 r
a
te
 

p
e
r 
1
0
0
,0
0
0
 r
e
si
d
e
n
t 

p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 a
g
e
d
 1
6
+

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

4
0
.1

(2
0
0
6
)

>
4
0
.1

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 f
o
r 
b
u
si
n
e
ss
e
s,
 i
n
cl
u
d
in
g
 E
n
te
rp
ri
se
 C
e
n
tr
e
s 

(H
e
re
fo
rd
) 
a
n
d
 E
n
te
rp
ri
se
 H
u
b
s 
(L
e
o
m
in
st
e
r 
- 
o
p
e
n
; 
R
o
ss
 i
n
 

p
la
n
n
in
g
 s
ta
g
e
)

A

1
7
2

Y
e
s

%
 o
f 
sm
a
ll 
b
u
si
n
e
ss
e
s 
in
 a
n
 

a
re
a
 s
h
o
w
in
g
 e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 

g
ro
w
th

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

E
st
a
b
lis
h
 

b
a
se
lin
e

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 f
o
r 
b
u
si
n
e
ss
e
s,
 i
n
cl
u
d
in
g
 E
n
te
rp
ri
se
 C
e
n
tr
e
s 

(H
e
re
fo
rd
) 
a
n
d
 E
n
te
rp
ri
se
 H
u
b
s 
(L
e
o
m
in
st
e
r 
- 
o
p
e
n
; 
R
o
ss
 i
n
 

p
la
n
n
in
g
 s
ta
g
e
).
  
A
ls
o
 i
n
tr
o
d
u
ci
n
g
 n
e
w
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 f
o
r 
ru
ra
l 
b
u
si
n
e
ss
e
s 
to
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 p
re
m
is
e
s.

G

1
7
8
Y
e
s
7
a
-b

Y
e
s

B
u
s 
se
rv
ic
e
s 
ru
n
n
in
g
 o
n
 t
im
e
 

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

6
7
%

6
9
%

N
o
 a
c
ti
v
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d

R

3

N
u
m
b
e
r 
e
m
p
lo
y
e
d
 i
n
 

k
n
o
w
le
d
g
e
 a
n
d
 t
e
ch
n
o
lo
g
y
 

in
te
n
si
v
e
 i
n
d
u
st
ri
e
s

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

1
0
,9
2
3

>
1
0
,9
2
3

S
ch
e
m
e
 d
e
v
is
e
d
 w
it
h
 a
n
d
 r
u
n
 b
y
 H
e
re
fo
rd
 G
ro
u
p
 T
ra
in
in
g
. 

A

1
0
0

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
d
a
y
s 
o
f 

te
m
p
o
ra
ry
 t
ra
ff
ic
 c
o
n
tr
o
ls
, 
o
r 

ro
a
d
 c
lo
su
re
, 
o
n
 t
ra
ff
ic
 

se
n
si
ti
v
e
 r
o
a
d
s,
 c
a
u
se
d
 b
y
 

ro
a
d
w
o
rk
s,
 p
e
r 
k
m
 o
f 
tr
a
ff
ic
 

se
n
si
ti
v
e
 r
o
a
d

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

0
0

0
G

� ���

38



Appendix 6 

Safer and Stronger Communities 

 No. of 
indicators 

On course 
to achieve 
target (or 
establish 
baseline) 

Some 
progress, 
but data not 
available to 
determine 
whether the 
target will 
be achieved 

Not on 
target / no 
activity 
reported 

Corporate Plan (including 
LAA and HCS) 

16 6 5 5 

of which     

Local Area Agreement 
(LAA) 

10 5 3 2 

Herefordshire Community 
Strategy (HCS) 

10 5 3 2 

     

All reported indicators 37 19 10 8 

 

Direction of Travel 

Improving 13 

No real change 6 

Deteriorating 2 

Total 21 

Headlines 

• Generally positive in respect of Direction of Travel. 

• Six reds because no information has been provided. 

• Others in relation to slight road injuries and the time taken to repair street 
lighting. 

• Impact of steeply rising energy costs, not least on cultural and recreational 
facilities. 

• Services having to be managed so as to retrieve currently projected end-year 
overspending of some £500K in Regeneration and around £550K in 
Environment and Culture (and in the latter case an underlying recurrent 
overspend of about £1 million being off-set this year by one-off grant income). 

Regeneration Director Commentary 

'The overall performance is on track to meet the identified targets for 2008/2009 
across a range of Local Area Agreement, Herefordshire Community Strategy and 
Herefordshire Council Corporate Plan indicators.   

39



Appendix 6 

The introduction of the National Indicator Framework has meant that there are a 
number of indicators for which in year data is not presently available, as many rely on 
the new Place Survey, which is being carried out during the second half of this year.    
In the meantime, work is being conducted to influence the outcome of the survey 
across the directorate.  The change to the National Indicator set has meant that there 
is a greater reliance on services delivering agreed service plan actions, to enable the 
services to establish and agree baseline data. 

In addition there are a number of performance indicators that whilst the council are 
responsible for reporting, the services are being delivered by partnership agencies.  
We continue to work in partnership with these agencies in order to influence and 
monitor the performance outturn.' 

Environment and Culture Director commentary 

‘Within the themes of economic development and enterprise, safer and stronger 
communities and sustainable communities, performance overall is on track for all 
Local Area Agreement, Community Strategy and Corporate Plan indicators on which 
the Directorate leads or towards which it is making a significant contribution. There is 
a similar picture for other indicators, including those from the National Indicator set. 

With the introduction of the National Indicator set there has been a significant 
increase in the proportion of performance indicators for which in-year data is not 
available, reflecting the number of perception indicators that rely on data from the 
new Place Survey and those where data is being provided annually by Government 
departments and agencies. For a number of other indicators, 2008-09 is the year in 
which baseline data is being collected. All this has meant that a greater reliance is 
being placed this year on delivery of agreed actions.’ 

40



S
a
fe
r 
a
n
d
 s
tr
o
n
g
e
r 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 6
A

N
IS

L
A
A

H
C
S
C
P
B
V
P
I
P
A
F

A
P
A

1
Y
e
s

6
3

Y
e
s

%
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 w
h
o
 b
e
lie
v
e
 

p
e
o
p
le
 f
ro
m
 d
if
fe
re
n
t 

b
a
ck
g
ro
u
n
d
s 
g
e
t 
o
n
 w
e
ll 

to
g
e
th
e
r 
in
 t
h
e
ir
 l
o
ca
l 
a
re
a

D
e
p
u
ty
 C
h
ie
f 

E
x
e
cu
ti
v
e

7
3
%
 

(2
0
0
6
)

7
7
.8
%

(2
0
1
0
-1
1
)

R
e
ce
n
tl
y
 w
e
 h
a
v
e
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
h
e
 s
e
tt
in
g
 u
p
 o
f 
2
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

a
ss
o
ci
a
ti
o
n
s:
 M
a
y
a
le
e
 a
n
d
 P
o
lis
h
. 
W
e
 a
re
 i
n
 t
h
e
 p
ro
ce
ss
 o
f 

su
p
p
o
rt
in
g
 a
 t
h
ir
d
. 

G

2
%
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 w
h
o
 f
e
e
l 
th
a
t 
th
e
y
 

b
e
lo
n
g
 t
o
 t
h
e
ir
 n
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
 

D
e
p
u
ty
 C
h
ie
f 

E
x
e
cu
ti
v
e

E
st
a
b
lis
h
 

b
a
se
lin
e

W
e
 a
re
 i
n
 t
h
e
 p
ro
ce
ss
 o
f 
o
rg
a
n
is
in
g
 a
 l
o
ca
l 
so
ci
a
l 
co
h
e
si
o
n
 

fo
ru
m
.

G

3
Y
e
s

C
iv
ic
 p
a
rt
ic
ip
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 l
o
ca
l 

a
re
a

D
e
p
u
ty
 C
h
ie
f 

E
x
e
cu
ti
v
e

E
st
a
b
lis
h
 

b
a
se
lin
e

N
o
 a
c
ti
v
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d

R

4
Y
e
s

6
1

Y
e
s

%
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 w
h
o
 f
e
e
l 
th
e
y
 c
a
n
 

in
fl
u
e
n
ce
 d
e
ci
si
o
n
s 
in
 t
h
e
ir
 

lo
ca
lit
y

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

2
9
%
 

(0
6
/0
7
)

>
2
9
%

C
u
rr
e
n
t 
P
ro
g
re
ss
 :
- 
P
a
ri
sh
 C
o
u
n
ci
ls
 –
 D
e
m
o
cr
a
cy
 F
ir
st
 p
ro
je
ct
 

fu
n
d
e
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 L
P
S
A
2
 f
u
n
d
in
g
 –
 l
e
a
fl
e
ts
 d
is
tr
ib
u
te
d
 w
it
h
 

H
e
re
fo
rd
sh
ir
e
 M
a
tt
e
rs
 i
n
 J
u
n
e
 t
o
 i
n
fo
rm

 r
e
si
d
e
n
ts
 o
f 
th
e
 r
o
le
 o
f 

P
a
ri
sh
 C
o
u
n
ci
ls
, 
h
o
w
 t
h
e
y
 c
o
u
ld
 g
e
t 
in
v
o
lv
e
d
 a
n
d
 f
in
d
 o
u
t 
m
o
re
 

in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
.

P
o
st
 O
ff
ic
e
s 
–
 A
ct
io
n
 P
la
n
 a
g
re
e
d
 b
y
 C
a
b
in
e
t 
o
n
 1
0
th
 J
u
ly
 o
n
 

h
o
w
 t
o
 r
e
sp
o
n
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 f
o
rt
h
co
m
in
g
 a
n
n
o
u
n
ce
m
e
n
t 
o
n
 p
o
st
 

o
ff
ic
e
 c
lo
su
re
s.
  

R
e
m
o
v
a
l 
o
f 
te
le
p
h
o
n
e
 b
o
x
e
s 
–
 p
u
b
lic
it
y
 o
rg
a
n
is
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

C
o
u
n
ci
l 
to
 r
a
is
e
 a
w
a
re
n
e
ss
 w
it
h
 l
o
ca
l 
co
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s 
a
n
d
 a
ls
o
 

m
e
ch
a
n
is
m
 p
u
t 
in
 p
la
ce
 t
o
 c
o
-o
rd
in
a
te
 c
o
n
su
lt
a
ti
o
n
 r
e
sp
o
n
se
s.
  

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 f
o
r 
th
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 
P
a
ri
sh
 

P
la
n
s 
–
 r
e
d
u
ce
d
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
su
p
p
o
rt
 w
o
rk
 d
u
e
 t
o
 l
a
ck
 o
f 

fu
n
d
in
g
 f
o
r 
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 F
ir
st
. 
 I
m
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 

th
ro
u
g
h
 L
P
S
A
2
 f
u
n
d
in
g
 –
 7
 p
ro
je
ct
s 
b
e
in
g
 p
ro
g
re
ss
e
d
.

G

6
Y
e
s

6
2

P
a
rt
ic
ip
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 r
e
g
u
la
r 

v
o
lu
n
te
e
ri
n
g
 

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

E
st
a
b
lis
h
 

b
a
se
lin
e

T
h
e
 H
e
re
fo
rd
sh
ir
e
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 a
re
 

su
p
p
o
rt
in
g
 t
h
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 L
o
ca
l 

C
o
m
p
a
ct
 V
o
lu
n
te
e
ri
n
g
 C
o
d
e
 o
f 
G
o
o
d
 P
ra
ct
ic
e
. 
 T
h
e
 H
C
D
P
 a
re
 

to
 e
n
su
re
 t
h
a
t 
a
 r
o
b
u
st
 v
o
lu
n
te
e
ri
n
g
 i
n
fr
a
st
ru
ct
u
re
 i
s 
a
v
a
ila
b
le
 

a
n
d
 p
ro
m
o
te
d
 l
o
ca
lly
 b
y
 r
a
is
in
g
 a
w
a
re
n
e
ss
 a
n
d
 u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 

o
f 
w
h
a
t 
v
o
lu
n
te
e
ri
n
g
 i
s 
a
n
d
 p
ro
m
o
te
 m

u
tu
a
l 
b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

v
a
lu
e
 o
f 
v
o
lu
n
te
e
ri
n
g
 t
o
 t
h
e
 i
n
d
iv
id
u
a
l,
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 a
n
d
 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
.

G

9
Y
e
s

Y
e
s

U
se
 o
f 
p
u
b
lic
 l
ib
ra
ri
e
s

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

3
%
 p
o
in
t 

im
p
ro
v
e
m

e
n
t 
b
y
 

2
0
1
0
-1
1

B
o
o
k
st
a
rt
 f
o
r 
b
a
b
ie
s 
a
n
d
 p
re
 s
ch
o
o
l 
ch
ild
re
n
 -
 6
5
 c
e
rt
if
ic
a
te
s 

h
a
n
d
e
d
 o
u
t 
in
 A
p
ri
l,
 M
a
y
 &
 J
u
n
e
.

S
u
m
m
e
r 
re
a
d
in
g
 c
h
a
lle
n
g
e
 f
o
r 
ch
ild
re
n
 –
 R
e
a
d
in
g
 C
h
a
lle
n
g
e
 

a
n
d
 T
e
a
m
 R
e
a
d
 l
a
u
n
ch
e
d
.

B
o
o
k
 F
e
st
iv
a
l 
–
 3
0
 s
ch
o
o
ls
 p
a
rt
ic
ip
a
te
d
.

F
ir
st
 f
ri
e
n
d
s 
o
f 
R
o
ss
 l
ib
ra
ry
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
 J
u
n
e

Y
e
a
r 
o
f 
R
e
a
d
in
g
 –
 m

o
n
th
ly
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 o
f 
a
ct
iv
it
ie
s 
u
n
d
e
rw
a
y

E
n
h
a
n
ce
d
 H
o
m
e
 D
e
liv
e
ry
 L
ib
ra
ry
 S
e
rv
ic
e
 –
 d
ra
ft
 c
ri
te
ri
a
 u
n
d
e
r 

d
is
cu
ss
io
n
 w
it
h
 A
d
u
lt
 S
o
ci
a
l 
C
a
re
.

A

R
A
G
 r
a
ti
n
g

D
ir
e
ct
io
n
 

o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l

2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

O
u
tt
u
rn

2
0
0
8
-0
9
 

T
a
rg
e
t

L
a
te
st
 

O
u
tt
u
rn

A
ct
iv
it
y
 R
e
p
o
rt
e
d

R
e
fe
re
n
ce

In
d
ic
a
to
r

L
e
a
d
 D
ir
e
ct
o
ra
te

41



S
a
fe
r 
a
n
d
 s
tr
o
n
g
e
r 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 6
A

N
IS

L
A
A

H
C
S

C
P

B
V
P
I
P
A
F

A
P
A

R
A
G
 r
a
ti
n
g

D
ir
e
ct
io
n
 

o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l

2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

O
u
tt
u
rn

2
0
0
8
-0
9
 

T
a
rg
e
t

L
a
te
st
 

O
u
tt
u
rn

A
ct
iv
it
y
 R
e
p
o
rt
e
d

R
e
fe
re
n
ce

In
d
ic
a
to
r

L
e
a
d
 D
ir
e
ct
o
ra
te

1
1

Y
e
s

E
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
in
 t
h
e
 a
rt
s

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

3
.1
%
 

p
o
in
t 

im
p
ro
v
e
m

e
n
t 
b
y
 

2
0
1
0
-1
1

h
.a
rt
 g
u
id
e
 &
 o
th
e
r 
p
ro
m
o
ti
o
n
a
l 
p
ri
n
t 
re
a
d
y
 e
n
d
 J
u
ly
.

T
e
n
d
e
rs
 r
e
ce
iv
e
d
 f
ro
m
 a
rt
is
ts
 f
o
r 
A
rt
 o
f 
L
if
e
 –
 p
ilo
t 
p
ro
je
ct
 i
n
 

C
a
n
a
l 
R
o
a
d
 D
a
y
 c
e
n
tr
e
 t
o
 d
e
liv
e
r 
a
rt
s 
a
ct
iv
it
y
 a
s 
p
a
rt
 o
f 
so
ci
a
l 

ca
re
 r
e
-a
b
le
m
e
n
t 
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
.

A

1
7

Y
e
s

4
3

Y
e
s

P
e
rc
e
p
ti
o
n
s 
o
f 
a
n
ti
-s
o
ci
a
l 

b
e
h
a
v
io
u
r

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

2
7
%
 

(b
a
se
lin
e
)

3
2
%
 

(2
0
1
0
-1
1
)

A
 m

u
lt
i-
a
g
e
n
cy
 t
a
sk
in
g
 a
n
d
 c
o
o
rd
in
a
ti
o
n
 g
ro
u
p
 m

e
e
ts
 

fo
rt
n
ig
h
tl
y
 t
o
 s
h
a
re
 i
n
te
lli
g
e
n
ce
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 u
se
 s
h
a
re
d
 

re
so
u
rc
e
s 
to
 t
a
rg
e
t 
id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 h
o
t-
sp
o
ts
.

T
h
e
 p
o
lic
e
 a
n
d
 r
e
le
v
a
n
t 
re
p
re
se
n
ta
ti
v
e
s 
o
f 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
ci
l 
a
tt
e
n
d
 

e
a
ch
 P
A
C
T
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
 t
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 a
n
d
 r
e
sp
o
n
d
 t
o
 l
o
ca
l 
co
n
ce
rn
s.

A

1
9

Y
e
s

3
6

R
a
te
 o
f 
p
ro
v
e
n
 r
e
-o
ff
e
n
d
in
g
 b
y
 

y
o
u
n
g
 o
ff
e
n
d
e
rs

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

N
/A

E
st
a
b
lis
h
 

b
a
se
lin
e

N
o
 D
a
ta

T
h
e
re
 h
a
s 
b
e
e
n
 a
 d
e
la
y
 i
n
 s
e
tt
in
g
 t
h
e
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 f
o
r 
th
is
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r,
 

a
s 
w
e
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 w
a
it
in
g
 f
o
r 
n
o
ti
fi
ca
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 b
a
se
lin
e
 f
ro
m
 

th
e
 Y
o
u
th
 J
u
st
ic
e
 B
o
a
rd
. 
 T
h
is
 h
a
s 
n
o
w
 b
e
e
n
 c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d
 a
s 
th
e
 

Ja
n
u
a
ry
 t
o
 M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
5
 c
o
h
o
rt
. 
 T
a
rg
e
ts
 a
g
a
in
st
 t
h
is
 b
a
se
lin
e
 

w
ill
 b
e
 s
e
t 
in
 O
ct
o
b
e
r,
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 f
ir
st
 s
e
t 
o
f 
re
-o
ff
e
n
d
in
g
 d
a
ta
 f
o
r 

Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
1
 w
ill
 b
e
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 i
n
 N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
. 
 W

o
rk
 i
s 
o
n
g
o
in
g
 

to
 f
o
cu
s 
o
n
 t
h
e
 s
m
a
ll 
co
h
o
rt
 o
f 
y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 w
h
o
 r
e
-o
ff
e
n
d
, 

p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 t
h
o
se
 o
n
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 p
e
n
a
lt
ie
s.
  
T
h
e
 l
a
tt
e
r 
a
re
a
 w
ill
 

b
e
 t
h
e
 s
u
b
je
ct
 t
o
 a
 b
e
n
ch
m
a
rk
in
g
 e
x
e
rc
is
e
 w
it
h
 o
th
e
r 
Y
o
u
th
 

O
ff
e
n
d
in
g
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s.

G

2
1

Y
e
s

D
e
a
lin
g
 w
it
h
 l
o
ca
l 
co
n
ce
rn
s 

a
b
o
u
t 
a
n
ti
so
ci
a
l 
b
e
h
a
v
io
u
r 
a
n
d
 

cr
im
e
 b
y
 t
h
e
 l
o
ca
l 
co
u
n
ci
l 
a
n
d
 

p
o
lic
e

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

E
st
a
b
lis
h
 

b
a
se
lin
e

A
 m

u
lt
i-
a
g
e
n
cy
 t
a
sk
in
g
 a
n
d
 c
o
o
rd
in
a
ti
o
n
 g
ro
u
p
 m

e
e
ts
 

fo
rt
n
ig
h
tl
y
 t
o
 s
h
a
re
 i
n
te
lli
g
e
n
ce
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 u
se
 s
h
a
re
d
 

re
so
u
rc
e
s 
to
 t
a
rg
e
t 
id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 h
o
t-
sp
o
ts
.

T
h
e
 p
o
lic
e
 a
n
d
 r
e
le
v
a
n
t 
re
p
re
se
n
ta
ti
v
e
s 
o
f 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
ci
l 
a
tt
e
n
d
 

e
a
ch
 P
A
C
T
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
 t
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 a
n
d
 r
e
sp
o
n
d
 t
o
 l
o
ca
l 
co
n
ce
rn
s.

G

3
0

Y
e
s

R
e
-o
ff
e
n
d
in
g
 r
a
te
 o
f 
p
ro
lif
ic
 a
n
d
 

p
ri
o
ri
ty
 o
ff
e
n
d
e
rs

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

2
0
.7
0
%

1
9
%
 

re
d
u
ct
io
n

N
o
 a
c
ti
v
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
.

R

3
9

Y
e
s 

(L
o
ca
l)

A
lc
o
h
o
l-
h
a
rm

 r
e
la
te
d
 h
o
sp
it
a
l 

a
d
m
is
si
o
n
 r
a
te
s 
p
e
r 
1
0
0
,0
0
0

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

2
9
4

2
9
5

N
o
 a
c
ti
v
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
.

R

4
0

Y
e
s

D
ru
g
 u
se
rs
 i
n
 e
ff
e
ct
iv
e
 

tr
e
a
tm

e
n
t

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

4
9
4

5
0
4

N
o
 a
c
ti
v
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d

R

4
3

Y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 Y
o
u
th
 

Ju
st
ic
e
 S
y
st
e
m
 r
e
ce
iv
in
g
 a
 

co
n
v
ic
ti
o
n
 i
n
 c
o
u
rt
 w
h
o
 a
re
 

se
n
te
n
ce
d
 t
o
 c
u
st
o
d
y

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

2
%

<
5
%

1
%

O
n
ly
 o
n
e
 c
u
st
o
d
ia
l 
se
n
te
n
ce
 w
a
s 
im
p
o
se
d
 i
n
 H
e
re
fo
rd
sh
ir
e
 

d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
in
g
 p
e
ri
o
d
.

G
� ���

42



S
a
fe
r 
a
n
d
 s
tr
o
n
g
e
r 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 6
A

N
IS

L
A
A

H
C
S

C
P

B
V
P
I
P
A
F

A
P
A

R
A
G
 r
a
ti
n
g

D
ir
e
ct
io
n
 

o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l

2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

O
u
tt
u
rn

2
0
0
8
-0
9
 

T
a
rg
e
t

L
a
te
st
 

O
u
tt
u
rn

A
ct
iv
it
y
 R
e
p
o
rt
e
d

R
e
fe
re
n
ce

In
d
ic
a
to
r

L
e
a
d
 D
ir
e
ct
o
ra
te

4
5

3
0
8
0
 Y
J

Y
o
u
n
g
 o
ff
e
n
d
e
rs
' 
e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

in
 s
u
it
a
b
le
 e
d
u
ca
ti
o
n
, 

e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
o
r 
tr
a
in
in
g
 

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

7
4
.1
%

9
5
%

8
9
.6
0
%

T
h
is
 t
a
rg
e
t 
is
 s
e
t 
n
a
ti
o
n
a
lly
 a
n
d
 a
p
p
lie
s 
to
 a
ll 
Y
o
u
th
 O
ff
e
n
d
in
g
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s.
  
A
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 w
e
 a
re
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 b
e
lo
w
 t
h
e
 t
a
rg
e
t 
a
ft
e
r 
th
e
 

fi
rs
t 
q
u
a
rt
e
r,
 i
t 
is
 a
 s
ig
n
if
ic
ia
n
t 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
o
n
 t
h
e
 2
0
0
7
/2
0
0
8
 

o
u
tt
u
rn
 a
n
d
 H
e
re
fo
rd
sh
ir
e
 i
s 
a
b
o
v
e
 o
th
e
r 
a
re
a
s 
in
 i
ts
 s
ta
ti
st
ic
a
l 

n
e
ig
h
b
o
u
r 
g
ro
u
p
 i
n
 t
e
rm

s 
o
f 
it
s 
tr
a
je
ct
o
ry
 t
o
 a
ch
ie
v
e
 t
h
e
 t
a
rg
e
t 

b
y
 M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
.

A
� ���

4
6

Y
o
u
n
g
 o
ff
e
n
d
e
rs
 a
cc
e
ss
 t
o
 

su
it
a
b
le
 a
cc
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

9
8
%

9
5
%

9
8
%

G
�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

4
7

Y
e
s

5
2

Y
e
s

9
9
a

P
e
o
p
le
 k
ill
e
d
 o
r 
se
ri
o
u
sl
y
 

in
ju
re
d
 i
n
 r
o
a
d
 t
ra
ff
ic
 a
cc
id
e
n
ts

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

1
3
3
 

(2
0
0
7
)

1
2
9
 

(2
0
0
8
)

3
6
 

(J
a
n
u
a
ry
 

to
 J
u
n
e
)

C
o
m
p
a
re
d
 w
it
h
 4
3
 f
o
r 
th
e
 s
a
m
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
 l
a
st
 y
e
a
r

G
� ���

4
8

9
9
b

C
h
ild
re
n
 k
ill
e
d
 o
r 
se
ri
o
u
sl
y
 

in
ju
re
d
 i
n
 r
o
a
d
 t
ra
ff
ic
 a
cc
id
e
n
ts

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

1
1
 (
2
0
0
7
)

1
1
 (
2
0
0
8
)
4
 (
Ja
n
u
a
ry
 

to
 J
u
n
e
)

C
o
m
p
a
re
d
 w
it
h
 5
 f
o
r 
th
e
 s
a
m
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
 l
a
st
 y
e
a
r

G
� ���

1
1
1

F
ir
st
 t
im
e
 e
n
tr
a
n
ts
 t
o
 t
h
e
 Y
o
u
th
 

Ju
st
ic
e
 S
y
st
e
m
 a
g
e
d
 1
0
 –
 1
7
 

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

2
9
0

2
8
2

6
9

G
� ���

9
9
c

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 s
lig
h
tl
y
 

in
ju
re
d
 i
n
 r
o
a
d
 t
ra
ff
ic
 c
o
lli
si
o
n
s

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

7
1
3

<
7
1
3

3
0
1

C
o
m
p
a
re
d
 w
it
h
 1
9
4
 f
o
r 
th
e
 s
a
m
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
 l
a
st
 y
e
a
r.

R
� ���

1
2
6

D
o
m
e
st
ic
 b
u
rg
la
ri
e
s 
p
e
r 
y
e
a
r,
 

p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 h
o
u
se
h
o
ld
s 
in
 t
h
e
 

L
o
ca
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 a
re
a

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

3
.9

<
3
.9

0
.9

C
o
m
p
a
re
d
 t
o
 0
.9
 f
o
r 
th
e
 s
a
m
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
 l
a
st
 y
e
a
r.

A
�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

1
2
7
a

V
io
le
n
t 
cr
im
e
 p
e
r 
y
e
a
r,
 p
e
r 

1
,0
0
0
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 L
o
ca
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 a
re
a

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

1
5
.6

<
1
5
.6

3
.7

C
o
m
p
a
re
d
 t
o
 4
.7
 f
o
r 
th
e
 s
a
m
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
 l
a
st
 y
e
a
r.

G
� ���

1
2
7
b

R
o
b
b
e
ri
e
s 
p
e
r 
y
e
a
r,
 p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 

p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 L
o
ca
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 a
re
a

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

0
.2

<
0
.2

0
.1

C
o
m
p
a
re
d
 t
o
 0
.1
 f
o
r 
th
e
 s
a
m
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
 l
a
st
 y
e
a
r.

A
�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

1
2
8

T
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
v
e
h
ic
le
 c
ri
m
e
s 

p
e
r 
y
e
a
r,
 p
e
r 
1
,0
0
0
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 

in
 t
h
e
 L
o
ca
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 a
re
a

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

5
<
5

1
.2

C
o
m
p
a
re
d
 t
o
 1
.3
 f
o
r 
th
e
 s
a
m
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
 l
a
st
 y
e
a
r.

G
� ���

4
2
c

O
v
e
ra
ll 
cr
im
e
 n
u
m
b
e
rs

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

1
1
,1
7
2

<
1
1
,1
7
2

3
,8
5
0

A
�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

4
3
a

P
e
rc
e
p
ti
o
n
 o
f 
sp
e
e
d
in
g
 t
ra
ff
ic
 

a
s 
a
 p
ro
b
le
m
 i
n
 y
o
u
r 
lo
ca
l 
a
re
a

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

7
4
%

<
7
6
%

N
o
 a
c
ti
v
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d

R

4
4

F
e
a
r 
o
f 
cr
im
e
 a
s 
m
e
a
su
re
d
 

th
ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 n
e
w
 P
la
ce
 S
u
rv
e
y

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

E
st
a
b
lis
h
 

b
a
se
lin
e

N
o
 a
c
ti
v
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d

R

43



S
a
fe
r 
a
n
d
 s
tr
o
n
g
e
r 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 6
A

N
IS

L
A
A

H
C
S

C
P

B
V
P
I
P
A
F

A
P
A

R
A
G
 r
a
ti
n
g

D
ir
e
ct
io
n
 

o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l

2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

O
u
tt
u
rn

2
0
0
8
-0
9
 

T
a
rg
e
t

L
a
te
st
 

O
u
tt
u
rn

A
ct
iv
it
y
 R
e
p
o
rt
e
d

R
e
fe
re
n
ce

In
d
ic
a
to
r

L
e
a
d
 D
ir
e
ct
o
ra
te

1
0
4
2
Y
J

S
u
b
st
a
n
ce
 M
is
u
se
: 
th
e
 

p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
 o
f 
y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 

w
it
h
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 s
u
b
st
a
n
ce
 

m
is
u
se
 n
e
e
d
s 
w
h
o
 r
e
ce
iv
e
 

sp
e
ci
a
lis
t 
a
ss
e
ss
m
e
n
t 
w
it
h
in
 5
 

w
o
rk
in
g
 d
a
y
s 
a
n
d
, 
fo
llo
w
in
g
 t
h
e
 

a
ss
e
ss
m
e
n
t,
 a
cc
e
ss
 t
h
e
 e
a
rl
y
 

in
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 t
re
a
tm

e
n
t 

se
rv
ic
e
s 
th
e
y
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
 w
it
h
in
 1
0
 

w
o
rk
in
g
 d
a
y
s 
(S
u
b
st
a
n
ce
 

M
is
u
se
 A
ss
e
ss
m
e
n
t)

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

1
0
0
%

T
o
 m

e
e
t 

o
r 
e
x
ce
e
d
 

9
5
%

1
0
0
%
 

re
ce
iv
e
d
 

a
ss
e
ss
m
e
n

ts
 a
n
d
 

in
te
rv
e
n
ti
o

n
s 
(1
5
/1
5
)

O
u
tt
u
rn
 d
a
ta
 i
s 
fo
r 
p
e
ri
o
d
 Q
1
 t
o
 3
0
 J
u
n
e
 0
8
. 
O
n
 c
o
u
rs
e
 t
o
 m

e
e
t 

ta
rg
e
t

G
� ���

1
6
5

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
p
e
d
e
st
ri
a
n
 

cr
o
ss
in
g
s 
w
it
h
 f
a
ci
lit
ie
s 
fo
r 

d
is
a
b
le
d
 p
e
o
p
le
, 
a
s 
a
 

p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
 o
f 
a
ll 
cr
o
ss
in
g
s 
in
 

th
e
 L
o
ca
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 a
re
a

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

9
2
%

1
0
0
%

9
4
%

A
� ���

2
1
5
a

T
h
e
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
d
a
y
s 

ta
k
e
n
 t
o
 r
e
p
a
ir
 a
 s
tr
e
e
t 
lig
h
ti
n
g
 

fa
u
lt
, 
w
h
ic
h
 i
s 
u
n
d
e
r 
th
e
 c
o
n
tr
o
l 

o
f 
th
e
 L
o
ca
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

6
.6
1
 d
a
y
s

6
.6
1
 d
a
y
s

2
.4
5
 d
a
y
s
C
o
m
p
a
re
d
 w
it
h
 2
.7
9
 d
a
y
s 
fo
r 
th
e
 s
a
m
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
 l
a
st
 y
e
a
r.

G
� ���

2
1
5
b

T
h
e
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
 t
im
e
 t
a
k
e
n
 t
o
 

re
p
a
ir
 a
 s
tr
e
e
t 
lig
h
ti
n
g
 f
a
u
lt
, 

w
h
e
re
 r
e
sp
o
n
se
 t
im
e
 i
s 
u
n
d
e
r 

th
e
 c
o
n
tr
o
l 
o
f 
a
 D
is
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 

N
e
tw
o
rk
 O
p
e
ra
to
r 
(D
N
O
)

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

9
.5
 d
a
y
s

9
.5
 d
a
y
s

1
9
.2
 d
a
y
s

R
� ���

2
1
8
a

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
n
e
w
 r
e
p
o
rt
s 

o
f 
a
b
a
n
d
o
n
e
d
 v
e
h
ic
le
s 

in
v
e
st
ig
a
te
d
 w
it
h
in
 2
4
 h
o
u
rs
 o
f 

n
o
ti
fi
ca
ti
o
n

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

9
4
.7
4
%

9
4
.7
4
%

1
0
0
%

G
� ���

2
1
8
b

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
a
b
a
n
d
o
n
e
d
 

v
e
h
ic
le
s 
re
m
o
v
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 2
4
 

h
o
u
rs
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 p
o
in
t 
a
t 
w
h
ic
h
 

th
e
 L
o
ca
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 i
s 
le
g
a
lly
 

e
n
ti
tl
e
d
 t
o
 r
e
m
o
v
e
 t
h
e
 v
e
h
ic
le

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

9
7
.8
3
%

9
7
.8
3
%

1
0
0
%

G
� ���

2
a

T
h
e
 l
e
v
e
l 
o
f 
th
e
 E
q
u
a
lit
y
 

S
ta
n
d
a
rd
 f
o
r 
lo
ca
l 
g
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 

to
 w
h
ic
h
 t
h
e
 L
o
ca
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

co
n
fo
rm

s 
in
 r
e
sp
e
ct
 o
f 
g
e
n
d
e
r,
 

ra
ce
 a
n
d
 d
is
a
b
ili
ty

D
e
p
u
ty
 C
h
ie
f 

E
x
e
cu
ti
v
e

3
3

3

W
e
 h
a
v
e
 d
e
cl
a
re
d
 a
t 
le
v
e
l 
3
 o
f 
th
e
 E
q
u
a
lit
y
 S
ta
n
d
a
rd
 s
u
b
je
ct
 t
o
 

e
x
te
rn
a
l 
v
e
ri
fi
ca
ti
o
n
 i
n
 O
ct
 /
N
o
v
. 
 T
h
e
 s
ta
n
d
a
rd
 i
s 
in
 t
h
e
 

p
ro
ce
ss
 o
f 
ch
a
n
g
in
g
 t
o
 t
h
e
 E
q
u
a
lit
y
 F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 t
h
a
t 
w
ill
 b
e
 

in
tr
o
d
u
ce
d
 i
n
 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
.

G
�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

44



S
a
fe
r 
a
n
d
 s
tr
o
n
g
e
r 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 6
A

N
IS

L
A
A

H
C
S

C
P

B
V
P
I
P
A
F

A
P
A

R
A
G
 r
a
ti
n
g

D
ir
e
ct
io
n
 

o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l

2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

O
u
tt
u
rn

2
0
0
8
-0
9
 

T
a
rg
e
t

L
a
te
st
 

O
u
tt
u
rn

A
ct
iv
it
y
 R
e
p
o
rt
e
d

R
e
fe
re
n
ce

In
d
ic
a
to
r

L
e
a
d
 D
ir
e
ct
o
ra
te

2
b

T
h
e
 q
u
a
lit
y
 o
f 
a
n
 A
u
th
o
ri
ty
’s
 

R
a
ce
 E
q
u
a
lit
y
 S
ch
e
m
e
 (
R
E
S
) 

a
n
d
 t
h
e
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 r
e
su
lt
in
g
 

fr
o
m
 i
ts
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n

D
e
p
u
ty
 C
h
ie
f 

E
x
e
cu
ti
v
e

7
8
%

8
5
%

7
8
%

T
h
e
 R
E
S
 h
a
s 
b
e
e
n
 r
e
v
ie
w
e
d
 a
n
d
 i
s 
in
 p
la
ce
. 
P
ro
g
re
ss
 t
o
w
a
rd
s 

ta
rg
e
ts
 i
s 
a
d
e
q
u
a
te
.

A
�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

1
7
5

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
ra
ci
a
l 

in
ci
d
e
n
ts
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 L
o
ca
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 t
h
a
t 
re
su
lt
e
d
 i
n
 

fu
rt
h
e
r 
a
ct
io
n

D
e
p
u
ty
 C
h
ie
f 

E
x
e
cu
ti
v
e

1
0
0
%

1
0
0
%

1
0
0
%

A
ll 
in
ci
d
e
n
ts
, 
co
m
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 c
o
m
p
la
in
ts
 r
e
su
lt
 i
n
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
a
ct
io
n
.

G
� ���

3
7

P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 

u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
in
g
 s
o
m
e
 k
in
d
 o
f 

v
o
lu
n
te
e
ri
n
g
 a
ft
e
r 
sc
h
o
o
l

C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

3
5
%

3
5
%

N
o
 D
a
ta

S
u
rv
e
y
 w
ill
 b
e
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 i
n
 O
ct
o
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 -
 r
e
su
lt
s 
a
v
a
ila
b
le
 i
n
 

Ja
n
u
a
ry
 2
0
0
9
.

A

45



46



Appendix 7 

Sustainable Communities 

 No. of 
indicators 

On course 
to achieve 
target (or 
establish 
baseline) 

Some 
progress, 
but data not 
available to 
determine 
whether the 
target will 
be achieved 

Not on 
target / no 
activity 
reported 

Corporate Plan (including 
LAA and HCS) 

19 2 11 6 

of which     

Local Area Agreement 
(LAA) 

5 0 5 0 

Herefordshire Community 
Strategy (HCS) 

15 0 10 5 

     

All reported indicators 28 4 14 10 

 

Direction of Travel 

Improving 3 

No real change 3 

Deteriorating 4 

Total 10 

Headlines 

• Firm judgements are not possible at this stage for the majority of indicators. 

• There are two reds because no relevant information has been provided. 

• A number of reds in respect of housing indicators reflect the substantial 
increased demand being fuelled by the economic down-turn.  Action has been 
taken to minimise the impact, including increased preventative work and use 
of the private sector to reduce projected end-year overspending to £300K.  

• Fly-tipping and levels of detritus have been identified as particular problems. 

• Services having to be managed so as to retrieve currently projected end-year 
overspending of some £500K in Regeneration and around £550K in 
Environment and Culture (and in the latter case an underlying recurrent 
overspend of about £1 million that is being off-set this year by one-off grant 
income). 

 

 

47



Appendix 7 

Regeneration Director Commentary 

‘Homelessness acceptances in Quarter 1 have risen, due to a considerable demand 
for services from the homelessness and housing advice team due to the 'credit 
crunch'.  This has meant an increased demand for temporary housing 
accommodation, therefore placing pressure on the homelessness budgets. However, 
the LAA performance indicator target in respect of temporary accommodation is on 
track, as there has been a significant decrease in the number of households living in 
temporary housing accommodation in the following period.' 

Environment and Culture Director commentary 

‘Within the themes of economic development and enterprise, safer and stronger 
communities and sustainable communities, performance overall is on track for all 
Local Area Agreement, Community Strategy and Corporate Plan indicators on which 
the Directorate leads or towards which it is making a significant contribution. There is 
a similar picture for other indicators, including those from the National Indicator set. 

With the introduction of the National Indicator set there has been a significant 
increase in the proportion of performance indicators for which in-year data is not 
available, reflecting the number of perception indicators that rely on data from the 
new Place Survey and those where data is being provided annually by Government 
departments and agencies. For a number of other indicators, 2008-09 is the year in 
which baseline data is being collected. All this has meant that a greater reliance is 
being placed this year on delivery of agreed actions. 

In the priority area of waste the proportion of waste recycled or composted continues 
to show an improvement. Compared with the same period last year (April to June) it 
has increased from 26.32% to 31.12%.’ 

48



S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 7
A

N
IS

L
A
A

H
C
S

C
P

B
V
P
I

P
A
F
A
P
A

1
5
5
Y
e
s

Y
e
s

N
u
m

b
e
r 
o
f 
a
ff
o
rd

a
b
le
 h

o
m

e
s 

d
e
liv

e
re

d
 (
g
ro

ss
) 

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n

1
4
1

2
0
0

4
4

O
u
tt
u
rn

 b
a
se

d
 o

n
 f
ig

u
re

s 
co

lle
ct

e
d
 f
o
r 
Q
1
. 
Q
1
 i
s 
u
su

a
lly

 b
e
lo

w
 

ta
rg

e
t 
d
u
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 n

a
tu

re
 o

f 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t.
 O

n
 g

o
in

g
 m

o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 

b
e
in

g
 u

n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 d

u
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 c

u
rr
e
n
t 
fi
n
a
n
ci
a
l 
m

a
rk

e
t,
 b

u
t 
o
n
 

co
u
rs

e
 t
o
 m

e
e
t 
th

e
 t
a
rg

e
t 
b
y
 e

n
d
 o

f 
y
e
a
r

A
� ���

1
5
6

Y
e
s

1
4

Y
e
s

N
u
m

b
e
r 
o
f 
h
o
u
se

h
o
ld

s 
liv

in
g
 i
n
 

T
e
m

p
o
ra

ry
 A

cc
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n

1
3
3

1
0
9

1
1
5
 (
e
n
d
 

A
u
g
u
st

)

T
h
e
 c

re
d
it
 c

ru
n
ch

 h
a
s 
se

e
n
 a

 c
o
n
si
d
e
ra

b
le
 u

p
tu

rn
 i
n
 d

e
m

a
n
d
 

fo
r 
se

rv
ic
e
s 
fr
o
m

 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
ci
l's

 h
o
m

e
le
ss

n
e
ss

 a
n
d
 h

o
u
si
n
g
 

a
d
v
ic
e
 t
e
a
m

. 
D
e
m

a
n
d
 f
o
r 
te

m
p
o
ra

ry
 a

cc
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 h

a
s 
ri
se

n
 

a
g
a
in

st
 a

 b
a
ck

d
ro

p
 o

f 
a
 r
e
d
u
ct

io
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 a

v
a
ila

b
ili
ty

 o
f 
su

ch
 

re
so

u
rc

e
s,
 a

s 
re

q
u
ir
e
d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 G

o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 
ta

rg
e
t 
o
f 
re

d
u
ci
n
g
 

te
m

p
o
ra

ry
 a

cc
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 b

y
 5

0
%

 b
y
 2

0
1
0
. 
T
h
is
 h

a
s 
cr

e
a
te

d
 

a
 c

h
a
lle

n
g
e
 l
o
ca

lly
, 
a
n
d
 r
e
g
io

n
a
lly

, 
a
s 
th

e
 d

y
n
a
m

ic
s 
h
a
v
e
 l
e
d
 t
o
 

a
 b

o
tt
le
n
e
ck

 i
n
 a

v
a
ila

b
ili
ty

 o
f 
re

so
u
rc

e
s 
to

 m
e
e
t 
ri
si
n
g
 d

e
m

a
n
d
, 

a
n
d
 a

 s
lo

w
 d

o
w
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 a

ff
o
rd

a
b
le
 h

o
u
si
n
g
 m

a
rk

e
t 
m

o
re

 

b
ro

a
d
ly
. 
E
v
e
n
 s
o
, 
a
ft
e
r 
a
n
 i
n
cr

e
a
se

 a
t 
th

e
 e

n
d
 o

f 
Ju

n
e
 t
o
 1

3
2
, 

th
e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 
o
f 
h
o
u
se

h
o
ld

s 
h
a
s 
b
e
e
n
 r
e
d
u
ce

d
. 

A
�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

1
5
7

1
0
9
a
-c

P
ro

ce
ss

in
g
 o

f 
p
la
n
n
in

g
 

a
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s 
a
s 
m

e
a
su

re
d
 

a
g
a
in

st
 t
a
rg

e
ts

 f
o
r 
‘m

a
jo

r’
, 

‘m
in

o
r’
 a

n
d
 ‘
o
th

e
r’
 a

p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
 

ty
p
e
s

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n

6
8
%

8
0
%

8
9
%

6
0
%

6
5
%

8
0
%

6
3
%

7
3
%

8
5
%

In
 a

ll 
ca

se
s 
p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
ce

 f
ig

u
re

s 
a
re

 e
x
ce

e
d
in

g
 n

a
ti
o
n
a
l 

ta
rg

e
ts

. 
T
h
e
re

 h
a
s 
b
e
e
n
 a

 m
a
rg

in
a
l 
fa

ll 
b
a
ck

 i
n
 p

e
rf
o
rm

a
n
ce

 

si
n
ce

 2
0
0
7
/0

8
. 
T
h
is
 i
s 
th

e
 r
e
su

lt
 o

f 
st

a
ff
 t
u
rn

o
v
e
r.

G
� ���

1
7
5

Y
e
s

A
cc

e
ss

 t
o
 s
e
rv

ic
e
s 
a
n
d
 f
a
ci
lit

ie
s 

b
y
 p

u
b
lic

 t
ra

n
sp

o
rt
, 
w
a
lk
in

g
 

a
n
d
 c

y
cl
in

g
 

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n

9
1
%

9
1
%

N
o
 a
c
ti
v
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d

R

1
8
5

Y
e
s

C
O
2
 r
e
d
u
ct

io
n
 f
ro

m
 L

o
ca

l 

A
u
th

o
ri
ty

 o
p
e
ra

ti
o
n
s 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

E
st

a
b
lis

h
 

b
a
se

lin
e

A
 f
u
ll 

in
v
e
n
to

ry
 o

f 
th

e
 C

o
u
n
ci
l’s

 v
e
h
ic
le
 f
le
e
t 
is
 c

u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 

u
n
d
e
rw

a
y
.

A
cc

re
d
it
a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 I
S
O
 1

4
0
0
1
 (
G
E
M

) 
re

ta
in

e
d
.

E
co

-s
ch

o
o
ls
 e

v
e
n
t 
b
e
in

g
 p

la
n
n
e
d
.

B
u
si
n
e
ss

 c
a
se

 b
e
in

g
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
e
d
 f
o
r 
L
E
D
 t
ra

ff
ic
 s
ig

n
a
ls
.

T
h
e
 M

y
E
n
e
rg

y
 s
ch

e
m

e
 i
s 
cu

rr
e
n
tl
y
 b

e
in

g
 e

v
a
lu

a
te

d
.

E
x
te

rn
a
l 
fu

n
d
s 
a
re

 b
e
in

g
 s
o
u
g
h
t 
to

 e
st

a
b
lis

h
 a

 r
e
cy

cl
a
b
le
 

“E
n
e
rg

y
 F

u
n
d
”.

G

1
8
6

Y
e
s

5
8

Y
e
s

P
e
r 
ca

p
it
a
 r
e
d
u
ct

io
n
 i
n
 C

O
2
 

e
m

is
si
o
n
s 
in

 t
h
e
 L

A
 a

re
a
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

1
3
.1

%
 l
e
ss

 

b
y
 2

0
1
0
 

a
g
a
in

st
 

2
0
0
5
 

b
a
se

lin
e
 

W
o
rl
d
 E

n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
t 
D
a
y
 (
5
th

 J
u
n
e
) 
a
n
d
 E

a
rt
h
W

a
tc

h
 (
7
th

 –
 9

th
 

Ju
n
e
) 
su

p
p
o
rt
e
d
.

P
a
rt
ic
ip

a
ti
n
g
 i
n
 R

E
:t
h
in

k
 E

n
e
rg

y
, 
 a

 c
a
p
it
a
l 
g
ra

n
t 
sc

h
e
m

e
 f
o
r 

S
M

E
s 
(s

m
a
ll/

m
e
d
iu

m
 e

n
te

rp
ri
se

s)
 i
n
 t
h
e
 R

R
Z
 (
ru

ra
l 

re
g
e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n
 z
o
n
e
) 
su

p
p
o
rt
in

g
 t
h
e
 i
n
st

a
lla

ti
o
n
 o

f 
re

n
e
w
a
b
le
 

e
n
e
rg

y
 t
e
ch

n
o
lo

g
ie
s.

E
n
co

u
ra

g
in

g
 s
ch

o
o
ls
, 
p
a
ri
sh

e
s 
a
n
d
 c

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 g

ro
u
p
s 
to

 t
a
k
e
 

u
p
 t
h
re

e
 d

if
fe

re
n
t 
g
ra

n
ts

 -
 e

a
ch

 f
o
r 
u
p
 t
o
 5

0
%

 t
o
w
a
rd

s 

m
ic
ro

re
n
e
w
a
b
le
s.

H
e
re

fo
rd

sh
ir
e
 D

e
cl
a
ra

ti
o
n
 o

n
 c

lim
a
te

 c
h
a
n
g
e
 r
e
v
iv
e
d
.

A
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
a
 £

2
5
k
 g

ra
n
t 
fr
o
m

 t
h
e
 E

n
e
rg

y
 S

a
v
in

g
 T

ru
st

 f
o
r 
a
 

co
m

m
u
n
it
y
 a

w
a
re

n
e
ss

 c
a
m

p
a
ig

n
.

A

R
A
G
 r
a
ti
n
g

D
ir
e
ct

io
n
 

o
f 
T
ra

v
e
l

2
0
0
7
-0

8
 

O
u
tt
u
rn

2
0
0
8
-0

9
 

T
a
rg

e
t

L
a
te

st
 

O
u
tt
u
rn

A
ct

iv
it
y
 R

e
p
o
rt
e
d

R
e
fe

re
n
ce

In
d
ic
a
to

r
L
e
a
d
 D

ir
e
ct

o
ra

te

49



S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 7
A

N
IS

L
A
A

H
C
S

C
P

B
V
P
I

P
A
F

A
P
A

R
A
G
 r
a
ti
n
g

D
ir
e
ct

io
n
 

o
f 
T
ra

v
e
l

2
0
0
7
-0

8
 

O
u
tt
u
rn

2
0
0
8
-0

9
 

T
a
rg

e
t

L
a
te

st
 

O
u
tt
u
rn

A
ct

iv
it
y
 R

e
p
o
rt
e
d

R
e
fe

re
n
ce

In
d
ic
a
to

r
L
e
a
d
 D

ir
e
ct

o
ra

te

1
8
7

Y
e
s

T
a
ck

lin
g
 f
u
e
l 
p
o
v
e
rt
y
 –

 p
e
o
p
le
 

re
ce

iv
in

g
 i
n
co

m
e
 b

a
se

d
 

b
e
n
e
fi
ts

 l
iv
in

g
 i
n
 h

o
m

e
s 
w
it
h
 a

 

lo
w
 e

n
e
rg

y
 e

ff
ic
ie
n
cy

 r
a
ti
n
g

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n

E
st

a
b
lis

h
 

b
a
se

lin
e

It
 h

a
s 
b
e
e
n
 a

g
re

e
d
 t
h
a
t 
b
a
se

lin
e
 a

n
d
 t
a
rg

e
t 
se

tt
in

g
 s
h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 

d
e
la
y
e
d
 u

n
ti
l 
A
p
r-
0
9
, 
a
s 
th

e
 d

a
ta

 p
re

se
n
tl
y
 a

v
a
ila

b
le
 t
o
 

ca
lc
u
la
te

 t
h
e
 b

a
se

lin
e
 i
s 
in

a
cc

u
ra

te
. 
D
E
F
R
A
 a

re
 c

u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 

p
re

p
a
ri
n
g
 a

n
 e

n
e
rg

y
 e

ff
ic
ie
n
cy

 s
u
rv

e
y
 f
o
rm

 w
h
ic
h
 l
o
ca

l 

a
u
th

o
ri
ti
e
s 
ca

n
 s
e
n
d
 o

u
t 
to

 a
 r
a
n
d
o
m

 s
e
le
ct

io
n
 o

f 
h
o
u
se

h
o
ld

s 

re
ce

iv
in

g
 i
n
co

m
e
-b

a
se

d
 b

e
n
e
fi
ts

. 
T
h
is
 w

ill
 b

e
 c

o
n
d
u
ct

e
d
 i
n
  

H
e
re

fo
rd

sh
ir
e
 i
n
 S

e
p
te

m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
, 
w
it
h
 t
h
e
 r
e
su

lt
s 
p
ro

v
id

in
g
  

th
e
 b

a
se

lin
e
 f
o
r 
ta

rg
e
t 
se

tt
in

g
.

G

1
9
1

Y
e
s

5
6
a

Y
e
s

R
e
si
d
u
a
l 
h
o
u
se

h
o
ld

 w
a
st

e
 p

e
r 

h
e
a
d

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

8
5
1
.8

5
 k

g
 

(2
0
0
6
/0

7
)

7
6
2
 k

g
1
9
7
.6

k
g
 

(t
o
 J
u
n
e
)

A

1
9
2

8
2
a
 i
-i
i

8
2
b
 i
-i
i

8
2
c 

i-
ii

8
2
d
 i
-i
i

H
o
u
se

h
o
ld

 w
a
st

e
 r
e
cy

cl
e
d
 a

n
d
 

co
m

p
o
st

e
d

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

3
0
.2

6
%

3
2
%

3
1
.1

2
%

 

(t
o
 J
u
n
e
)

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
ce

 a
t 
th

e
 s
a
m

e
 p

e
ri
o
d
 l
a
st

 y
e
a
r 
w
a
s 
2
6
.3

2
%

G
� ���

1
9
3

M
u
n
ic
ip

a
l 
w
a
st

e
 l
a
n
d
fi
lle

d
E
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

6
4
.9

2
%

6
6
.4

%
 (
to

 

Ju
n
e
)

A

1
9
5

5
4

Y
e
s

1
9
9
a
-c

Im
p
ro

v
e
d
 s
tr
e
e
t 
a
n
d
 

e
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l 
cl
e
a
n
lin

e
ss

 

(l
e
v
e
ls
 o

f 
(a

) 
g
ra

ff
it
i,
 (
b
) 
lit

te
r,
  

(c
) 
d
e
tr
it
u
s 
a
n
d
 (
d
) 
fl
y
 p

o
st

in
g
)

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

(a
) 
 1

0

(b
) 
 1

2

(c
) 
 2

(d
) 
 1

T
h
e
 f
ir
st

 L
o
ca

l 
E
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l 
Q
u
a
lit

y
 S

u
rv

e
y
 (
L
E
Q
S
) 
co

n
d
u
ct

e
d
 

o
n
 b

e
h
a
lf
 o

f 
D
e
fr
a
 i
s 
cu

rr
e
n
tl
y
 b

e
in

g
 a

n
a
ly
se

d
 t
o
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
 

ta
rg

e
te

d
 a

ct
io

n
 a

n
d
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
 a

 l
o
n
g
e
r-
te

rm
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 
p
la
n
.

T
h
e
 s
u
rv

e
y
 h

ig
h
lig

h
ts

 d
e
tr
it
u
s 
a
s 
a
 p

a
rt
ic
u
la
r 
p
ro

b
le
m

, 
w
h
ic
h
 

h
a
s 
b
e
e
n
 b

o
rn

e
 o

u
t 
b
y
 l
o
ca

l 
a
n
a
ly
si
s 
o
v
e
r 
th

e
 f
ir
st

 f
ir
st

 f
o
u
r-

m
o
n
th

s.

A

1
9
6

1
9
9
d

Im
p
ro

v
e
d
 s
tr
e
e
t 
a
n
d
 

e
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l 
cl
e
a
n
lin

e
ss

 –
 f
ly
 

ti
p
p
in

g
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

G
ra

d
in

g
 3

G
ra

d
in

g
 2

G
ra

d
in

g
 3

T
h
e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 
o
f 
fl
y
-t
ip

p
in

g
 i
n
ci
d
e
n
ts

 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
s 
to

 i
n
cr

e
a
se

. 
A
 

m
o
re

 r
ig

o
ro

u
s 
a
p
p
ro

a
ch

 t
o
 e

n
fo

rc
e
m

e
n
t 
h
a
s 
n
o
w
 b

e
e
n
 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
e
d
.

T
h
e
 f
ir
st

 L
o
ca

l 
E
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l 
Q
u
a
lit

y
 S

u
rv

e
y
 c

o
n
d
u
ct

e
d
 o

n
 

b
e
h
a
lf
 o

f 
D
e
fr
a
 h

a
s 
b
e
e
n
 r
e
ce

iv
e
d
 a

n
d
 i
s 
cu

rr
e
n
tl
y
 b

e
in

g
 

a
n
a
ly
se

d
 t
o
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
 t
a
rg

e
te

d
 a

ct
io

n
 a

n
d
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
 a

 l
o
n
g
e
r-
te

rm
 

im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 
p
la
n
. 
T
h
e
 s
u
rv

e
y
 i
n
d
ic
a
te

s 
th

a
t,
 i
n
 r
e
la
ti
o
n
 t
o
 f
ly
 

ti
p
p
in

g
, 
st

a
n
d
a
rd

s 
a
re

 g
o
o
d
. 

R
�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

1
9
7

Y
e
s

5
5

5
7

Y
e
s

Im
p
ro

v
e
d
 l
o
ca

l 
b
io

d
iv
e
rs

it
y
 –

 

a
ct

iv
e
 m

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
lo

ca
l 

si
te

s 

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n

2
8
.7

0
%

3
.5

%
 

in
cr

e
a
se

 

(3
0
 s
it
e
s)

In
cl
u
d
e
s 
si
te

s 
u
n
d
e
r 
th

e
 W

o
o
d
la
n
d
 G

ra
n
t 
S
ch

e
m

e
, 
E
n
g
lis

h
 

W
o
o
d
la
n
d
 G

ra
n
t 
S
ch

e
m

e
, 
C
o
u
n
tr
y
si
d
e
 S

te
w
a
rd

sh
ip

 

A
g
re

e
m

e
n
ts

, 
E
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l 
S
te

w
a
rd

sh
ip

 A
g
re

e
m

e
n
ts

; 
a
lo

n
g
 

w
it
h
 a

ll 
o
f 
th

e
 d

e
si
g
n
a
te

d
 S

it
e
s 
o
f 
S
p
e
ci
a
l 
S
ci
e
n
ti
fi
c 

In
te

re
st

 

a
n
d
 L

o
ca

l 
N
a
tu

re
 R

e
se

rv
e
s 
(c

u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 1

0
9
 i
n
 H

e
re

fo
rd

sh
ir
e
);
 

a
n
d
 l
o
ca

l 
si
te

s 
w
it
h
 o

th
e
r 
sp

e
ci
fi
c 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
p
la
n
s,
 e

.g
. 

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 C

o
m

m
o
n
s 
P
ro

je
ct

, 
P
o
n
d
 R

e
st

o
ra

ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 

C
e
le
b
ra

ti
o
n
 P

ro
je

ct
 a

n
d
 E

a
rt
h
 H

e
ri
ta

g
e
 T

ru
st

.

A

50



S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 7
A

N
IS

L
A
A

H
C
S

C
P

B
V
P
I

P
A
F

A
P
A

R
A
G
 r
a
ti
n
g

D
ir
e
ct

io
n
 

o
f 
T
ra

v
e
l

2
0
0
7
-0

8
 

O
u
tt
u
rn

2
0
0
8
-0

9
 

T
a
rg

e
t

L
a
te

st
 

O
u
tt
u
rn

A
ct

iv
it
y
 R

e
p
o
rt
e
d

R
e
fe

re
n
ce

In
d
ic
a
to

r
L
e
a
d
 D

ir
e
ct

o
ra

te

6
4

T
h
e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 
o
f 
n
o
n
-L

o
ca

l 

A
u
th

o
ri
ty

-o
w
n
e
d
 v

a
ca

n
t 

d
w
e
lli
n
g
s 
re

tu
rn

e
d
 t
o
 

o
cc

u
p
a
ti
o
n
 o

r 
d
e
m

o
lis

h
e
d
 

d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 f
in

a
n
ci
a
l 
y
e
a
r 
a
s 
a
 

d
ir
e
ct

 r
e
su

lt
 o

f 
a
ct

io
n
 b

y
 t
h
e
 

L
o
ca

l 
A
u
th

o
ri
ty

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n

1
6
4

1
1
0

4

O
u
tt
u
rn

 b
a
se

d
 o

n
 f
ig

u
re

s 
co

lle
ct

e
d
 f
o
r 
Q
1
. 
Q
1
 i
s 
u
su

a
lly

 b
e
lo

w
 

ta
rg

e
t,
 b

u
t 
fi
g
u
re

s 
o
n
 c

o
m

p
le
te

d
 r
e
n
t/
d
e
p
o
si
ts

 a
re

 s
ti
ll 

to
 b

e
 

p
ro

v
id

e
d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 H

o
m

e
le
ss

n
e
ss

 T
e
a
m

, 
w
h
ic
h
 s
h
o
u
ld

 s
e
e
 a

n
 

in
cr

e
a
se

 i
n
 t
h
e
 o

u
tt
u
rn

 f
o
r 
Q
1
. 
O
n
g
o
in

g
 m

o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 b

e
in

g
 

u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 a

n
d
 t
a
rg

e
t 
o
n
 c

o
u
rs

e
 t
o
 b

e
 m

e
t 
b
y
 e

n
d
 o

f 
y
e
a
r.

A
� ���

1
8
3
a

T
h
e
 a

v
e
ra

g
e
 l
e
n
g
th

 o
f 
st

a
y
 i
n
 

b
e
d
 a

n
d
 b

re
a
k
fa

st
 

a
cc

o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
h
o
u
se

h
o
ld

s 

th
a
t 
a
re

 u
n
in

te
n
ti
o
n
a
lly

 

h
o
m

e
le
ss

 a
n
d
 i
n
 p

ri
o
ri
ty

 n
e
e
d

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n

5
.0

6
 

w
e
e
k
s

1
.5

 w
e
e
k
s

5
.2

9
 

w
e
e
k
s

O
u
tt
u
rn

 b
a
se

d
 o

n
 f
ig

u
re

s 
co

lle
ct

e
d
 f
o
r 
Q
1
. 
T
h
e
 C

o
u
n
ci
l 
h
a
s 

b
e
e
n
 s
w
if
t 
to

 r
e
sp

o
n
d
 t
o
 c

h
a
n
g
e
s 
in

 t
h
e
 m

a
rk

e
t,
 a

n
d
 i
s 

re
m

o
d
e
lli
n
g
 s
u
p
p
ly
 t
o
 m

e
e
t 
d
e
m

a
n
d
. 
A
s 
a
 r
e
su

lt
, 
th

e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
fa

m
ili
e
s 
o
cc

u
p
y
in

g
 b

e
d
 a

n
d
 b

re
a
k
fa

st
 a

cc
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 i
s 

fa
lli
n
g
 a

g
a
in

.

R
� ���

1
8
3
b

T
h
e
 a

v
e
ra

g
e
 l
e
n
g
th

 o
f 
st

a
y
 i
n
 

h
o
st

e
l 
a
cc

o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 o

f 

h
o
u
se

h
o
ld

s 
th

a
t 
a
re

 

u
n
in

te
n
ti
o
n
a
lly

 h
o
m

e
le
ss

 a
n
d
 i
n
 

p
ri
o
ri
ty

 n
e
e
d

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n

2
7
.4

3
 

w
e
e
k
s

1
 w

e
e
k

1
1
 w

e
e
k
s

S
e
e
 p

o
in

ts
 f
o
r 
B
V
P
I 
1
8
3
a
 a

n
d
 N

I 
1
5
6
.

R
� ���

2
1
3

T
h
e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 
o
f 
h
o
u
se

h
o
ld

s 
w
h
o
 

co
n
si
d
e
re

d
 t
h
e
m

se
lv
e
s 
a
s 

h
o
m

e
le
ss

, 
w
h
o
 a

p
p
ro

a
ch

e
d
 t
h
e
 

L
o
ca

l 
H
o
u
si
n
g
 A

u
th

o
ri
ty

’s
 

h
o
u
si
n
g
 a

d
v
ic
e
 s
e
rv

ic
e
(s

),
 a

n
d
 

fo
r 
w
h
o
m

 h
o
u
si
n
g
 a

d
v
ic
e
 

ca
se

w
o
rk

 i
n
te

rv
e
n
ti
o
n
 r
e
so

lv
e
d
 

th
e
ir
 s
it
u
a
ti
o
n
 (
p
e
r 
1
,0

0
0
 

h
o
u
se

h
o
ld

s)

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n

4
4

0
.8

T
h
e
 c

re
d
it
 c

ru
n
ch

 h
a
s 
se

e
n
 a

 c
o
n
si
d
e
ra

b
le
 u

p
tu

rn
 i
n
 d

e
m

a
n
d
 

fo
r 
se

rv
ic
e
s 
fr
o
m

 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
ci
l's

 h
o
m

e
le
ss

n
e
ss

 a
n
d
 h

o
u
si
n
g
 

a
d
v
ic
e
 t
e
a
m

. 
T
h
is
 h

a
s 
re

su
lt
e
d
 i
n
 a

n
 i
n
cr

e
a
se

 i
n
 t
h
e
 p

re
v
e
n
ti
o
n
 

w
o
rk

 c
a
rr
ie
d
 o

u
t 
b
y
 t
h
e
 t
e
a
m

. 
 I
n
 a

d
d
it
io

n
 t
h
e
 t
e
a
m

 h
a
v
e
 

d
ra

ft
e
d
 a

 R
S
L
 H

o
m

e
le
ss

n
e
ss

 P
re

v
e
n
ti
o
n
 p

ro
to

co
l,
 a

n
d
 i
s 

se
e
k
in

g
 a

g
re

e
m

e
n
t 
fr
o
m

 R
S
L
's
 t
o
 d

ri
v
e
 H

o
m

e
le
ss

n
e
ss

 

P
re

v
e
n
ti
o
n
 f
o
rw

a
rd

 a
n
d
 t
h
e
re

fo
re

 h
e
lp

 t
o
 r
e
d
u
ce

 t
h
e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 
o
f 

p
e
o
p
le
 i
n
 T

e
m

p
o
ra

ry
 A

cc
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
.

R
� ���

2
0
4

T
h
e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 
o
f 
p
la
n
n
in

g
 a

p
p
e
a
l 

d
e
ci
si
o
n
s 
a
llo

w
e
d
 a

g
a
in

st
 t
h
e
 

L
o
ca

l 
A
u
th

o
ri
ty

’s
 d

e
ci
si
o
n
 t
o
 

re
fu

se
 p

la
n
n
in

g
 a

p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s,
 a

s 

a
 p

e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 o

f 
th

e
 t
o
ta

l 

n
u
m

b
e
r 
o
f 
p
la
n
n
in

g
 a

p
p
e
a
ls
 

a
g
a
in

st
 r
e
fu

sa
ls
 o

f 
p
la
n
n
in

g
 

a
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n

3
6
.4

0
%

<
3
6
.4

%
3
6
.4

0
%

A
�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

5
9
a
-e

E
a
se

 o
f 
a
cc

e
ss

 t
o
 s
e
rv

ic
e
s

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n

E
st

a
b
lis

h
 

b
a
se

lin
e

N
o
 a
c
ti
v
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
, 
o
n
ly
 h
o
w
 t
h
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
w
il
l 
b
e
 

m
e
a
s
u
re
d
.

R x
5

51



S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 7
A

N
IS

L
A
A

H
C
S

C
P

B
V
P
I

P
A
F

A
P
A

R
A
G
 r
a
ti
n
g

D
ir
e
ct

io
n
 

o
f 
T
ra

v
e
l

2
0
0
7
-0

8
 

O
u
tt
u
rn

2
0
0
8
-0

9
 

T
a
rg

e
t

L
a
te

st
 

O
u
tt
u
rn

A
ct

iv
it
y
 R

e
p
o
rt
e
d

R
e
fe

re
n
ce

In
d
ic
a
to

r
L
e
a
d
 D

ir
e
ct

o
ra

te

6
0
b
-f

Q
u
a
lit

y
 o

f 
L
if
e
 -
 %

 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 

w
h
o
 f
e
e
l 
ce

rt
a
in

 a
sp

e
ct

s 
n
e
e
d
 

im
p
ro

v
in

g
:

b
. 
A
ff
o
rd

a
b
le
 d

e
ce

n
t 
h
o
u
si
n
g

c.
 J
o
b
 p

ro
sp

e
ct

s

d
. 
L
e
v
e
l 
o
f 
cr

im
e

e
. 
L
e
v
e
l 
o
f 
tr
a
ff
ic
 c

o
n
g
e
st

io
n

f.
 W

a
g
e
 l
e
v
e
ls
 a

n
d
 l
o
ca

l 
co

st
 o

f 

liv
in

g

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n

E
st

a
b
lis

h
 

b
a
se

lin
e

b
. 
 S

e
e
 N

I 
1
5
5

c.
  
S
e
e
 N

I 
1
7
1
/1

7
2

d
. 
 S

e
e
 H

C
S
 4

2
c

e
. 
 S

e
e
 N

I 
1
6
7

f.
  
S
e
e
 N

I 
1
6
6

A x
5

52



Appendix 8 

Organisational Improvement and Greater Efficiency 

 No. of 
indicators 

On course 
to achieve 
target (or 
establish 
baseline) 

Some 
progress, 
but data not 
available to 
determine 
whether the 
target will 
be achieved 

Not on 
target / no 
activity 
reported 

Corporate Plan (including 
LAA and HCS) 

16 7 5 4 

of which     

Local Area Agreement 
(LAA) 

0 0 0 0 

Herefordshire Community 
Strategy (HCS) 

0 0 0 0 

     

All reported indicators 27 15 7 5 

 

Direction of Travel 

Improving 8 

No real change 0 

Deteriorating 6 

Total 14 

Headlines 

• Improvements in a number of Human Resources indicators, but also four 
reds, the reasons for which are explained in the interim Head of Service’s 
commentary below. 

• Improvements in a number of Revenues and Benefits indicators. There is also 
one red, in respect of a slightly increased processing time for benefits 
claimants’ change of circumstances, which has arisen as a result of a high 
volume of changes received, together with the time it took to obtain all the 
required information from claimants.  The latest figures – to end August - 
show a significant improvement: 14.5 days compared with the 16 reported to 
the end of July. The target is 14.   

• A reassuring Annual Governance Letter 2008 from the Audit Commission 
(more detail in the Director of Resources’ commentary below). 

• The Deputy Chief Executive’s Office is currently projecting overspending of 
£170K. Work is underway to retrieve this.  

53



Appendix 8 

Interim Deputy Chief Executive Commentary 

‘Key actions confirmed in the Corporate Plan and Local Area Agreement have been 
formulated into the DMT’s performance improvement cycle, which is reviewed 
monthly, together with the risk register. 

Community engagement plans and activities are being reviewed to support increased 
opportunities for community engagement, greater inclusion of more extended groups 
and communities (relevant to CAA NI 1) and better integration across Herefordshire 
Public Services contacts with the public.  This will be supported by the review of the 
customer services strategy, which is expected to convene in October, linked to the 
upgrading of the Connects customer services ICT system. 

Initial feedback from the external Data Quality Audit was positive and demonstrated 
sound improvements over the past year. 

External verification of the Council’s Equality Standard declaration is scheduled for 
October/November. 

IIP preparations are being led by HR. 

These are all key elements of the preparations for Comprehensive Area.Assessment. 
commencing in 2009.’ 

Interim Head of  Human Resources commentary 

‘The pre-pronderance of HR performance indicators rated as red is mainly due to the 
small target figures. Although these reflect historical benchmarking within the 
authority and are therefore appropriate, the margin for error is very small.  Often the 
traditional measure using percentages, also equates to less than one full time 
equivalent and this also skews performance negatively at times. 

To mitigate the inherent risks in this respect, an evaluation process in underway to 
assess a basket of more meaningful and appropriate performance measures, which 
will be introduced, for 2009/10.  

The primary exception to this, at present, is the average number of days taken off 
sick per employee. This has shown deterioration since the end of March 2008. HR is 
working closely with directorate managers to help correct this position as quickly as 
possible and remedial actions will be implemented to bring this area back on line.’  

Resources Director Commentary 

‘The Resources directorate has developed a set of five service plans that comply with 
the corporate standard.  Our plans set out what we will do to focus our activity on 
supporting council priorities as set out in the Corporate Plan 2008 – 2011.  The 
Resources directorate contributes most to the council’s corporate priority on 
‘organisational improvement and efficiency’.  We have reflected this in our service 
plans under the themes of ‘our customers’, ‘our staff’ and ‘improving value for 
money’.  Performance management arrangements have been established across the 
directorate at a team, head of service and directorate management team level.  We 
have introduced a ‘traffic light’ system similar to that used in the ICPR to assess 
whether we are on track.  Performance is reviewed at each level on a monthly basis 
and we monitor progress with implementation of action plans and provide feedback 
to staff in the directorate each month via Team Talk.  We also review our financial 
position and risk register on a monthly basis. 

54



Appendix 8 

The indicator basket relating to the Resources directorate is broadly in line with 
expectations at this point in the year and, at present, there are no apparent obstacles 
to a positive direction of travel.  Identified budget pressures are being managed 
within the directorate and indeed the Financial Services team has contributed to an 
improved corporate position through further gains in treasury management.  We 
continue to closely monitor staffing issues, particularly within the Asset Management 
& Property Services team, and are contributing fully to the development of the new 
HR and workforce development strategy 

Despite a significant increase in numbers of notified changes in benefits claimants’ 
circumstances, remedial action was taken to bring performance back towards target 
by the end of August. Across the wider basket of benefits indicators the end August 
figures show a positive direction of travel. 

The Annual Governance Letter 2008 has just been received from the Audit 
Commission. It identifies no issues in relation to financial reporting and no material 
issues in respect of internal control. It confirms an unqualified opinion on last year’s 
statements of account and the council’s arrangements for securing value for money.’ 

55



56



O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
im
p
o
rv
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 e
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 8
A

N
IS

L
A
A
H
C
S
C
P

B
V
P
I
P
A
F
A
P
A

1
4

Y
e
s

A
v
o
id
a
b
le
 c
o
n
ta
ct
: 
T
h
e
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
 

n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
cu
st
o
m
e
r 
co
n
ta
ct
s 

p
e
r 
re
so
lv
e
d
 r
e
q
u
e
st

D
e
p
u
ty
 C
h
ie
f 

E
x
e
cu
ti
v
e

E
st
a
b
lis
h
 

b
a
se
lin
e

T
h
e
re
 i
s 
a
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
t 
th
a
t,
 f
o
r 
ce
rt
a
in
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 a
re
a
s,
 t
h
e
 f
ir
st
 

su
b
m
is
si
o
n
 i
s 
to
 b
e
 m

a
d
e
 i
n
 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
. 
W
e
 a
re
 a
im
in
g
 t
o
 s
ta
rt
 

m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 i
n
 O
ct
o
b
e
r,
 p
o
ss
ib
ly
 u
si
n
g
 C
u
st
o
m
e
r 
R
e
la
ti
o
n
sh
ip
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
(C
R
M
);
 h
o
w
e
v
e
r,
 d
u
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 p
la
n
n
e
d
 u
p
g
ra
d
e
, 

th
is
 m

a
y
 n
o
t 
b
e
 p
o
ss
ib
le
, 
so
 a
 s
a
m
p
le
 s
u
rv
e
y
 w
ill
 b
e
 r
u
n
 i
n
 

e
a
ch
 o
f 
th
e
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 a
re
a
s.

A

1
7
9

Y
e
s

V
a
lu
e
 f
o
r 
m
o
n
e
y
 –
 t
o
ta
l 
n
e
t 

v
a
lu
e
 o
f 
o
n
g
o
in
g
 c
a
sh
-r
e
le
a
si
n
g
 

v
a
lu
e
 f
o
r 
m
o
n
e
y
 g
a
in
s 
th
a
t 

h
a
v
e
 i
m
p
a
ct
e
d
 s
in
ce
 t
h
e
 s
ta
rt
 

o
f 
th
e
 2
0
0
8
-0
9
 f
in
a
n
ci
a
l 
y
e
a
r

R
e
so
u
rc
e
s

£
1
.5
m

T
h
is
 f
ig
u
re
 i
s 
b
u
ilt
 i
n
to
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
ci
l's
 M
e
d
iu
m
 T
e
rm

 F
in
a
n
ci
a
l 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
S
tr
a
te
g
y
 a
n
d
 i
n
cl
u
d
e
s 
£
7
5
0
k
 p
ro
cu
re
m
e
n
t 

sa
v
in
g
s,
 £
5
0
0
k
 s
u
p
p
lie
s 
a
n
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s 
b
u
d
g
e
t 
re
d
u
ct
io
n
s 
a
n
d
 

£
2
5
0
k
 r
e
d
u
ct
io
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 c
o
st
 o
f 
te
m
p
o
ra
ry
 s
ta
ff
. 
 T
h
e
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 

fo
r 
2
0
0
9
/1
0
 a
n
d
 2
0
1
0
/1
1
 w
ill
 b
u
ild
 o
n
 t
h
is
 s
ta
rt
, 
w
it
h
 e
ff
ic
ie
n
cy
 

sa
v
in
g
s 
g
e
n
e
ra
te
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 H
e
re
fo
rd
sh
ir
e
 C
o
n
n
e
ct
s 
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
, 

o
n
ce
 f
in
a
l 
d
e
ci
si
o
n
s 
o
n
 t
h
e
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 m

a
d
e
 b
y
 

C
a
b
in
e
t.

A

1
8
0

C
h
a
n
g
e
s 
in
 H
o
u
si
n
g
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 
/ 

C
o
u
n
ci
l 
T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 

e
n
ti
tl
e
m
e
n
ts
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 y
e
a
r

R
e
so
u
rc
e
s

1
9
,5
0
0

6
,4
0
4

A

1
8
1

T
im
e
 t
a
k
e
n
 t
o
 p
ro
ce
ss
 H
o
u
si
n
g
 

B
e
n
e
fi
t 
/ 
C
o
u
n
ci
l 
T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 

n
e
w
 c
la
im
s 
a
n
d
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 e
v
e
n
ts

R
e
so
u
rc
e
s

2
0

1
9
.5
7

A

8

C
re
d
it
o
r 
D
a
y
s 
- 
T
h
e
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
 

n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
d
a
y
s 
ta
k
e
n
 t
o
 p
a
y
 

fo
r 
p
u
rc
h
a
se
s

R
e
so
u
rc
e
s

1
9

1
7
.6
8

In
d
ic
a
to
r 
d
e
sc
ri
p
ti
o
n
 h
a
s 
ch
a
n
g
e
d
 f
ro
m
 2
0
0
7
/8
.

G

9

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
co
u
n
ci
l 
ta
x
 

co
lle
ct
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 L
o
ca
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

in
 t
h
e
 y
e
a
r

R
e
so
u
rc
e
s

9
8
.6
2
%

9
8
.8
0
%

4
0
.1
4
%

C
o
m
p
a
re
d
 t
o
 4
0
.4
%
 a
t 
sa
m
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
 l
a
st
 y
e
a
r.

A
� ���

1
0

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
n
o
n
-

d
o
m
e
st
ic
 r
a
te
s 
co
lle
ct
e
d

R
e
so
u
rc
e
s

9
8
.6
3
%

9
8
.8
0
%

4
4
.4
1
%

C
o
m
p
a
re
d
 t
o
 3
9
.4
5
%
 a
t 
sa
m
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
 l
a
st
 y
e
a
r.

G
� ���

7
8
a

T
h
e
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
 p
ro
ce
ss
in
g
 t
im
e
 

ta
k
e
n
 f
o
r 
a
ll 
n
e
w
 H
o
u
si
n
g
 a
n
d
 

C
o
u
n
ci
l 
T
a
x
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 
(H
B
/C
T
B
) 

cl
a
im
s 
su
b
m
it
te
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 L
o
ca
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
, 
fo
r 
w
h
ic
h
 t
h
e
 d
a
te
 o
f 

d
e
ci
si
o
n
 i
s 
w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 f
in
a
n
ci
a
l 

y
e
a
r 
b
e
in
g
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d

R
e
so
u
rc
e
s

2
7
.0
8
 d
a
y
s

2
4
 d
a
y
s

2
4
 d
a
y
s

G
� ���

7
8
b

T
h
e
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
 p
ro
ce
ss
in
g
 t
im
e
 

ta
k
e
n
 f
o
r 
a
ll 
w
ri
tt
e
n
 

n
o
ti
fi
ca
ti
o
n
s 
to
 t
h
e
 L
o
ca
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 o
f 
ch
a
n
g
e
s 
to
 a
 

cl
a
im
a
n
t’
s 
ci
rc
u
m
st
a
n
ce
 t
h
a
t 

re
q
u
ir
e
 a
 n
e
w
 d
e
ci
si
o
n
 o
n
 

b
e
h
a
lf
 o
f 
th
e
 L
o
ca
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty

R
e
so
u
rc
e
s

1
3
.2
6
 d
a
y
s

1
4
 d
a
y
s

1
6
 d
a
y
s

R
� ���

R
A
G
 r
a
ti
n
g

D
ir
e
ct
io
n
 

o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l

2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

O
u
tt
u
rn

2
0
0
8
-0
9
 

T
a
rg
e
t

L
a
te
st
 

O
u
tt
u
rn

A
ct
iv
it
y
 R
e
p
o
rt
e
d

R
e
fe
re
n
ce

In
d
ic
a
to
r

L
e
a
d
 D
ir
e
ct
o
ra
te

57



O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
im
p
o
rv
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 e
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 8
A

N
IS

L
A
A

H
C
S

C
P

B
V
P
I

P
A
F

A
P
A

R
A
G
 r
a
ti
n
g

D
ir
e
ct
io
n
 

o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l

2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

O
u
tt
u
rn

2
0
0
8
-0
9
 

T
a
rg
e
t

L
a
te
st
 

O
u
tt
u
rn

A
ct
iv
it
y
 R
e
p
o
rt
e
d

R
e
fe
re
n
ce

In
d
ic
a
to
r

L
e
a
d
 D
ir
e
ct
o
ra
te

7
9
b
 i

T
h
e
 a
m
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
H
o
u
si
n
g
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 

(H
B
) 
o
v
e
rp
a
y
m
e
n
ts
 r
e
co
v
e
re
d
 

d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
 b
e
in
g
 

re
p
o
rt
e
d
 o
n
 a
s 
a
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 

H
B
 d
e
e
m
e
d
 r
e
co
v
e
ra
b
le
 

o
v
e
rp
a
y
m
e
n
ts
 d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
a
t 

p
e
ri
o
d

R
e
so
u
rc
e
s

6
2
.3
0
%

6
3
%

6
8
.4
5
%

(J
u
n
e
)

G
� ���

7
9
b
 i
i

H
o
u
si
n
g
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 
(H
B
) 

o
v
e
rp
a
y
m
e
n
ts
 r
e
co
v
e
re
d
 

d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
 a
s 
a
 

p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
H
B
 o
v
e
rp
a
y
m
e
n
t 

d
e
b
t 
o
u
ts
ta
n
d
in
g
 a
t 
th
e
 s
ta
rt
 o
f 

th
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
 p
lu
s 
a
m
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
H
B
 

o
v
e
rp
a
y
m
e
n
ts
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 d
u
ri
n
g
 

th
e
 p
e
ri
o
d

R
e
so
u
rc
e
s

4
8
.9
0
%

4
9
%

2
7
.2
6
%

(J
u
n
e
)

C
o
m
p
a
re
d
 t
o
 1
3
.5
%
 a
t 
sa
m
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
 l
a
st
 y
e
a
r.

G
� ���

Y
e
s

U
se
 o
f 
R
e
so
u
rc
e
s 
sc
o
re

R
e
so
u
rc
e
s

2
3

T
h
e
 C
o
u
n
ci
l's
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
U
se
 o
f 
R
e
so
u
rc
e
s 
sc
o
re
 o
f 
 2
 r
e
la
te
s 
to
 

th
e
 2
0
0
6
/0
7
 y
e
a
r 
o
f 
a
cc
o
u
n
t.
  
T
h
e
 U
se
 o
f 
R
e
so
u
rc
e
s 
se
lf
 

a
ss
e
ss
m
e
n
t 
fo
r 
2
0
0
7
/0
8
 w
a
s 
su
b
m
it
te
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 A
u
d
it
 

C
o
m
m
is
si
o
n
 i
n
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
. 
 P
ro
g
re
ss
 w
a
s 
e
v
id
e
n
t 
in
 a
ll 

e
le
m
e
n
ts
 o
f 
th
e
 a
ss
e
ss
m
e
n
t 
in
 l
in
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 U
se
 o
f 
R
e
so
u
rc
e
s 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
p
la
n
 f
o
r 
th
e
 2
0
0
7
/0
8
 a
ss
e
ss
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 

g
o
v
e
rn
a
n
ce
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
p
la
n
s.
  
T
h
e
 A
u
d
it
 C
o
m
m
is
si
o
n
 w
ill
 

n
o
t 
b
e
 d
e
te
rm

in
in
g
 c
o
u
n
ci
ls
' 
U
se
 o
f 
R
e
so
u
rc
e
s 
sc
o
re
s 
u
n
ti
l 

e
a
rl
y
 2
0
0
9
.

A

Y
e
s

V
F
M
 P
R
O
C
 S
I 
5
: 
P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 

to
ta
l 
n
o
n
-p
a
y
 c
h
a
n
n
e
lle
d
 

d
ir
e
ct
ly
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 c
o
lla
b
o
ra
ti
v
e
 

p
ro
cu
re
m
e
n
t 
a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 

w
it
h
 o
th
e
r 
b
u
y
in
g
 o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s

R
e
so
u
rc
e
s

3
%

W
e
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 m

o
n
it
o
r 
co
m
p
lia
n
ce
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
ci
l's
 p
o
lic
y
 

o
n
 u
si
n
g
 W

e
st
 M
e
rc
ia
 S
u
p
p
lie
s.
  
T
h
e
 S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 P
ro
cu
re
m
e
n
t 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 
a
d
v
is
e
s 
o
n
 t
h
e
 u
se
 o
f 
fr
a
m
e
w
o
rk
 c
o
n
tr
a
ct
s 
w
h
e
re
v
e
r 

p
o
ss
ib
le
. 
 A
 r
o
lli
n
g
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 o
f 
fi
n
a
n
ci
a
l 
m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

tr
a
in
in
g
 f
o
r 
o
ff
ic
e
rs
 a
n
d
 c
o
u
n
ci
llo
rs
 i
n
cl
u
d
in
g
 p
ro
cu
re
m
e
n
t 
is
 

sc
h
e
d
u
le
d
 w
it
h
 p
o
si
ti
v
e
 f
e
e
d
b
a
ck
 o
n
 t
h
e
 s
e
ss
io
n
s 
h
e
ld
 t
o
 d
a
te
. 
 

R
e
so
u
rc
e
s 
co
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 r
e
in
fo
rc
e
 t
h
e
 m

e
ss
a
g
e
 b
u
t 
a
ll 

d
ir
e
ct
o
ra
te
s 
n
e
e
d
 t
o
 e
n
su
re
 t
h
e
y
 a
d
h
e
re
 t
o
 C
o
u
n
ci
l 
p
o
lic
ie
s 

a
n
d
 p
ro
ce
d
u
re
s.

A

Y
e
s

1
1
b

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
th
e
 t
o
p
-p
a
id
 

5
%
 o
f 
L
o
ca
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 s
ta
ff
 

w
h
o
 a
re
 f
ro
m
 a
n
 e
th
n
ic
 

m
in
o
ri
ty

D
e
p
u
ty
 C
h
ie
f 

E
x
e
cu
ti
v
e

2
.3
6
%

3
%

2
.2
6
%

W
o
rk
 i
s 
o
n
g
o
in
g
 t
o
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
 t
h
is
 a
re
a
 a
n
d
 b
u
ild
 o
u
r 
p
ro
fi
le
 

w
it
h
in
 t
h
is
 s
ta
ff
 g
ro
u
p
, 
in
 l
in
e
 w
it
h
 o
u
r 
a
g
re
e
d
 a
p
p
ro
a
ch
 t
o
 

e
q
u
a
lit
y
 a
n
d
 d
iv
e
rs
it
y
.

R
� ���

Y
e
s

1
1
c

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
th
e
 t
o
p
-p
a
id
 

5
%
 o
f 
st
a
ff
 w
h
o
 h
a
v
e
 a
 

d
is
a
b
ili
ty
 (
e
x
cl
u
d
in
g
 t
h
o
se
 i
n
 

m
a
in
ta
in
e
d
 s
ch
o
o
ls
)

D
e
p
u
ty
 C
h
ie
f 

E
x
e
cu
ti
v
e

0
.7
9
%

1
.4
0
%

0
%

D
u
e
 t
o
 s
ta
ff
 c
h
a
n
g
e
s 
o
u
r 
re
ce
n
t 
%
 l
e
v
e
l 
w
it
h
in
 t
h
is
 a
re
a
 h
a
s 

b
e
e
n
 l
o
st
, 
w
h
ic
h
 i
s 
p
a
rt
ia
lly
 d
u
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 r
e
la
ti
v
e
ly
 s
m
a
ll 
n
u
m
b
e
rs
 

e
m
p
lo
y
e
d
 o
v
e
ra
ll 
in
 t
h
e
 s
ta
ff
 g
ro
u
p
. 
W
o
rk
 i
s 
o
n
g
o
in
g
 t
o
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
 t
h
is
 a
re
a
 a
n
d
 b
u
ild
 o
u
r 
p
ro
fi
le
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
is
 s
ta
ff
 g
ro
u
p
, 

in
 l
in
e
 w
it
h
 o
u
r 
a
g
re
e
d
 a
p
p
ro
a
ch
 t
o
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 a
n
d
 d
iv
e
rs
it
y
.

R
� ���

58



O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
im
p
o
rv
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 e
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 8
A

N
IS

L
A
A

H
C
S

C
P

B
V
P
I

P
A
F

A
P
A

R
A
G
 r
a
ti
n
g

D
ir
e
ct
io
n
 

o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l

2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

O
u
tt
u
rn

2
0
0
8
-0
9
 

T
a
rg
e
t

L
a
te
st
 

O
u
tt
u
rn

A
ct
iv
it
y
 R
e
p
o
rt
e
d

R
e
fe
re
n
ce

In
d
ic
a
to
r

L
e
a
d
 D
ir
e
ct
o
ra
te

1
4

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s 

re
ti
ri
n
g
 e
a
rl
y
 (
e
x
cl
u
d
in
g
 i
ll-

h
e
a
lt
h
 r
e
ti
re
m
e
n
ts
) 
a
s 
a
 

p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
th
e
 t
o
ta
l 
w
o
rk
 

fo
rc
e

D
e
p
u
ty
 C
h
ie
f 

E
x
e
cu
ti
v
e

0
.2
8
%

<
0
.2
8
%

0
.0
7
%

G
� ���

1
5

T
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
L
o
ca
l 

A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s 
re
ti
ri
n
g
 o
n
 

g
ro
u
n
d
s 
o
f 
ill
 h
e
a
lt
h
 a
s 
a
 

p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
th
e
 t
o
ta
l 

w
o
rk
fo
rc
e

D
e
p
u
ty
 C
h
ie
f 

E
x
e
cu
ti
v
e

0
.1
6
%

<
0
.1
6
%

0
.0
7
%

G
� ���

Y
e
s

D
ir
e
ct
io
n
 o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l 
a
ss
e
ss
m
e
n
t 

b
a
se
d
 o
n
 t
h
e
 r
a
te
 o
f 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t

D
e
p
u
ty
 C
h
ie
f 

E
x
e
cu
ti
v
e

Im
p
ro
v
in
g
 

a
d
e
q
u
a
te
ly

Im
p
ro
v
in
g
 

w
e
ll

O
u
tt
u
rn
 f
o
r 
2
0
0
7
/0
8
 (
a
n
d
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
o
 C
a
b
in
e
t 
in
 J
u
ly
 0
8
) 

sh
o
w
s 
th
a
t 
th
e
 %

 o
f 
P
I'
s 
im
p
ro
v
in
g
 h
a
s 
sl
o
w
e
d
 t
o
 6
3
%
 

co
m
p
a
re
d
 w
it
h
 7
4
%
 i
n
 2
0
0
7
. 
T
h
is
 r
a
te
 o
f 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
st
ill
 l
ie
s 

w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 6
0
.8
%
 -
 6
3
.2
%
 a
v
e
ra
g
e
 o
f 
si
n
g
le
 t
ie
r 
a
u
th
o
ri
ti
e
s 
in
 

2
0
0
7
. 
 7
7
%
 o
f 
P
I'
s 
h
a
v
e
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
d
 o
v
e
r 
th
e
 l
a
st
 3
 y
e
a
rs
 (
5
1
%
 

in
 2
0
0
6
).
 I
n
it
ia
l 
re
p
o
rt
s 
o
n
 t
h
e
 i
n
 y
e
a
r 
a
ss
e
ss
m
e
n
ts
 o
f 
a
d
u
lt
 

so
ci
a
l 
ca
re
, 
ch
ild
re
n
, 
u
se
 o
f 
re
so
u
rc
e
s,
 d
a
ta
 q
u
a
lit
y
 e
tc
 i
n
d
ic
a
te
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 b
u
t 
th
e
 i
m
p
a
ct
 o
f 
th
e
 i
n
d
iv
id
u
a
l 
se
rv
ic
e
 s
co
re
s 

o
n
 t
h
e
 o
v
e
ra
ll 
D
o
T
 a
ss
e
ss
m
e
n
t 
is
 n
o
t 
cl
e
a
r.

A

Y
e
s

In
v
e
st
o
rs
 i
n
 p
e
o
p
le
 

a
cc
re
d
it
a
ti
o
n

D
e
p
u
ty
 C
h
ie
f 

E
x
e
cu
ti
v
e

A
cc
re
d
it
a
ti

o
n

(2
0
0
9
-1
0
)

W
o
rk
 i
s 
u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
 t
o
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
 a
 c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 a
ct
io
n
 p
la
n
 w
h
ic
h
 

w
ill
 l
e
a
d
 t
o
 a
cc
re
d
it
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 2
0
0
9
/2
0
1
0
. 
T
h
e
 a
ct
io
n
 p
la
n
 w
ill
 b
e
 

p
re
se
n
te
d
 t
o
 J
M
T
 a
t 
th
e
 e
n
d
 o
f 
S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
.

G

Y
e
s

V
F
M
 H
R
 S
I 
1
: 
A
v
e
ra
g
e
 d
a
y
s 
p
e
r 

fu
ll-
ti
m
e
 e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
 p
e
r 
y
e
a
r 

in
v
e
st
e
d
 i
n
 l
e
a
rn
in
g
 a
n
d
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t

D
e
p
u
ty
 C
h
ie
f 

E
x
e
cu
ti
v
e

E
st
a
b
lis
h
 

b
a
se
lin
e

T
h
is
 i
s 
a
 c
o
m
p
le
x
 a
re
a
 a
s 
in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 h
a
s 
n
o
t 
b
e
e
n
 c
o
lla
te
d
 

ce
n
tr
a
lly
 t
o
 d
a
te
. 
W
o
rk
 i
s 
u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
 t
o
 e
st
a
b
lis
h
 t
h
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 

o
v
e
ra
ll 
e
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re
 o
n
 l
e
a
rn
in
g
 a
n
d
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 

co
u
n
ci
l.

G

Y
e
s

1
2

V
F
M
 H
R
 P
I 
5
: 
A
v
e
ra
g
e
 w
o
rk
in
g
 

d
a
y
s 
p
e
r 
e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
 (
fu
ll 
ti
m
e
 

e
q
u
iv
a
le
n
t)
 p
e
r 
y
e
a
r 
lo
st
 

th
ro
u
g
h
 s
ic
k
n
e
ss
 a
b
se
n
ce

D
e
p
u
ty
 C
h
ie
f 

E
x
e
cu
ti
v
e

8
.5
8
 d
a
y
s

8
 d
a
y
s

9
.2
1
 d
a
y
s

T
h
e
re
 i
s 
a
 r
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
th
e
 a
b
se
n
ce
 m

a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
in
it
ia
ti
v
e
 b
e
in
g
 

ru
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 A
u
tu
m
n
 a
n
d
 t
h
is
 i
n
cr
e
a
se
 w
ill
 b
e
 f
a
ct
o
re
d
 i
n
to
 t
h
e
 

co
n
si
d
e
ra
ti
o
n
 o
f 
a
n
y
 r
e
m
e
d
ia
l 
a
ct
iv
it
y
 w
e
 c
a
n
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
t 
to
 

a
d
d
re
ss
 t
h
e
 i
n
cr
e
a
se
 s
e
e
n
. 

R
� ���

Y
e
s

1
1
a

V
F
M
 H
R
 S
I 
1
0
: 
P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 

le
a
d
e
rs
h
ip
 p
o
st
s 
o
cc
u
p
ie
d
 b
y
 

w
o
m
e
n

D
e
p
u
ty
 C
h
ie
f 

E
x
e
cu
ti
v
e

4
0
.9
4
%

4
2
%

4
2
.8
6
%

T
h
is
 i
s 
o
n
 t
a
rg
e
t 
a
t 
p
re
se
n
t 
a
n
d
 w
e
 w
ill
 b
e
 m

a
in
ta
in
in
g
 t
h
e
 

m
o
m
e
n
tu
m
 t
o
 a
ch
ie
v
e
 t
h
e
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 s
ti
ll 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
o
 m

e
e
t 

fu
tu
re
 e
x
p
e
ct
a
ti
o
n
s.
 

G
� ���

Y
e
s

1
6

V
F
M
 H
R
 S
I 
1
1
: 
P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 

e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s 
w
h
o
 c
o
n
si
d
e
r 

th
e
m
se
lv
e
s 
to
 h
a
v
e
 a
 d
is
a
b
ili
ty

D
e
p
u
ty
 C
h
ie
f 

E
x
e
cu
ti
v
e

0
.8
6
%

>
0
.8
6
%

0
.9
6
%

G
� ���

Y
e
s

1
7

V
F
M
 H
R
 S
I 
1
2
: 
P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 

B
la
ck
 a
n
d
 M
in
o
ri
ty
 E
th
n
ic
 

(B
M
E
) 
e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s 
in
 t
h
e
 

w
o
rk
fo
rc
e

D
e
p
u
ty
 C
h
ie
f 

E
x
e
cu
ti
v
e

0
.7
3
%

>
0
.7
3
%

0
.6
8
%

R
� ���

59



O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
im
p
o
rv
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 e
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 8
A

N
IS

L
A
A

H
C
S

C
P

B
V
P
I

P
A
F

A
P
A

R
A
G
 r
a
ti
n
g

D
ir
e
ct
io
n
 

o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l

2
0
0
7
-0
8
 

O
u
tt
u
rn

2
0
0
8
-0
9
 

T
a
rg
e
t

L
a
te
st
 

O
u
tt
u
rn

A
ct
iv
it
y
 R
e
p
o
rt
e
d

R
e
fe
re
n
ce

In
d
ic
a
to
r

L
e
a
d
 D
ir
e
ct
o
ra
te

Y
e
s

D
a
ta
 q
u
a
lit
y
 m

e
a
su
re
d
 i
n
 t
e
rm

s 

o
f 
th
e
 A
u
d
it
 C
o
m
m
is
si
o
n
’s
 f
o
u
r-

p
o
in
t 
sc
a
le

D
e
p
u
ty
 C
h
ie
f 

E
x
e
cu
ti
v
e

2
2

T
h
e
 C
o
u
n
ci
l 
is
 a
u
d
it
e
d
 e
a
ch
 y
e
a
r 
b
e
tw
e
e
n
 J
u
n
e
 a
n
d
 A
u
g
u
st
 

e
ss
e
n
ti
a
lly
 o
n
 i
ts
 d
a
ta
 q
u
a
lit
y
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
w
o
rk
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

p
re
v
io
u
s 
fi
n
a
n
ci
a
l 
y
e
a
r.
 T
h
e
  
re
su
lt
s 
a
re
 p
u
b
lis
h
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

fo
llo
w
in
g
 F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 i
.e
. 
so
m
e
 1
0
 m

o
n
th
s 
a
ft
e
r 
th
e
 e
n
d
 o
f 
th
e
 

y
e
a
r 
to
 w
h
ic
h
 t
h
e
y
 p
ri
m
a
ri
ly
 r
e
la
te
. 
T
h
is
 i
s 
n
o
t 
a
 s
co
re
d
 a
u
d
it
, 

ra
th
e
r 
th
e
 r
e
su
lt
s 
a
re
 d
e
d
u
ce
d
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 a
u
d
it
o
r'
s 
fe
e
d
b
a
ck
. 

P
ro
g
re
ss
 a
g
a
in
st
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
ci
l's
 d
a
ta
 q
u
a
lit
y
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
p
la
n
 

is
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 r
e
g
u
la
rl
y
 a
s 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 C
a
b
in
e
t 
a
p
p
ro
v
e
d
 

p
o
lic
y
. 
T
h
e
  
d
ra
ft
 r
e
su
lt
s 
o
f 
th
e
 2
0
0
8
 a
u
d
it
 a
re
 e
x
p
e
ct
e
d
 

sh
o
rt
ly
.

G

Y
e
s

V
F
M
 I
C
T
 P
I 
7
: 
C
o
m
m
is
si
o
n
e
r 

a
n
d
 u
se
r 
sa
ti
sf
a
ct
io
n
 i
n
d
e
x
 –
 

m
e
a
su
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
p
ti
o
n
s 
o
f 

se
rv
ic
e
 u
se
rs
 a
n
d
 

co
m
m
is
si
o
n
e
rs
 o
f 
th
e
 

e
ff
e
ct
iv
e
n
e
ss
 o
f 
th
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
.

D
e
p
u
ty
 C
h
ie
f 

E
x
e
cu
ti
v
e

E
st
a
b
lis
h
 

b
a
se
lin
e

2
.6
8

2
.8
9

T
h
is
 i
s 
th
e
 f
ir
st
 t
im
e
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
ce
 h
a
s 
b
e
e
n
 m

e
a
su
re
d
 i
n
 

re
la
ti
o
n
 t
o
 t
h
is
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r.
 D
is
cu
ss
io
n
s 
a
re
 u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
 t
o
 e
st
a
b
lis
h
 

a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 t
a
rg
e
ts
.

G

Y
e
s

V
F
M
 I
C
T
 S
I 
3
: 
U
n
a
v
a
ila
b
ili
ty
 o
f 

IC
T
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s 
to
 u
se
rs

D
e
p
u
ty
 C
h
ie
f 

E
x
e
cu
ti
v
e

E
st
a
b
lis
h
 

b
a
se
lin
e

0
.3
7

T
h
is
 i
s 
th
e
 f
ir
st
 t
im
e
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
ce
 h
a
s 
b
e
e
n
 m

e
a
su
re
d
 i
n
 

re
la
ti
o
n
 t
o
 t
h
is
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r.
 D
is
cu
ss
io
n
s 
a
re
 u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
 t
o
 e
st
a
b
lis
h
 

a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 t
a
rg
e
ts
. 
It
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 n
o
te
d
, 
h
o
w
e
v
e
r 
th
a
t 
th
is
 

fi
g
u
re
 c
a
n
 o
n
ly
 b
e
 m

e
a
su
re
d
 a
t 
p
re
se
n
t 
a
g
a
in
st
 i
n
te
rn
e
t 
a
n
d
 

m
ic
ro
so
ft
 e
x
ch
a
n
g
e
. 
A
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
re
so
u
rc
e
s 
w
ill
 b
e
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
o
 

b
ro
a
d
e
n
 t
h
is
 a
n
a
ly
si
s 
to
 a
ll 
b
u
si
n
e
ss
 c
ri
ti
ca
l 
sy
st
e
m
s.

G

60



A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 9

E
x
is
ti
n
g
 C
o
n
tr
o
ls

R
is
k
 

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 

N
u
m
b
e
r

C
o
u
n
c
il
 O
b
je
c
ti
v
e
Id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 R
is
k
 A
re
a

L
ik
e
li
h
o
o
d
 

(p
ro
b
a
b
il
it
y
)

P
o
te
n
ti
a
l 

C
o
n
s
e
q
u
e
n
c
e
s
 

(s
e
v
e
ri
ty
)

R
is
k
 

S
c
o
re

C
o
n
tr
o
ls
 i
n
 P
la
c
e

L
ik
e
li
h
o
o
d
 

(p
ro
b
a
b
il
it
y
)

C
o
n
s
e
q
u
e
n
c
e
s
 

(s
e
v
e
ri
ty
)

R
e
s
id
u
a
l 

R
is
k
 

S
c
o
re

R
is
k
 O
w
n
e
r

A
c
ti
o
n
 D
e
s
c
ri
p
ti
o
n

A
c
ti
o
n
 O
w
n
e
r

T
a
rg
e
t 
/ 

R
e
v
ie
w
 D
a
te

a
) 
p
ro
a
c
ti
v
e
 m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
a
ll 

c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 a
u
d
it
s
 e
.g
. 
p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

in
d
ic
a
to
rs
 a
n
d
 d
a
ta
 q
u
a
lit
y

D
e
p
u
ty
 C
h
ie
f 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

M
a
r-
0
8

b
) 
d
e
liv
e
r 
ro
b
u
s
t 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 

p
la
n
s
 w
h
e
re
 a
u
d
it
 r
e
s
u
lt
s
 w
e
re
 

p
o
o
r 
in
 t
h
e
 p
a
s
t

R
e
le
v
a
n
t 
H
o
S
 /
 

D
ir
e
c
to
r;
 H
e
a
d
 o
f 

P
o
lic
y
 &
 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e

M
a
r-
0
8

c
) 
c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
  
im
p
ro
v
e
 P
Is
, 

e
s
p
e
c
ia
lly
 s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 

a
n
d
 e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 o
th
e
r 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 f
o
r 
th
e
 D
o
T

R
e
le
v
a
n
t 
H
o
S
 /
 

D
ir
e
c
to
r;
 H
e
a
d
 o
f 

P
o
lic
y
 &
 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e

S
e
p
-0
8

d
) 
a
g
re
e
in
g
 a
 s
ta
n
d
a
rd
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 

p
ri
o
r 
to
 a
ll 
fu
tu
re
 

a
u
d
it
s
/i
n
s
p
e
c
ti
o
n
s

H
e
a
d
 o
f 
P
o
lic
y
 &
 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e

A
p
r-
0
8

e
) 
re
d
ir
e
c
t 
Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 

M
a
n
a
g
e
rs
 t
o
 t
h
e
 a
re
a
s
 t
h
a
t 
n
e
e
d
 

m
o
s
t 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t.

H
e
a
d
 o
f 
P
o
lic
y
 &
 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e

A
p
r-
0
8

C
R
4

O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

g
re
a
te
r 
e
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y

T
h
e
 k
e
y
 m
it
ig
a
ti
o
n
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 a
re
:

1
) 
s
u
s
ta
in
in
g
 o
u
r 
c
u
rr
e
n
t 
ra
te
 o
f 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
in
 k
e
y
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

in
d
ic
a
to
rs
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 i
n
tr
o
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 

o
f 
th
e
 N
IS

2
) 
a
c
ti
o
n
 t
o
 f
u
n
d
a
m
e
n
ta
lly
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 

d
a
ta
 q
u
a
lit
y

3
) 
p
re
p
a
ri
n
g
 a
d
e
q
u
a
te
ly
 f
o
r 
a
u
d
it
s
 

/ 
in
s
p
e
c
ti
o
n
s
 i
n
 2
0
0
8
 a
n
d
 a
v
o
id
in
g
 

n
e
g
a
ti
v
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
s

4
) 
p
ro
p
e
rl
y
 e
x
p
la
in
in
g
 t
h
e
 

re
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 o
u
r 
o
v
e
ra
ll 
s
c
o
re
 f
ro
m
 

F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 2
0
0
8
 t
o
 s
ta
ff
, 
th
e
 p
u
b
lic
 

a
n
d
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
;

5
) 
a
 p
ro
je
c
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
d
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

o
f 
k
e
y
 p
re
p
a
ra
to
ry
 p
ro
je
c
ts
 

th
ro
u
g
h
 2
0
0
8
/0
9
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 j
o
in
t 

p
la
n
n
in
g
 a
n
d
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
a
c
ro
s
s
 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
; 
a
n
d

6
) 
N
e
w
 r
o
lli
n
g
 s
e
lf
-e
v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 

C
A
A
; 
a
d
e
q
u
a
te
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
in
g
 e
v
id
e
n
c
e
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 

P
ri
c
e
 W

a
te
rh
o
u
s
e
 C
o
o
p
e
r 

b
e
n
c
h
m
a
rk
in
g
 m
a
te
ri
a
l,
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

A
u
d
it
 C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
 l
e
a
d
 f
o
r 
th
is
 

y
e
a
r'
s
 D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l 
(D
o
T
) 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t

3

F
a
ilu
re
 t
o
 p
re
p
a
re
 

a
d
e
q
u
a
te
ly
 f
o
r 
C
A
A
 

a
n
d
 r
a
is
e
 o
u
r 
D
o
T
 

s
c
o
re
 f
ro
m
 

im
p
ro
v
in
g
 

a
d
e
q
u
a
te
ly
.

4
2

A
L
L
 /
 C
h
ie
f 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

2
6

A
c
ti
o
n
 L
o
g

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 R
is
k
 R
e
g
is
te
r

a
s
 a
t 
2
2
n
d
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8

R
is
k
 D
e
ta
il
s

8

A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
R
e
s
id
u
a
l 
R
is
k

P
a
g
e
 1
 o
f 
8

61



A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 9

E
x
is
ti
n
g
 C
o
n
tr
o
ls

R
is
k
 

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 

N
u
m
b
e
r

C
o
u
n
c
il
 O
b
je
c
ti
v
e
Id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 R
is
k
 A
re
a

L
ik
e
li
h
o
o
d
 

(p
ro
b
a
b
il
it
y
)

P
o
te
n
ti
a
l 

C
o
n
s
e
q
u
e
n
c
e
s
 

(s
e
v
e
ri
ty
)

R
is
k
 

S
c
o
re

C
o
n
tr
o
ls
 i
n
 P
la
c
e

L
ik
e
li
h
o
o
d
 

(p
ro
b
a
b
il
it
y
)

C
o
n
s
e
q
u
e
n
c
e
s
 

(s
e
v
e
ri
ty
)

R
e
s
id
u
a
l 

R
is
k
 

S
c
o
re

R
is
k
 O
w
n
e
r

A
c
ti
o
n
 D
e
s
c
ri
p
ti
o
n

A
c
ti
o
n
 O
w
n
e
r

T
a
rg
e
t 
/ 

R
e
v
ie
w
 D
a
te

A
c
ti
o
n
 L
o
g

R
is
k
 D
e
ta
il
s

A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
R
e
s
id
u
a
l 
R
is
k

C
R
5

O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

g
re
a
te
r 
e
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y

T
h
e
 i
n
a
b
ili
ty
 t
o
 

p
ro
v
id
e
 c
ri
ti
c
a
l 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 d
u
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

fa
ilu
re
 o
f 
th
e
 I
C
T
 

n
e
tw
o
rk
s

4
5

2
0

S
u
b
s
ta
n
ti
a
l 
c
a
p
it
a
l 
in
v
e
s
tm
e
n
t 
h
a
s
 

b
e
e
n
 m
a
d
e
 i
n
 I
C
T
 n
e
tw
o
rk
 a
n
d
 

d
is
a
s
te
r 
re
c
o
v
e
ry
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
. 

E
x
te
n
s
iv
e
 I
C
T
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 

c
o
n
ti
n
u
it
y
 p
la
n
s
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 a
n
d
 a
re
 e
x
e
rc
is
e
d
. 

W
o
rk
s
h
o
p
s
 h
e
ld
 f
o
r 
a
ll 

d
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
s
 a
n
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
it
y
 

p
la
n
s
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 p
re
p
a
re
d
 a
n
d
 a
re
 

d
u
e
 f
o
r 
te
s
ti
n
g
 d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 y
e
a
r 
in
 

b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 c
ri
ti
c
a
l 
s
y
s
te
m
s
 a
n
d
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
. 
M
o
n
th
ly
 c
h
e
c
k
s
 m
a
d
e
 t
o
 

e
n
s
u
re
 a
m
e
n
d
m
e
n
ts
 a
re
 m
a
d
e
 t
o
 

a
ll 
p
la
n
s
. 
 T
h
e
 A
u
d
it
 C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
's
 

U
s
e
 o
f 
R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 r
e
p
o
rt
  
2
0
0
8
 

n
o
te
s
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
la
c
k
s
 a
 

c
o
n
s
o
lid
a
te
d
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
it
y
 

p
la
n
. 
T
h
is
 i
s
 a
n
 i
s
s
u
e
 t
h
a
t 
n
e
e
d
s
 

u
rg
e
n
t 
a
tt
e
n
ti
o
n
 t
o
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 t
o
 a
t 

le
a
s
t 
m
in
im
u
m
 a
c
c
e
p
ta
b
le
 

s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 b
y
 3
1
/0
3
/0
8
.

3
5

1
5

D
e
p
u
ty
 C
h
ie
f 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

T
h
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
it
y
 p
la
n
s
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 b
y
 d
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
s
 a
re
 

re
v
ie
w
e
d
 o
n
 a
n
 a
n
n
u
a
l 
b
a
s
is
 

fo
llo
w
in
g
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
it
y
 w
e
e
k
 

in
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r.
 T
h
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
p
la
n
s
 

a
re
 r
e
v
ie
w
e
d
 t
o
 c
re
a
te
 a
n
 

a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 w
id
e
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 a
n
y
 

c
ri
ti
c
a
l 
in
c
id
e
n
t.
 M
a
p
p
in
g
 o
f 
k
e
y
 

IC
T
 s
y
s
te
m
s
 i
s
 c
o
m
p
le
te
. 
N
o
 

c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 t
e
s
ti
n
g
 o
f 
p
la
n
s
, 
o
n
ly
 a
t 

s
e
rv
ic
e
 l
e
v
e
l.
 I
n
 t
h
e
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 o
f 

id
e
n
ti
fy
in
g
 t
h
e
 c
ri
ti
c
a
l 
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

th
a
t 
w
o
u
ld
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 -
 a
n
d
 

a
n
y
 s
p
a
re
 c
a
p
a
c
it
y
. 
IC
T
 m
o
c
k
 

d
is
a
s
te
r 
re
c
o
v
e
ry
 s
c
e
n
a
ri
o
 h
e
ld
.

A
L
L
 /
 D
e
p
u
ty
 C
h
ie
f 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

O
c
t-
0
8

C
R
1
1

O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

g
re
a
te
r 
e
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y

F
a
ilu
re
 t
o
 r
e
c
ru
it
 a
n
d
 

re
ta
in
 s
ta
ff
 w
h
e
re
 

th
e
re
 a
re
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

s
k
ill
s
 s
h
o
rt
a
g
e
s
 a
n
d
 

in
c
lu
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 i
m
p
a
c
t 

o
f 
J
o
b
 E
v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
. 

E
n
s
u
ri
n
g
 c
o
n
s
is
te
n
t 

tr
e
a
tm
e
n
t 
o
f 
E
q
u
a
l 

P
a
y
 C
la
im
s
.

3
3

9

S
u
c
c
e
s
s
io
n
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

p
ro
v
is
io
n
. 
U
ti
lis
e
 S
R
D
s
 /
 

im
p
le
m
e
n
t 
c
a
re
e
r 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

p
o
s
ts
 a
n
d
 c
o
n
c
lu
d
e
 j
o
b
 

e
v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
. 
 H
R
 t
o
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 

D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
s
 d
e
liv
e
r 
to
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 

tr
a
in
in
g
 n
e
e
d
s
, 
to
 w
o
rk
 t
o
 I
n
v
e
s
to
r 

in
 P
e
o
p
le
 s
ta
n
d
a
rd
. 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

F
o
c
u
s
e
d
 r
e
c
ru
it
m
e
n
t 
a
c
ti
v
it
y
 t
o
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 s
h
o
rt
a
g
e
s
 e
.g
. 

S
o
c
ia
l 
W
o
rk
 (
C
h
ild
re
n
's
) 
a
n
d
 m
o
re
 

re
c
e
n
tl
y
 d
if
fi
c
u
lt
ie
s
 i
n
 r
e
c
ru
it
in
g
 t
o
 

A
s
s
e
t 
M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
&
 P
ro
p
e
rt
y
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 p
o
s
ts
. 
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
 

s
e
c
o
n
d
m
e
n
t 
o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 

in
te
rn
a
lly
 a
n
d
 w
it
h
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
. 
 

Im
p
le
m
e
n
t 
M
a
rk
e
t 
F
o
rc
e
s
 

S
u
p
p
le
m
e
n
t.
 I
m
p
ro
v
in
g
 l
e
a
d
e
rs
h
ip
 

a
n
d
 m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
th
ro
u
g
h
 r
e
v
is
e
d
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

p
ro
v
is
io
n
. 
 P
ri
d
e
 i
n
 H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 t
o
 b
e
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
te
d
.

2
3

6

A
L
L
 /
 H
e
a
d
 o
f 

H
u
m
a
n
 

R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s

A
L
L
 /
 H
e
a
d
 o
f 

H
u
m
a
n
 R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s

J
a
n
-0
9

P
a
g
e
 2
 o
f 
8

62



A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 9

E
x
is
ti
n
g
 C
o
n
tr
o
ls

R
is
k
 

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 

N
u
m
b
e
r

C
o
u
n
c
il
 O
b
je
c
ti
v
e
Id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 R
is
k
 A
re
a

L
ik
e
li
h
o
o
d
 

(p
ro
b
a
b
il
it
y
)

P
o
te
n
ti
a
l 

C
o
n
s
e
q
u
e
n
c
e
s
 

(s
e
v
e
ri
ty
)

R
is
k
 

S
c
o
re

C
o
n
tr
o
ls
 i
n
 P
la
c
e

L
ik
e
li
h
o
o
d
 

(p
ro
b
a
b
il
it
y
)

C
o
n
s
e
q
u
e
n
c
e
s
 

(s
e
v
e
ri
ty
)

R
e
s
id
u
a
l 

R
is
k
 

S
c
o
re

R
is
k
 O
w
n
e
r

A
c
ti
o
n
 D
e
s
c
ri
p
ti
o
n

A
c
ti
o
n
 O
w
n
e
r

T
a
rg
e
t 
/ 

R
e
v
ie
w
 D
a
te

A
c
ti
o
n
 L
o
g

R
is
k
 D
e
ta
il
s

A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
R
e
s
id
u
a
l 
R
is
k

C
R
1
7

O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

g
re
a
te
r 
e
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y

R
e
p
u
ta
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
ri
s
k
 o
f 

fa
ili
n
g
 t
o
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 

U
s
e
 o
f 
R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 t
o
 4
 b
y
 

th
e
 e
n
d
 o
f 
th
e
 

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 P
la
n
 

p
e
ri
o
d
 -
 2
0
1
1
.

3
4

1
2

U
s
e
 o
f 
R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
p
la
n
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 

im
p
le
m
e
n
te
d
 a
n
d
 r
e
fl
e
c
ts
 i
n
 a
 

ro
b
u
s
t 
s
e
lf
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
s
u
b
m
it
te
d
 

in
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
. 
A
 p
o
s
it
iv
e
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
G
o
v
e
rn
a
n
c
e
 R
e
p
o
rt
 2
0
0
8
 

is
 a
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
re
a
s
s
u
ra
n
c
e
 o
f 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
o
v
e
r 
th
e
 l
a
s
t 
1
2
 

m
o
n
th
s
. 
T
h
e
 d
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
 i
s
 a
c
ti
v
e
ly
 

e
n
g
a
g
e
d
 i
n
 p
re
p
a
ri
n
g
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

C
o
m
p
re
h
e
n
s
iv
e
 A
re
a
 A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

in
c
lu
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 n
e
w
 U
s
e
 o
f 

R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
.

2
3

6
A
L
L

J
o
in
t 
M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
T
e
a
m
 t
o
 

e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
ir
 d
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
 a
n
d
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
 p
la
n
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 f
o
r 
U
s
e
 o
f 

R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 a
re
 a
c
ti
o
n
e
d
 a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 

m
o
n
th
ly
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
.

A
L
L

J
a
n
-0
9

C
R
2
7

O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

g
re
a
te
r 
e
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y

C
R
B
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 n
o
t 

c
a
rr
ie
d
 o
u
t 
to
 a
n
 

a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 a
n
d
 

re
lia
b
le
 l
e
v
e
l

4
4

1
6

O
ff
ic
e
rs
 a
g
re
e
d
 a
re
a
s
 o
f 
c
o
n
c
e
rn
 

a
n
d
 a
n
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 t
o
 b
e
 d
ra
w
n
 u
p
 

to
 r
e
d
re
s
s
 t
h
e
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 a
s
 q
u
ic
k
ly
 a
s
 

p
o
s
s
ib
le
. 

3
4

1
2

H
e
a
d
 o
f 

H
u
m
a
n
 

R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s

A
n
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
w
ill
 a
d
d
re
s
s
 t
h
e
 

id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 a
re
a
s
 o
f 
c
o
n
c
e
rn
. 

A
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
re
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 a
n
d
 f
in
a
n
c
e
 

h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 a
p
p
ro
v
e
d
 b
y
 

a
g
re
e
m
e
n
t 
w
it
h
 t
h
e
 C
h
ie
f 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 a
n
d
 r
e
c
ru
it
m
e
n
t 
to
 

a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
p
o
s
ts
, 
to
 m
e
e
t 
th
e
 

in
c
re
a
s
e
d
 w
o
rk
lo
a
d
, 
h
a
s
 

c
o
m
m
e
n
c
e
d
. 
T
h
e
 C
R
B
 p
o
lic
y
 i
s
 

b
e
in
g
 r
e
v
ie
w
e
d
, 
w
it
h
 a
 d
ra
ft
 a
n
d
 

u
p
d
a
te
 o
n
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 t
o
 b
e
 

p
re
s
e
n
te
d
 t
o
 J
M
T
 i
n
 O
c
to
b
e
r 
0
8
.

H
e
a
d
 o
f 
H
u
m
a
n
 

R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s

O
c
t-
0
8

a
) 
B
e
n
e
fi
ts
 a
n
d
 C
o
m
m
e
rc
ia
ls
 

G
ro
u
p
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 a
n
d
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
 

re
g
u
la
rl
y
, 
b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 e
n
v
is
a
g
e
d
 t
o
 

b
e
 a
s
s
e
s
s
e
d
 a
t 
e
a
c
h
 m
e
e
ti
n
g

H
e
a
d
 o
f 
F
in
a
n
c
ia
l 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s

D
e
c
-0
8

b
) 
P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 B
o
a
rd
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
 

re
g
u
la
r 
e
x
c
e
p
ti
o
n
 r
e
p
o
rt
s

P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

(H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

C
o
n
n
e
c
ts
)

D
e
c
-0
8

c
) 
A
c
tu
a
l 
in
v
e
s
tm
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 s
a
v
in
g
s
 

m
o
n
it
o
re
d
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
th
e
 M
T
F
S
.

H
e
a
d
 o
f 
F
in
a
n
c
ia
l 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s

D
e
c
-0
8

D
e
liv
e
ra
b
le
 b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 

fr
o
m
 H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

C
o
n
n
e
c
ts
 n
o
t 

re
a
lis
e
d

4
3

M
T
F
S
 u
p
d
a
te
d
 f
o
r 
0
8
/0
9
 t
o
 

in
c
lu
d
e
 m
o
d
e
rn
is
a
ti
o
n
 f
u
n
d
 t
o
 

a
llo
w
 f
o
r 
re
v
ie
w
 o
f 
H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

C
o
n
n
e
c
ts
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 t
o
 b
e
 

in
te
g
ra
te
d
 w
it
h
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 

s
tr
a
te
g
y
 f
o
r 
fu
tu
re
 o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

P
C
T
.

3
3

9
1
2

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 

R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s

C
R
2
8

O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

g
re
a
te
r 
e
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y

P
a
g
e
 3
 o
f 
8

63



A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 9

E
x
is
ti
n
g
 C
o
n
tr
o
ls

R
is
k
 

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 

N
u
m
b
e
r

C
o
u
n
c
il
 O
b
je
c
ti
v
e
Id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 R
is
k
 A
re
a

L
ik
e
li
h
o
o
d
 

(p
ro
b
a
b
il
it
y
)

P
o
te
n
ti
a
l 

C
o
n
s
e
q
u
e
n
c
e
s
 

(s
e
v
e
ri
ty
)

R
is
k
 

S
c
o
re

C
o
n
tr
o
ls
 i
n
 P
la
c
e

L
ik
e
li
h
o
o
d
 

(p
ro
b
a
b
il
it
y
)

C
o
n
s
e
q
u
e
n
c
e
s
 

(s
e
v
e
ri
ty
)

R
e
s
id
u
a
l 

R
is
k
 

S
c
o
re

R
is
k
 O
w
n
e
r

A
c
ti
o
n
 D
e
s
c
ri
p
ti
o
n

A
c
ti
o
n
 O
w
n
e
r

T
a
rg
e
t 
/ 

R
e
v
ie
w
 D
a
te

A
c
ti
o
n
 L
o
g

R
is
k
 D
e
ta
il
s

A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
R
e
s
id
u
a
l 
R
is
k

C
R
2
9

O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

g
re
a
te
r 
e
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y

B
o
th
 D
a
ta
 C
e
n
tr
e
s
 

a
re
 i
n
 l
e
a
s
e
d
 

a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
, 
a
re
 

n
e
a
r 
c
a
p
a
c
it
y
, 
p
lu
s
 

th
e
re
 a
re
 

e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
is
s
u
e
s
 

s
u
c
h
 a
s
 p
o
w
e
r 
a
n
d
 

fi
re
 s
u
p
p
re
s
s
io
n
 t
h
a
t 

n
e
e
d
 t
o
 b
e
 

a
d
d
re
s
s
e
d
. 
L
o
s
s
 o
f 

d
a
ta
 c
e
n
tr
e
s
 w
ill
 

a
ff
e
c
t 
d
e
liv
e
ry
 o
f 
a
ll 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
.

4
5

2
0

D
e
c
is
io
n
s
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 f
ro
m
 

a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 t
o
 

e
s
ta
b
lis
h
 w
h
e
re
 f
u
tu
re
 d
a
ta
 

c
e
n
tr
e
s
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 l
o
c
a
te
d
. 
P
ro
je
c
t 

to
 b
e
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 t
o
 r
e
lo
c
a
te
 d
a
ta
 

c
e
n
tr
e
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
s
e
 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
s
. 

In
v
e
s
tm
e
n
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
, 
s
e
rv
e
r 

v
ir
tu
a
lis
a
ti
o
n
 w
ill
 r
e
d
u
c
e
 r
is
k
 i
n
 

p
a
rt
.

3
5

1
5

D
e
p
u
ty
 C
h
ie
f 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

A
g
re
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 d
a
ta
 c
e
n
tr
e
 

o
u
ts
id
e
 o
f 
th
e
 s
c
o
p
e
 o
f 
th
e
 

a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
. 

A
lt
e
rn
a
ti
v
e
 s
it
e
s
 a
re
 b
e
in
g
 l
o
o
k
e
d
 

a
t 
(w
it
h
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
o
f 
jo
in
t 

P
C
T
/C
o
u
n
c
il 
d
a
ta
 c
e
n
tr
e
).
 S
e
rv
e
r 

v
ir
tu
a
lis
a
ti
o
n
 p
ro
je
c
t 
c
o
m
m
e
n
c
e
d
.

H
e
a
d
 o
f 
IC
T

O
c
t-
0
8

C
R
3
0

O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

g
re
a
te
r 
e
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y

L
e
g
a
c
y
 s
y
s
te
m
s
 o
u
t 

o
f 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
 w
it
h
 

v
e
n
d
o
rs
, 
a
n
d
 o
n
 o
ld
 

h
a
rd
w
a
re
. 

C
o
m
p
o
u
n
d
e
d
 b
y
 

C
R
2
8
 B
e
n
e
fi
ts
 f
ro
m
 

C
o
n
n
e
c
ts
 e
.g
. 
C
e
d
a
r

4
4

1
6

E
s
ta
b
lis
h
 w
h
ic
h
 s
y
s
te
m
s
 a
re
 

d
e
e
m
e
d
 c
ri
ti
c
a
l 
a
n
d
 m
a
k
e
 g
o
o
d
 

th
e
 s
y
s
te
m
s
, 
A
n
y
 e
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re
 m
a
y
 

n
e
e
d
 t
o
 b
e
 d
e
d
u
c
te
d
 f
ro
m
 

C
o
n
n
e
c
ts
 b
e
n
e
fi
ts
.

4
4

1
6

D
e
p
u
ty
 C
h
ie
f 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

C
o
m
p
le
te
 c
o
n
tr
a
c
t 
re
g
is
te
r 
o
f 
IT
 

s
y
s
te
m
s
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
b
e
in
g
 

c
o
m
p
ile
d
. 
In
c
lu
d
in
g
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 /
 

w
a
rr
a
n
te
e
 a
g
re
e
m
e
n
ts
. 
F
o
r 
m
a
n
y
 

s
y
s
te
m
s
 t
h
is
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 i
n
 

d
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
s
. 
C
e
d
a
r 
u
p
g
ra
d
e
 

c
o
m
m
e
n
c
e
d
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 

a
g
re
e
m
e
n
t 
in
 p
la
c
e
.

H
e
a
d
 o
f 
IC
T

D
e
c
-0
8

C
R
3
5

O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

g
re
a
te
r 
e
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y
 -
 

d
a
ta
 q
u
a
lit
y

In
a
d
e
q
u
a
te
 a
tt
e
n
ti
o
n
 

to
 d
a
ta
 q
u
a
lit
y
 

g
o
v
e
rn
a
n
c
e
 a
n
d
 

le
a
d
e
rs
h
ip
, 
p
o
lic
ie
s
, 

s
y
s
te
m
s
 a
n
d
 

p
ro
c
e
s
s
e
s
, 
p
e
o
p
le
 

a
n
d
 s
k
ill
s
 a
s
 w
e
ll 
a
s
 

p
o
o
r 
d
a
ta
 u
s
e
 a
n
d
 

re
p
o
rt
in
g
, 
i.
e
. 
fa
ilu
re
 

to
 a
d
o
p
t 
th
e
 

v
o
lu
n
ta
ry
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 p
ro
m
o
te
d
 

b
y
 t
h
e
 a
u
d
it
 

c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n

5
3

1
5

In
c
lu
d
e
 i
n
te
rn
a
l 
a
n
d
 e
x
te
rn
a
l 

a
u
d
it
s
, 
d
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
  
h
e
ld
 p
ro
fo
rm

a
s
 

fo
r 
e
a
c
h
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r,
 l
im
it
e
d
 c
h
e
c
k
s
 

o
n
 s
o
u
rc
e
 s
y
s
te
m
s
, 
lim

it
e
d
 s
ta
ff
 

tr
a
in
in
g
, 
lim

it
e
d
 d
a
ta
 s
h
a
ri
n
g
 

p
ro
to
c
o
ls

3
3

9

A
L
L
 /
 D
e
p
u
ty
 

C
h
ie
f 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e

A
c
ro
s
s
 a
ll 
fi
v
e
 a
re
a
s
 o
f 
th
e
 d
a
ta
 

q
u
a
lit
y
 s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 b
u
t 
e
s
p
e
c
ia
lly
 

th
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
la
c
k
 o
f 
a
 

c
o
m
p
re
h
e
n
s
iv
e
 s
e
t 
o
f 
o
p
e
ra
ti
o
n
a
l 

p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
s
 a
n
d
 g
u
id
a
n
c
e
, 

in
c
o
n
s
is
te
n
t 
a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 

a
b
o
v
e
, 
la
c
k
 o
f 
s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 f
o
r 

s
h
a
re
d
 d
a
ta
, 
c
o
n
tr
a
c
t 
c
la
u
s
e
s
, 

in
a
d
e
q
u
a
te
 c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 

s
ta
ff
 a
n
d
 a
 l
a
c
k
 o
f 
s
y
s
te
m
a
ti
c
 

tr
a
in
in
g

A
L
L
 /
 H
e
a
d
 o
f 
P
o
lic
y
 

&
 P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e

N
o
v
-0
8

P
a
g
e
 4
 o
f 
8

64



A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 9

E
x
is
ti
n
g
 C
o
n
tr
o
ls

R
is
k
 

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 

N
u
m
b
e
r

C
o
u
n
c
il
 O
b
je
c
ti
v
e
Id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 R
is
k
 A
re
a

L
ik
e
li
h
o
o
d
 

(p
ro
b
a
b
il
it
y
)

P
o
te
n
ti
a
l 

C
o
n
s
e
q
u
e
n
c
e
s
 

(s
e
v
e
ri
ty
)

R
is
k
 

S
c
o
re

C
o
n
tr
o
ls
 i
n
 P
la
c
e

L
ik
e
li
h
o
o
d
 

(p
ro
b
a
b
il
it
y
)

C
o
n
s
e
q
u
e
n
c
e
s
 

(s
e
v
e
ri
ty
)

R
e
s
id
u
a
l 

R
is
k
 

S
c
o
re

R
is
k
 O
w
n
e
r

A
c
ti
o
n
 D
e
s
c
ri
p
ti
o
n

A
c
ti
o
n
 O
w
n
e
r

T
a
rg
e
t 
/ 

R
e
v
ie
w
 D
a
te

A
c
ti
o
n
 L
o
g

R
is
k
 D
e
ta
il
s

A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
R
e
s
id
u
a
l 
R
is
k

C
R
3
6

O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
&
 

g
re
a
te
r 
e
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y

F
a
ilu
re
 t
o
 d
e
liv
e
r 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 a
n
d
 m
e
e
t 

k
e
y
 o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
 o
f 

a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 

d
u
e
 t
o
 l
a
c
k
 o
f 
D
a
ta
 

B
a
s
e
 A
d
m
in
is
tr
a
to
r 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
 a
n
d
 

s
u
ff
ic
ie
n
t 
s
e
rv
e
r 

c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 f
o
r 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 

b
e
n
e
fi
t 
a
n
d
 l
o
c
a
l 
ta
x
 

s
y
s
te
m
s
 (
ri
s
k
 B
E
S
1
 

fr
o
m
 t
h
e
 B
e
n
e
fi
t 
&
 

E
x
c
h
e
q
u
e
r 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

ri
s
k
 r
e
g
is
te
r 
re
fe
rs
).
 

3
3

9

R
e
m
o
te
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 i
s
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
 b
y
 

A
c
a
d
e
m
y
  
a
n
d
 I
C
T
 a
re
 a
tt
e
m
p
ti
n
g
 

to
 r
e
c
ru
it
 a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
D
a
ta
 B
a
s
e
 

A
d
m
in
is
tr
a
to
rs
. 
 W

o
rk
in
g
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 

s
u
p
p
lie
rs
 a
n
d
 I
C
T
 t
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 

o
p
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 
re
s
o
lv
in
g
 t
h
e
 s
e
rv
e
r 

c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 i
s
s
u
e
.

3
3

9
D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 

R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s

R
e
c
ru
it
m
e
n
t 
p
ro
c
e
s
s
 f
o
r 

a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
D
a
ta
 B
a
s
e
 

A
d
m
in
is
tr
a
to
rs
 f
a
ile
d
. 
 I
C
T
 a
re
 

c
o
n
s
id
e
ri
n
g
 t
e
m
p
o
ra
ry
 

re
s
o
u
rc
in
g
. 
 B
y
 M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
, 

id
e
n
ti
fy
 a
n
d
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
t 
th
e
 o
p
ti
o
n
 

th
a
t 
w
ill
 o
ff
e
r 
th
e
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 s
y
s
te
m
 

c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 w
it
h
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 b
a
c
k
-

u
p
.

H
e
a
d
 o
f 
B
e
n
e
fi
t 
&
 

E
x
c
h
e
q
u
e
r 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s

O
c
t-
0
8

C
R
3
7

O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
&
 

g
re
a
te
r 
e
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y

F
a
ilu
re
 t
o
 d
e
liv
e
r 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 a
n
d
 m
e
e
t 

k
e
y
 o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
 o
f 

a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 

n
e
e
d
e
d
 i
n
 b
e
n
e
fi
t 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 t
o
 m
e
e
t 
th
e
 

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 o
f 
th
e
 

n
e
w
 b
e
n
e
fi
t 

in
s
p
e
c
ti
o
n
 r
e
g
im
e
 

d
u
e
 t
o
 c
u
s
to
m
e
r 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 (
ri
s
k
 

B
E
S
2
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 

B
e
n
e
fi
t 
&
 E
x
c
h
e
q
u
e
r 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 r
is
k
 r
e
g
is
te
r 

re
fe
rs
).

4
4

1
6

A
n
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
p
la
n
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 D
e
p
a
rt
m
e
n
t 
fo
r 

W
o
rk
 &
 P
e
n
s
io
n
s
 f
o
r 
b
e
n
e
fi
t 
a
n
d
 

c
u
s
to
m
e
r 
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
. 
 I
n
p
u
t 
is
 b
e
in
g
 

p
ro
v
id
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 C
u
s
to
m
e
r 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 R
e
v
ie
w
.

3
4

1
2

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 

R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s

B
e
n
e
fi
t 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
p
la
n
 a
g
re
e
d
 

w
it
h
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 d
a
te
s
  
n
o
w
 b
e
in
g
 

im
p
le
m
e
n
te
d
, 
w
it
h
 m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 t
o
 

e
n
s
u
re
 a
n
ti
c
ip
a
te
d
 b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 a
re
 

a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
. 
 O
n
g
o
in
g
 e
v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 

o
th
e
r 
K
e
y
 L
in
e
s
 o
f 
E
n
q
u
ir
y
. 
 F
e
e
d
 

is
s
u
e
s
 i
n
to
 t
h
e
 C
u
s
to
m
e
r 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 R
e
v
ie
w
. 
 

E
n
c
o
u
ra
g
e
 c
u
s
to
m
e
rs
 t
o
 u
s
e
 t
h
e
 

s
e
lf
-s
e
rv
ic
e
 f
a
c
ili
ty
. 
 E
v
a
lu
a
te
 t
h
e
 

o
p
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 
re
d
u
c
in
g
 t
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 

o
f 
c
a
lls
. 
 U
p
d
a
te
 c
u
s
to
m
e
r 
fo
rm

s
 

a
n
d
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 m
a
k
e
 t
h
e
m
 

e
a
s
ie
r 
to
 u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
 a
n
d
 s
e
e
k
 

c
u
s
to
m
e
r 
fe
e
d
b
a
c
k
.

H
e
a
d
 o
f 
B
e
n
e
fi
t 
&
 

E
x
c
h
e
q
u
e
r 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s

O
c
t-
0
8

P
a
g
e
 5
 o
f 
8

65



A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 9

E
x
is
ti
n
g
 C
o
n
tr
o
ls

R
is
k
 

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 

N
u
m
b
e
r

C
o
u
n
c
il
 O
b
je
c
ti
v
e
Id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 R
is
k
 A
re
a

L
ik
e
li
h
o
o
d
 

(p
ro
b
a
b
il
it
y
)

P
o
te
n
ti
a
l 

C
o
n
s
e
q
u
e
n
c
e
s
 

(s
e
v
e
ri
ty
)

R
is
k
 

S
c
o
re

C
o
n
tr
o
ls
 i
n
 P
la
c
e

L
ik
e
li
h
o
o
d
 

(p
ro
b
a
b
il
it
y
)

C
o
n
s
e
q
u
e
n
c
e
s
 

(s
e
v
e
ri
ty
)

R
e
s
id
u
a
l 

R
is
k
 

S
c
o
re

R
is
k
 O
w
n
e
r

A
c
ti
o
n
 D
e
s
c
ri
p
ti
o
n

A
c
ti
o
n
 O
w
n
e
r

T
a
rg
e
t 
/ 

R
e
v
ie
w
 D
a
te

A
c
ti
o
n
 L
o
g

R
is
k
 D
e
ta
il
s

A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
R
e
s
id
u
a
l 
R
is
k

C
R
3
8

S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s

F
a
ilu
re
 o
f 
In
te
g
ra
te
d
 

W
a
s
te
 M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

P
F
I 
e
it
h
e
r 
th
ro
u
g
h
 

te
rm

in
a
ti
o
n
 o
r 

b
e
c
a
u
s
e
 t
h
e
 c
o
n
tr
a
c
t 

fa
ils
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
e
re
 

a
re
 a
d
e
q
u
a
te
 

a
lt
e
rn
a
ti
v
e
s
 t
o
 l
a
n
d
 

fi
lli
n
g
 w
a
s
te
. 
 F
a
ilu
re
 

w
o
u
ld
 m
e
a
n
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
w
o
u
ld
 h
a
v
e
 

te
rm

in
a
ti
o
n
 c
o
s
ts
 t
o
 

p
a
y
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

w
o
u
ld
 b
e
 u
n
a
b
le
 t
o
 

m
e
e
t 
it
s
 d
iv
e
rs
io
n
 

ta
rg
e
ts
 e
x
p
o
s
in
g
 t
h
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
to
 t
h
e
 r
is
k
 o
f 

h
e
a
v
ily
 i
n
fl
a
te
d
 

la
n
d
fi
ll 
c
o
s
ts
 -
 

p
o
s
s
ib
ly
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 

£
1
0
0
 a
n
d
 £
2
0
0
 p
e
r 

to
n
n
e
. 
F
a
ilu
re
 o
f 
th
e
 

c
o
n
tr
a
c
t 
w
o
u
ld
 a
ls
o
 

le
a
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 l
o
s
s
 o
f 

P
F
I 
c
re
d
it
s
 a
t 
a
 l
e
v
e
l 

o
f 
£
1
.4
 m
ill
io
n
 p
e
r 

a
n
n
u
m
. 

2
4

8

A
n
 o
n
g
o
in
g
 c
o
m
m
it
m
e
n
t 
fr
o
m
 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 a
n
d
 W

o
rc
e
s
te
rs
h
ir
e
 

to
 r
e
ta
in
in
g
 t
h
e
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 c
o
n
tr
a
c
t 
is
 

b
e
in
g
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
. 
T
h
e
 c
o
u
n
c
ils
 a
re
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
in
g
 a
 r
e
v
is
e
d
 J
o
in
t 

M
u
n
ic
ip
a
l 
W
a
s
te
 M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
, 
w
h
ic
h
 i
s
 e
x
p
e
c
te
d
 t
o
 

d
e
liv
e
r 
a
n
 a
d
e
q
u
a
te
 s
o
lu
ti
o
n
 t
o
 

d
iv
e
rt
in
g
 w
a
s
te
 f
ro
m
 l
a
n
d
fi
ll,
 s
o
 

w
ill
 e
n
a
b
le
 t
h
e
 a
u
th
o
ri
ti
e
s
 t
o
 v
a
ry
 

th
e
 P
F
I 
c
o
n
tr
a
c
t 
to
 m
in
im
is
e
 t
h
e
 

ri
s
k
 o
f 
te
rm

in
a
ti
o
n
. 
 M
e
rc
ia
 W

a
s
te
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
a
re
 n
e
g
o
ti
a
ti
n
g
 a
 

c
o
n
tr
a
c
t 
to
 s
e
c
u
re
 c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 a
t 
a
n
 

e
n
e
rg
y
 f
ro
m
 w
a
s
te
 p
la
n
t 
to
 e
n
s
u
re
 

th
e
 t
w
o
 a
u
th
o
ri
ti
e
s
 m
e
e
t 
th
e
ir
 

d
iv
e
rs
io
n
 t
a
rg
e
ts
. 
 T
h
e
 c
o
n
tr
a
c
ts
 

a
re
 b
o
th
 "
o
u
t 
o
f 
C
o
u
n
ty
" 
a
n
d
 a
re
 

d
e
s
ig
n
e
d
 t
o
 d
e
liv
e
r 
th
e
 m
in
im
u
m
 

q
u
a
n
ti
ty
 o
f 
w
a
s
te
 t
o
 m
e
e
t 
o
u
r 

L
a
n
d
fi
ll 
A
llo
w
a
n
c
e
 T
ra
d
in
g
 

S
c
h
e
m
e
 t
a
rg
e
t 
a
n
d
 t
o
 m
in
im
is
e
 

th
e
 a
m
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
w
a
s
te
 b
e
in
g
 

tr
a
n
s
p
o
rt
e
d
 o
u
t 
o
f 
th
e
 c
o
u
n
ti
e
s
. 
In
 

a
d
d
it
io
n
, 
fu
rt
h
e
r 
w
o
rk
 i
s
 b
e
in
g
 

u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 t
o
 s
e
c
u
re
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 

d
iv
e
rs
io
n
 t
e
c
h
n
o
lo
g
y
 t
o
 s
e
c
u
re
 t
h
e
 

lo
n
g
e
r 
te
rm

 v
ia
b
ili
ty
 o
f 
th
e
 

c
o
n
tr
a
c
t.
  
T
h
e
 t
w
o
 c
o
u
n
c
ils
 a
re
 

p
la
n
n
in
g
 t
o
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
 a
 s
e
n
io
r 

p
ro
je
c
t 
b
o
a
rd
 t
o
 d
ri
v
e
 t
h
e
 

c
o
n
tr
a
c
t's
 d
e
liv
e
ry
. 

2
4

8

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 

&
 C
u
lt
u
re

F
u
ll 
e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il'
s
 

re
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
s
 o
n
 t
h
e
 P
ro
je
c
t 

B
o
a
rd
 t
o
 e
n
a
b
le
 i
t 
to
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
 i
ts
 

o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s

H
e
a
d
 o
f 
C
u
lt
u
re
 &
 

L
e
is
u
re

D
e
c
-0
8

C
R
3
9

S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

C
u
lt
u
re
 D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
 

s
p
e
n
d
in
g
 p
re
s
s
u
re
s
 

o
u
tw
e
ig
h
 t
h
e
 

re
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 

to
 m
e
e
t 
th
e
m
.

4
3

1
2

T
h
e
 f
o
re
c
a
s
t 
2
0
0
8
-0
9
 o
u
tt
u
rn
 f
o
r 

th
e
 D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
 i
s
 a
n
 o
v
e
rs
p
e
n
d
 o
f 

£
5
5
0
,0
0
0
, 
w
it
h
 a
 r
e
c
u
rr
e
n
t 

u
n
d
e
rl
y
in
g
 o
v
e
rs
p
e
n
d
 o
f 
£
1
m
+
.

T
h
e
 D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
 h
a
s
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 a
 

c
ro
s
s
-d
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 t
o
 

id
e
n
ti
fy
 b
o
th
 s
h
o
rt
 a
n
d
 l
o
n
g
e
r-
te
rm

 

o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 f
o
r 
e
ff
ic
ie
n
c
ie
s
 a
n
d
 

in
c
re
a
s
e
s
 i
n
 i
n
c
o
m
e
.

3
2

6

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 

&
 C
u
lt
u
re

D
e
v
e
lo
p
 a
 r
e
v
is
e
d
 b
u
d
g
e
t 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
p
la
n
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
.

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

O
c
t-
0
8

P
a
g
e
 6
 o
f 
8

66



A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 9

E
x
is
ti
n
g
 C
o
n
tr
o
ls

R
is
k
 

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 

N
u
m
b
e
r

C
o
u
n
c
il
 O
b
je
c
ti
v
e
Id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 R
is
k
 A
re
a

L
ik
e
li
h
o
o
d
 

(p
ro
b
a
b
il
it
y
)

P
o
te
n
ti
a
l 

C
o
n
s
e
q
u
e
n
c
e
s
 

(s
e
v
e
ri
ty
)

R
is
k
 

S
c
o
re

C
o
n
tr
o
ls
 i
n
 P
la
c
e

L
ik
e
li
h
o
o
d
 

(p
ro
b
a
b
il
it
y
)

C
o
n
s
e
q
u
e
n
c
e
s
 

(s
e
v
e
ri
ty
)

R
e
s
id
u
a
l 

R
is
k
 

S
c
o
re

R
is
k
 O
w
n
e
r

A
c
ti
o
n
 D
e
s
c
ri
p
ti
o
n

A
c
ti
o
n
 O
w
n
e
r

T
a
rg
e
t 
/ 

R
e
v
ie
w
 D
a
te

A
c
ti
o
n
 L
o
g

R
is
k
 D
e
ta
il
s

A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
R
e
s
id
u
a
l 
R
is
k

C
R
4
0

S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s

A
 "
n
o
rm

a
l"
 w
in
te
r 
 

d
u
ri
n
g
 2
0
0
8
/9
 w
o
u
ld
 

re
s
u
lt
 i
n
 a
n
 

o
v
e
rs
p
e
n
d
 o
f 

£
3
0
0
,0
0
0
 d
u
e
 t
o
 

h
is
to
ri
c
 u
n
d
e
r 

a
llo
c
a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 c
o
v
e
r 

c
o
s
ts
 o
f 
w
in
te
r 

m
a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e
. 
 A
 

s
e
v
e
re
 w
in
te
r 
w
o
u
ld
 

re
s
u
lt
 i
n
 e
v
e
n
 h
ig
h
e
r 

le
v
e
l 
o
f 
o
v
e
rs
p
e
n
d
.

4
3

1
2

T
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il'
s
 M
e
d
iu
m
 T
e
rm

 

F
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
S
tr
a
te
g
y
 h
ig
h
lig
h
ts
 t
h
e
 

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
t 
fo
r 
a
ll 
D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
 

b
u
d
g
e
ts
 t
o
 b
e
 m
a
n
a
g
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 

b
u
d
g
e
t.

R
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 f
o
r 

im
p
ro
v
e
d
 e
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y
 a
n
d
 c
o
s
t 

re
d
u
c
ti
o
n
s
 i
n
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 o
f 
w
in
te
r 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 t
o
 r
e
d
u
c
e
 a
n
y
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 

o
v
e
rs
p
e
n
d
. 
 R
is
k
 o
f 
o
v
e
rs
p
e
n
d
 t
o
 

b
e
 h
ig
h
lig
h
te
d
 c
o
rp
o
ra
te
ly
 t
o
 s
e
e
k
 

a
s
s
is
ta
n
c
e
 f
ro
m
 e
a
rm

a
rk
e
d
 

re
s
e
rv
e
s
 i
f 
w
e
a
th
e
r 
c
o
n
d
it
io
n
s
 

re
s
u
lt
 i
n
 t
h
e
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 o
v
e
rs
p
e
n
d
 i
n
 

th
is
 i
m
p
o
rt
a
n
t 
a
re
a
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
.

4
2

8

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 

&
 C
u
lt
u
re

R
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 f
o
r 

im
p
ro
v
e
d
 e
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y
 a
n
d
 c
o
s
t 

re
d
u
c
ti
o
n
s
 i
n
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 o
f 
w
in
te
r 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 t
o
 r
e
d
u
c
e
 a
n
y
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 

o
v
e
rs
p
e
n
d
. 
 R
is
k
 o
f 
o
v
e
rs
p
e
n
d
 t
o
 

b
e
 h
ig
h
lig
h
te
d
 c
o
rp
o
ra
te
ly
 t
o
 s
e
e
k
 

a
s
s
is
ta
n
c
e
 f
ro
m
 c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 

b
u
d
g
e
ts
 i
f 
w
e
a
th
e
r 
c
o
n
d
it
io
n
s
 

re
s
u
lt
 i
n
 t
h
e
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 o
v
e
rs
p
e
n
d
 i
n
 

th
is
 i
m
p
o
rt
a
n
t 
a
re
a
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
.

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
c
o
n
s
id
e
ra
ti
o
n
 w
ill
 b
e
 

g
iv
e
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 e
ff
e
c
ts
 o
f 
c
lim

a
te
 

c
h
a
n
g
e
 o
n
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 f
o
llo
w
in
g
 t
h
e
 

p
u
b
lic
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
C
lim

a
te
 

Im
p
a
c
t 
P
ro
fi
le
.

H
e
a
d
 o
f 
H
ig
h
w
a
y
s

J
a
n
-0
9

C
R
4
1

S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s

In
c
re
a
s
in
g
 f
re
q
u
e
n
c
y
 

o
f 
s
u
m
m
e
r 
fl
o
o
d
in
g
 

a
n
d
 a
d
v
e
rs
e
 w
e
a
th
e
r 

e
v
e
n
ts
. 
 T
h
is
 i
s
 

le
a
d
in
g
 t
o
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
d
 

a
n
d
 u
n
p
re
d
ic
ta
b
le
 

p
re
s
s
u
re
 o
n
 h
ig
h
w
a
y
 

m
a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e
 

b
u
d
g
e
ts
. 
 

3
3

9

E
m
e
rg
e
n
c
y
 P
la
n
s
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 t
o
 

e
n
s
u
re
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 a
n
d
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 

e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
ly
 r
e
s
p
o
n
d
s
 t
o
 e
v
e
n
ts
 a
s
 

th
e
y
 a
ri
s
e
. 
 B
e
lw
in
 f
u
n
d
in
g
 

p
ro
c
e
s
s
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 t
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 s
o
m
e
 

fu
n
d
in
g
 t
o
 r
e
s
p
o
n
d
 t
o
 s
e
v
e
re
 

e
v
e
n
ts
, 
a
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 t
h
re
s
h
o
ld
 f
u
n
d
in
g
 

m
u
s
t 
b
e
 m
e
t 
fr
o
m
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il'
s
 

o
w
n
 f
u
n
d
s

3
2

6

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 

&
 C
u
lt
u
re

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
c
o
n
s
id
e
ra
ti
o
n
 w
ill
 b
e
 

g
iv
e
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 e
ff
e
c
ts
 o
f 
c
lim

a
te
 

c
h
a
n
g
e
 o
n
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 f
o
llo
w
in
g
 t
h
e
 

p
u
b
lic
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
C
lim

a
te
 

Im
p
a
c
t 
P
ro
fi
le
.

H
e
a
d
 o
f 
H
ig
h
w
a
y
s

M
a
r-
0
9

C
R
4
2

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

E
n
te
rp
ri
s
e

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 d
o
w
n
tu
rn
 

a
ff
e
c
ts
 c
a
r 
p
a
rk
in
g
 

in
c
o
m
e
 d
u
e
 t
o
 d
ro
p
 

in
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
v
is
it
o
rs
 

re
s
u
lt
in
g
 i
n
 b
u
d
g
e
t 

s
h
o
rt
fa
ll 
in
 2
0
0
8
/0
9
 

o
f 
u
p
 t
o
 £
2
8
0
,0
0
0

4
3

1
2

C
h
a
rg
e
s
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
d
 i
n
 J
u
n
e
 2
0
0
8
 

w
ill
 h
e
lp
 t
o
 m
in
im
is
e
 s
h
o
rt
fa
ll 
in
 

in
c
o
m
e
 b
u
t 
e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 d
o
w
n
tu
rn
 i
s
 

s
ti
ll 
h
a
v
in
g
 a
 n
e
t 
e
ff
e
c
t.
  
C
o
s
ts
 w
ill
 

b
e
 m
a
n
a
g
e
d
 a
s
 f
a
r 
a
s
 p
o
s
s
ib
le
 

d
u
ri
n
g
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
y
e
a
r.

4
2

8

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 

&
 C
u
lt
u
re

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
in
c
re
a
s
e
s
 i
n
 c
h
a
rg
e
s
 a
n
d
 

th
e
 p
o
s
s
ib
le
 i
n
tr
o
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
o
n
-

s
tr
e
e
t 
p
a
rk
in
g
 c
h
a
rg
e
s
 w
ill
 b
e
 

c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 f
o
llo
w
in
g
 t
h
e
 S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
.

H
e
a
d
 o
f 
H
ig
h
w
a
y
s

M
a
r-
0
9

C
R
4
3

S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 

D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
 s
p
e
n
d
in
g
 

p
re
s
s
u
re
s
 o
u
tw
e
ig
h
 

th
e
 r
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 

a
v
a
ila
b
le
 t
o
 m
e
e
t 

th
e
m
.

4
4

1
6

T
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il'
s
 M
e
d
iu
m
 T
e
rm

 

F
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
S
tr
a
te
g
y
 h
ig
h
lig
h
ts
 t
h
e
 

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 f
o
r 
a
ll 
D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
 

b
u
d
g
e
ts
 t
o
 b
e
 m
a
n
a
g
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 

b
u
d
g
e
t.

W
o
rk
 i
s
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
in
g
, 
to
 u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
 

th
e
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
c
la
w
b
a
c
k
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

A
R
C
H
 (
A
c
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 i
n
 H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
) 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
. 

2
4

8
D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

A
 d
e
ta
ile
d
 r
e
c
o
v
e
ry
 p
la
n
 i
s
 b
e
in
g
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 f
o
r 
H
o
m
e
le
s
s
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
.

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

O
c
t-
0
8

C
R
 4
4

C
h
ild
re
n
 a
n
d
 

Y
o
u
n
g
 P
e
o
p
le

D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
 s
p
e
n
d
in
g
 

p
re
s
s
u
re
s
 o
u
tw
e
ig
h
 

th
e
 r
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 

a
v
a
ila
b
le
 t
o
 m
e
e
t 

th
e
m
.

4
4

1
6

T
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il'
s
 M
e
d
iu
m
 T
e
rm

 

F
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
S
tr
a
te
g
y
 h
ig
h
lig
h
ts
 t
h
e
 

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 f
o
r 
a
ll 
D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
 

b
u
d
g
e
ts
 t
o
 b
e
 m
a
n
a
g
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 

b
u
d
g
e
t.
 

2
4

8

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 

C
h
ild
re
n
's
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s

A
 b
u
d
g
e
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
p
la
n
 t
o
 

id
e
n
ti
fy
 s
a
v
in
g
s
 f
o
r 
C
h
ild
re
n
 a
n
d
 

Y
o
u
n
g
 P
e
o
p
le
 i
s
 b
e
in
g
 t
a
k
e
n
 

fo
rw
a
rd
.

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
C
h
ild
re
n
's
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s

O
c
t-
0
8

P
a
g
e
 7
 o
f 
8

67



A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 9

E
x
is
ti
n
g
 C
o
n
tr
o
ls

R
is
k
 

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 

N
u
m
b
e
r

C
o
u
n
c
il
 O
b
je
c
ti
v
e
Id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 R
is
k
 A
re
a

L
ik
e
li
h
o
o
d
 

(p
ro
b
a
b
il
it
y
)

P
o
te
n
ti
a
l 

C
o
n
s
e
q
u
e
n
c
e
s
 

(s
e
v
e
ri
ty
)

R
is
k
 

S
c
o
re

C
o
n
tr
o
ls
 i
n
 P
la
c
e

L
ik
e
li
h
o
o
d
 

(p
ro
b
a
b
il
it
y
)

C
o
n
s
e
q
u
e
n
c
e
s
 

(s
e
v
e
ri
ty
)

R
e
s
id
u
a
l 

R
is
k
 

S
c
o
re

R
is
k
 O
w
n
e
r

A
c
ti
o
n
 D
e
s
c
ri
p
ti
o
n

A
c
ti
o
n
 O
w
n
e
r

T
a
rg
e
t 
/ 

R
e
v
ie
w
 D
a
te

A
c
ti
o
n
 L
o
g

R
is
k
 D
e
ta
il
s

A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
R
e
s
id
u
a
l 
R
is
k

C
R
4
5

O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
&
 

g
re
a
te
r 
e
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y

H
u
m
a
n
 R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 -
 

a
n
 i
n
a
b
ili
ty
 t
o
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
 r
o
b
u
s
t 
a
n
d
 

fi
t 
fo
r 
p
u
rp
o
s
e
 d
a
ta
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

s
tr
o
n
g
 t
ra
n
s
a
c
ti
o
n
a
l 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 t
o
 

D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
s
, 
w
h
ic
h
 

w
ill
 e
n
a
b
le
 a
n
d
 

in
fo
rm

 s
o
u
n
d
 

d
e
c
is
io
n
 m
a
k
in
g
 a
n
d
 

p
la
n
n
in
g
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il.

3
5

1
5

N
o
n
e

2
5

1
0

H
e
a
d
 o
f 

H
u
m
a
n
 

R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s

N
e
w
 s
y
s
te
m
 i
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 o
f 

b
e
in
g
 e
v
a
lu
a
te
d
 a
n
d
 p
u
rc
h
a
s
e
d
 

s
u
b
je
c
t 
to
 C
a
b
in
e
t 
a
p
p
ro
v
a
l.

H
e
a
d
 o
f 
H
u
m
a
n
 

R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s

D
e
c
-0
8

C
R
4
6

O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
&
 

g
re
a
te
r 
e
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y

P
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
fa
ilu
re
 t
o
 

p
ro
v
id
e
 a
 r
o
b
u
s
t 

c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 w
o
rk
fo
rc
e
 

p
la
n
 w
ill
 l
e
a
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

ri
s
k
 t
h
a
t 
w
e
 f
a
il 
to
 

m
a
x
im
is
e
 o
u
r 

o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 i
n
 

re
la
ti
o
n
 t
o
 

re
c
ru
it
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

re
te
n
ti
o
n
, 
a
s
 w
e
ll 
a
s
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
in
g
 a
n
d
 

m
e
e
ti
n
g
 o
u
r 
k
e
y
 

fu
tu
re
 p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 i
n
 

re
la
ti
o
n
 t
o
 l
e
a
rn
in
g
 

a
n
d
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t.

2
3

6
N
o
n
e

2
3

6

H
e
a
d
 o
f 

H
u
m
a
n
 

R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s

A
 c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 f
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 a
n
d
 p
la
n
 

a
re
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 i
n
 t
h
e
 e
a
rl
y
 s
ta
g
e
s
 

o
f 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t

H
e
a
d
 o
f 
H
u
m
a
n
 

R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s

D
e
c
-0
8

C
R
4
7

H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 W

e
ll-

B
e
in
g
 /
 A
d
u
lt
 

S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re

A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
 -
 

£
3
0
0
k
 p
ro
je
c
te
d
 

o
v
e
rs
p
e
n
d
 t
o
 b
e
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
d
. 
 T
h
is
 

c
o
u
ld
 b
e
 g
re
a
te
r 

d
e
p
e
n
d
in
g
 o
n
 t
h
e
 

b
a
la
n
c
e
 o
f 
c
a
re
 

fa
lli
n
g
 o
n
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il 

(i
n
 t
h
e
 c
a
s
e
 o
f 
s
o
c
ia
l 

c
a
re
) 
o
r 
o
n
 t
h
e
 P
C
T
 

(i
n
 t
h
e
 c
a
s
e
 o
f 

c
o
n
ti
n
u
in
g
 h
e
a
lt
h
 

c
a
re
).

3
3

9

T
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il'
s
 M
e
d
iu
m
 T
e
rm

 

F
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
S
tr
a
te
g
y
 h
ig
h
lig
h
ts
 t
h
e
 

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 f
o
r 
a
ll 
D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
 

b
u
d
g
e
ts
 t
o
 b
e
 m
a
n
a
g
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 

b
u
d
g
e
t.
 

2
3

6

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 

A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 

C
a
re

B
u
d
g
e
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
p
la
n
.

J
o
in
t 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
in
d
iv
id
u
a
l 

c
a
s
e
s
 w
it
h
 P
C
T
.

H
e
a
d
 o
f 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 a
n
d
 

S
a
fe
g
u
a
rd
in
g

O
c
t-
0
8

P
a
g
e
 8
 o
f 
8

68



APPENDIX 10 
CROOKALL REVIEW 

To provide members with assurance that work on the issues identified in the action plans 
arising from the Special Report by the Director of Resources and the subsequent 
Independent Review of Herefordshire Council’s ICT Financial and Contractual 
Governance Arrangements (Crookall Review), is being progressed Cabinet agreed at its 
meeting on 27th March 2008 that progress be monitored within the overall performance 
and risk reporting framework provided by the Integrated Performance Report (IPR).  
 
The updated action plans are attached below. Those actions previously reported as 
completed have been removed to avoid unnecessary repetition. Of the 34 remaining 
actions none have been assessed as ‘red light’, and a further 14 have now been 
completed.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

69



APPENDIX 10 
CROOKALL REVIEW 

Crookall Review Action Plan 

 Action Lead Progress 

2. Member Development Policy Group be asked to give 
consideration to the suggested actions in respect of 
member training, support and development, and bring 
forward an action plan to Cabinet. 

Chief 
Executive/ACE 
(L&D)  

The Leadership Centre for Local Government is 
providing facilitation for this work, linked with the overall 
organisational development programme. An initial 
diagnostic has been undertaken, and a programme in 
response to the issues identified is now being 
developed. There will be elements of joint activity with 
the PCT Non Executive Directors to support a shared 
understanding of the priorities and opportunities for 
improved outcomes across both organisations.  
A survey of all members regarding satisfaction with 
member support was undertaken during April and 
elicited a response rate of just below 28%. The 
responses from the survey, which were largely positive, 
together with improvement actions, were considered by 
the Member Development Policy Group at its meeting in 
June.  Dedicated PA support for Cabinet Members is 
being established. 

3. Consideration be given to the suggested actions in 
respect of: 

• The structure for management and effective 
deployment of the key corporate resources. 

• The development and team building of the senior 
management teams of the council. 

Chief 
Executive/ACE(HR) 

The unified senior management structure is in place 
with the following outstanding: 

• Deputy Chief Executive  recruitment process 
underway; interviews scheduled for early October 

• No appointment was made at recently held 
interviews for the Director of Clinical Leadership 
and Quality Assurance: options regarding search, 
secondments and other approaches are currently 
being investigated 

 
Team development is being lead by the Office for Public 
Management (OPM) and work will need to be aligned 
with the leadership and team development processes 
defined as part of the implementation of the World 
Class Commissioning agenda. In turn this work is being 
linked to the Member Development initiative with a 
proposal to provide a joint session between OPM and 
the Leadership Centre. 

7
0



APPENDIX 10 
CROOKALL REVIEW 

 Action Lead Progress 

4 Consideration be given to how best to re-establish trust 
and confidence between members and officers, and 
between officers and officers, based on an approach 
which encourages appropriate challenge, resolves 
issues with a way forward that is supported by all, and 
creates the discipline to follow through and abide by 
decisions taken. 
 

Chief Executive  To be progressed through organisational development 
and member development work mentioned above, 
ensuring both dovetail throughout the respective 
processes. 

5 Consideration be given to the suggested actions in 
respect of: 
(a) The need for additional specialist audit ICT 

resource 
(b) Proposals for strengthening the strategic 

procurement function 
(c) Proposals for appropriate financing models for 

corporate services 
 and bring forward an action plan to CMB. 
 

DoR(HC) (a) Restructuring proposals for Audit Services have 
been agreed; the first stage of implementation is 
complete with staff at risk interviewed and 
confirmed in posts in line with the council’s change 
management policy. The remaining vacancies were 
externally advertised in July 2008; interviews are 
scheduled for early September. 

(b) The West Midlands Centre of Excellence has 
started to review the council and PCT’s 
procurement arrangements. Results of this review 
are expected in September 2008. The council’s 
procurement strategy has been reviewed and 
considered by SMC and was approved by Cabinet 
in July. 

(c) In early June 2008, the Chief Executive initiated a 
Shared Services Strategic Review. Integrated 
Shared Support Services is confirmed as one of the 
key strategic service improvement programmes 
with a board consisting of the Interim Deputy Chief 
Executive, Director of Resources (Council), 
Director of Resources (PCT) and Interim Head of 
HR.  The board is being supported by the 
Corporate Programmes Manager and is due to 
finalise a Project Initiation Document for discussion 
and agreement by early September.  The shared 
service review will encompass consideration of 
appropriate funding models for each corporate 
support service. 

7
1



APPENDIX 10 
CROOKALL REVIEW 

 Action Lead Progress 

6 The relevant professional officers (Monitoring Officer, 
Section 151 Officer, Interim Head of Human Resources) 
be asked to lead reviews of the Council’s procedures 
and protocols, and the corporate rules, standards and 
processes to ensure they are fit for purpose, 
proportionate and workable. Review programmes to be 
reported to CMB. 
 

Chief Executive  • A policy approval procedure has been approved to 
support consistency in policy and procedure 
development, communication and embedding.  

• With the support of a project manager, lead officers 
are progressing review programmes, prioritised in 
relation to risk, which are being implemented over a 
12 month period. A number of new policies have 
been developed with trades union colleagues across 
the Council and PCT. Documents now coming 
forward in draft to JMT include: 

• Close personal relationships (see also point 11) 

• Protocols for the establishment of integrated 
teams 

• Managing change policies 

• A more comprehensive approach for the 
management of CRB checks and associated 
safeguarding approvals/checks 

The revised Travel and Subsistence policy was 
consulted on during July and will be brought to 
JMT for approval in September. 

The new policy re processes for the engagement and 
payment of external contractors i.e. interims is being 
finalised prior to consultation in September. 

7 Consideration be given to the suggested actions in 
respect of refreshing and embedding an effective 
performance management culture, and an action plan 
brought forward to CMB. 
 

ACE(HR) Work with OPM (Office for Public Management) is now 
underway following a diagnostic phase with JMT, senior 
managers and the change management and 
communications working group which reports to the 
HPS Steering Group 
A framework for organisational development (OD) 
activity has now been drafted incorporating aspects of 
leadership and manager development with an emphasis 
on: 

• Identifying a baseline from which progress is 
measured 

7
2



APPENDIX 10 
CROOKALL REVIEW 

 Action Lead Progress 

• Getting PCT and Council staff involved in 
delivery, learning new skills and building up 
expertise 

 
At same time work is underway on the development of 
an HR strategy encompassing OD and performance 
targets and measures which will be aligned to new work 
on the development of a corporate Workforce Plan. 
These and other aspects must be embedded in the 
organisation so as to influence and change the culture 
of the partnership. 

10 Consideration be given to the suggested action in 
respect of establishing value for money in relation to the 
community network, and an action plan taken to CMB. 
(NB Action to progress a value for money study, to be 
undertaken by SOCITM, has now been agreed with the 
Director of Resources) 
 

Interim Head of 
ITCS 

Completed. The value for money and benchmarking 
study undertaken by SOCITM, found overall that: 

• The contract is comparable to others 

• There is no evidence that it is overpriced 

• It has delivered what it set out to 

• The unit costs in 2006/07 are lower cost than 
some others and close to the median. 

The Audit Commission had no comment to make in 
respect of the review undertaken by SOCITM.  
The current contract expires in 2010 and, taking 
account of the recommendations made by SOCITM, 
JMT have agreed a process, supported by internal 
audit, for reviewing the scope and requirements to form 
the basis of the future community network tendering 
process and development of an exit strategy for the 
existing contract should that prove necessary. A report 
will be brought to cabinet at the appropriate stage in the 
tendering process. 

11 Clear guidelines be established and embedded in 
respect of close personal line management 
relationships. 
 

ACE (HR) See 6 above 

12 Consideration be given to the suggested actions in 
relation to officer training and development needs, and 

ACE (HR) Requirements are being considered within the 
organisational development process. Training and 

7
3



APPENDIX 10 
CROOKALL REVIEW 

 Action Lead Progress 

an action plan be brought to CMB. 
 

awareness specifically in relation to policies is now built 
into the new policy approval process. 

13 A programme of awareness-raising and training across 
the council be implemented to ensure the 
Whistleblowing Policy is clearly understood, accessible 
and implemented consistently throughout the 
organisation. 

ACE (L&D) Completed 

• Further print run of leaflets undertaken. 

• Officer seminar/briefing has taken place  

• Future reviews/promotion will be carried out in line 
with the new policy approval process. 

 
 

7
4



APPENDIX 10 
CROOKALL REVIEW 

Special Report Action Plan 

 Issue to address Agreed corporate 
response 

Responsible 
officer(s) 

Revised 
date 

Progress 

1 Regular review on the 
progress implementing this 
corporate response. 

CMB to monitor on a 
monthly basis and report 
to Cabinet.  Report to 
each Audit & Corporate 
Governance Committee 
meeting. 

CMB 
DoR 

Ongoing. Completed. 
Future progress reporting aligned with response 
to Crookall review within ICPR. 

2 Ensure the corporate 
response to the travel and 
expenses audit review is 
implemented effectively 
and to timescale. 

CMB to consolidate the 
corporate responses to 
the travel and 
subsistence review and 
the corporate response 
to this report into one 
action plan. 

DoR 
MO 

September 
08 

See Travel & Subsistence review action plan 
below. Remaining actions relating to approval of 
a revised policy scheduled for consideration by 
JMT in September. 

3 Establish the cost of 
existing ICT and Customer 
Services operations and 
future investment needs to 
be urgently concluded to 
inform the Performance 
Improvement Cycle. 

Director of C&CS to lead 
with support from 
Financial Services. 

DC&CS 
HoFS 

 Completed. 
A close working relationship between 
Information, Technology & Customer Services 
and Financial Services has been established and 
embedded. The outturn for 2007/08 was in line 
with that reported to Cabinet in the bi-monthly 
IPFR. 
There was an overspend of £1.1m relating to the 
Council’s contribution to the Community Network 
Upgrade project. 

4 Establish permanent 
managerial arrangements 
for ICT and Customer 
Services. 

CMB to discuss and 
agree proposals from 
DC&CS. 

DC&CS 
CMB 

Subject to 
substantive 
DCE 
appointme
nt 

Interim managerial arrangements have been in 
place since April 2007. Permanent managerial 
arrangements will be established as part of the 
revised senior management structure. 

7
5



APPENDIX 10 
CROOKALL REVIEW 

5 Review approach to and 
arrangements for the 
delivery of project 
management services.  All 
post implementation 
reviews must include a 
technical and financial 
appraisal. 

CMB to discuss and 
agree proposals from 
DC&CS. 

DC&CS 
CMB 

 Completed. 
Permanent managerial arrangements have been 
established as part of the revised senior 
management structure. 

9 Improve the quality of 
working papers/files 
recording business 
activity. 

Guidance on the 
standards of record 
keeping needs to be 
devised. 

Information 
Manager 
Democratic 
Services 
Manager 
CIA 

April 2009 Work is being undertaken by DCE and ACE 
(L&D) across the council & PCT re governance 
and reporting arrangement including quality of 
reports presented.  
Aligned to this, standards are being developed 
linked to the Data Quality Policy and information 
management requirements, for the maintenance 
of efficient and effective records. 

10 Improve standards of 
internal control for 
fundamental systems. 

Minimum acceptable 
standard is satisfactory – 
this is a non-negotiable. 

CMB 
HoHR 
CIA 

 Completed. 
The Audit Services Assurance Report for 
2007/08 shows that 16 out of 17 fundamental 
systems achieved the minimum standard. The 
system that did not was the payroll system within 
Children’s Services; this team has since been 
realigned to join the non-education payroll team 
within the Resources Directorate which meets 
the required standard. 

11 Improving financial 
governance in ICT and 
Customer Services. 

DC&CS to implement 
agreed action plans for 
the FMS system in ICT, 
travel and expenses and 
use of contractors audit 
reviews. 

DC&CS 
DoR 

October 
2008 

Actions have been completed to time. Internal 
Audit were scheduled to complete an ‘Audit of 
Audits’ during the first quarter of 2008/09; this 
has now been rescheduled to the second 
quarter. 

12 Complete work in progress 
on internal recharging 
mechanisms to the agreed 
timetable. 

Actions identified and 
agreed in a report to 
CMB on 16th August 
from the SMT SLA 
working group. 

Anne Heath, 
Chair of SMT 
SLA Working 
Group, 
reporting to 
CMB. 

 Completed. An internal recharging mechanism 
for ICT services has been agreed and revised 
SLA’s distributed. 

7
6



APPENDIX 10 
CROOKALL REVIEW 

15 Promote compliance with 
corporate financial 
governance arrangements 
by reviewing management 
practices and 
accountabilities. 

Make compliance with 
corporate financial 
arrangements a non-
negotiable.  CMB to carry 
out immediate checks on 
contracting 
arrangements and 
authorised signatory lists. 

CMB 
HoHR 

 Completed. 
Authorisation limits have been reviewed across 
the Council (including schools) by Financial 
Services in line with the Financial and 
Contractual Procedure Regulations agreed by 
Council in March 2008. 

16 Enhance Key Manager’s 
financial skills and 
knowledge of the Council’s 
approved corporate 
governance framework, 
ensuring the message is 
constantly reinforced 
through effective training. 

Make attendance on 
training courses a pre-
requisite to getting a 
“licence to practise” as a 
manager. Attendance at 
refresher training 
courses will also be 
mandatory. 

HoHR 
HoFS 
MO 
CIA 

2009/10 Financial Management training (including 
procurement) has been revised to incorporate the 
new Financial and Contractual Procedure 
Regulations. The first three session programme 
was held in April 2008 with further programmes 
scheduled in July and September.  
A leadership framework is being developed as 
part of the organisational development work 
facilitated by OPM. During 2009/10 this will be 
further developed to include the identification of 
key skills for managers, and mandatory training 
requirements.  
Member training is also diarised through to 2009. 

17 Ensure all capital and 
revenue budget proposals 
are identified through 
agreed service and 
financial planning 
processes. 

Ensure in-year budget 
proposals are only 
brought forward in 
exceptional 
circumstances. 

CMB  Completed. 
Budget 08/09 and MTFMS 2008/11 in place 
including capital budget. 

18 Enhance Audit Services’ 
capacity. 

CMB to agree restructure 
proposals identified 
during the PIC process 
costing £45k.  This can 
be met from the existing 
base budget for the 
Resources Directorate. 

CMB 
DoR 

October 
2008 

Restructuring proposals for Audit Services have 
been agreed. The first stage of implementation is 
complete with staff at risk interviewed and 
confirmed in new posts in line with the council’s 
Change Management Policy. The remaining 
vacancies were externally advertised in July 
2008 with interviews scheduled for early 
September. 

7
7



APPENDIX 10 
CROOKALL REVIEW 

19 Enhance strategic 
procurement capacity to 
ensure compliance with 
the Council’s contracting 
policies and procedures. 

CMB to agree additional 
resources to centralise 
monitoring of contract 
procedures within 
Resources.  This can be 
met from the existing 
base budget for the 
Resources Directorate. 

CMB 
DoR 

December 
2008 

The West Midlands Centre for Excellence has 
started to review the council and PCT 
procurement arrangements. Results of this 
review are expected in September 2008 and will 
be reported for decision, if necessary, through 
the respective governance arrangements. The 
Council’s Procurement Strategy has been 
revised as reported to Cabinet in July. 

20 Check that issues 
highlighted in ICT and 
Customer Services are not 
repeated elsewhere. 

CMB needs to be 
prepared to respond 
quickly to Audit Services. 

CMB  Completed. 
The Audit Services Assurance Report 2007/08 
and Annual Governance Statement 2007/08 
provide additional evidence of improved internal 
control arrangements and compliance. 

21 Ensure budget is in place 
before committing 
expenditure. 

CMB to reinforce the 
message that Key 
Managers need to work 
closely with Financial 
Services colleagues to 
ensure all appropriate 
permissions to spend are 
in place before letting a 
contract. 

All  Completed. 
Extensive financial management training is taking 
place. Service managers are involving financial 
and procurement services much more closely in 
their activities than has previously been the 
experience. This suggests that the message that 
all managers are accountable for managing their 
service responsibilities within the approved 
budget is embedding. 

 

7
8



APPENDIX 10 
CROOKALL REVIEW 

Travel & Subsistence Action Plan 

 Agreed action Responsible 
officer(s) 

Revised 
target 
date 

Progress 

1 Review the Code of Conduct 
for Employees to ensure the 
Council’s expectations on 
the required standard of 
conduct on giving hospitality 
are clear. 

Head of HR  Completed. 
Revised Code of Conduct was reported to Council at its meeting on 
25th July 08.  

2 Review the Code of Conduct 
for Employees to ensure the 
Council’s expectations on 
the required standard of 
behaviour in relation to 
consumption of alcohol 
during office hours and 
whilst representing the 
Council after office hours is 
clear. 

Head of HR  As above 

3 Review the Code of Conduct 
for Employees to ensure the 
Council’s expectations on 
the standard of behaviour 
regarding working under the 
influence of alcohol is clear. 

Head of HR  As above 

7
9



APPENDIX 10 
CROOKALL REVIEW 

4 Revise guidance on 
travelling claims to require 
separate confirmation by 
attaching a signed 
memorandum that the line 
manager certifies overnight 
stays within the Council’s 
area. 

Payroll to reject all claims for 
overnight stays in the 
Council’s areas that are not 
accompanied by separate 
written authorisation by 
Head of Service and 
Director. 

Head of HR Sept 
2008 

The revised Travel and Subsistence Policy will be considered for 
approval by JMT in September; in the meantime staff have been 
reminded of the requirements for travel and subsistence claims, and 
payments staff are rejecting any non-compliant claims 

6 Revise guidance on 
travelling claims to require 
monthly submission of travel 
and expenses claims within 
a month of the period they 
relate to. 

Payroll to reject claims that 
are received after the 
deadline indicated in the 
Councils’ Travel & 
Subsistence Policy. 

Head of HR Sept 
2008 

The revised Travel and Subsistence Policy will be considered for 
approval by JMT in September; in the meantime staff have been 
reminded of the requirements for travel and subsistence claims, and 
payments staff are rejecting any non-compliant claims 
 
 
All staff have been advised accordingly. 

8
0



APPENDIX 10 
CROOKALL REVIEW 

7 Payroll to reject claims that 
are incomplete and in 
contravention of the 
Council’s policies unless all 
exceptions are individually 
certified by the relevant 
Head of Service and Director 
in writing. 
 
Travel & Subsistence Claim 
Form to be reviewed to 
ensure the disclaimer the 
claimant and authorising 
officer make on signing the 
form is clear that failure to 
comply with the Council’s 
policies on travel & 
subsistence could lead to 
disciplinary action. 

Head of HR 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Head of 
Benefit & 
Exchequer 
Services 

Sept 
2008 

The revised Travel and Subsistence Policy will be considered for 
approval by JMT in September; in the meantime staff have been 
reminded of the requirements for travel and subsistence claims, and 
payments staff are rejecting any non-compliant claims. 
 
 
 
 
 
The Head of Benefit& Exchequer Services has reviewed the 
declaration both claimant and authorising officer are required to make 
on the travel and subsistence claim form.  No changes were deemed 
necessary. 

10 Travel & Subsistence policy 
to be revised to so that all 
overseas trips are authorised 
at Director level. 

Head of HR. Sept 
2008 

Council agreed on 2nd November 2007 to adopt the Audit & Corporate 
Governance Committee’s recommendation that ‘all overseas trips be 
authorised in advance and are cash limited and that the appropriate 
Cabinet Member be informed’. 

The revised Travel and Subsistence Policy will be considered for 
approval by JMT in September; in the meantime staff have been 
reminded of the requirements for travel and subsistence claims, and 
payments staff are rejecting any non-compliant claims 

11 Contractors should support 
charges for travel and 
subsistence included in their 
invoices with a completed 
travel and subsistence claim 
form where the contract 
allows for reimbursement of 
costs as incurred. 

Head of HR 
advice to Key 
Managers. 

Sept 
2008 

The revised Travel and Subsistence Policy will be considered for 
approval by JMT in September; in the meantime staff have been 
reminded of the requirements for travel and subsistence claims, and 
payments staff are rejecting any non-compliant claims. Additional 
guidance in relation to contractors will be included. 

 

8
1



82



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE 20 OCTOBER 2008 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
Steve martin, Corporate Policy and Research Manager on 01432 261877 

 

 

Smciprjuly07 

 COMPREHENSIVE AREA ASSESSMENT – JOINT 
INSPECTORATE PROPOSALS AND THE 
IMPLICATIONS FOR HEREFORDSHIRE’S 
PREPARATIONS 

Report By: Corporate Policy and Research Manager 

 

Wards Affected 

 County-wide 

Purpose 

1. To note the detailed proposals for the new system of Comprehensive Area 
Assessment and how Cabinet has agreed Herefordshire’s preparations are to be 
taken forward. 

Background 

2. The report to Cabinet on 2 October 2008 is attached together with supporting 
appendices.  Cabinet agreed the recommendations as printed. 

RECOMMENDATION 

THAT the report be noted, subject to any comments the Committee 
wishes to make 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

• None identified 

AGENDA ITEM 6

83



84



 

 
Further information on the subject of this report is available from Steve Martin,  

Corporate Policy and Research Manager, on 01432 261877 

 

COMPREHENSIVE AREA ASSESSMENT – JOINT INSPECTORATE 
PROPOSALS AND THE IMPLICATIONS FOR HEREFORDSHIRE’S 

PREPARATIONS 

PORTFOLIO RESPONSIBILITY: CORPORATE AND CUSTOMER SERVICES 
AND HUMAN RESOURCES 

 
CABINET 2 OCTOBER 2008 

 
 

Wards Affected 

County-wide  

Purpose 

To inform Cabinet of the detailed proposals for the new system of Comprehensive Area 
Assessment (CAA) and seek agreement to how Herefordshire’s preparations should be 
taken forward. 

Key Decision  

This is not a Key Decision.  

Recommendations 

THAT:   

(i) the development and re-launching of the CAA preparation 
programme so that all energies are focused on the delivery of  the 
improvement programmes of the Council with the PCT and the 
wider Herefordshire Partnership, tested against the proposed 
CAA key questions and lines of enquiry be agreed; 

(ii) this be buttressed by a rolling programme of self-evaluations 
against the key questions for the area assessment and the key 
lines of enquiry for the Council’s organisational assessment, 
updated quarterly, the first cut of which to be produced by 
November and finalised before the end of December; 

(iii) the Council’s response to the inspectorates’ proposals be 
developed and submitted within the County Councils’ Network; 
and 

(iv) the final report on the out-going CAA preparation programme be 
noted. 

85



 2

Reasons 

The Council and its partners must be well-prepared for the new system of CAA.   

Considerations 

1. The joint inspectorates consulted over the winter months on their initial and 
outline proposals for CAA. In the light of responses, they published revised and 
detailed proposals at the end of July.  The full July consultation document is at 
Appendix 1. There is a short summary at Appendix 2.  The consultation runs 
until 20 October.  

2. The arrangements will be confirmed early in 2009 and in operation from 1 April, 
with the first published assessments in November of that year. 

3. The revised proposals respond to the spirit, and a good deal of the letter, of local 
authorities’ and others’ responses to the initial consultation. In particular: 

- simplifying the arrangements so that that there will be just two, 
complementary forms of assessment – area assessment and 
organisational assessment - rather than four (see figures 1 and 2 
on page 11 of Appendix 1);  

- the organisational assessment of the Council will comprise two 
elements: managing performance and the use of resources 
(similar use of resources assessments will be carried out on the 
PCT and some other key public service partners); 

- having a shared evidence base for the area assessment and the 
organisational assessment; 

- using the National Indicator Set (NIS) as a key source of 
evidence, but far from the only one, for both the area and 
organisational assessments, and publishing performance against 
the 198 indicators without a separate narrative report;   

- no longer referring to the area assessments as “risk 
assessments”, in view of the negative connotations and the risk 
that local partnerships could be unwilling to set challenging 
targets; and 

- promising a proportionate approach, once the baseline 
assessments are in place under the new system, by concentrating 
in subsequent years on what has changed.  

4. Potentially controversial areas that remain less clear (and are likely to remain so 
until the new system is in operation) include: 

- acknowledging that the LAA and its delivery is the starting point for 
the assessments, but also making it clear that the inspectorates 
will assess whether it really does address the most important 

86



 3

challenges for the area; and also looking beyond the LAA in 
assessing whether the needs and aspirations of disadvantaged 
and vulnerable people are being addressed adequately; 

- the tension between political choices and “objective” means to 
determine priorities; and 

- the basis for undertaking inspections (the document confirms that 
the only currently planned regular inspections, perhaps every three 
years, will be in respect of children in care and young offenders, 
but with only very general criteria as to when others could be 
launched, essentially leaving this at the discretion of the 
inspectorates’ and Ministers).     

5. Having said all this, the basic thrust of the proposals hasn’t changed.  Thus the 
key remains the operation of a planning and performance management cycle in 
which the Council, the PCT and their partners: 

- understand the needs of the area and the diverse communities, 
businesses and groups within it; 

- engage with those communities, businesses and groups to 
understand their aspirations; 

- evaluate the effectiveness and efficiency of existing services and 
interventions in the light of these needs and aspirations;  

- commission value for money services and interventions to ensure 
that they meet prioritised needs and aspirations; 

- secure the desired outcomes for people and communities in terms 
of better life-chances and quality of life; and 

- do all of this with particular regard to meeting the needs and 
aspirations of disadvantaged and vulnerable groups and 
individuals. 

6. Unless we begin to take action now to have available more up-to-date 
information, most of the baseline for the first year of CAA, which will operate from 
April 2009, will be provided by the judgements made about us in the current, final 
year of CPA (in respect of which most of the performance data relates to 2007-
08).  The proposals say that the inspectorates will expect to draw on additional 
evidence quarterly. 

7. Success under CAA will depend on high quality self-evaluations for both the area 
assessment and the Council’s organisational assessment, as well as on decisive 
action to address the weaknesses they expose. Whatever the inspectorates’ 
requirements, the discipline of quarterly updating will be valuable to us in its own 
right. Rather than as something separate and driven by CAA, we should embrace 
it as the core of performance management and reporting for the Council, public 
service arrangements with the PCT and the Herefordshire Partnership.  

87



 4

8. For the first time, we now have a fairly precise description of what the 
requirements will be for the two forms of assessment. Although details may 
change in the light of the consultation and the action learning in ten pilot areas, 
the underlying substance is unlikely to alter. Moreover, we can’t afford to wait 
until early 2009 when the detailed arrangements are finally confirmed. The 
present CAA preparation programme was put in place before we had the 
proposed key questions for the area assessment (pages 42-44 of Appendix 1) 
and the key lines of enquiry for the organisational assessment (pages 45-49 of 
Appendix 1). Proceeding on the basis of the present preparation programme 
would meet only part of these proposed tests and distract us from the single-
minded focus on performance improvement that is required. 

9. Our intention is to have, by early November, a first cut of the fuller self-
evaluations (i.e. in respect of the area assessment and the Council organisational 
assessment) proposed in paragraph 8 above. These would be finalised before 
the end of the year and, thereafter, maintained and updated quarterly. 

10. Progress in implementing the out-going CAA preparation programme is at 
Appendix 3. There are no red-flagged actions, although a number are flagged 
amber because they have yet to be completed. These will be taken into account 
in the proposed self-evaluations and associated improvement planning. 

11. We are continuing and intensifying the programme of CAA preparation seminars 
for members, non-executives and officers of the Council, the PCT and partner 
organisations. The immediate objective has to be to ensure that all with a part to 
play understand the proposed requirements. But, even more important, we need 
to ensure that they will be able to contribute effectively to meeting those 
requirements.  This latter depends not on the precise processes of CAA but on 
the delivery of sustainable improvements, based on a sound understanding of 
community needs and aspirations. 

12. Most of the time at the seminars is therefore to be devoted to presentations, by 
managers of the Council, the PCT and other partner organisations, about how 
they are addressing these matters, and to discussion and shared learning. This 
will complement and reinforce the rolling programme of self-evaluations proposed 
above. The seminar programme is at Appendix 4. 

13. The seminars are only one element of a much wider process of working across 
the Council and with partner organisations to ensure that we secure the 
necessary understanding, improvements to services and outcomes and the 
evidence to prove what we have achieved. 

14. It is proposed that we should develop our response to the proposals within the 
County Councils Network. This proved effective in responding to the initial 
proposals.  We couldn’t expect to have same clout responding from 
Herefordshire alone. 

Risk Management 

The risks are that we will be ill-prepared for CAA, that our record of sustainable 
improvement will not be all that it needs to be, and that the Council’s and partners’ 

88



 5

reputations will suffer when we are judged publicly.  The proposals in this paper are 
designed to enable us to manage these risks successfully. 

Alternative Options 

Not applicable. 

Consultees 

These proposals have been considered by the Joint Management Team, which 
commends them.  They will be considered by the Herefordshire Partnership Chief 
Executive Group on 26 September. 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 – Comprehensive Area Assessment: Joint Inspectorate Proposals for 
Consultation – Summer 2008 

Appendix 2 – Summary of the proposals 

Appendix 3 – Progress in implementing the out-going CAA preparation programme 

Appendix 4 - The programme of CAA preparation seminars 

Background Papers  

None identified. 

89



90



 1

 
Questions underpinning the 
area assessment 
 
Main questions: 
1. How well do local priorities express community needs and aspirations? 
2. How well are the outcomes and improvements needed being delivered? 
3. What are the prospects for future improvement? 
 

Underlying issues: 
 
1. How well do local priorities express community needs and 
aspirations? 
 
To answer this question inspectorates may explore, for example: 
• How well do local partners understand their diverse communities? How well 
do they engage with, involve and empower local people (including through the 
third sector)? 
• How well do local people feel they are listened to? This will include harder to 
reach/hear communities, children and young people and those at risk of 
poorer outcomes. 

• To what extent do local people feel their contributions make a difference to 
decisions about setting local priorities and are they involved in reviewing 
progress against them?  
Does this engagement encompass all communities? 
• Are priorities in the sustainable community strategies and Local Area 
Agreement sufficiently appropriate and ambitious to meet the locality’s 
challenges and context? 
• Do they take account of national priorities and standards, inequality in the 
area, the needs of the most vulnerable members of the community, local 
needs analyses and weigh up the views of local stakeholders? Are ambitions 
appropriately stretching? 
 
Essentially we will be looking for: 
• robust decision-making across local partners; 
• evidence of effective implementation of the duty to involve; and 
• whether local partners are focusing on the right things. 
When we seek to identify community needs and aspirations, we may consider 
various community perspectives, such as those of: the area’s citizens, 
residents and users of public services, as individuals and/or members of 
diverse communities; specific disadvantaged and vulnerable communities in 
the area; the national ‘community’; and future generations (to take account of 
sustainability). 

91



 2

2. How well are the outcomes and improvements needed being 
delivered? 
 
To answer this question, inspectorates will take each area’s Local Area 
Agreement targets and the ambitions set out in the Sustainable Community 
Strategies as a starting point. 
So the following list will look different as we tailor our assessments to each 
place and the types of information and evidence available (This should also 
look beyond the Local Area Agreement, especially at those indicators/sources 
of evidence linked to vulnerable groups.) 
 
To answer this question inspectorates may explore, for example: 
 
• How safe is the area? 
• How healthy and well supported are people? 
• How well kept is the area? 
• How environmentally sustainable is the area? 
• How strong is the local economy? 
• How strong and cohesive are local communities? 
• How well is inequality being addressed? 
• How well is housing need met? 
• How well are families supported? 
• How good is the well-being of children and young people? 
 
We will integrate within our assessments judgements about how well 
outcomes, services and improvements are being achieved where inequality 
and risk to individuals is greatest. 
This may include a wide range of people whose circumstances make them 
vulnerable and this will vary according to local context. It will specifically 
include groups at very high risk, such as people who need social care 
services or are leaving care, people with learning disabilities or receiving 
mental health services. It will also include those who may make others 
vulnerable, such as offenders, and including people under probation 
supervision. Access to settled accommodation and employment are 
particularly important factors for these groups. 
 
3. What are the prospects for future improvement? 
 
The answers to the main questions 1 and 2 above will provide key sources of 
evidence for answering this main area assessment question. To answer the 
third question, and in deciding whether to ‘flag’ any issues, inspectorates may 
explore: 
 
• Do the local partners have the capacity and capability to deliver their 
ambitions, strategies and plans (we will look in greater detail at partnership 
arrangements where improved outcomes are not being delivered or if other 
evidence raises concerns)? 
• Are local partners taking adequate action to manage, mitigate or address 
any concerns and risks we may have identified in answering questions 1, 2 
and 3 (or which they may have identified in their locality self assessment)? 

92



 3

• Are local partners engaged in any exceptional innovative practice which has 
been, or promises to be, successful and which others might learn from? 
• How well improvement planning is being implemented? Including whether 
key objectives and milestones are being achieved and whether local partners 
have robust plans for improving? 
• Are there any significant weaknesses in arrangements for securing 
continuous improvement, or failures in governance, that would prevent 
improvement levels being sustained? 
 
The focus on reducing inequality across diverse communities, and emphasis 
on people in 
vulnerable circumstances, will be followed through to question 3. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

93



 4

The proposed managing 
performance KLOE and 
published use of resources 
KLOE 
 
Use of resources: 
Managing finances: How effectively does the organisation 
manage its finances to deliver value for money? 
 
1.1 Does the organisation plan its finances effectively to deliver its strategic 
priorities and secure sound financial health? 
KLOE focus, the organisation: 
• integrates financial planning with strategic and service planning processes 
on a medium- to long-term basis; 
• engages local communities and other stakeholders in the financial 
planning process; 
• manages spending within available resources and is financially sound over 
the medium term; and 
• recognises individual and collective responsibilities for financial 
management and values and develops financial skills. 
 
1.2 Does the organisation have a sound understanding of its costs and 
performance and achieve efficiencies in its activities? 
KLOE focus, The organisation: 
• understands its costs, including whole life, transaction and unit costs, the 
main factors that influence these and how they link to performance; 
• takes account of this understanding of its costs and performance in decision 
making and commissioning; and 
• identifies the scope for making efficiencies and is on track to achieve 
planned efficiencies. 
 
1.3 Is the organisation’s financial reporting timely, reliable and does it meet 
the needs of internal users, stakeholders and local people? 
KLOE focus, The organisation: 
• produces relevant, timely and reliable financial monitoring and 
forecasting information; 
• uses financial and related performance information to monitor performance 
during the year; 
• produces financial reports that are clear, relevant and concise to support 
strategic decision making; 
• prepares accounts that meet statutory requirements, financial reporting 
standards and present fairly, or give a true and fair view of, the financial 
performance and position; and 

94



 5

• publishes reports that provide an objective, balanced and understandable 
assessment of the organisation’s performance in the year. 
 
 

Governing the business: How well does the organisation 
govern itself and commission services that provide value for 
money and deliver better outcomes for local people? 
 
2.1 Does the organisation commission and procure quality services and 
supplies tailored to local needs, to deliver sustainable outcomes and value for 
money? 
KLOE focus, The organisation: 
• has a clear vision of intended outcomes for local people which shapes its 
commissioning and procurement, and is based on an ongoing analysis and 
understanding of needs; 
• involves local people, partners, staff and suppliers in commissioning 
services; 
• seeks to improve the customer experience, quality and value for money of 
services through service redesign, making effective use of IT; 
• understands the supply market and seeks to influence and develop that 
market; 
• evaluates different options (internal, external and jointly with partners) for 
procuring services and supplies; and 
• reviews the competitiveness of services and achieves value for money, while 
meeting wider social, economic and environmental objectives. 
 
2.2 Does the organisation produce relevant and reliable data and information 
to support decision making and manage performance? 
KLOE focus, The organisation: 
• produces relevant and reliable data and works with partners to ensure the 
quality of partnership data; 
• understands the needs of its decision makers and provides them with 
information that is fit for purpose and is used to support decision making; 
• ensures data security and compliance with relevant statutory 
requirements; and 
• monitors performance against its priorities and targets, and addresses 
underperformance. 
 
2.3 Does the organisation promote and demonstrate the principles and values 
of 
good governance? 
KLOE focus, The organisation: 
• has adopted, promotes and demonstrates, the principles of good 
governance; 
• maintains focus on its purpose and vision; 
• demonstrates a strong ethical framework and culture; and 
• applies the principles and values of good governance to its 
partnership working. 
 

95



 6

2.4 Does the organisation manage its risks and maintain a sound system of 
internal control? 
KLOE focus, The organisation: 
• has effective risk management which covers partnership working; 
• has a clear strategy and effective arrangements, including allocation of 
appropriate resources, to manage the risk of fraud and corruption; and 
• has a sound system of internal control including internal audit. 
 

Managing resources: How well does the organisation manage 
its natural resources, physical assets, and people to meet 
current and future needs and deliver value for money? 
 
3.1 Is the organisation making effective use of natural resources? 
KLOE focus, The organisation: 
• understands and can quantify its use of natural resources and can identify 
the main influencing factors; 
• manages performance to reduce its impact on the environment; and 
• manages the environmental risks it faces, working effectively with partners. 
 
3.2 Does the organisation manage its assets effectively to help deliver its 
strategic priorities and service needs? 
KLOE focus, The organisation: 
• has a strategic approach to asset management based on an analysis of 
need 
to deliver strategic priorities, service needs and intended outcomes; 
• manages its asset base to ensure that assets are fit for purpose and provide 
value for money; and 
• works with partners and community groups to maximise the use of its assets 
for the benefit of the local community. 
 
3.3 Does the organisation plan, organise and develop its workforce effectively 
to support the achievement of its strategic priorities? 
KLOE focus, The organisation: 
• has a productive and skilled workforce; 
• knows in the medium to longer term what staff it will need, with what skills, 
and has plans to achieve this; 
• engages and supports staff in organisational change; and 
• has policies that support diversity and good people management. 
 
 

Managing Performance: 
 
4.1 How well is the organisation delivering its priority services, outcomes and 
improvements that are important to local people? 
 
4.2 Does the organisation have the leadership, capacity and capability it 
needs to deliver future improvements? 
KLOE focus, The organisation is: 
• effective in identifying and delivering priority services and outcomes; 

96



 7

• improving the services and outcomes for which it is responsible; 
• contributing to wider community outcomes; and 
• tackling inequality and improving outcomes for people in vulnerable 

97



98



Comprehensive Area Assessment | Background and policy context | 11 |

Figure 1

Our original proposals

Figure 2

Our current proposals

Figure 3

How CAA will align to other performance frameworks

** Other local organisations such as housing associations and probation boards are also 

subject to inspection frameworks but do not receive use of resources assessments. 

99



100



Appendix 2 

Comprehensive Area Assessment 

Joint Inspectorate Proposals for Consultation – 
Summer 2008 

Summary of proposals: 

• CAA will assess those outcomes delivered by councils working alone or in 
partnership e.g. health and well-being, community safety, children’s and older 
people’s services, etc. 

• CAA will replace CPA, Children’s services JARs, APA of services for children and 
young people and social services star ratings.  Performance frameworks for 
specific services (e.g. schools, colleges, police, probation and health and social 
care) will continue. 

• CAA represents a fundamental change in the way councils and their partners 
are assessed.  It involves a forward-looking assessment of the prospects for the 
future achievement of shared priorities by the council and other local partners. 

- Inspectorates will gather evidence from a range of sources – including the 
national indicator set – throughout the year.  CAA will draw as far as 
possible on the information used by councils and partners to manage their 
own performance – taking full account of self-assessments.  The 
inspectorates will only undertake additional work to fill evidence gaps 
where necessary.  The evidence base will be updated throughout the year. 

• The proposals envisage a streamlined framework involving two assessments: 

- The area assessment area assessment area assessment area assessment – a qualitative assessment of prospects for 
improvement.  Performance data for the majority of indicators in the 
National Indicator Set will be available from Spring 2009 and will be a 
source of evidence for area and organisational assessments.  They will 
provide information about inequalities, progress towards targets and 
improvement, as well as informing the assessment of performance or 
priority issues.  For each indicator, the council’s performance will be 
compared with established comparator groups or those facing similar 
challenges, with particular attention given to those indicators contained in 
our LAA, comparison of which will be made with other areas where the 
same indicators have been selected as priorities. 

The assessment will focus around three overarching headings: 

♦ How well do local priorities express community needs and 
aspirations? 

♦ How well are the outcomes and improvements needed being 
delivered? 

♦ What are the prospects for future improvements? 

It will be reported as a narrative and flags will be used to draw attention to 
performance issues and innovative practice.  A red flag will indicate that 
significant concerns about outcomes, performance or future prospects are 
not being adequately addressed.  A red flag would not be raised if the 

101



Appendix 2 

council and its partners are effectively tackling the issue.  Green flags will 
indicate where others have something to learn from innovative or 
exceptional success in an area. 

The area assessment will evolve, to tell a story of the place over time.  In 
the first year of CAA a baseline will be set using available evidence.  In 
future years, the focus will be on what has changed. 

- A scored organisational assessmentorganisational assessmentorganisational assessmentorganisational assessment for all councils (alongside 
organisational assessments for other partners e.g. PCT health check).  Each 
organisational assessment will comment directly on the performance of key 
local council services.  It will comprise of two assessments: 

♦ Managing performance – a joint inspectorate judgement focussing on 
how well the council is delivering services, outcomes and sustainable 
improvement in local priorities.  There will no longer be a separate 
direction of travel assessment; the elements of the direction of travel 
assessment that remain relevant to CAA have been incorporated in 
the new managing performance theme.  The Council will be assessed 
on how effective it is at: 

- identifying and delivering priority services, outcomes and 
improvements; 

- providing the leadership, capacity and capability it needs to deliver 
future improvements; 

- contributing to improving wider community outcomes; and 

- tackling inequality and improving outcomes for people in 
vulnerable circumstances. 

♦ Use of Resources – the Audit Commission has already published the 
methodology for this assessment separately. 

• CAA will change the way inspectorates engage locally – moving from rolling 
programmes of on-site inspection (apart from for children in public care and 
safeguarding and for Youth Offending teams) to an on-going relationship with 
local areas. The Inspectorates will look for high quality local performance 
management data, take account of any locality self-assessments and only 
undertake inspection activity where necessary, triggered by the area and 
organisational assessments. 

102



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 3
  

 
1
 

  In
it

ia
l 

H
e
re

fo
rd

s
h

ir
e

 C
o

m
p

re
h

e
n

s
iv

e
 A

re
a

 A
s
s
e

s
s

m
e
n

t 
p

re
p

a
ra

ti
o

n
 p

ro
g

ra
m

m
e

 –
 

fi
n

a
l 

re
p

o
rt

: 
S

e
p

te
m

b
e

r 
2

0
0
8

  
 

 O
b

je
c
ti

v
e

s
: 

 

•
 
T
o
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
 a
n
d
 b
e
g
in
 t
o
 o
p
e
ra
te
 t
h
e
 e
s
s
e
n
ti
a
l 
in
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 i
n
 2
0
0
8
-0
9
 

 

•
 
T
o
 b
e
 w
e
ll-
p
re
p
a
re
d
 f
o
r 
th
e
 f
u
ll 
in
tr
o
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 n
e
w
 s
y
s
te
m
 f
ro
m
 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
 

 

•
 
T
o
 b
e
 i
m
p
ro
v
in
g
 w

e
ll/
h
a
v
e
 p
ro
m
is
in
g
 p
ro
s
p
e
c
ts
 f
o
r 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
in
 t
h
e
 d
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
tr
a
v
e
l 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
in
 

2
0
0
9
-1
0
 

 

•
 
 T
o
 b
e
 c
o
n
s
is
te
n
tl
y
 a
b
o
v
e
 m

in
im
u
m
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
, 
p
e
rf
o
rm

in
g
 w
e
ll 
in
 t
h
e
 u
s
e
 o
f 
re
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
in
 

2
0
0
9
-1
0
 

103



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 3
  

 
2
 

T
h

e
 e

le
m

e
n

ts
 o

f 
th

e
 p

ro
g

ra
m

m
e

: 

1
. 
U
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 a
re
a
 a
n
d
 i
ts
 d
iv
e
rs
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
, 
w
it
h
 p
a
rt
ic
u
la
r 
e
m
p
h
a
s
is
 o
n
 t
h
e
 d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
d
 

2
. 
E
n
g
a
g
in
g
 a
n
d
 e
m
p
o
w
e
ri
n
g
 l
o
c
a
l 
c
it
iz
e
n
s
 a
n
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 u
s
e
rs
, 
w
it
h
 p
a
rt
ic
u
la
r 
e
m
p
h
a
s
is
 o
n
 t
h
e
 d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
d
  

3
. 
U
s
in
g
 
th
is
 
u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
, 
e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 
e
m
p
o
w
e
rm
e
n
t 
a
s
 
th
e
 
b
a
s
is
 
fo
r 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
in
g
 
th
e
 
C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 
a
n
d
 
th
e
 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
’s
 s
h
a
re
d
 v
is
io
n
, 
p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
, 
o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 a
n
d
 c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

4
. 
E
n
s
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry
 c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 i
s
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 r
ig
h
t 
s
k
ill
s
, 
k
n
o
w
le
d
g
e
 a
n
d
 b
e
h
a
v
io
u
rs
, 
to
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
 t
h
e
 

v
is
io
n
, 
p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 a
n
d
 o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 

5
. 
E
n
s
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
a
t 
e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
re
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 t
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 a
n
d
 m
a
n
a
g
e
 t
h
e
 r
is
k
s
 t
o
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 t
h
e
 v
is
io
n
, 
p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 a
n
d
 

o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 

6
. 
E
n
s
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il,
 w
it
h
 i
ts
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
, 
is
 i
m
p
ro
v
in
g
 w
e
ll/
h
a
s
 p
ro
m
is
in
g
 p
ro
s
p
e
c
ts
 f
o
r 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
in
 t
h
e
 d
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 

tr
a
v
e
l 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

7
. 
E
n
s
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il,
 w
it
h
 i
ts
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
, 
is
 c
o
n
s
is
te
n
tl
y
 a
b
o
v
e
 m
in
im
u
m
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
, 
p
e
rf
o
rm
in
g
 w
e
ll 
in
 t
h
e
 u
s
e
 o
f 

re
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

8
. 
E
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 t
o
 m
e
m
b
e
rs
, 
s
ta
ff
, 
p
a
rt
n
e
rs
, 
s
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 p
u
b
lic
 

104



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 3
  

 
3
 

1
. 
U
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 a
re
a
 a
n
d
 i
ts
 d
iv
e
rs
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
, 
w
it
h
 p
a
rt
ic
u
la
r 
e
m
p
h
a
s
is
 o
n
 t
h
e
 d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
d
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

1
.1
 J
o
in
t 
S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 

N
e
e
d
s
 A
n
a
ly
s
is
 –
 J
S
N
A
 

(h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 w
e
ll-
b
e
in
g
; 

s
ta
tu
to
ry
, 
c
o
m
e
s
 i
n
to
 

e
ff
e
c
t 
1
 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
8
) 

 
 

 

S
c
o
p
in
g
 w
h
a
t 

e
x
is
ts
/g
a
p
s
, 
le
a
d
in
g
 t
o
 a
 

p
ri
o
ri
ti
s
e
d
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
, 

p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 a
s
 r
e
g
a
rd
s
 

th
e
 d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
d
 (
lik
e
ly
 

fo
c
u
s
 i
n
 y
e
a
r 
o
n
e
 o
n
 

m
a
k
in
g
 t
h
e
 b
e
s
t 
p
o
s
s
ib
le
 

u
s
e
 o
f 
e
x
is
ti
n
g
 d
a
ta
 

s
o
u
rc
e
s
) 

A
p
r 
0
8
 

In
it
ia
l 
d
ra
ft
 b
a
s
e
lin
e
 a
n
a
ly
s
is
, 
g
a
p
 

a
n
a
ly
s
is
 a
n
d
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 f
o
r 

p
ri
o
ri
ti
s
e
d
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 p
ro
d
u
c
e
d
. 

C
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 b
y
 J
o
in
t 
M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

T
e
a
m
 o
n
 7

th
 J
u
ly
. 

In
 a
c
c
o
rd
a
n
c
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 

G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 
g
u
id
a
n
c
e
. 
 

J
o
in
t 
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 a
g
re
e
d
 

b
y
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 P
C
T
, 

w
it
h
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
o
th
e
r 

p
a
rt
n
e
rs
. 

C
a
rr
y
 o
u
t 
th
e
 i
n
it
ia
l 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

M
a
r 
0
9
 

 
P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 

th
a
t 
p
ro
v
id
e
s
 a
 s
o
u
n
d
 

b
a
s
is
 f
o
r 
s
e
tt
in
g
 h
e
a
lt
h
 

a
n
d
 s
o
c
ia
l 
c
a
re
 p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
, 

o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 a
n
d
 t
a
rg
e
ts
, 

a
n
d
 f
o
r 
c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
P
u
b
lic
 H
e
a
lt
h
, 

D
e
p
u
ty
 C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
, 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
In
te
g
ra
te
d
 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
, 
In
te
ri
m
 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 

C
a
re
, 
D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 

C
h
ild
re
n
’s
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

(O
th
e
r 
d
ir
e
c
to
rs
, 

R
e
s
e
a
rc
h
, 
H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 

s
e
rv
ic
e
 a
n
d
 p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
) 

E
x
is
ti
n
g
 h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 

s
o
c
ia
l 
c
a
re
 n
e
e
d
s
 

a
n
a
ly
s
e
s
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
re
p
o
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
P
u
b
lic
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 T
h
e
 S
ta
te
 o
f 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 R
e
p
o
rt
 

1
.2
 N
e
e
d
s
 a
n
a
ly
s
e
s
 f
o
r 

o
th
e
r 
a
s
p
e
c
ts
 

 
 

 

D
e
te
rm

in
e
 o
v
e
ra
ll 

le
a
d
e
rs
h
ip
 

F
e
b
 0
8
 

R
o
lle
d
 u
p
 w
it
h
 J
S
N
A
 t
o
 f
o
rm

 a
 

s
in
g
le
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
. 
 L
e
a
d
e
rs
h
ip
 b
y
 

D
e
p
u
ty
 C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
P
u
b
lic
 H
e
a
lt
h
 (
m
a
n
a
g
e
d
 

b
y
 P
o
lic
y
 a
n
d
 P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
) 
 

C
le
a
r 
le
a
d
e
rs
h
ip
 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
P
u
b
lic
 H
e
a
lt
h
, 

D
e
p
u
ty
 C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
, 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
In
te
g
ra
te
d
 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
, 
In
te
ri
m
 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 

C
a
re
, 
D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 

C
h
ild
re
n
’s
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

E
x
is
ti
n
g
 n
e
e
d
s
 a
n
a
ly
s
e
s
, 

in
c
lu
d
in
g
 T
h
e
 S
ta
te
 o
f 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 R
e
p
o
rt
  

T
h
e
 S
u
b
-r
e
g
io
n
a
l 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

105



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 3
  

 
4
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

S
c
o
p
in
g
 w
h
a
t 

e
x
is
ts
/g
a
p
s
, 
le
a
d
in
g
 t
o
 a
 

p
ri
o
ri
ti
s
e
d
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
, 

p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 a
s
 r
e
g
a
rd
s
 

th
e
  
 d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
d
 

(l
ik
e
ly
 f
o
c
u
s
 i
n
 y
e
a
r 
o
n
e
 

o
n
 m

a
k
in
g
 t
h
e
 b
e
s
t 

p
o
s
s
ib
le
 u
s
e
 o
f 
e
x
is
ti
n
g
 

d
a
ta
 s
o
u
rc
e
s
) 

A
p
r 
0
8
 

In
it
ia
l 
d
ra
ft
 b
a
s
e
lin
e
 a
n
a
ly
s
is
, 
g
a
p
 

a
n
a
ly
s
is
 a
n
d
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 f
o
r 

p
ri
o
ri
ti
s
e
d
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 p
ro
d
u
c
e
d
. 

C
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 b
y
 J
o
in
t 
M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

T
e
a
m
 o
n
 7

th
 J
u
ly
. 

J
o
in
t 
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 a
g
re
e
d
 

b
y
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il,
 t
h
e
 P
C
T
 

a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 

C
a
rr
y
 o
u
t 
th
e
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

M
a
r 
0
9
 

 
P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 

th
a
t 
p
ro
v
id
e
s
 a
 s
o
u
n
d
 

b
a
s
is
 f
o
r 
s
e
tt
in
g
 

p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
, 
o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 a
n
d
 

ta
rg
e
ts
, 
a
n
d
 f
o
r 

c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

(O
th
e
r 
d
ir
e
c
to
rs
, 

R
e
s
e
a
rc
h
, 
H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 

s
e
rv
ic
e
 a
n
d
 p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
) 

 

A
p
r 
0
8
 

T
im
e
ta
b
le
d
 p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 i
n
 

th
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 p
ri
o
ri
ti
s
e
d
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

fo
r 
J
S
N
A
 a
n
d
 w
id
e
r 
n
e
e
d
s
 a
n
a
ly
s
is
 

(s
e
e
 a
b
o
v
e
),
 t
a
k
in
g
 a
c
c
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 

R
e
g
io
n
a
l 
Im

p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

E
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y
 P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

im
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 D
a
ta
 Q
u
a
lit
y
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 P
la
n
  

P
ri
o
ri
ti
s
e
d
 
ti
m
e
ta
b
le
 
in
 

p
la
c
e
 

1
.3
 I
d
e
n
ti
fy
 c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 

n
e
e
d
e
d
 t
o
 d
a
ta
 

c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 a
n
a
ly
s
is
 

to
 p
ro
v
id
e
 r
e
lia
b
le
, 

re
g
u
la
r 
d
a
ta
, 
e
.g
. 
s
in
g
le
, 

s
h
a
re
d
 c
lie
n
t 
d
a
ta
-

b
a
s
e
s
, 
s
e
tt
in
g
 a
 

p
ri
o
ri
ti
s
e
d
 t
im
e
ta
b
le
 f
o
r 

e
a
c
h
 e
le
m
e
n
t 

M
a
r 
0
9
 

 
D
e
s
ir
e
d
 

d
a
ta
 

a
n
d
 

a
n
a
ly
s
is
 

p
ro
d
u
c
e
d
, 

p
ro
v
id
in
g
 a
 s
o
u
n
d
 b
a
s
is
 

fo
r 

s
e
tt
in
g
 

p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
, 

o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 
a
n
d
 
ta
rg
e
ts
, 

a
n
d
 f
o
r 
c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

T
o
n
y
 G
e
e
s
o
n
 

(H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
, 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
, 

R
e
s
e
a
rc
h
) 

D
a
ta
 Q
u
a
lit
y
 A
c
ti
o
n
 P
la
n
 

a
n
d
 H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

C
o
n
n
e
c
ts
 

1
.4
 P
la
c
e
-b
a
s
e
d
 

m
a
n
d
a
to
ry
 s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 

s
u
rv
e
y
 

 
 
S
e
p
 0
8
 

F
in
a
l 
g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
d
 f
ro
m
 

D
C
L
G
; 
fi
e
ld
w
o
rk
 t
o
 t
a
k
e
 p
la
c
e
 

b
e
tw
e
e
n
 2
9
th
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
a
n
d
 1
9
th
 

D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r.
  
O
n
 s
c
h
e
d
u
le
, 
m
a
il 
o
u
t 

In
 a
c
c
o
rd
a
n
c
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 

s
ta
tu
to
ry
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 

T
o
n
y
 C
ra
m
p
 

(M
a
rt
in
 H
e
u
te
r,
 h
e
a
d
s
 o
f 

s
e
rv
ic
e
) 

T
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 a
n
n
u
a
l 

s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 c
it
iz
e
n
s
’ 

p
a
n
e
l 
s
u
rv
e
y
s
, 
a
n
d
 i
ts
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

106



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 3
  

 
5
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r.
  
O
n
 s
c
h
e
d
u
le
, 
m
a
il 
o
u
t 

b
e
in
g
 r
e
a
d
ie
d
 f
o
r 
2
5
th
 S
e
p
t 
a
s
 p
e
r 

g
u
id
a
n
c
e
. 

s
e
rv
ic
e
) 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
 

1
.5
 E
q
u
a
lit
ie
s
 i
m
p
a
c
t 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 (
E
IA
s
) 

 
 

C
u
rr
e
n
t 
ro
u
n
d
 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

Y
e
a
r 
4
 o
f 
5
 y
e
a
r 
ro
lli
n
g
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

c
o
m
p
le
te
d
. 
 4
5
 E
IA
s
 i
n
 C
h
ild
re
n
 &
 

Y
o
u
n
g
 P
e
o
p
le
, 
H
u
m
a
n
 R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 

a
n
d
 A
d
u
lt
 &
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

c
o
m
p
le
te
d
. 
 Q
u
a
lit
y
 a
s
s
u
re
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

D
iv
e
rs
it
y
 G
ro
u
p
. 

N
e
x
t 
ro
u
n
d
 

M
a
r 
0
9
 

Y
e
a
r 
5
 s
ta
rt
e
d
. 
A
ll 
D
M
T
s
 f
o
r 
th
e
 3
 

d
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
s
 u
n
d
e
r 
th
e
 s
p
o
tl
ig
h
t 
th
is
 

y
e
a
r 
(R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
, 
E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re
, 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 D
e
p
u
ty
 C
h
ie
f 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
’s
 o
ff
ic
e
) 
h
a
v
e
 h
a
d
 a
n
 

in
it
ia
l 
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
, 
a
n
d
 t
ra
in
in
g
 

s
e
s
s
io
n
s
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 d
e
liv
e
re
d
 f
o
r 
a
 

n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
te
a
m
s
. 
E
s
ti
m
a
te
d
 5
1
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 t
o
 b
e
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 t
h
is
 

y
e
a
r.
 

P
ro
v
id
e
 a
 s
o
u
n
d
 b
a
s
is
 

fo
r 
s
e
tt
in
g
 p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
, 

o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 a
n
d
 t
a
rg
e
ts
, 

a
n
d
 f
o
r 
c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

C
a
ro
l 
T
ra
c
h
o
n
it
is
 

(H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
; 

R
e
s
e
a
rc
h
) 

T
h
e
 v
a
ri
o
u
s
 e
q
u
a
lit
ie
s
 

a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
s
 

 

107



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 3
  

 
6
 

2
. 
E
n
g
a
g
in
g
 a
n
d
 e
m
p
o
w
e
ri
n
g
 l
o
c
a
l 
c
it
iz
e
n
s
 a
n
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 u
s
e
rs
, 
w
it
h
 p
a
rt
ic
u
la
r 
e
m
p
h
a
s
is
 o
n
 t
h
e
 d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
d
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

2
.1
 M
e
e
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 n
e
w
 

s
ta
tu
to
ry
 d
u
ty
 t
o
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
 

lo
c
a
l 
p
e
o
p
le
 i
n
 d
e
c
is
io
n
s
 

(c
o
m
e
s
 i
n
to
 e
ff
e
c
t 
o
n
 1
 

A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
),
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 

a
m
e
n
d
m
e
n
ts
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 C
o
n
s
ti
tu
ti
o
n
, 

c
o
m
p
la
in
ts
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 a
n
d
 

h
a
n
d
lin
g
 o
f 
p
u
b
lic
 

p
e
ti
ti
o
n
s
 

D
e
c
 0
8
 

 J
e
n
n
if
e
r 
W
a
tk
in
s
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 

c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
e
d
 t
o
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
 a
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 I
n
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
s
tr
a
te
g
y
 a
s
 w
e
ll 
a
s
 t
o
 

w
o
rk
 o
n
 t
h
e
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 
s
tr
a
n
d
s
 o
f 

W
o
rl
d
 C
la
s
s
 C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
. 

S
c
o
p
in
g
 w
h
a
t 
e
x
is
ts
, 

th
e
n
 a
n
d
 g
a
p
 a
n
a
ly
s
is
, 

le
a
d
in
g
 t
o
 p
ri
o
ri
ti
s
e
d
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
, 
p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 

in
 r
e
s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 
th
e
 

d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
d
 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

In
it
ia
l 
s
c
o
p
in
g
 a
n
d
 g
a
p
 a
n
a
ly
s
is
 

d
o
n
e
. 
B
e
in
g
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 l
ig
h
t 

o
f 
s
ta
tu
to
ry
 g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 s
in
c
e
 

p
u
b
lis
h
e
d
 b
y
 G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 
, 

to
g
e
th
e
r 
w
it
h
 a
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

e
m
p
o
w
e
rm

e
n
t 
w
h
it
e
 p
a
p
e
r.
  

P
ri
o
ri
ti
s
e
d
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 t
o
 b
e
 i
n
 

p
la
c
e
 b
y
 N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r 
0
8
. 

M
e
a
s
u
ra
b
le
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
/o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
, 

d
e
m
o
n
s
tr
a
b
ly
 r
e
la
te
d
 t
o
 

lo
c
a
l 
p
e
o
p
le
’s
 

in
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 

Im
p
ro
v
e
d
 p
u
b
lic
 

p
e
rc
e
p
ti
o
n
 r
a
ti
n
g
s
 o
f 
th
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il/
P
C
T
 o
v
e
ra
ll 
a
n
d
 

in
d
iv
id
u
a
l 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
/f
a
c
to
rs
 

Im
p
ro
v
e
d
 r
a
ti
n
g
s
 i
n
 

re
s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 
th
e
 p
u
b
lic
’s
 

p
e
rc
e
p
ti
o
n
 o
f 

in
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

in
fl
u
e
n
c
e
 

A
b
le
 t
o
 m

e
e
t 
s
ta
tu
to
ry
 

d
u
ty
 

A
p
r 
0
9
 

W
o
rk
 c
o
m
m
e
n
c
e
d
 o
n
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
in
g
 

a
n
y
 l
ik
e
ly
 c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 C
o
n
s
ti
tu
ti
o
n
. 

C
o
m
p
lia
n
c
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 

s
ta
tu
to
ry
 d
u
ty
 

J
e
n
n
if
e
r 
W
a
tk
in
s
, 
M
a
rt
in
 

H
e
u
te
r,
 A
la
n
 M
c
L
a
u
g
h
lin
 

(R
e
s
e
a
rc
h
, 
h
e
a
d
s
 o
f 

s
e
rv
ic
e
, 
c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

s
ta
ff
 e
ls
e
w
h
e
re
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 P
C
T
 

a
n
d
 p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
) 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 I
n
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
. 

P
A
C
T
s
, 
L
IN
k
s
. 

P
u
b
lic
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

te
a
m
’s
 r
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 

in
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

m
e
c
h
a
n
is
m
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

c
o
u
n
ty
. 

P
u
b
lic
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 o
n
 

th
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 

2
.2
 S
y
s
te
m
a
ti
c
 c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
 

a
n
d
 u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 o
f 

c
u
s
to
m
e
r 
fe
e
d
b
a
c
k
 a
n
d
 

c
o
m
p
la
in
ts
 

 
 

M
e
a
s
u
ra
b
le
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
/o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 

d
e
m
o
n
s
tr
a
b
ly
 r
e
la
te
d
 t
o
 

fe
e
d
b
a
c
k
/c
o
m
p
la
in
ts
 

G
e
o
ff
 C
o
le
 

(H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
, 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
, 

C
u
rr
e
n
t 
re
v
ie
w
 o
f 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
c
u
s
to
m
e
r 

s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 

108



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 3
  

 
7
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

N
e
w
 c
u
s
to
m
e
r 
fe
e
d
b
a
c
k
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 

la
u
n
c
h
e
d
 p
u
b
lic
ly
 i
n
 J
a
n
u
a
ry
 2
0
0
8
. 

T
h
e
 n
e
w
 I
T
-b
a
s
e
d
 s
y
s
te
m
 f
o
r 

re
c
o
rd
in
g
 c
o
m
p
la
in
ts
 a
n
d
 

c
o
m
p
lim

e
n
ts
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 s
in
c
e
 

J
u
ly
. 
T
h
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
in
g
 s
y
s
te
m
 i
s
 i
n
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t,
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 f
ir
s
t 
re
p
o
rt
s
 

to
 b
e
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 b
e
fo
re
 t
h
e
 e
n
d
 o
n
 

2
0
0
8
. 
  

fe
e
d
b
a
c
k
/c
o
m
p
la
in
ts
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
, 

P
C
T
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
) 

 

2
.3
 E
s
ta
b
lis
h
 s
tr
o
n
g
e
r,
 

m
o
re
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 l
in
k
s
 w
it
h
 

n
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
s
 a
n
d
 

p
a
ri
s
h
e
s
 

D
e
c
 0
8
 

P
a
ri
s
h
e
s
 w
it
h
 o
u
ts
ta
n
d
in
g
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 

fr
o
m
 p
a
ri
s
h
 p
la
n
s
 s
e
n
t 
fu
n
d
in
g
 

lit
e
ra
tu
re
. 

R
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
p
a
ri
s
h
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 p
la
n
n
e
d
 

fo
r 
J
u
ly
-S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
to
 p
ic
k
 u
p
 o
n
 

th
e
 p
u
b
lic
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 e
m
p
o
w
e
rm

e
n
t 

w
h
it
e
 p
a
p
e
r.
 

W
o
rk
in
g
 w
it
h
 H
A
L
C
 t
o
 s
e
t 
u
p
 a
 

te
le
p
h
o
n
e
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 l
in
e
 a
n
d
 

d
is
tr
ib
u
ti
n
g
 l
e
a
fl
e
ts
 t
o
 a
ll 
re
s
id
e
n
ts
 

e
n
c
o
u
ra
g
in
g
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ts
 t
o
 a
c
ti
v
e
ly
 

e
n
g
a
g
e
 a
n
d
 b
e
c
o
m
e
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
d
 w
it
h
 

lo
c
a
l 
g
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t.
  

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
in
g
 a
 d
a
ta
b
a
s
e
 o
f 
p
a
ri
s
h
 

n
e
w
s
le
tt
e
rs
 t
o
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 

c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
. 

C
o
-o
rd
in
a
ti
n
g
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 e
x
p
e
c
te
d
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 o
f 
p
o
s
t 
o
ff
ic
e
 c
lo
s
u
re
s
, 

a
n
d
 i
n
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
n
g
 a
lt
e
rn
a
ti
v
e
 

m
e
th
o
d
s
 o
f 
d
e
liv
e
ri
n
g
 k
e
y
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

p
re
v
io
u
s
ly
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
 b
y
 p
o
s
t 
o
ff
ic
e
s
. 

M
e
a
s
u
ra
b
le
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
/o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 

d
e
m
o
n
s
tr
a
b
ly
 r
e
la
te
d
 t
o
 

lo
c
a
l 
p
e
o
p
le
’s
 

in
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t.
 

Im
p
ro
v
e
d
 p
u
b
lic
 

p
e
rc
e
p
ti
o
n
 r
a
ti
n
g
s
 o
f 
th
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
o
v
e
ra
ll 
a
n
d
 

in
d
iv
id
u
a
l 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
/f
a
c
to
rs
. 

Im
p
ro
v
e
d
 r
a
ti
n
g
s
 i
n
 

re
s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 
th
e
 p
u
b
lic
’s
 

p
e
rc
e
p
ti
o
n
 o
f 

in
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

in
fl
u
e
n
c
e
. 

M
a
rt
in
 H
e
u
te
r,
 N
in
a
 

B
ri
d
g
e
s
, 
R
o
b
e
rt
 B
lo
w
e
r 

(H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
, 

R
e
s
e
a
rc
h
, 
E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t)
 

E
a
rl
y
 w
in
s
 f
ro
m
 p
a
ri
s
h
 

p
la
n
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
s
 a
lr
e
a
d
y
 

m
a
d
e
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 t
o
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
. 

P
A
C
T
s
, 
L
IN
k
s
. 

109



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 3
  

 
8
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

A
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
P
la
n
 2
0
0
8
-0
9
, 
th
e
 

v
ie
w
s
 o
f 
T
o
w
n
 a
n
d
 P
a
ri
s
h
 C
o
u
n
c
ils
 

w
ill
 b
e
 s
o
u
g
h
t 
o
n
 s
u
g
g
e
s
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 

a
re
a
s
 f
o
r 
s
c
ru
ti
n
y
. 

 

110



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 3
  

 
9
 

 3
. 
U
s
in
g
 t
h
is
 u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
, 
e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 e
m
p
o
w
e
rm

e
n
t 
a
s
 t
h
e
 b
a
s
is
 f
o
r 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il
’s
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
’s
 s
h
a
re
d
 v
is
io
n
, 
p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
, 
o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 a
n
d
 c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

3
.1
 N
e
w
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
re
a
 

A
g
re
e
m
e
n
t 
(L
A
A
) 
 

J
u
n
 0
8
 

L
A
A
 a
p
p
ro
v
e
d
. 

A
g
re
e
d
 p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
, 

o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
, 
o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 

a
n
d
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 f
o
r 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 o
n
 w
h
ic
h
 

a
ll 
p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 a
re
 a
g
re
e
d
 

a
n
d
 w
o
rk
in
g
 t
o
g
e
th
e
r 
to
 

a
c
h
ie
v
e
. 

M
in
is
te
ri
a
l 
a
p
p
ro
v
a
l.
 

A
c
h
ie
v
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 L
A
A
 

ta
rg
e
ts
. 

D
e
p
u
ty
 C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
, 

M
ic
h
a
e
l 
H
a
in
g
e
, 
C
h
ri
s
 

B
u
c
k
n
e
ll 

(H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
, 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
, 

R
e
s
e
a
rc
h
, 
P
C
T
 a
n
d
 

o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
) 

C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 P
la
n
 

a
n
d
 t
h
e
 p
la
n
s
 o
f 
th
e
 P
C
T
 

a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 

3
.2
 A
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
 (
S
C
S
),
 

in
c
lu
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 n
e
w
 L
A
A
 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

S
tr
u
c
tu
re
 a
n
d
 c
o
n
te
n
t 
b
e
in
g
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 l
ig
h
t 
o
f 
th
e
 n
e
w
 

L
A
A
; 
n
o
 d
a
te
 a
g
re
e
d
. 
Is
s
u
e
s
  

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 b
e
in
g
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 

R
e
g
io
n
a
l 
Im

p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

E
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y
 P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
. 
 C
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 

w
o
rk
in
g
 w
it
h
 L
e
a
rn
in
g
 t
o
 D
e
liv
e
r 
o
n
 

a
 r
is
k
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 f
o
r 
th
e
 L
A
A
 o
v
e
ra
ll 

w
h
ic
h
 w
ill
 h
e
lp
 t
o
 i
n
fo
rm

 t
h
is
. 

A
d
d
re
s
s
e
s
 t
h
e
 m

a
in
 

ri
s
k
s
 t
o
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 S
C
S
 

o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 a
n
d
 L
A
A
 

ta
rg
e
ts
 

D
e
p
u
ty
 C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
, 

M
ic
h
a
e
l 
H
a
in
g
e
, 
C
h
ri
s
 

B
u
c
k
n
e
ll 

(H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
, 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
) 

 

3
.3
 R
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
th
e
 

S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
 i
n
 l
ig
h
t 
o
f 
th
e
 

n
e
e
d
s
 a
n
a
ly
s
e
s
 a
n
d
 

o
th
e
r 
a
c
ti
o
n
s
 u
n
d
e
r 

s
e
c
ti
o
n
s
 1
 a
n
d
 2
 a
b
o
v
e
 

A
p
r 
0
9
 

L
e
s
s
o
n
s
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 

th
e
 S
C
S
 i
n
 2
0
0
5
 b
e
in
g
 p
u
lle
d
 

to
g
e
th
e
r 
to
 i
n
fo
rm

 t
h
e
 2
0
0
9
 R
e
v
ie
w
. 
 

. 

S
C
S
 r
e
v
ie
w
e
d
 t
o
 r
e
fl
e
c
t 

th
e
 f
in
d
in
g
s
 o
f 
th
e
 n
e
e
d
s
 

a
n
a
ly
s
e
s
  

D
e
p
u
ty
 C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
, 

M
ic
h
a
e
l 
H
a
in
g
e
, 
C
h
ri
s
 

B
u
c
k
n
e
ll 

(H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
, 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
, 

R
e
s
e
a
rc
h
) 

T
h
e
 S
ta
te
 o
f 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 R
e
p
o
rt
 

111



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 3
  

 
1
0
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

3
.4
 R
e
v
ie
w
 a
n
d
 r
o
ll 

fo
rw
a
rd
 o
f 
th
e
 L
A
A
 i
n
 

p
a
ra
lle
l 
w
it
h
 3
.3
  

A
p
r 
0
9
 

W
e
 w
ill
 n
o
t 
b
e
 a
m
e
n
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 

c
u
rr
e
n
t 
L
A
A
 t
o
 a
lig
n
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 

re
fr
e
s
h
e
d
 H
C
S
  
b
u
t 
th
e
 s
u
b
s
e
q
u
e
n
t 
 

L
A
A
 w
ill
 b
e
. 

L
A
A
 r
e
v
is
e
d
, 
a
s
 

n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry
, 
to
 r
e
fl
e
c
t 
th
e
 

fi
n
d
in
g
s
 o
f 
th
e
 n
e
e
d
s
 

a
n
a
ly
s
e
s
 

M
ic
h
a
e
l 
H
a
in
g
e
, 
C
h
ri
s
 

B
u
c
k
n
e
ll 

(H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
, 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
, 

R
e
s
e
a
rc
h
) 

S
C
S
 R
e
v
ie
w
 i
n
 S
e
c
ti
o
n
 

3
.3
 

3
.5
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 

P
la
n
 2
0
0
8
-1
1
 t
o
 d
e
liv
e
r 

it
s
 l
e
a
d
 e
le
m
e
n
ts
 o
f 
th
e
 

S
C
S
/L
A
A
 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 P
la
n
 2
0
0
8
-1
1
 a
p
p
ro
v
e
d
 

b
y
 C
o
u
n
c
il.
  

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 P
la
n
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
s
 

ta
rg
e
ts
 a
n
d
 k
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 

to
 d
e
liv
e
r 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 

le
a
d
 e
le
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

S
C
S
 a
n
d
 L
A
A
. 

Id
e
n
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

s
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu
l 
m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

o
f 
th
e
 r
is
k
s
 t
o
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 

th
e
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 a
n
d
 k
e
y
 

a
c
ti
o
n
s
 

S
te
v
e
 M
a
rt
in
 

(H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
, 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
, 

A
n
d
re
w
 R
e
w
e
ll)
 

 

3
.6
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 

P
la
n
 2
0
1
0
-1
3
 t
o
 d
e
liv
e
r 

it
s
 l
e
a
d
 e
le
m
e
n
ts
 o
f 
th
e
 

re
v
ie
w
e
d
 a
n
d
 r
o
lle
d
 

fo
rw
a
rd
 S
C
S
/L
A
A
  

J
u
ly
 0
9
 

 
C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 P
la
n
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
s
 

ta
rg
e
ts
 a
n
d
 k
e
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 

to
 d
e
liv
e
r 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 

le
a
d
 e
le
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

S
C
S
 a
n
d
 L
A
A
. 

Id
e
n
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

s
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu
l 
m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

o
f 
th
e
 r
is
k
s
 t
o
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 

th
e
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 a
n
d
 k
e
y
 

a
c
ti
o
n
s
. 

S
te
v
e
 M
a
rt
in
 

(H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
, 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
, 

A
n
d
re
w
 R
e
w
e
ll)
 

T
im
e
ta
b
le
 t
o
 b
e
 

d
e
te
rm

in
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

c
o
n
te
x
t 
o
f 
d
e
c
is
io
n
s
 o
n
 

th
e
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
c
y
c
le
 

2
0
0
8
-0
9
 (
s
c
h
e
d
u
le
d
 f
o
r 

S
M
C
 a
n
d
 C
a
b
in
e
t 

c
o
n
s
id
e
ra
ti
o
n
 i
n
 M
a
rc
h
 

0
8
) 
 

3
.7
 D
e
te
rm

in
e
 p
ri
o
ri
ti
s
e
d
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 o
f 

c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 p
la
n
s
  

D
e
c
 0
8
 

 
P
ri
o
ri
ti
s
e
d
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

fo
r 
c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 p
la
n
s
 

in
 p
la
c
e
 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
In
te
g
ra
te
d
 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

(P
C
T
, 
o
th
e
r 
d
ir
e
c
to
rs
, 

h
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
, 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

P
ro
c
u
re
m
e
n
t 
P
la
n
 

112



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 3
  

 
1
1
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
) 
 

3
.8
 C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

p
la
n
s
  

A
s
 a
g
re
e
d
 

u
n
d
e
r 
3
.7
 

 
Im

p
ro
v
e
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 a
n
d
 

o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 f
o
r 
p
e
o
p
le
; 

a
n
d
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
d
 v
a
lu
e
 f
o
r 

m
o
n
e
y
 

T
h
e
 d
e
s
ig
n
a
te
d
 h
e
a
d
 o
f 

s
e
rv
ic
e
 f
o
r 
e
a
c
h
 

c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 p
la
n
 (
to
 

b
e
 a
g
re
e
d
 u
n
d
e
r 
3
.7
) 
 

P
ro
c
u
re
m
e
n
t 
P
la
n
 

 

113



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 3
  

 
1
2
 

4
. 
E
n
s
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry
 c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 i
s
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 t
o
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
 t
h
e
 v
is
io
n
, 
p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 a
n
d
 o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

4
.1
 I
n
te
g
ra
te
d
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 

a
n
d
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
c
y
c
le
 

b
e
tw
e
e
n
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il,
 t
h
e
 

P
C
T
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

A
p
ri
l 
0
8
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
, 

a
p
p
ro
v
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
’s
 

G
ro
u
p
 i
n
 J
u
ly
. 
 T
o
 b
e
 f
in
a
lis
e
d
 t
o
 

re
fl
e
c
t 
d
e
c
is
io
n
s
 f
o
llo
w
in
g
 t
h
e
 

re
v
ie
w
 o
f 
th
e
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
’s
 

g
o
v
e
rn
a
n
c
e
. 

 M
a
in
 e
le
m
e
n
ts
 o
f 
P
C
T
 c
y
c
le
 

a
lr
e
a
d
y
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
c
y
c
le
. 
 N
a
tu
re
 a
n
d
 

e
x
te
n
t 
o
f 
fu
rt
h
e
r 
in
te
g
ra
ti
o
n
 t
o
 b
e
 

d
e
te
rm

in
e
d
. 

A
ll 
e
le
m
e
n
ts
 o
f 
in
te
g
ra
ti
o
n
 w
ill
 b
e
 

ta
k
e
n
 t
o
 a
 n
e
w
 p
la
n
e
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

in
tr
o
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 f
ro
m
 D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 
0
8
 o
f 

a
 r
o
lli
n
g
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 o
f 
s
e
lf
-

e
v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
 l
in
k
e
d
 t
o
 C
A
A
. 

A
g
re
e
d
 c
y
c
le
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
, 

o
p
e
ra
ti
n
g
 e
ff
ic
ie
n
tl
y
 a
n
d
 

e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
ly
. 

S
h
a
re
d
 u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 

a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 

w
it
h
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 o
f 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

p
ri
o
ri
ti
s
e
d
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 n
e
e
d
e
d
 

to
 d
e
liv
e
r 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
. 

D
e
p
u
ty
 
C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
, 

T
o
n
y
 G
e
e
s
o
n
 

(P
C
T
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 

th
e
 A
lli
a
n
c
e
, 
M
ic
h
a
e
l 

H
a
in
g
e
, 
J
e
n
n
if
e
r 

W
a
tk
in
s
, 
S
o
n
ia
 R
e
e
s
, 

D
a
v
id
 P
o
w
e
ll,
 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
, 

R
e
s
e
a
rc
h
) 

 

4
.2
 J
o
in
t 
c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 w
it
h
 

th
e
 P
C
T
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 

c
o
m
p
a
c
t 
p
ri
n
c
ip
le
s
 

D
e
c
 0
8
 

 
J
o
in
t 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 P
C
T
 

c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 

in
 p
la
c
e
. 

M
e
a
s
u
ra
b
le
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

a
n
d
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 f
o
r 
u
s
e
rs
; 

a
n
d
 b
e
tt
e
r 
v
a
lu
e
 f
o
r 

m
o
n
e
y
 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
In
te
g
ra
te
d
 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

(P
C
T
, 
th
e
 h
e
a
d
 o
f 

s
e
rv
ic
e
 f
o
r 
e
a
c
h
 

d
e
s
ig
n
a
te
d
 

c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 a
re
a
, 

o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 

th
e
 A
lli
a
n
c
e
) 

A
re
a
s
 t
o
 b
e
 d
e
te
rm

in
e
d
 

a
n
d
 p
ri
o
ri
ti
s
e
d
 u
n
d
e
r 
3
.7
 

a
b
o
v
e
 

114



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 3
  

 
1
3
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

4
.3
 J
o
in
t 
c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 

a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 

c
o
m
p
a
c
t 
p
ri
n
c
ip
le
s
 

M
a
r 
0
9
?
 

 
J
o
in
t 
c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 a
c
ro
s
s
 

th
e
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

(c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 a
re
a
s
 t
o
 

b
e
 d
e
te
rm

in
e
d
).
 

M
e
a
s
u
ra
b
le
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

a
n
d
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 f
o
r 
u
s
e
rs
; 

a
n
d
 b
e
tt
e
r 
v
a
lu
e
 f
o
r 

m
o
n
e
y
  

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
In
te
g
ra
te
d
 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

(H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
, 

p
a
rt
n
e
r 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
, 

in
c
lu
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 A
lli
a
n
c
e
) 

 

4
.4
 J
o
in
t 
p
ro
c
u
re
m
e
n
t 

c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 w
it
h
 

th
e
 P
C
T
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 

c
o
m
p
a
c
t 
p
ri
n
c
ip
le
s
  

D
e
c
 0
8
 

W
o
rk
in
g
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 W

e
s
t 
M
id
la
n
d
 

re
g
io
n
a
l 
Im

p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

E
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 t
o
 r
e
v
ie
w
 

th
e
 w
a
y
 p
ro
c
u
re
m
e
n
t 
is
 p
e
rf
o
rm

e
d
 

b
y
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 P
C
T
.T
h
e
 

p
ro
c
e
s
s
 h
a
s
 j
u
s
t 
b
e
e
n
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 

a
n
d
 f
e
e
d
b
a
c
k
 w
ill
 b
e
 g
iv
e
n
 m

id
 

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r.
  

  

J
o
in
t 
p
ro
c
u
re
m
e
n
t 

c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
. 

B
e
tt
e
r 
v
a
lu
e
 f
o
r 
m
o
n
e
y
 

D
e
a
n
 H
o
g
a
n
 

(P
C
T
, 
E
le
a
n
o
r 
B
ra
z
il,
 

o
th
e
r 
h
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
, 

th
e
 A
lli
a
n
c
e
) 

 

4
.5
 J
o
in
t 
p
ro
c
u
re
m
e
n
t 

c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 

a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 

c
o
m
p
a
c
t 
p
ri
n
c
ip
le
s
 

M
a
r 
0
9
?
 

A
s
 4
.4
 

J
o
in
t 
p
ro
c
u
re
m
e
n
t 

c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
. 

B
e
tt
e
r 
v
a
lu
e
 f
o
r 
m
o
n
e
y
 

D
e
a
n
 H
o
g
a
n
 

(P
a
rt
n
e
r 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
, 

in
c
lu
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 A
lli
a
n
c
e
, 

h
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
) 
 

 

115



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 3
  

 
1
4
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
le
v
e
l 
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
s
 h
a
v
e
 

b
e
e
n
 r
e
c
o
n
fi
g
u
re
d
, 
s
o
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 

n
e
w
 J
o
in
t 
M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
T
e
a
m
 

c
o
m
p
ri
s
e
s
 b
o
th
 P
C
T
 a
n
d
 C
o
u
n
c
il 

e
m
p
lo
y
e
d
 D
ir
e
c
to
rs
, 
to
g
e
th
e
r 
w
it
h
 

a
 D
e
p
u
ty
 C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 a
n
d
 t
w
o
 

A
s
s
is
ta
n
t 
C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
s
. 
 

T
h
e
 A
s
s
is
ta
n
t 
C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 H
R
 

h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 a
p
p
o
in
te
d
 a
n
d
 i
s
 d
u
e
 t
o
 

ta
k
e
 u
p
 h
e
r 
p
o
s
t 
in
 e
a
rl
y
 

N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r.
 

R
e
c
ru
it
m
e
n
t 
p
ro
c
e
s
s
e
s
 a
re
 

u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
 f
o
r 
th
e
 r
e
m
a
in
in
g
 

e
x
te
rn
a
l 
re
c
ru
it
m
e
n
ts
: 
th
e
 D
ir
e
c
to
r 

o
f 
C
lin
ic
a
l 
L
e
a
d
e
rs
h
ip
 a
n
d
 Q
u
a
lit
y
 

a
n
d
  
th
e
 D
e
p
u
ty
 C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
. 

G
u
id
a
n
c
e
 o
n
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
e
s
 r
e
g
a
rd
in
g
 

th
e
 c
re
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
in
te
g
ra
te
d
 t
e
a
m
s
 

a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 P
C
T
 a
n
d
 C
o
u
n
c
il 

s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
. 

N
e
w
 o
r 
a
d
a
p
te
d
 H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
S
e
rv
ic
e
 

a
p
p
o
in
tm

e
n
ts
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t,
 R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
 D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
s
. 

 

4
.6
 R
e
v
ie
w
 C
o
u
n
c
il/
P
C
T
 

a
n
d
 H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
s
 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

T
h
e
 r
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 g
o
v
e
rn
a
n
c
e
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 (
s
e
e
 4
.8
) 
is
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
in
g
 o
p
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
s
 t
o
 m

e
e
t 

fu
tu
re
 p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
. 

R
e
v
ie
w
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 a
n
d
 

p
ri
o
ri
ti
s
e
d
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 i
n
 

p
la
c
e
 

C
h
ri
s
 B
u
ll,
 G
i 
C
h
e
e
s
m
a
n
 

(O
th
e
r 
d
ir
e
c
to
rs
, 
P
C
T
, 

o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
, 
T
o
n
y
 

G
e
e
s
o
n
, 
J
e
n
n
if
e
r 

W
a
tk
in
s
) 

J
o
in
t 
e
m
e
rg
e
n
c
y
 

p
la
n
n
in
g
 t
e
a
m
 

e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
. 

J
o
in
t 
c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
s
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 

e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
. 

R
e
p
o
rt
 o
n
 j
o
in
t 
re
s
e
a
rc
h
 

c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 

116



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 3
  

 
1
5
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

4
.7
 I
m
p
le
m
e
n
t 
n
e
w
 

C
o
u
n
c
il/
P
C
T
 a
n
d
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
s
 

T
o
 b
e
 

d
e
te
rm

in
e
d
 

u
n
d
e
r 
4
.6
 

A
s
 4
.6
. 

N
e
w
 s
tr
u
c
tu
re
s
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 

a
n
d
 o
p
e
ra
ti
n
g
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
ly
. 

In
te
g
ra
te
d
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 a
n
d
 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 o
p
e
ra
ti
n
g
 

e
ff
ic
ie
n
tl
y
 a
n
d
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
ly
. 

E
ff
ic
ie
n
t 
a
n
d
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 

d
e
liv
e
ry
 o
f 
p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
, 

o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 a
n
d
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 

A
n
d
re
w
 W

ill
ia
m
s
, 
G
i 

C
h
e
e
s
m
a
n
 

(O
th
e
r 
d
ir
e
c
to
rs
, 
P
C
T
, 

o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
, 
T
o
n
y
 

G
e
e
s
o
n
, 
C
h
ri
s
 B
u
c
k
n
e
ll)
 

 

4
.8
 R
e
v
ie
w
 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 g
o
v
e
rn
a
n
c
e
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 

J
u
n
 0
8
 

R
e
v
ie
w
 i
s
 i
n
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 a
n
d
 

e
n
g
a
g
in
g
 w
it
h
 L
S
P
 s
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
 

to
 s
e
c
u
re
 t
h
e
ir
 f
e
e
d
b
a
c
k
, 
le
d
 b
y
 

J
e
n
n
if
e
r 
W
a
tk
in
s
 a
n
d
 O
liv
e
r 

G
o
o
d
e
 (
R
e
g
io
n
a
l 
Im

p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 

a
n
d
 E
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 (
R
IE
P
) 

L
e
a
rn
in
g
 t
o
 D
e
liv
e
r 
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
n
t)
. 
 R
e
p
o
rt
in
g
 t
o
 t
h
e
 L
S
P
 

B
o
a
rd
 r
e
-l
a
u
n
c
h
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
 o
n
 2
9
th
 

J
u
ly
. 

R
e
v
ie
w
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 a
n
d
 

a
c
ti
o
n
 a
g
re
e
d
 

C
h
ri
s
 B
u
ll,
 A
n
d
re
w
 

W
ill
ia
m
s
 

(P
a
rt
n
e
r 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
, 

T
o
n
y
 G
e
e
s
o
n
, 
C
h
ri
s
 

B
u
c
k
n
e
ll)
 

 

4
.9
 I
m
p
le
m
e
n
t 
re
v
is
e
d
 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 g
o
v
e
rn
a
n
c
e
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 

S
e
p
 0
8
 

T
h
e
 G
o
v
e
rn
a
n
c
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 g
o
 t
o
 

th
e
 B
o
a
rd
 a
t 
th
e
 b
e
g
in
n
in
g
 o
f 

O
c
to
b
e
r.
 

N
e
w
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 

p
la
c
e
 a
n
d
 o
p
e
ra
ti
n
g
 

e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
ly
 

C
h
ri
s
 B
u
ll,
 A
n
d
re
w
 

W
ill
ia
m
s
 

(P
a
rt
n
e
r 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
, 

T
o
n
y
 G
e
e
s
o
n
, 
C
h
ri
s
 

B
u
c
k
n
e
ll)
 

 

4
.1
0
 R
e
v
ie
w
 I
C
T
 

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 t
o
 d
e
liv
e
r 

th
is
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

S
e
p
 0
8
 

B
e
in
g
 t
a
k
e
n
 f
o
rw
a
rd
 a
s
  
p
a
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 

re
v
is
e
d
  
H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 C
o
n
n
e
c
ts
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
. 

In
it
ia
l 
re
v
ie
w
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
, 

e
a
rl
y
 p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 a
g
re
e
d
 

D
e
p
u
ty
 C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
, 

H
e
a
d
 o
f 
IC
T
 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 C
o
n
n
e
c
ts
 

117



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 3
  

 
1
6
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

 
 

 
R
e
v
ie
w
 f
in
a
lis
e
d
, 
lo
n
g
e
r-

te
rm

 p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 a
g
re
e
d
 

(H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
, 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
, 

P
C
T
, 
o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
) 

 

4
.1
1
 I
m
p
le
m
e
n
t 
th
e
 I
C
T
 

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
  

T
o
 b
e
 

d
e
te
rm

in
e
d
 

u
n
d
e
r 
4
.1
0
  

 
T
o
 b
e
 d
e
te
rm

in
e
d
 u
n
d
e
r 

4
.1
0
 

H
e
a
d
 o
f 
IC
T
 

(H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
, 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
, 

P
C
T
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
) 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 C
o
n
n
e
c
ts
 

4
.1
2
 E
s
ta
b
lis
h
 

s
tr
e
n
g
th
e
n
e
d
 s
c
ru
ti
n
y
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 t
h
a
t 
w
ill
 

m
a
k
e
 a
 m

a
jo
r 

c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 t
o
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 

a
n
d
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il/
P
C
T
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

In
fo
rm

a
l 
m
e
e
ti
n
g
 o
f 
S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 

M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 C
o
m
m
it
te
e
 h
e
ld
 i
n
 

A
p
ri
l.
  

S
M
C
 a
p
p
ro
v
e
d
 a
 n
e
w
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
p
la
n
 i
n
 J
u
n
e
. 
 T
h
e
re
 

a
re
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 t
o
 h
a
v
e
 a
n
 

in
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 
p
e
e
r 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

d
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 a
u
tu
m
n
. 

S
tr
e
n
g
th
e
n
e
d
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
  

T
o
n
y
 G
e
e
s
o
n
 

(A
la
n
 M
c
L
a
u
g
h
lin
, 

C
o
m
m
it
te
e
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
, 

P
C
T
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
) 

T
h
e
 f
u
ll 
s
c
ru
ti
n
y
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

4
.1
3
 O
p
e
ra
te
 t
h
e
 

s
tr
e
n
g
th
e
n
e
d
 s
c
ru
ti
n
y
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 

S
e
p
 0
8
 

H
a
s
 b
e
g
u
n
. 

S
tr
e
n
g
th
e
n
e
d
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 o
p
e
ra
ti
n
g
 

e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
ly
 

T
o
n
y
 G
e
e
s
o
n
 

(A
la
n
 M
c
L
a
u
g
h
lin
, 

C
o
m
m
it
te
e
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
, 

P
C
T
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
) 

T
h
e
 f
u
ll 
s
c
ru
ti
n
y
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

118



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 3
  

 
1
7
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

W
o
rk
 h
a
s
 b
e
g
u
n
 t
o
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
 a
 j
o
in
t 

H
R
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 e
x
te
n
s
iv
e
 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 s
ta
ff
. 
 

In
v
e
s
to
rs
 i
n
 P
e
o
p
le
 a
c
c
re
d
it
a
ti
o
n
 

c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
s
 t
o
 b
e
 p
u
rs
u
e
d
 b
y
 m

e
a
n
s
 

o
f 
a
n
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 f
o
llo
w
in
g
 i
n
fo
rm

a
l 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t.
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 P
C
T
 o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
. 
 I
n
c
lu
d
e
s
 t
h
e
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
a
 l
e
a
d
e
rs
h
ip
 

fr
a
m
e
w
o
rk
, 
a
n
 i
n
te
rn
a
l 
c
h
a
n
g
e
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
te
a
m
 a
n
d
 m

e
a
s
u
re
s
 

to
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
 t
h
e
 w
o
rk
fo
rc
e
. 

In
it
ia
l 
jo
in
t 
a
c
ti
o
n
s
 a
g
re
e
d
 

a
n
d
 b
e
in
g
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
te
d
. 

 
S
tr
o
n
g
 l
in
k
s
 a
re
 a
ls
o
 b
e
in
g
 f
o
rg
e
d
 

w
it
h
 H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 C
o
n
n
e
c
ts
, 
th
e
 

M
e
m
b
e
r 
D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

(T
h
e
 L
e
a
d
e
rs
h
ip
 C
e
n
tr
e
),
 t
h
e
 

W
o
rl
d
 C
la
s
s
 C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

in
it
ia
ti
v
e
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 P
ro
v
id
e
r 
R
e
v
ie
w
 

o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
. 

 

4
.1
4
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 P
C
T
 

w
o
rk
fo
rc
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

s
tr
a
te
g
y
 t
o
 d
e
liv
e
r 
th
e
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

S
e
p
 0
8
 

 
F
u
ll 
jo
in
t 
s
tr
a
te
g
y
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 

a
n
d
 b
e
in
g
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
te
d
 

G
i 
C
h
e
e
s
m
a
n
 

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 P
la
n
 a
n
d
 

d
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
/s
e
rv
ic
e
 

p
la
n
s
. 

In
v
e
s
to
r 
in
 P
e
o
p
le
 

a
c
c
re
d
it
a
ti
o
n
. 

E
x
is
ti
n
g
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
P
a
y
 a
n
d
 

W
o
rk
fo
rc
e
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
. 

J
o
in
t 
h
e
a
th
 a
n
d
 a
d
u
lt
 

s
o
c
ia
l 
c
a
re
 a
n
d
 

c
h
ild
re
n
’s
 w
o
rk
fo
rc
e
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
s
tr
a
te
g
y
 

b
e
in
g
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
. 

P
ro
v
id
e
r 
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

re
v
ie
w
. 

119



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 3
  

 
1
8
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

F
o
c
u
s
 f
o
r 
n
o
w
 i
s
 o
n
 t
h
e
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 o
f 
C
A
A
 p
re
p
a
ra
ti
o
n
 

s
e
m
in
a
rs
, 
w
h
ic
h
 r
u
n
s
 m

o
n
th
ly
 u
n
ti
l 
 

M
a
rc
h
 0
9
. 

T
h
e
 n
a
tu
re
 a
n
d
 e
x
te
n
t 
o
f 
a
 

b
ro
a
d
e
r 
P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
-w
id
e
 t
ra
in
in
g
 

a
n
d
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 w
ill
 

b
e
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 C
A
A
-

re
la
te
d
 r
o
lli
n
g
 s
e
lf
-e
v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
. 
 

 

In
it
ia
l 
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 a
g
re
e
d
 

a
n
d
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 

4
.1
5
 A
n
n
u
a
l 
tr
a
in
in
g
 a
n
d
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il,
 P
C
T
 a
n
d
 

p
a
rt
n
e
r 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 

h
e
lp
 d
e
liv
e
r 
th
e
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
  

A
u
g
 0
8
 

 
M
e
d
iu
m
-t
e
rm

 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

a
g
re
e
d
 a
n
d
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 (
in
 

lig
h
t 
o
f 
S
R
D
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 

a
n
a
ly
s
is
).
 

P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
s
 d
e
liv
e
re
d
. 

S
h
a
re
d
 u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 o
f 

th
e
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 v
is
io
n
, 

p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 a
n
d
 o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
. 

S
h
a
re
d
 u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 o
f 

e
a
c
h
 o
th
e
r’
s
 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
, 
c
u
lt
u
re
s
 

a
n
d
 h
o
w
 t
o
 w
o
rk
 

e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
ly
 t
o
g
e
th
e
r 
to
 

d
e
liv
e
r 
th
e
 d
e
s
ir
e
d
 

im
p
ro
v
e
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 a
n
d
 

o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
. 

L
iz
 W

a
lla
c
e
 

(P
C
T
, 
o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
) 

C
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
s
 

s
tr
a
te
g
y
 a
n
d
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 

(s
e
e
 s
e
c
ti
o
n
 8
 b
e
lo
w
) 

4
.1
6
 C
o
rp
o
ra
te
, 

d
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
 a
n
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 

in
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 t
o
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 t
h
e
 

c
o
re
 o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 a
n
d
 

th
e
m
e
s
 o
f 
th
e
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
, 
re
la
ti
n
g
 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

In
 p
la
c
e
 f
o
r 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 

in
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 f
ro
m
 M
a
y
 0
8
. 

A
c
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 
d
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
 a
n
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 

in
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 t
o
 b
e
 a
d
d
re
s
s
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

In
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 W

o
rk
in
g
 G
ro
u
p
 a
n
d
 

im
p
le
m
e
n
te
d
 f
ro
m
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r.
 

In
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 d
e
liv
e
re
d
 

s
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu
lly
 

L
iz
 W

a
lla
c
e
, 
h
e
a
d
s
 o
f 

s
e
rv
ic
e
 

(M
a
n
a
g
e
rs
, 
P
C
T
, 
o
th
e
r 

p
a
rt
n
e
r 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
) 

 

120



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 3
  

 
1
9
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

th
e
m
 t
o
 e
a
c
h
 i
n
d
iv
id
u
a
l’s
 

ro
le
 a
n
d
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
ili
ti
e
s
  

im
p
le
m
e
n
te
d
 f
ro
m
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r.
 

J
o
in
t 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 P
C
T
 i
n
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 f
o
r 
n
e
w
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 

P
C
T
 e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
 i
n
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

fo
r 
in
tr
o
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 l
a
te
r 
th
is
 y
e
a
r.
 

4
.1
7
 P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 t
o
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
 u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 

fo
r 
th
e
 r
o
ll-
o
u
t 
o
f 
th
e
 

s
tr
a
te
g
ic
 r
is
k
 

id
e
n
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
p
ro
c
e
s
s
  

M
a
r 
0
8
 

D
ra
ft
 t
ra
in
in
g
 p
la
n
 p
ro
d
u
c
e
d
 f
o
r 

th
e
 n
e
w
, 
jo
in
t 
a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 f
o
r 

ri
s
k
 m

a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
a
g
re
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 P
C
T
. 

T
ra
in
in
g
 i
n
 r
is
k
 m

a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
d
 f
o
r 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
m
e
m
b
e
rs
 

A
u
g
u
s
t 
2
0
0
8
. 
P
ro
v
id
e
d
 t
o
 P
C
T
 

B
o
a
rd
 i
n
 F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 2
0
0
8
. 

F
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
tr
a
in
in
g
 f
o
r 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
, 

w
h
ic
h
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
s
 r
is
k
 m

a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t,
 

b
e
in
g
 r
o
lle
d
 o
u
t 
th
ro
u
g
h
 2
0
0
8
 b
y
 

F
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
. 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 o
f 
ri
s
k
s
 

to
 t
h
e
 L
A
A
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
ir
 m

a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

b
e
in
g
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
  
w
it
h
 e
x
te
rn
a
l 

a
s
s
is
ta
n
c
e
 d
u
ri
n
g
 O
c
t/
N
o
v
 0
8
, 

le
a
d
in
g
 t
o
 a
 r
is
k
 r
e
g
is
te
r 
fo
r 
e
a
c
h
 

o
f 
th
e
 3
5
 L
A
A
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
. 
 

P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 a
g
re
e
d
 a
n
d
 

in
 p
la
c
e
. 

Id
e
n
ti
fi
e
s
 r
is
k
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

p
ro
s
p
e
c
ts
 f
o
r 
th
e
 a
re
a
 

a
n
d
 t
h
e
 p
ri
o
ri
ty
 q
u
a
lit
y
 o
f 

lif
e
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 f
o
r 
a
ll 

g
ro
u
p
s
, 
p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 t
h
o
s
e
 

w
h
o
 a
re
 v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
, 

d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
d
 o
r 
h
a
rd
-t
o
-

h
e
a
r.
 

S
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu
l 
m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

o
f 
th
e
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 r
is
k
s
. 

F
a
v
o
u
ra
b
le
 j
o
in
t 
a
n
n
u
a
l 

ri
s
k
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

in
s
p
e
c
to
ra
te
s
. 

A
n
d
re
w
 R
e
w
e
ll 

(T
o
n
y
 G
e
e
s
o
n
, 
P
C
T
) 

 

121



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 3
  

 
2
0
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

T
w
o
 m

e
m
b
e
rs
’ 
C
A
A
 s
e
m
in
a
rs
 

h
a
v
e
 t
a
k
e
n
 p
la
c
e
. 
M
e
m
b
e
rs
 h
a
v
e
 

a
ls
o
 b
e
e
n
 i
n
v
it
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 n
e
x
t 

p
h
a
s
e
 o
f 
th
e
 g
e
n
e
ra
l 
C
A
A
 

p
re
p
a
ra
ti
o
n
 s
e
m
in
a
r 
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
, 

a
s
 h
a
v
e
 t
h
e
 n
o
n
-e
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 

m
e
m
b
e
rs
 o
f 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
. 

W
o
rk
in
g
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 L
e
a
d
e
rs
h
ip
 

C
e
n
tr
e
, 
p
a
rt
 o
f 
w
h
ic
h
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
s
 

m
e
m
b
e
r 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t.
 

 

C
A
A
 e
le
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
d
 i
n
 

th
e
 M
e
m
b
e
r 
D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

D
e
c
 0
8
 

 
P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
te
d
 

D
e
c
 0
8
 

 
B
e
tt
e
r 
m
u
tu
a
l 

u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 

m
e
m
b
e
rs
, 
p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 a
n
d
 

s
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
 

4
.1
8
 M
e
m
b
e
r 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 t
o
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 

w
h
a
t 
is
 n
e
e
d
e
d
 t
o
 e
q
u
ip
 

m
e
m
b
e
rs
 t
o
 p
la
y
 a
 f
u
lly
 

e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 r
o
le
 i
n
 t
h
e
 C
A
A
 

p
re
p
a
ra
ti
o
n
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

M
a
r 
0
9
 

 
E
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 m

e
m
b
e
r 

c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 t
o
 C
A
A
 

p
re
p
a
ra
ti
o
n
s
 

A
la
n
 M
c
L
a
u
g
h
lin
 

(T
o
n
y
 G
e
e
s
o
n
, 
P
C
T
, 

o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
))
 

M
e
m
b
e
r 
D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
, 
ta
k
in
g
 

a
c
c
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 C
ro
o
k
a
ll 

R
e
p
o
rt
  

4
.1
9
 L
e
a
rn
in
g
 b
y
 m

e
a
n
s
 

o
f 
m
e
m
b
e
rs
 a
n
d
 s
e
n
io
r 

m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
 p
a
rt
ic
ip
a
ti
n
g
 

in
 p
e
e
r 
re
v
ie
w
s
 u
n
d
e
r 

fi
n
a
l 
s
ta
g
e
 o
f 
C
P
A
 

M
a
r 
0
9
 

It
 i
s
 n
o
w
 t
o
o
 l
a
te
 a
s
 t
h
e
 f
in
a
l 

a
u
th
o
ri
ti
e
s
 h
a
v
e
 j
u
s
t 
c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 

th
e
ir
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
. 
 H
o
w
e
v
e
r,
 t
h
e
 

m
e
m
b
e
r 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
p
o
lic
y
 g
ro
u
p
 

h
a
s
 a
s
k
e
d
 f
o
r 
a
 r
e
p
o
rt
 o
n
 p
ro
je
c
ts
 

s
p
o
n
s
o
re
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 r
e
g
io
n
a
l 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 e
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y
 

p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 a
t 
th
e
ir
 n
e
x
t 
m
e
e
ti
n
g
. 

It
 w
ill
 b
e
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
y
 

c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
g
re
a
te
r 
in
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 
in
 

ID
e
A
 s
p
o
n
s
o
re
d
 p
e
e
r 
w
o
rk
 i
n
 

fu
tu
re
. 

S
o
m
e
 m

e
m
b
e
rs
 a
n
d
 

s
e
n
io
r 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
 

p
a
rt
ic
ip
a
te
 i
n
 p
e
e
r 

re
v
ie
w
s
 o
f 
o
th
e
r 
lo
c
a
l 

a
u
th
o
ri
ti
e
s
 

T
o
n
y
 G
e
e
s
o
n
  

 

122



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 3
  

 
2
1
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

4
.2
0
 R
e
v
is
e
 t
h
e
 

s
ta
n
d
a
rd
is
e
d
 c
o
re
 

a
g
e
n
d
a
 f
o
r 
th
e
 q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
 

L
e
a
d
e
r 
a
n
d
 C
h
ie
f 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
’s
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

re
v
ie
w
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
s
 w
it
h
 

in
d
iv
id
u
a
l 
le
a
d
 C
a
b
in
e
t 

a
n
d
 J
M
T
 m

e
m
b
e
rs
 

J
u
ly
 0
8
 

A
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
g
re
e
d
 a
n
d
 w
ill
 

o
p
e
ra
te
 f
ro
m
 O
c
to
b
e
r 
0
8
. 

R
e
v
ie
w
s
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
te
d
 

fr
o
m
 e
n
d
-o
f-
J
u
ly
  

T
o
n
y
 G
e
e
s
o
n
 

(P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
M
a
n
a
g
e
rs
) 

 

123



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 3
  

 
2
2
 

5
. 
E
n
s
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
a
t 
e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
re
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 t
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 a
n
d
 m

a
n
a
g
e
 t
h
e
 r
is
k
s
 t
o
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 t
h
e
 v
is
io
n
, 

p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 a
n
d
 o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

5
.1
 E
s
ta
b
lis
h
 s
h
a
re
d
 

s
tr
a
te
g
ic
 r
is
k
 

id
e
n
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
p
ro
c
e
s
s
 f
o
r 

th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il,
 t
h
e
 P
C
T
 

a
n
d
 t
h
e
ir
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
, 

in
te
g
ra
te
d
 w
it
h
 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
s
y
s
te
m
s
 

a
n
d
 r
e
p
o
rt
in
g
 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

J
o
in
t 
ri
s
k
 m

a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
s
tr
a
te
g
y
, 

p
o
lic
y
 a
n
d
 t
o
o
lk
it
 f
o
r 
u
s
e
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 P
C
T
 a
p
p
ro
v
e
d
 b
y
 P
C
T
 

B
o
a
rd
 i
n
 M
a
rc
h
 a
n
d
 C
a
b
in
e
t 
in
 

M
a
y
. 
 A
ls
o
 a
p
p
ro
v
e
d
 w
a
s
 t
h
e
 u
s
e
 o
f 

a
n
 A
s
s
u
ra
n
c
e
 F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 f
o
r 
jo
in
t 

re
p
o
rt
in
g
 o
f 
a
ll 
e
x
tr
e
m
e
 r
is
k
s
. 

T
h
e
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 

fr
a
m
e
w
o
rk
 f
o
r 
th
e
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

in
c
lu
d
e
s
 t
h
e
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
it
s
 r
is
k
s
 (
s
e
e
 4
.1
 

a
b
o
v
e
).
 

T
h
e
 p
ro
c
u
re
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
 a
n
 i
n
te
g
ra
te
d
 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 a
n
d
 r
is
k
 m

a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

s
y
s
te
m
 i
s
 g
o
in
g
 a
h
e
a
d
 a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
 

th
e
 H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 C
o
n
n
e
c
ts
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
: 
p
re
fe
rr
e
d
 s
u
p
p
lie
rs
 

id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
, 
w
it
h
 e
v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 

re
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 p
la
n
n
e
d
 f
o
r 
O
c
t/
N
o
v
 0
8
  

S
o
u
n
d
 b
a
s
is
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

id
e
n
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

s
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu
l 
m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

o
f 
ri
s
k
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 p
ro
s
p
e
c
ts
 

fo
r 
th
e
 a
re
a
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

p
ri
o
ri
ty
 q
u
a
lit
y
 o
f 
lif
e
 

o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 f
o
r 
a
ll 
g
ro
u
p
s
, 

p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 t
h
o
s
e
 w
h
o
 

a
re
 v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
, 

d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
d
 o
r 
h
a
rd
-

to
-h
e
a
r 

A
n
d
re
w
 R
e
w
e
ll,
 W

e
n
d
y
 

H
u
x
le
y
-M

a
rk
o
, 
T
o
n
y
 

G
e
e
s
o
n
 

(M
ic
h
a
e
l 
H
a
in
g
e
, 
P
o
lic
y
 

a
n
d
 P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
, 
P
C
T
, 

o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
, 
C
h
ri
s
 

B
u
c
k
n
e
ll,
 h
e
a
d
s
 o
f 

s
e
rv
ic
e
, 
p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
) 

J
o
in
t 
a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 t
o
 r
is
k
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
b
e
in
g
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 P
C
T
 b
y
 

A
n
d
re
w
 R
e
w
e
ll 
a
n
d
 

W
e
n
d
y
 H
u
x
le
y
-M

a
rk
o
 

5
.2
 D
o
c
u
m
e
n
te
d
 

c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
, 

in
c
lu
d
in
g
 n
a
m
e
d
 l
e
a
d
 

o
ff
ic
e
rs
, 
in
 p
la
c
e
 a
n
d
 

o
p
e
ra
ti
n
g
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

h
a
n
d
in
g
 o
f 
th
e
 a
n
n
u
a
l 

ri
s
k
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

o
th
e
r 
in
s
p
e
c
ti
o
n
s
 

S
e
p
 0
8
 

T
h
e
 i
n
s
p
e
c
to
ra
te
s
’ 
d
e
ta
ile
d
 

p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 f
o
r 
C
A
A
, 
p
u
b
lis
h
e
d
 i
n
 

J
u
ly
 0
8
, 
n
o
 l
o
n
g
e
r 
d
e
s
c
ri
b
e
 t
h
e
 n
e
w
 

a
re
a
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
a
s
 p
ri
m
a
ri
ly
 a
b
o
u
t 

ri
s
k
. 
 N
o
n
e
th
e
le
s
s
, 
th
e
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 

a
n
d
 m

a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
ri
s
k
s
 w
ill
 

re
m
a
in
 c
ru
c
ia
l 
a
n
d
 w
ill
 b
e
 t
a
k
e
n
 

fo
rw
a
rd
 a
s
 f
o
r 
5
.1
 a
b
o
v
e
. 
 T
h
is
 w
ill
 

b
e
 l
in
k
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 C
A
A
-r
e
la
te
d
 s
e
lf
-

e
v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
 r
o
lli
n
g
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
. 
  

A
g
re
e
d
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 

u
n
d
e
rs
to
o
d
 b
y
 k
e
y
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
 a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il,
 P
C
T
 a
n
d
 

p
ri
n
c
ip
a
l 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
. 

A
g
re
e
d
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 

o
p
e
ra
ti
n
g
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
ly
. 

F
a
v
o
u
ra
b
le
 j
o
in
t 
a
n
n
u
a
l 

ri
s
k
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 

T
o
n
y
 G
e
e
s
o
n
, 
A
n
d
re
w
 

R
e
w
e
ll,
 W

e
n
d
y
 H
u
x
le
y
-

M
a
rk
o
 

(P
o
lic
y
 a
n
d
 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
, 
P
C
T
, 

o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
, 
C
h
ri
s
 

B
u
c
k
n
e
ll,
 h
e
a
d
s
 o
f 

s
e
rv
ic
e
, 
p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
) 

J
o
in
t 
a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 t
o
 r
is
k
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
b
e
in
g
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 P
C
T
 b
y
 

A
n
d
re
w
 R
e
w
e
ll 
a
n
d
 

W
e
n
d
y
 H
u
x
le
y
-M

a
rk
o
  

124



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 3
  

 
2
3
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

o
th
e
r 
ju
d
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

in
s
p
e
c
to
ra
te
s
 

5
.3
 I
m
p
le
m
e
n
t 
th
e
 

s
h
a
re
d
 s
tr
a
te
g
ic
 r
is
k
 

id
e
n
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
p
ro
c
e
s
s
 f
o
r 

th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il,
 t
h
e
 P
C
T
 

a
n
d
 t
h
e
ir
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 

S
e
p
 0
8
 

S
e
e
 5
.1
 a
n
d
 4
.1
7
. 

Id
e
n
ti
fi
e
s
 r
is
k
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

p
ro
s
p
e
c
ts
 f
o
r 
th
e
 a
re
a
 

a
n
d
 t
h
e
 p
ri
o
ri
ty
 q
u
a
lit
y
 o
f 

lif
e
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 f
o
r 
a
ll 

g
ro
u
p
s
, 
p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 

th
o
s
e
 w
h
o
 a
re
 

v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
, 

d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
d
 o
r 
h
a
rd
-

to
-h
e
a
r.
 

S
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu
l 
m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

o
f 
th
e
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 r
is
k
s
. 

F
a
v
o
u
ra
b
le
 j
o
in
t 
a
n
n
u
a
l 

ri
s
k
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

in
s
p
e
c
to
ra
te
s
. 

A
n
d
re
w
 R
e
w
e
ll,
 W

e
n
d
y
 

H
u
x
le
y
-M

a
rk
o
, 
T
o
n
y
 

G
e
e
s
o
n
 

(M
ic
h
a
e
l 
H
a
in
g
e
, 
P
o
lic
y
 

a
n
d
 P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
, 
P
C
T
, 

o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
, 
C
h
ri
s
 

B
u
c
k
n
e
ll,
 h
e
a
d
s
 o
f 

s
e
rv
ic
e
, 
p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
) 

 

125



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 3
  

 
2
4
 

6
. 
E
n
s
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il
, 
w
it
h
 i
ts
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
, 
is
 i
m
p
ro
v
in
g
 w
e
ll
/h
a
s
 p
ro
m
is
in
g
 p
ro
s
p
e
c
ts
 f
o
r 
im

p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
in
 t
h
e
 

d
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
tr
a
v
e
l 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

6
.1
 I
d
e
n
ti
fy
 p
ri
o
ri
ty
 a
re
a
s
 

fo
r 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
a
g
a
in
s
t 

th
e
 m

a
n
d
a
to
ry
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

lo
c
a
l 
a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 

a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
fa
c
to
rs
 

re
le
v
a
n
t 
to
 t
h
e
 D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

M
a
in
 a
re
a
s
 o
f 
c
o
n
c
e
rn
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 i
n
 

th
e
 D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l 
m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 

th
ro
u
g
h
o
u
t 
2
0
0
7
-0
8
 w
e
re
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

a
re
a
s
 o
f 
C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 H
e
a
lt
h
, 

R
e
g
u
la
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 &
 T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
a
ti
o
n
. 

P
ri
o
ri
ty
 a
re
a
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 

K
e
v
in
 L
lo
y
d
 

(D
ir
e
c
to
rs
, 
h
e
a
d
s
 o
f 

s
e
rv
ic
e
, 
p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
) 

F
o
r 
2
0
0
7
-0
8
 P
Is
 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
, 
w
h
ic
h
 w
ill
 

b
e
 t
h
e
 p
ri
m
e
 f
a
c
to
r 
in
 t
h
e
 

F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 2
0
0
9
 D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t,
 

re
g
u
la
r 
re
p
o
rt
s
 t
o
 C
M
B
 

u
n
ti
l 
e
a
rl
y
 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
8
. 

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 P
la
n
 2
0
0
8
-1
1
 

6
.2
 I
d
e
n
ti
fy
 p
ri
o
ri
ty
 a
re
a
s
 

fo
r 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
a
g
a
in
s
t 

p
a
rt
n
e
r 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
’ 

in
d
ic
a
to
rs
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 

fa
c
to
rs
 r
e
le
v
a
n
t 
to
 t
h
e
 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

M
a
in
 a
re
a
s
 c
a
u
s
in
g
 c
o
n
c
e
rn
 d
u
ri
n
g
 

2
0
0
7
-0
8
 w
e
re
 i
n
 r
e
s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 
a
 

n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
th
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 l
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

P
C
T
 a
n
d
 W

e
s
t 
M
e
rc
ia
 

C
o
n
s
ta
b
u
la
ry
. 

P
ri
o
ri
ty
 a
re
a
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 

C
h
ri
s
 B
u
c
k
n
e
ll 

(M
ic
h
a
e
l 
H
a
in
g
e
, 
o
th
e
r 

d
ir
e
c
to
rs
, 
K
e
v
in
 L
lo
y
d
, 

h
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
, 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
, 

P
C
T
, 
o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
) 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
. 

T
h
e
 n
e
w
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
re
a
 

A
g
re
e
m
e
n
t.
 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

A
re
a
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 i
n
 6
.1
 a
b
o
v
e
 a
re
 

in
c
lu
d
e
d
 i
n
 r
e
le
v
a
n
t 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 p
la
n
s
 

a
n
d
 w
ill
 b
e
 m

o
n
it
o
re
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
o
u
t 

th
e
 y
e
a
r 
a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 

n
e
w
 c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

re
p
o
rt
s
. 

A
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
, 
w
it
h
 

th
e
 r
e
le
v
a
n
t 
e
le
m
e
n
ts
 

in
c
lu
d
e
d
 i
n
 

d
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
/s
e
rv
ic
e
 p
la
n
s
 

M
a
r 
0
9
 

 
A
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
te
d
 

M
a
r 
0
9
 

 
Im

p
ro
v
e
d
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

a
g
a
in
s
t 
in
d
ic
a
to
rs
 

6
.3
 A
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 f
o
r 

p
ri
o
ri
ti
s
e
d
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 

in
 l
o
c
a
l 
a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

in
d
ic
a
to
r 
p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
fa
c
to
rs
 

re
le
v
a
n
t 
to
 t
h
e
 D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
to
 

im
p
ro
v
e
 t
h
e
 r
a
ti
n
g
 i
n
 

F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 2
0
1
0
 

F
e
b
 1
0
 

 
H
ig
h
e
r 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

ra
ti
n
g
 

K
e
v
in
 L
lo
y
d
 

(D
ir
e
c
to
rs
, 
h
e
a
d
s
 o
f 

s
e
rv
ic
e
, 
p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
) 
 

F
o
r 
2
0
0
7
-0
8
 P
Is
 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
, 
w
h
ic
h
 w
ill
 

b
e
 t
h
e
 p
ri
m
e
 f
a
c
to
r 
in
 t
h
e
 

F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 2
0
0
9
 d
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

o
f 
tr
a
v
e
l 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t,
 

re
g
u
la
r 
re
p
o
rt
s
 t
o
 C
M
B
 

u
n
ti
l 
e
a
rl
y
 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
8
. 

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 P
la
n
 2
0
0
8
-1
1
 

126



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 3
  

 
2
5
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

P
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 m

a
d
e
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 n
e
w
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

in
d
ic
a
to
r 
s
e
t,
 w
it
h
 e
a
c
h
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 

h
a
v
in
g
 a
n
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
le
a
d
 t
o
 

e
n
s
u
re
 f
o
c
u
s
 i
s
 m

a
in
ta
in
e
d
. 

T
h
e
s
e
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 w
ill
 b
e
 

in
c
lu
d
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 

fr
a
m
e
w
o
rk
 (
s
e
e
 4
.1
 a
b
o
v
e
).
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 

M
a
r 
0
9
 

 
A
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
te
d
 

M
a
r 
0
9
 

 
Im

p
ro
v
e
d
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

a
g
a
in
s
t 
in
d
ic
a
to
rs
 

6
.4
 A
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 f
o
r 

p
ri
o
ri
ti
s
e
d
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 

in
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
’ 
in
d
ic
a
to
r 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 

fa
c
to
rs
 r
e
le
v
a
n
t 
to
 t
h
e
 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
to
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 

th
e
 r
a
ti
n
g
 i
n
 F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 

2
0
1
0
 

F
e
b
 1
0
 

 
H
ig
h
e
r 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

ra
ti
n
g
 

C
h
ri
s
 B
u
c
k
n
e
ll 

(M
ic
h
a
e
l 
H
a
in
g
e
, 
o
th
e
r 

d
ir
e
c
to
rs
, 
K
e
v
in
 L
lo
y
d
, 

h
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
, 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
, 

P
C
T
, 
o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
) 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
. 

T
h
e
 n
e
w
 L
o
c
a
l 
A
re
a
 

A
g
re
e
m
e
n
t.
 

6
.5
 E
v
id
e
n
c
e
-b
a
s
e
d
 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l 
s
e
lf
–

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
fo
r 
th
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
. 

 
 

 

In
it
ia
l 
s
e
lf
-a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

b
a
s
e
d
 o
n
 C
P
A
 K
e
y
 

L
in
e
s
 o
f 
E
n
q
u
ir
y
 a
n
d
 

c
u
rr
e
n
t 
p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 f
o
r 

C
A
A
. 

S
e
p
t 
0
8
 

E
v
id
e
n
c
e
 

o
f 

o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 

b
e
in
g
 

a
s
s
e
m
b
le
d
. 
W
ill
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 

ro
lli
n
g
 
s
e
lf
-e
v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
 
fo
r 

C
A
A
. 

M
e
e
ti
n
g
 

h
e
ld
 

w
it
h
 

A
u
d
it
 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
 o
n
 1
2
th
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
to
 

d
is
c
u
s
s
 

th
e
ir
 

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
; 
  

e
x
is
ti
n
g
 e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 s
o
u
rc
e
s
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
. 

A
w
a
it
in
g
 c
o
n
fi
rm

a
ti
o
n
 a
s
 t
o
 w
h
e
th
e
r 
 

m
o
re
 
w
ill
 
b
e
 
n
e
e
d
e
d
, 
o
v
e
r 
a
n
d
 

a
b
o
v
e
 

th
e
 

in
it
ia
l 

C
A
A
 

s
e
lf
-

e
v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
  

H
ig
h
e
r 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

ra
ti
n
g
 i
n
 C
P
A
 D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 

T
ra
v
e
l 

K
e
v
in
 L
lo
y
d
 

(D
ir
e
c
to
rs
, 

h
e
a
d
s
 

o
f 

s
e
rv
ic
e
, 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
) 

 

127



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 3
  

 
2
6
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

J
a
n
 0
9
 

 
S
u
b
s
e
q
u
e
n
t 
s
e
lf
-

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 b
a
s
e
d
 o
n
 

p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 C
A
A
 

F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 (
d
u
e
 f
o
r 

p
u
b
lic
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 J
u
ly
, 
a
n
d
 

fi
n
a
lis
e
d
 i
n
 J
a
n
u
a
ry
) 

M
a
r 
0
9
 (
a
n
d
 

q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
 

th
e
re
a
ft
e
r)
 

 

S
o
u
n
d
 C
A
A
 r
a
ti
n
g
 (
to
 b
e
 

d
e
fi
n
e
d
 c
le
a
rl
y
 i
n
 l
ig
h
t 
o
f 

th
e
 f
in
a
l 
C
A
A
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
) 

 
 

128



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 3
  

 
2
7
 

7
. 
E
n
s
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il
, 
w
it
h
 i
ts
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
, 
is
 c
o
n
s
is
te
n
tl
y
 a
b
o
v
e
 m

in
im

u
m
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
, 
p
e
rf
o
rm

in
g
 w
e
ll
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

u
s
e
 o
f 
re
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

7
.1
 I
d
e
n
ti
fy
 p
ri
o
ri
ty
 a
re
a
s
 

fo
r 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
a
g
a
in
s
t 

th
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 n
e
w
 u
s
e
 o
f 

re
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 

c
ri
te
ri
a
, 
w
it
h
 p
a
rt
ic
u
la
r 

e
m
p
h
a
s
is
 o
n
 i
m
p
ro
v
in
g
 

v
a
lu
e
 f
o
r 
m
o
n
e
y
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 

im
p
ro
v
e
d
 s
y
s
te
m
s
 a
n
d
 

p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
s
  

M
a
r 
0
8
 

T
h
e
 n
e
w
 U
s
e
 o
f 
R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
w
a
s
 a
n
ti
c
ip
a
te
d
 t
o
 

a
p
p
ly
 t
o
 2
0
0
8
 b
u
t 
is
 n
o
t 
n
o
w
 t
o
 b
e
 

in
tr
o
d
u
c
e
d
 u
n
ti
l 
2
0
0
9
. 

In
 t
h
e
 i
n
te
ri
m
, 
th
e
 H
e
a
d
 o
f 
F
in
a
n
c
ia
l 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 h
a
s
 j
o
in
e
d
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
ty
 

T
re
a
s
u
re
r’
s
 V
F
M
 N
e
tw
o
rk
, 
a
n
d
 i
s
 

c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
n
g
 t
o
 t
h
e
 c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 

n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
d
a
ta
 o
n
 V
F
M
..
 T
h
e
 f
ir
s
t 

c
o
m
p
le
te
 s
e
t 
o
f 
in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 w
a
s
 

re
c
e
iv
e
d
 e
a
rl
y
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
a
n
d
 i
s
 

b
e
in
g
 e
v
a
lu
a
te
d
. 

T
h
e
 H
e
a
d
 o
f 
F
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 i
s
 

in
 r
e
g
u
la
r 
d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 A
u
d
it
 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
 a
b
o
u
t 
th
e
 f
o
rt
h
c
o
m
in
g
 

c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 a
n
d
 g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 o
n
 t
h
e
 n
e
w
 

p
ro
c
e
s
s
. 

H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
d
 a
 

p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 o
n
 t
h
e
 n
e
w
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
o
n
 1
2
th
 J
u
n
e
. 

P
ri
o
ri
ty
 a
re
a
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 

a
n
d
 r
e
fl
e
c
te
d
 i
n
 a
n
 

u
p
d
a
te
d
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 

S
o
n
ia
 R
e
e
s
, 
D
a
v
id
 

P
o
w
e
ll 

(D
ir
e
c
to
rs
, 
G
i 

C
h
e
e
s
m
a
n
, 
A
la
n
 

M
c
L
a
u
g
h
lin
, 
o
th
e
r 
h
e
a
d
s
 

o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
, 
p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
) 

M
e
d
iu
m
 T
e
rm

 F
in
a
n
c
ia
l 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
S
tr
a
te
g
y
. 

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 P
la
n
 2
0
0
8
-1
1
. 

A
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 a
lr
e
a
d
y
 i
n
 

h
a
n
d
 t
o
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 i
n
 2
0
0
7
-0
8
; 

s
h
o
u
ld
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 t
h
e
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
in
 F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 

2
0
0
9
; 
b
e
in
g
 u
p
d
a
te
d
 i
n
 

th
e
 l
ig
h
t 
o
f 
th
e
 l
a
te
s
t 

A
u
d
it
 C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
 

c
ri
te
ri
a
 a
n
d
 c
o
m
m
o
n
 

th
e
m
e
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 

R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
’ 
s
p
e
c
ia
l 

re
p
o
rt
, 
th
e
 C
ro
o
k
a
ll 

R
e
p
o
rt
 a
n
d
 f
e
e
d
b
a
c
k
 

fr
o
m
 t
h
e
 I
n
v
e
s
to
r 
in
 

P
e
o
p
le
 i
n
fo
rm

a
l 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

S
e
e
 7
.1
 a
b
o
v
e
. 

A
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
  

M
a
r 
0
9
 

 
A
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
te
d
 

7
.2
 A
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 f
o
r 

p
ri
o
ri
ti
s
e
d
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 

a
g
a
in
s
t 
th
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 

n
e
w
 u
s
e
 o
f 
re
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
c
ri
te
ri
a
, 

in
c
lu
d
in
g
 m

ile
s
to
n
e
s
 t
h
a
t 

F
e
b
 0
9
 &
 F
e
b
 

1
0
 

 
Im

p
ro
v
e
d
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

a
g
a
in
s
t 
th
e
 c
ri
te
ri
a
 

S
o
n
ia
 R
e
e
s
, 
D
a
v
id
 

P
o
w
e
ll 

(D
ir
e
c
to
rs
, 
h
e
a
d
s
 o
f 

s
e
rv
ic
e
, 
p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
) 

A
s
 f
o
r 
7
.1
 a
b
o
v
e
 

129



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 3
  

 
2
8
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

in
c
lu
d
in
g
 m

ile
s
to
n
e
s
 t
h
a
t 

c
o
u
ld
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 t
h
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 r
a
ti
n
g
 

F
e
b
 0
9
 &
 F
e
b
 

1
0
 

 
A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
ra
ti
n
g
 o
f 

c
o
n
s
is
te
n
tl
y
 a
b
o
v
e
 

m
in
im
u
m
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
, 

p
e
rf
o
rm

in
g
 w
e
ll 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
) 

 

J
a
n
 0
9
 

7
.3
 E
v
id
e
n
c
e
-b
a
s
e
d
 U
s
e
 

o
f 
R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 s
e
lf
-

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
fo
r 
th
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il  

M
a
r 
0
9
 (
a
n
d
 

q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
 

th
e
re
a
ft
e
r)
 

 
Im

p
ro
v
e
d
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

a
g
a
in
s
t 
th
e
 c
ri
te
ri
a
 

A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
ra
ti
n
g
 o
f 

c
o
n
s
is
te
n
tl
y
 a
b
o
v
e
 

m
in
im
u
m
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
, 

p
e
rf
o
rm

in
g
 w
e
ll 

S
o
n
ia
 R
e
e
s
, 
D
a
v
id
 

P
o
w
e
ll 

(D
ir
e
c
to
rs
, 
h
e
a
d
s
 o
f 

s
e
rv
ic
e
, 
p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
) 

 

7
.4
 D
a
ta
 q
u
a
lit
y
 p
o
lic
y
, 

a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 a
n
d
 

p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
s
 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

D
a
ta
 Q
u
a
lit
y
 P
o
lic
y
 a
p
p
ro
v
e
d
 b
y
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 
in
 A
p
ri
l.
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 a
n
d
 b
e
in
g
 

im
p
le
m
e
n
te
d
. 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
a
u
d
it
 t
o
o
k
 p
la
c
e
 i
n
 J
u
ly
. 

P
o
s
it
iv
e
 i
n
fo
rm

a
l 
fe
e
d
b
a
c
k
. 
R
e
p
o
rt
 

a
w
a
it
e
d
. 

M
e
e
t 
a
) 
th
e
 A
u
d
it
 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
 b
e
s
t 

p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 c
ri
te
ri
a
 a
n
d
 b
) 

IS
O
 s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 f
o
r 
d
a
ta
 

q
u
a
lit
y
 a
n
d
 s
e
c
u
ri
ty
 

T
o
n
y
 G
e
e
s
o
n
, 
J
o
h
n
 

P
ri
tc
h
a
rd
 

(H
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
, 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
, 

A
n
th
o
n
y
 S
a
w
y
e
r)
 

D
a
ta
 s
h
a
ri
n
g
 p
o
lic
y
 a
n
d
 

p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
s
 b
e
in
g
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 b
y
 A
n
th
o
n
y
 

S
a
w
y
e
r 

130



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 3
  

 
2
9
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

7
.5
 R
a
ti
o
n
a
lis
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 

b
a
c
k
-o
ff
ic
e
 

a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

E
x
te
rn
a
l 
c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
n
ts
 w
e
re
 

a
p
p
o
in
te
d
 i
n
 J
u
ly
 t
o
 c
a
rr
y
 o
u
t 
a
n
 

o
p
ti
o
n
s
 a
p
p
ra
is
a
l 
a
n
d
 g
iv
e
 

re
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 o
n
 t
h
e
 p
re
fe
rr
e
d
 

m
e
th
o
d
 o
f 
d
e
liv
e
ry
. 
A
n
 i
n
it
ia
l 
re
p
o
rt
 

o
n
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 w
a
s
 m

a
d
e
 t
o
 C
o
u
n
c
il 

a
n
d
 P
C
T
 o
ff
ic
e
rs
 i
n
 A
u
g
u
s
t.
 T
h
e
 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
n
ts
 w
ill
 s
u
b
m
it
 t
h
e
ir
 f
in
a
l 

re
p
o
rt
 o
n
 2
6
th
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r.
 

T
h
e
re
a
ft
e
r 
o
ff
ic
e
rs
 w
ill
 s
u
b
m
it
 a
 

re
p
o
rt
 t
o
 S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 

C
o
m
m
it
te
e
 i
n
 O
c
to
b
e
r 
a
n
d
 t
o
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 
in
 N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r.
 

T
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
w
ill
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 a
s
s
e
s
s
 

fu
n
d
in
g
 i
m
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 a
n
d
 p
re
p
a
re
 

d
e
ta
ile
d
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
a
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 
fi
n
a
l 

p
ro
c
u
re
m
e
n
t,
 a
im
in
g
 f
o
r 
a
 s
it
e
 s
ta
rt
 

in
 m

id
 2
0
0
9
. 

T
h
e
 b
a
c
k
-o
ff
ic
e
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 w
ill
 h
a
v
e
 

im
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 
o
th
e
r 
a
re
a
s
 o
f 

s
e
rv
ic
e
 d
e
liv
e
ry
. 
A
 s
u
b
-p
ro
je
c
t 
to
 

p
ro
v
id
e
 a
 r
e
p
la
c
e
m
e
n
t 
d
a
ta
 c
e
n
tr
e
 

a
n
d
 M
o
d
e
rn
 R
e
c
o
rd
s
 s
to
ra
g
e
 

fa
c
ili
ti
e
s
 i
s
 a
lr
e
a
d
y
 u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
. 
O
th
e
r 

s
u
b
-p
ro
je
c
ts
 r
e
g
a
rd
in
g
 s
h
a
re
d
 

p
u
b
lic
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 f
ro
n
t 
o
ff
ic
e
, 
lo
c
a
lit
y
 

o
ff
ic
e
s
/t
o
u
c
h
d
o
w
n
, 
lib
ra
ry
 

h
e
a
d
q
u
a
rt
e
rs
 a
n
d
 a
rc
h
iv
e
 f
a
c
ili
ty
 

w
ill
 b
e
 s
c
o
p
e
d
. 

P
la
n
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 

S
o
n
ia
 R
e
e
s
, 
M
a
lc
o
lm
 

M
a
c
A
s
k
ill
 

(P
C
T
, 
o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
) 

 

131



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 3
  

 
3
0
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

 
D
e
c
 1
0
 

 
A
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 

ra
ti
o
n
a
lis
e
d
. 

M
e
a
s
u
ra
b
le
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 

e
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y
, 
e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
n
e
s
s
 

a
n
d
 v
a
lu
e
 f
o
r 
m
o
n
e
y
 

 
 

7
.6
 R
a
ti
o
n
a
lis
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 

fr
o
n
t 
a
n
d
 b
a
c
k
-o
ff
ic
e
 

fu
n
c
ti
o
n
s
  

T
o
 b
e
 

d
e
te
rm

in
e
d
 

 
F
u
n
c
ti
o
n
s
 r
a
ti
o
n
a
lis
e
d
. 

M
e
a
s
u
ra
b
le
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 

e
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y
, 
e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
n
e
s
s
 

a
n
d
 v
a
lu
e
 f
o
r 
m
o
n
e
y
. 

C
h
ri
s
 B
u
ll 

 

132



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 3
  

 
3
1
 

8
. 
E
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 t
o
 m

e
m
b
e
rs
, 
s
ta
ff
, 
p
a
rt
n
e
rs
, 
s
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 p
u
b
li
c
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

In
it
ia
l 
a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 p
re
p
a
re
d
, 

c
o
v
e
ri
n
g
 C
o
u
n
c
il,
 P
C
T
 a
n
d
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
a
s
 a
 

w
h
o
le
, 
n
o
t 
ju
s
t 
in
 r
e
s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 
th
is
 

C
A
A
 p
re
p
a
ra
ti
o
n
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
. 
  

S
e
m
in
a
rs
 h
e
ld
 f
o
r 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
m
e
m
b
e
rs
 

a
n
d
 o
ff
ic
e
rs
. 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
M
e
m
b
e
rs
 a
n
d
 

o
ff
ic
e
rs
, 
a
n
d
 p
a
rt
n
e
r 
n
o
n
-

e
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
s
 a
n
d
 o
ff
ic
e
rs
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
  

in
v
it
e
d
 t
o
  
th
e
 n
e
w
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 o
f 

s
e
m
in
a
rs
. 
 

F
ir
s
t 
P
re
s
s
, 
T
e
a
m
 T
a
lk
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 P
C
T
 m

e
d
ia
 u
s
e
d
 t
o
 

ra
is
e
 a
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
. 
  

A
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 t
o
 b
e
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 

in
 t
h
e
 l
ig
h
t 
o
f 
th
e
 c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d
 C
A
A
 

fr
a
m
e
w
o
rk
 a
n
d
 d
e
ta
ile
d
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
. 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
 a
n
d
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 

in
 p
la
c
e
 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

 
T
h
e
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 a
n
d
 i
ts
 

c
o
n
s
ti
tu
e
n
t 
p
a
rt
s
 a
re
 

u
n
d
e
rs
to
o
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

re
le
v
a
n
t 
a
u
d
ie
n
c
e
s
 

8
.1
 C
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
s
 

s
tr
a
te
g
y
 a
n
d
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 

d
e
s
ig
n
e
d
 a
n
d
 r
o
lle
d
 o
u
t 

S
e
p
 0
8
 

 
C
o
m
m
it
te
d
 a
n
d
 

m
o
ti
v
a
te
d
 m

e
m
b
e
rs
, 

s
ta
ff
 a
n
d
 p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 

R
o
b
e
rt
 B
lo
w
e
r 

(T
o
n
y
 G
e
e
s
o
n
, 
S
te
v
e
 

M
a
rt
in
, 
h
e
a
d
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
, 

P
C
T
, 
o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
r 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
) 

T
h
e
 w
id
e
r 
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 i
n
 

re
s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 

a
n
d
 t
h
e
 H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
’s
 r
e
p
u
ta
ti
o
n
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
 

133



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 3
  

 
3
2
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

W
H

E
N

 
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 
O

F
F

IC
E

R
 (

a
n

d
 o

th
e
rs

 
w

it
h

 a
 m

a
jo

r 
ro

le
) 

R
E

L
E

V
A

N
T

 
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

M
E

S
/ 

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

S
 &

 O
T

H
E

R
 

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

 

D
e
c
 0
8
 

 
S
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 

c
e
n
tr
a
l 
g
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

th
e
 p
u
b
lic
, 
u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
 

th
e
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 a
n
d
 a
re
 

im
p
re
s
s
e
d
 b
y
 w
h
a
t 
it
 i
s
 

a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
  

 

M
a
r 
0
9
 

 
Im

p
ro
v
e
d
 p
u
b
lic
 

s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 r
a
ti
n
g
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 
o
v
e
ra
ll 
 

 
 

 

134



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 4
 

 
1

P
re
p
a
ri
n
g
 f
o
r 
C
o
m
p
re
h
e
n
s
iv
e
 A
re
a
 A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t:
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 s
e
m
in
a
r 
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
  

 O
b
je
c
ti
v
e
 

 T
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
m
e
m
b
e
rs
, 
n
o
n
-e
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 m

e
m
b
e
rs
 a
n
d
 m

a
n
a
g
e
rs
 a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 H

e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 h
a
v
e
 a
 g
o
o
d
 u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 o
f 

th
e
 
p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 
a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 
fo
r 
C
o
m
p
re
h
e
n
s
iv
e
 
A
re
a
 
A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 
w
h
a
t 
n
e
e
d
s
 
to
 
b
e
 
d
o
n
e
 
to
 
p
re
p
a
re
 
fo
r 
th
e
m
. 
 
T
h
is
 
is
 
s
o
 
th
a
t 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 i
s
 j
u
d
g
e
d
 t
o
 b
e
 d
o
in
g
 w

e
ll 
a
n
d
 t
o
 h
a
v
e
 g
o
o
d
 p
ro
s
p
e
c
ts
 f
o
r 
s
u
s
ta
in
e
d
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
in
 t
h
e
 y
e
a
rs
 a
h
e
a
d
 t
h
a
t 
w
ill
 d
e
liv
e
r 
im

p
ro
v
e
d
 

lif
e
-c
h
a
n
c
e
s
 a
n
d
 q
u
a
lit
y
 o
f 
lif
e
 f
o
r 
a
ll 
th
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 o
f 
th
e
 c
o
u
n
ty
. 

 T
h
e
 s
e
m
in
a
rs
 

 D
a
te
, 
ti
m
e
 a
n
d
 v
e
n
u
e
  
F
o
r 
 

C
o
n
te
n
t 

1
9
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 

9
.0
0
a
m
 –
 1
1
.3
0
a
m
 

T
o
w
n
 H
a
ll,
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

C
h
a
m
b
e
r 

  

A
ll 

1
. 

P
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
 o
f 
th
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 C

A
A
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 

 2
. 

P
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
, 
le
d
 b
y
 M

ik
e
 T
o
n
e
y
, 
H
e
a
d
 o
f 
B
e
n
e
fi
t 

a
n
d
 E
x
c
h
e
q
u
e
r 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
, 
o
f 
h
o
w
 o
n
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 a
re
a
 h
a
s
 s
e
c
u
re
d
 

s
u
b
s
ta
n
ti
a
l 
im

p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 i
s
 p
re
p
a
ri
n
g
 t
o
 m

e
e
t 
fu
tu
re
 

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
  

2
5
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 

2
.3
0
p
m
 –
 5
.0
0
p
m
 

A
rt
s
 R

o
o
m
, 
C
o
u
rt
y
a
rd
 

T
h
e
a
tr
e
 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 t
h
e
m
e
 g
ro
u
p
s
  

  
 

1
. 

P
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
 o
f 
th
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 C

A
A
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 

 2
. 

A
g
re
e
m
e
n
t 
a
b
o
u
t 
w
h
a
t 
th
e
m
e
 g
ro
u
p
s
 w
ill
 d
o
 t
o
 f
u
lf
il 
th
e
ir
 

c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 

 

8
 O

c
to
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
  

9
.3
0
a
m
 –
 1
1
.3
0
a
m
 

B
ro
c
k
in
g
to
n
, 
C
o
u
n
c
il 

C
h
a
m
b
e
r 

A
ll 
 

1
. 

B
ri
e
f 
re
fr
e
s
h
e
r 
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 C

A
A
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
  

 2
. 

P
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
, 
le
d
 b
y
  
P
a
u
l 
N
ic
h
o
la
s
, 
A
c
ti
n
g
 H
e
a
d
 

o
f 
E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 
H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 T
ra
d
in
g
 S
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
, 
o
f 
h
o
w
 o
n
e
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
 a
re
a
 h
a
s
 s
e
c
u
re
d
 s
u
b
s
ta
n
ti
a
l 
im

p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 i
s
 

p
re
p
a
ri
n
g
 t
o
 m

e
e
t 
fu
tu
re
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 

 3
. 

P
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
 o
f 
h
o
w
 o
n
e
 p
a
rt
n
e
r 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
 o
r 

p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 –
 t
o
 b
e
 c
o
n
fi
rm
e
d
 -
 h
a
s
 s
e
c
u
re
d
 s
u
b
s
ta
n
ti
a
l 

135



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 4
 

 
2

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 i
s
 p
re
p
a
ri
n
g
 t
o
 m

e
e
t 
fu
tu
re
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 

 

1
4
 N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 

9
.0
0
a
m
 –
 1
1
.3
0
a
m
 

T
o
w
n
 H
a
ll,
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

C
h
a
m
b
e
r 

A
ll 

1
. 

U
p
-d
a
te
 o
n
 C

A
A
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
 

 2
. 
 
P
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
, 
le
d
 b
y
 C
h
ri
s
 B
a
ir
d
, 
H
e
a
d
 o
f 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
, 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 a
n
d
 D

e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t,
 C
h
ild
re
n
’s
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
, 
o
f 

h
o
w
 o
n
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 a
re
a
 h
a
s
 s
e
c
u
re
d
 s
u
b
s
ta
n
ti
a
l 
im

p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 

is
 p
re
p
a
ri
n
g
 t
o
 m

e
e
t 
fu
tu
re
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 

 3
. 
 
P
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
 o
f 
h
o
w
 o
n
e
 p
a
rt
n
e
r 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
 o
r 

p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 –
 t
o
 b
e
 c
o
n
fi
rm
e
d
 -
 h
a
s
 s
e
c
u
re
d
 s
u
b
s
ta
n
ti
a
l 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 i
s
 p
re
p
a
ri
n
g
 t
o
 m

e
e
t 
fu
tu
re
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
  
  

  

8
 D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
  

9
.0
0
a
m
 –
 1
1
.3
0
a
m
 

T
o
w
n
 H
a
ll,
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

C
h
a
m
b
e
r 

A
ll 

1
. 
 
U
p
-d
a
te
 o
n
 C

A
A
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
 

 2
. 
 
P
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
, 
le
d
 b
y
  
E
le
a
n
o
r 
B
ra
z
il,
 I
n
te
ri
m
 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
, 
o
f 
h
o
w
 o
n
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 a
re
a
 h
a
s
 

s
e
c
u
re
d
 s
u
b
s
ta
n
ti
a
l 
im

p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 i
s
 p
re
p
a
ri
n
g
 t
o
 m

e
e
t 
fu
tu
re
 

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 

 3
. 
 
P
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
 o
f 
h
o
w
 o
n
e
 p
a
rt
n
e
r 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
 o
r 

p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 -
 t
o
 b
e
 c
o
n
fi
rm
e
d
 -
 h
a
s
 s
e
c
u
re
d
 s
u
b
s
ta
n
ti
a
l 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 i
s
 p
re
p
a
ri
n
g
 t
o
 m

e
e
t 
fu
tu
re
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 

 

3
0
 J
a
n
u
a
ry
 2
0
0
9
 

1
0
.0
0
a
m
 -
 1
2
.3
0
p
m
 

B
ro
c
k
in
g
to
n
, 
C
o
u
n
c
il 

C
h
a
m
b
e
r 

A
ll 

1
. 

If
 a
n
n
o
u
n
c
e
d
, 
c
o
n
fi
rm

a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 f
in
a
l 
C
A
A
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 –
 i
n
 a
n
y
 

c
a
s
e
, 
M
a
ry
-A

n
n
 B
ru
c
e
, 
C
o
m
p
re
h
e
n
s
iv
e
 A
re
a
 A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
L
e
a
d
, 

A
u
d
it
 C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
 w
ill
 b
e
 a
tt
e
n
d
in
g
. 

 2
. 
 
P
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
, 
le
d
 b
y
 N
a
ta
lia
 S
ilv
e
r,
 H

e
a
d
 o
f 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 a
n
d
 C

o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
, 
o
f 
h
o
w
 o
n
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 a
re
a
 h
a
s
 

s
e
c
u
re
d
 s
u
b
s
ta
n
ti
a
l 
im

p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 i
s
 p
re
p
a
ri
n
g
 t
o
 m

e
e
t 
fu
tu
re
 

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 

 3
. 

P
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
 o
f 
h
o
w
 o
n
e
 p
a
rt
n
e
r 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
 o
r 

136



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 4
 

 
3

p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 –
 t
o
 b
e
 c
o
n
fi
rm
e
d
 -
 h
a
s
 s
e
c
u
re
d
 s
u
b
s
ta
n
ti
a
l 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 i
s
 p
re
p
a
ri
n
g
 t
o
 m

e
e
t 
fu
tu
re
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 

 

2
4
 F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 2
0
0
9
  

9
.0
0
a
m
 –
 1
1
.3
0
a
m
 

T
o
w
n
 H
a
ll,
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

C
h
a
m
b
e
r 

A
ll 

1
. 
 
U
p
-d
a
te
 o
n
 C

A
A
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
 

 2
. 
 
P
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
 o
f 
h
o
w
 o
n
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 a
re
a
 –
 t
o
 

b
e
 c
o
n
fi
rm
e
d
 -
 h
a
s
 s
e
c
u
re
d
 s
u
b
s
ta
n
ti
a
l 
im

p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 i
s
 

p
re
p
a
ri
n
g
 t
o
 m

e
e
t 
fu
tu
re
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 

 3
. 
 
P
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
 o
f 
h
o
w
 o
n
e
 p
a
rt
n
e
r 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
 o
r 

p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 –
 t
o
 b
e
 c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d
 -
 h
a
s
 s
e
c
u
re
d
 s
u
b
s
ta
n
ti
a
l 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 i
s
 p
re
p
a
ri
n
g
 t
o
 m

e
e
t 
fu
tu
re
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 

 

3
1
 M

a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
 

1
4
.0
0
p
m
 t
o
 1
6
.3
0
p
m
 

B
ro
c
k
in
g
to
n
, 
C
o
u
n
c
il 

C
h
a
m
b
e
r 

  

A
ll 

1
. 
 
U
p
-d
a
te
 o
n
 C

A
A
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
 

 2
. 
 
P
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
, 
le
d
 b
y
 D
a
v
id
 P
o
w
e
ll,
 H
e
a
d
 o
f 

F
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
, 
o
f 
h
o
w
 o
n
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 a
re
a
  
h
a
s
 s
e
c
u
re
d
 

s
u
b
s
ta
n
ti
a
l 
im

p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 i
s
 p
re
p
a
ri
n
g
 t
o
 m

e
e
t 
fu
tu
re
 

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 

 3
. 
 
P
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
 o
f 
h
o
w
 o
n
e
 p
a
rt
n
e
r 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
 o
r 

p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 h
a
s
 s
e
c
u
re
d
 s
u
b
s
ta
n
ti
a
l 
im

p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 i
s
 

p
re
p
a
ri
n
g
 t
o
 m

e
e
t 
fu
tu
re
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 

 

137



138



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE 20 OCTOBER 2008 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from  

David Powell, Head of Financial Services on 01432 383173 

 

 

SMCBudgetMonitoring2008090.doc 

 BUDGET MONITORING 2008/09 

Report By: Director of Resources 

 

Wards Affected 

 County-wide. 

Purpose 

1. To report on the Council’s performance against revenue and capital budgets as at 31 
August 2008 and provide an indication of the estimated outturn for the 2008/09 
financial year.   

Financial Implications 

2. As set out in the attached Cabinet report. 

Background 

3. The report to Cabinet on 2 October is attached.  Cabinet approved the 
recommendations as printed. 

RECOMMENDATION 

THAT the report be noted, subject to any comments the Committee 
wishes to make. 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

• None. 

AGENDA ITEM 7

139



140



 

 
Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
David Powell, Head of Financial Services on (01432) 373173 

 Page 1 of 2 

BUDGET MONITORING 2008/09 

PORTFOLIO RESPONSIBILITY: RESOURCES 

CABINET 2 OCTOBER 2008 
 

 
 

Wards Affected 

County-wide. 

Purpose 

To report on the Council’s performance against revenue and capital budgets as at 31 August 
2008 and provide an indication of the estimated outturn for the 2008/09 financial year.   

Key Decision  

This is not a Key Decision.  

Recommendation(s) 

THAT: 

i) the forecast outturn for 2008/09 agreed with Directors based on service 
and financial performance outlined in this report be noted; 

ii) the continuing efforts of all Directors to ensure service targets are met 
within the approved budget be endorsed; and 

iii) an improved forecast of outturn for the 2008/09 financial year be 
reflected in the next financial monitoring report. 

Reasons 

The Council’s revenue and capital position is reported to Cabinet every second month.  The 
information provides an indication of the Council’s performance against budgets. 

Considerations 

1. Details of the forecast of revenue and capital outturn for 2008/09 based on service and 
financial performance information as at 31 August are attached in summary and then 
further detail is given by directorate. 

2. The overall position shows a projected overspend, prior to any management action to 
reduce it, of £1.671m.  This total is 1.2% of the Council’s £131.778m net revenue 
budget (excluding Dedicated Schools Grant).   

3. The key areas of concern are the Adult & Community Services Directorate, with a 
projected £331k overspend; the Environment & Culture Directorate, with a £566k 
projected overspend; and the Regeneration Directorate where a £537k overspend is 

141



projected; the Deputy Chief Executive Directorate’s £170k overspend and Children & 
Young People’s Directorate with a £267k overspend.  The Chief Executive has set an 
expectation that Directorates produce management proposals to bring expenditure 
back to balance at the end of the financial year. 

4. Appendix A includes the detailed revenue budget report.  The report indicates the 
position for the new directorate structure.  It is clear that whilst the position is more 
favourable than at this time the previous year some key factors need to be considered.  
The 2007/08 final year end position saw an underspend of £591k.  This was largely the 
result of the performance of central budgets including £804k additional interest from 
our investments; this cannot be guaranteed in 2008/09.  As a result directorates must 
continue to manage their 2008/09 cash limited budgets appropriately especially given 
the emerging pressures around inflation as we go forward into the next budget setting 
period. 

5. The Council’s overall financial performance has a direct bearing on the level of general 
fund balance at year end as any overspend on the account must be funded.  The 
report at Appendix A indicates that this could reduce to £4.772m by the end of the 
financial year based on current projections.  This is close to recommended level of 
minimum general reserves of £4.5m. 

6. The capital programme budget monitoring is at Appendix B.  The overall position is 
forecast expenditure of £64.3m after allowing for additional grant funding and slippage 
brought forward.  The increase is fully funded and includes all sources of finance 
including grants. 

Financial Implications 

These are contained in the report. 

Risk Management 

Effective financial reports and their follow up are an essential element in the management of 
risks and the delivery of the Council’s and Herefordshire Partnership’s priorities. 

Alternative Options 

None. 

Consultees 

None. 

Appendices 

Financial Report for July 2008. 

Background Papers 

None. 

142



Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
David Powell, Head of Financial Services (01432) 383173 

 Page 1 of 16 

 

Appendix A 

 

2008/09 REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING 
 

 Summary 

1. The following table summarises the 2008/09 projected outturn as at the end of 
August 2008.  

 

Area  

2008/09 
Budget 

£000 

August 2008    
Net projected 
over or (-) 

Underspending 
£000 

Adult Services 38,757 331 

Children & Young People 24,524 267 

Deputy Chief Executive 10,733 170 

Environment and Culture 27,812 566 

Regeneration 9,858 537 

Central Services 2,618 0 

Resources 

Human Resources 

7,561 

1,402 

0 

0 

Directorate Position 123,265 1,871 

Capital Financing Costs  12,703 0 

Interest Received -2,227 -200 

Transfers to Reserves 67 0 

Herefordshire Connects 0 0 

WMS Profit Share -390 0 

Transfer from Reserves -1,640 0 

Net Position 131,778 1,671 

 

 
2. The overall revenue budget position for 2008/09 shows a projected £1.671 million 

overspend. This is 1.2% of the Council’s £131.778 million revenue budget (excluding 
Dedicated Schools Grant funding). 
 

3. The August projected outturn is the first indication of the 2008/09 financial position.  It 
should be noted that at this stage of the financial year projections tend to reflect a 
cautious assessment of the financial position by directors, and they have noted 
where they anticipate that the position will improve.  However, this current 

143



Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
David Powell, Head of Financial Services (01432) 383173 

 Page 2 of 16 

 

assessment is a much lower forecast of overspend at this point in the year than in 
previous years, reflecting the fact that a more vigorous approach to financial 
management at directorate level continues to develop. 
 
 

 Revenue Reserves Position as at 31st August 2008 
 

General Reserves 
 

4. As at 1 April 2008 the balance on the general reserve was £6.7 million. This is before 
any use to offset the projected negative cash flow in the early part of the restarted 
Herefordshire Connects programme in 2008/09.  The council’s Medium Term 
Financial Management Strategy (MTFMS) sets out the council’s approach to 
managing general fund balances and specific reserves and ensuring a balanced 
budget.  A key message is a move away from a higher level of general fund balances 
to specific reserves to deal with identified key corporate financial risks. 

 
5. The projected balance on the general reserve for the end of 2008/09 financial year is 

as follows: 
 

 £m 

Balance brought forward 6.728 

Meeting the projected overspend -1.671 

Funding Herefordshire Connects in 2008/09 (after using the 
invest to save reserve) 

-0.285 

Projected year end balance 4.772 

 
 

 Earmarked Reserves 
 
6. At 1 April 2008 the council held £16.6 million of earmarked reserves.  This includes 

ring-fenced school balances reserves of £5.657m.   The following table summarises 
the earmarked reserves held: 

 
Reserve         £000 
Community Buildings 64 
Commuted sums 78 
Schools balance in hand  5,657 
Industrial Estates – maintenance 223 
Support Services & Equipment renewals 276 
Schools Balance of Risk 289 
Winter maintenance 500 
Planning 24 
SRB Schemes 51 
College Hill Community Centre 180 
Waste Disposal  2,274 
LSC 32 
Herefordshire Connects Project 420 
Wye Valley ANOB (AONB) 79 
Invest to Save/Initiatives fund 1,115 
Contingent liabilities 300 
Social care contingency 677 
Standards fund 92 
Modernisation plans  300 
2008/09 budget capacity  1,500 

144



Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
David Powell, Head of Financial Services (01432) 383173 

 Page 3 of 16 

 

Edgar Street Grid  41 
Whitecross School PFI 108 
Bellwin Threshold 505 
LPSA 2 reward grant 1,148 
Herefordshire Safeguarding Children Board 48 
Accommodation  591 

Total     16,572 
 
 

August 2007 Floods and the Restoration Fund 
 
7. A further allocation of central government funding for the 2007 floods was announced 

on 17 July 2008 that distributed the £30.6m Restoration Fund.  A total of 62 local 
authorities received an allocation with Herefordshire’s funding being £429k.  The 
Government did not issue guidance on how the Restoration Fund should be spent.  It 
has taken this approach because it feels that local authorities are best placed to 
decide what is best for their areas. 

 
8. The allocation is a one-off source of funding and is to be allocated to the 

Environment & Culture Directorate to offset budget pressures in this financial year. 
 
 
 

145



Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
David Powell, Head of Financial Services (01432) 383173 

 Page 4 of 16 

 

ADULT SERVICES DIRECTORATE 

Directorate Summary as at 31 August 2008 
 
 

  

 

 
 
Adult Social Care 
 
Supporting People 
 
Modernisation 
 
Commissioning and Improvement  

 

Total  

 

9. The projected outturn for Adult Services is an overspend of £331k. Over the last two 
months a major budget review and re-allocation exercise has been undertaken which 
has matched resources to known and anticipated commitments in all areas within 
Adult Services.  The projection assumes the PCT will meet the costs of individuals 
meeting the continuing health care criteria.  This amounts to £942k. 

10. There is currently £1.279m of budget allocated to new modernisation schemes and 
initiatives. As schemes develop the costs and budgets will be allocated to the 
appropriate services. Schemes will be closely monitored to ensure timescales for 
implementation are met and that anticipated savings and cost mitigation are 
achieved. 

11. Within the learning disability service, two factors may impact on the final outturn 
position and affect the projected overspend. These include continuing healthcare 
assessments where initial investigations suggest there is the potential for some costs 
currently met by the council being met by the PCT. This is under discussion with the 
PCT.  There is also the potential for some learning disability expenditure being 
appropriately met by supporting people funding.  

12. Within the supporting people service, there have been reductions in the overall 
2008/09 programme grant of £344k and administration grant of £7k. The carried 
forward underspend from previous years was £5.681m but the funding is ring-fenced 
to supporting people initiatives so cannot be used to offset overspends on 
mainstream expenditure.  However, appropriate projects within the learning disability 
service are being developed to maximise the use of available resources. Any 
remaining underspend will be carried forward. 

13. In October 2007 new national guidance for continuing health care was published.  
The Interim Director of Adult Social Care considered that there were a number of 
individuals with complex learning disability needs who have historically been funded 
by social care who were likely to be eligible for continuing health care funding in line 
with the new guidance.  The PCT agreed with the council to jointly commission an 

Total Budget for 
2008/09 
£000 

August 2008 
Net over or (-) 
underspending 

£000 

 
36,264 

 
0 
 

1,214 
 

1,279 

 
491 

 
0 
 

-37 
 

-123 
  

  

38,757 331 

146



Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
David Powell, Head of Financial Services (01432) 383173 

 Page 5 of 16 

 

independent initial review of 60 individuals to identify those who were considered 
likely to be eligible.  This reduced the number to 20 individuals who will now be fully 
assessed and if eligible will be entitled to full funding from the PCT.  The full year 
impact will be approximately £942k of costs met by the PCT if all 20 are eligible for 
continuing health care.  There has been some delay in identifying an individual who 
can carry out these assessments but this is now in place and it is hoped that the 
assessments will be completed within the next few weeks. 

14. Over the past year, adult social care have worked closely with supporting people staff 
to consider ways in which supporting people funding could be appropriately used to 
provide support for individuals which might also reduce some of the need for some 
social care funding.  Some of this relates to funding new pilot services and some to 
part funding existing care packages.  It is anticipated that this will reduce adult social 
care spend by £158k, and this is included in the projections. 

15. The Interim Director of Adult Social Care is currently reviewing the social care budget 
to identify areas where it would be possible to reduce expenditure if the two issues 
above are not resolved.  This includes using the evident trend of reducing residential 
placements, reviewing modernisation projects across the whole county and slowing 
implementation as well as cutting back on interim and project management support.  
Any option is likely to have an impact on progressing the improvement agenda.   

16. For 2008/09 there have been a number of additions to the Adult Social Care budget 
including Invest to Save and an element of the social care contingency. Additional 
income through fairer charging and new grant allocations have also been factored 
into the directorate’s budget.  The overall budget setting process for Adult Services 
saw the directorate’s efficiency target reduced by £800k in recognition of the high 
priority this service is afforded in the Corporate Plan 2008 – 2011. 

 

147



Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
David Powell, Head of Financial Services (01432) 383173 

 Page 6 of 16 

 

 CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE’S SERVICES DIRECTORATE 
 

Directorate Summary as at 31 August 2008 
 

 

 Total Budget 
for 2008/09 

£000 

August 2008 
Net over or(-) 
Underspending 

£’000 

Inclusion & 
Improvement 
 
Safeguarding and 
Assessment 
 
Planning, 
Performance & 
Development 
 
Locality Teams 
 
Central Directorate 
- budget savings to 
be agreed 
 

5,275 
 
 
 

10,981 
 
 

6,712 
 
 

100 
 
 

1,364 

51 
 
 
 
0 
 
 

-145 
 
 

-23 
 
 

384 

Total 
 

24,432 267 

 
17. The final outturn for 2007/08 was a balanced budget after the application of the 

Invest to Save budget and a share of the social care contingency. The Invest to Save 
budget and £650k of the social care contingency budget have now been transferred 
into base budget for 2008/09. A detailed budget review is on-going to identify savings 
to meet the £631k efficiency target required to manage services within the agreed 
budget for the year.  Taking into account the savings identified to date the overall 
forecast is a net overspend of £267k but this is expected to reduce as outstanding 
savings are realised. 

 
18. A new directorate management structure has been implemented from 1 July 2008.  

This saw special educational needs (SEN) and school improvement combined in a 
new Inclusion & Improvement service.  A Planning, Performance and Development 
service has also been established as part of the restructure. Other services (except 
Safeguarding & Assessment) will be devolved to locality teams during the remainder 
of the year. Budget monitoring now reflects the new directorate structure for 2008/09.    

 
 Dedicated Schools Grant 2008/09 
 
19. Notification of the final grant allocation has been received and the final allocation of 

£85.16m is £112k more than the budget planning total. Schools Forum in July 2008 
agreed to retain the additional grant to cover possible budget overspends in 2008/09. 
The increase in grant arises mainly from an additional 27 early years pupils. 
 

20. Schools Forum also agreed the allocation of the 2007/08 underspend of £1.2m to all 
schools at £52.50 per pupil.  It also agreed the retention of £50k to match fund a pilot 
scheme in two school partnerships for the development of school business managers 
to support integrated partnership working between cluster schools. Dedicated 

148



Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
David Powell, Head of Financial Services (01432) 383173 

 Page 7 of 16 

 

Schools Grant is ring-fenced and any under or over spend must be carried forward. 

  Directorate Central Budgets 

21. The Dedicated Schools Grant does not fund the remaining education services such 
as strategic management, SEN assessment, asset management and transport. 

22. The central directorate overspend is made up of the savings target of £273k which 
will reduce as savings are realised and potential overspends of £83k on the ICT SLA 
and £30k on advertising and interim management.  

23. The Council is required to meet any redundancy costs arising from within schools. 
The budget was overspent by £466k last year and this level of expenditure is 
expected to continue in future years. For 2008/09 the budget has been increased to 
£649k to cover the expected cost.  

24. The Inclusion and Improvement service is currently expected to be overspent by 
£51k. There are some small variances within the service, with overspends on the 
School Improvement service and the contribution to the Joint Agency Management 
budget being partly offset by an underspend on Education Psychology.     

25. Within the Planning, Performance and Development division, School Transport was 
underspent by £575k last year. Despite increases in fuel costs and additional school 
days in the 2008/09 financial year, it is projected that school transport will 
underspend by £155k. Included in the forecast is a provisional estimate of £100k for 
additional SEN transport costs following a very recent judicial review of an individual 
pupil’s case. Officers still have to assess the wider implications for SEN transport and 
£100k is the best assessment of extra cost until a much more detailed review is 
completed. Savings from route reviews continue to be made for the new academic 
year.  Overall Planning and Performance is projected to underspend by £145k. 

 Children’s Social Care / Safeguarding and Assessment Services 

26. Analysis of the number of residential and external agency placements shows a 
continuing rise in the number of placements.  For background it should be noted that 
there were 24 placements in April 2006, peaking at 35 in May 2007 before falling 
back to 29 placements in March 2008.  This level has continued with 29 placements 
in July 2008. Although external placements have reduced from last year’s high point, 
the number of future placements can vary.  Therefore, it is prudent to expect 
numbers to rise to an estimated 32 residential and fostering places during the 
remainder of the year.  These placements can be expensive and typically each one 
costs in excess of £150k. Hence any additional placements will significantly impact 
on the forecast expenditure. The Council has a statutory responsibility to meet the 
needs of individual children if such placements are necessary.  

 
27. In-house fostering placements have risen from 102 in April 2007, peaking at 113 in 

February 2008 before falling back to 99 in August 2008. This gives a projected 
overspend on the fostering budget of £98k on in-house fostering and £64k on agency 
fostering. 

149



Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
David Powell, Head of Financial Services (01432) 383173 

 Page 8 of 16 

 

 
 

Summary 

28. Overall, the Children and Young People’s budget is currently expected to overspend 
by £267k. 

 Efficiency Savings 
  
29. The efficiency savings required for 2008/09 continue to be based upon the social 

care modernisation proposals approved by Cabinet last year, additional transport 
savings identified from route reviews effective from September 2008 and a continued 
increase in the Directorate’s performance as measured by a basket of performance 
indicators. The Directorate continues to work with Herefordshire Connects to 
continue to improve working practices. 

 

150



Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
David Powell, Head of Financial Services (01432) 383173 

 Page 9 of 16 

 

 
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE DIRECTORATE 
 
Directorate Summary as at 31 August 2008 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Herefordshire Connects 
 
Herefordshire Partnership    

 
Communications 

 
Director and Administration 

 
Emergency Planning 

 
Legal and Democratic Services  
 
INFO 

 
Policy & Performance 

 
Information Services 

 
Corporate ICT Projects 

 
ICT Services 
     
Corporate Programmes 
 
Community Network Costs 
 
 
TOTAL 
 
 
 
30. The Legal and Democratic Services budget pressure is due to a reduction in local 

land charges income. Private sector companies are now competing for this work and 
the current trend suggests income will be less than budget by £100k. Work is 
underway to look at the charges for land charges enquiries. The costs relating to the 
Coroner’s Service is uncertain as the council is now required to pay for inquests for 
service personnel. Additionally costs of up to £80k will be incurred for an inquest in 
which there was a Coroner’s error last year.        

31. INFO has additional funding of £500k in 2008/09, at the current full establishment this 
would generate a £50k under spend. However the purchase of additional CRM 
licences and maintenance could cost £80k.  The customer services strategy is 
currently being reviewed, to assess how the service is taken forward.  As agreed in 

Total Budget 
2008/09 

August 2008  
  Net over or (-) 
under spend 

£000 

 
1,137 

 
258 

 
395 

 
329 

 
157 

 
2,615 

 
1,782 

 
732 

 
363 

 
784 

 
1,022 

 
59 

 
1,100 

 
_______________ 
 

            10,733 
 

 
0 
 

40 
 
0 
 
0 
 
0 
 

180 
 

                          -50 
 
0 
 
0 
 
0 
 
0 
 
0 
 
0 
 

_______________ 
 

170 

151



Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
David Powell, Head of Financial Services (01432) 383173 

 Page 10 of 16 

 

the Medium Term Financial Management Strategy (MTFMS) from 2009/10 the 
additional £500k of temporary funding to support service change will be withdrawn. 

32. The Corporate Programmes budget is funded from generating income through work 
on projects.  Any change in the demand for corporate programmes involvement will 
affect the budget outturn.  

33. ICT is operating to a balanced budget, assuming service level agreement income 
from directorates of £2.3m and recharges to directorates for project work of £500k.  
To help deliver the ICT strategy £247k has been allocated to Corporate ICT Projects 
as part of the 2008/09 budget.  For 2009/10 it is proposed that ICT and Corporate 
Programmes move to a base budget funded approach in line with all other support 
services. 

 

152



Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
David Powell, Head of Financial Services (01432) 383173 

 Page 11 of 16 

 

ENVIRONMENT & CULTURE DIRECTORATE 

Directorate Summary as at 31 August 2008 

 
34. The overall position for the directorate is assisted by the non-recurring funding 

available in 2008/09 with the council’s £429k Restoration Fund allocation being 
applied to meet budget pressures in 2008/09.  After this has been applied the 
directorate estimated outturn is an overspend of £566k. 

35. In addition agreement has been reached to fund £200k of additional costs to support 
the service review from increased investment income. 

Highways 

36. The current budget projections show an overspend on winter maintenance of £300k 
providing winter conditions are unexceptional.  There is a £500k winter maintenance 
reserve available for one-off funding but this is for exceptional conditions.  The 
current projection does not include drawing on this non-recurring source of funding. 

37. Car parking fee income was expected to increase in 2008/09 following the 
introduction of parking fee increases on 1 June 2008.  Despite the increase in 
charges, the overall income received to the end of August shows a £280k reduction 
against budget.  The assessment is that the economic slow down has affected the 
level of income. 

38. The de-trunking of the A465 has seen a £125k grant allocated to the council for the 
road’s maintenance.  The director’s assessment is that this will be required in 
2008/09 so cannot make a contribution to closing the projected overspend. 

39. There is also pressure on the Highways budgets in relation to Roads Maintenance, 
Street Cleansing and Public Toilets services.  Whilst every effort is being to made to 
manage these pressures within the service budget through efficiency gains, Street 
Cleansing is likely to overspend by £90k and Emergency maintenance by £25k. 

 Total Budget 
2008/09 

August 2008 
Net over or (-) 

under 
spending 

 £000 £000 

Highways 5,960 695 

Environmental Health and Trading Standards 2,130 0 

Waste Management 11,551 0 

Culture & Leisure 7,813 300 

Directorate Management & Support 358 0 

Restoration Fund 0 -429 

TOTAL 27,812 566 

153



Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
David Powell, Head of Financial Services (01432) 383173 

 Page 12 of 16 

 

 

40. Work is currently being carried out in Highways to identify efficiency savings in 
2008/09. 

41. Overall there is a projected £695k overspend on Highways. 

Environmental Health & Trading Standards 

42. The overall assessment is that this will balance to the budget although the Markets 
and Fairs service faces pressure staying within their cash limited allocation. 

Waste Management 

43. The overall assessment is that this will be on budget and an increased target for 
commercial waste income is included to help achieve the projection. 

44. The efficiency target for the Waste Collection  service is £395k. This will be mitigated 
by the underspend on Waste Disposal.  There are risks that if waste growth/reduction 
between Herefordshire and Worcestershire varies by more than 1% to the detriment 
of Herefordshire then Herefordshire will need to increase its contract payments by 
£300k.  Currently Worcestershire’s waste tonnages are decreasing faster than 
Herefordshire’s and there are risks that the trigger point may be hit.  However, at this 
stage it is believed we will not hit the trigger.   

45. Current estimates from Worcestershire County Council of Waste Disposal contract 
costs project an expected underspend of £300k on Herefordshire’s Waste Disposal 
budget for 2008/09. As previously indicated the cost of the future new contract will be 
considerably higher than at present and any underspend on the contract should be 
transferred to reserves to meet future waste management pressures.   

Culture & Leisure 

46. A projected overspend of £300k is the current estimated year end position.  The JE 
budget now forms part of the Culture and Leisure 2008/09 budget.  No sums are held 
centrally. 

47. Leisure is expected to overspend by £200k in relation to the HALO Job evaluation 
payment issue.  The council has a legal requirement to meet in full the financial 
impact of increases in pay of transferred posts affected by the single status 
agreement.  The original central budget was set based on assumptions that were 
reasonable at the time about pay grades.  Over time funding has become insufficient 
as staff have progressed through pay grades. 

48. The other main area of overspend of £100k is the cost of maintaining public access 
PCs within Libraries which resulted in an overspend of £88k in 2007/08.   

Directorate Management and Support 

49. The Big Conversation consultation exercise is estimated to cost £78k with costs 
being met from vacancy management.  The overall position is that the budget will 
balance for this area with vacancy factors taken into account. 

 

154



Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
David Powell, Head of Financial Services (01432) 383173 

 Page 13 of 16 

 

REGENERATION DIRECTORATE 

Directorate Summary as at 31 August 2008 

 

Planning 

50. A projection of Planning Services income based on the amounts received to date and 
likely seasonal trends indicates a significant drop in anticipated income. This 
projection may be further affected by the current economic climate which may result 
in fewer applications and therefore less income.  The position will be closely 
monitored.  

51. Planning faces a number of other cost pressures including monthly costs for 
scanning of plans that will continue until a new system is implemented.  Legal and 
consultant costs of £63k have already been incurred due to planning appeals and 
more costs could arise.  ICT service level agreement costs of £75k remain an 
unfunded pressure.  

52. Planning has identified a need for a new system to manage and record applications, 
as the current system will not be supported after October 2008. The system is 
planned to be part of Herefordshire Connects.  

53. Overall Planning Services is projected to overspend by £225k. 

Housing 

54. Based on the latest projections Strategic Housing is predicted to overspend its 
budget by £312k by the end of the year.  

55. The projected cost of Bed & Breakfast (B&B) accommodation has been calculated on 
a number of scenarios. Taking a prudent view based on current levels of occupancy 
and assuming that the same percentage fluctuations occur in the remainder of this 
year as happened last year produces an overspend of £312k.  

 Total Budget 
2008/09 

August 2008 
Net over or (-) 

under 
spending 

 £000 £000 

Planning 1,866 225 

Transportation 3,445 0 

Economic and Community Services 2,144 0 

Strategic Housing 1,918 312 

Management & Support 485 0 

TOTAL 9,858 537 

155



Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
David Powell, Head of Financial Services (01432) 383173 

 Page 14 of 16 

 

56. An officer task and finish group chaired by the Director of Regeneration has met and 
implementation of the agreed approaches for tackling the increasing cost of bed & 
breakfast accommodation has started. The homelessness team has reduced the 
numbers placed in B&B from a peak of 22 families, 18 singles and two others at the 
start of August to 11 families, 15 singles and one other by the beginning of 
September. There are four families which the team of aware of which may need to be 
placed in temporary accommodation in the near future.  

57. Applicants presenting themselves as homeless are often placed in B&B pending 
assessment. Assessment interviews are now taking place within three days of 
applications being received and a decision about eligibility is made within a week of 
the interview. The homelessness team are taking a more robust line with applicants 
who fail to attend appointments for assessment. Any applicants who miss more that 
two appointments will now lose their entitlement to temporary accommodation. A 
group of officers headed by the Homelessness Manager meets each week to 
consider the more challenging applications. The Head of Service attends on an ad 
hoc basis to support and agree approaches taken, particularly in complex cases.   

58. Applicants unhappy with the outcome of their assessment for homelessness can 
appeal. Reviews of homelessness applications are still slower than desired. None of 
the applicants awaiting appeal are currently in B&B although this situation is can 
vary.   

59. Work is progressing on formulating a charging policy for those placed in temporary 
accommodation. Currently the only income received is via Housing Benefit. It is 
proposed that charges will be based on rents charged by registered social landlords 
for those in employment. Many clients will be able to claim housing benefit.   

60. The Bed & Breakfast realistic forecast used in arriving at the prediction of £312k 
overspend was based on number of occupants rising in line with last year’s trend. 
The Homelessness Manager is however confident that numbers will stabilise at nine 
occupants (three families, one other and five singles) for the remainder of the year. If 
this scenario holds this will reduce the overspend by a further £120k. 

Prevention Fund 

61. For this report it has been assumed that the trend of expenditure for the remainder of 
the year will match that experienced last year. This methodology matches that used 
for projecting B&B costs. The resultant projection is expenditure of £162k compared 
with £200k budget.  

Community & Economic Development 

62. The Government Office for the West Midlands has agreed in principle that there is 
likely to be a clawback of grant used for the ARCH project.  The position will undergo 
evaluation by Government Office West Midlands for a decision. 

63. The Council is likely to have some indications of the outcome at the end of 
September.  The total grant claimed to date has been £871k.  The clawback will be 
based on an unknown percentage of this sum. 

156



Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
David Powell, Head of Financial Services (01432) 383173 

 Page 15 of 16 

 

CORPORATE BUDGETS  

Directorate Summary as at 31 August 2008 

  

 
 
 
 
 
Corporate Budget 
 

 

64. Expenditure is expected to remain within budget for Corporate Budgets. 

 

RESOURCES DIRECTORATE  

Directorate Summary as at 31 August 2008 

 

 

 

Asset Management & Property Services 
 
Audit, Benefit and Exchequer and Financial 
Services 

 
Total 

   

Asset Management & Property Services  

65. At this stage of the year it is estimated the service will stay within its cash limited 
budget. 

66. Additional expenses for office accommodation are creating pressure. These include 
the adaptation costs at Plough Lane, other associated costs and dual running costs 
while buildings are not vacated. Utility costs will be a pressure and whilst this is likely 
to be manageable this year the assessment is that this will be a significant cost 
pressure in 2009/10. 

Audit Services, Benefit and Exchequer Services and Financial Services 

67. At this stage there is an estimated break even financial position at year end.   The 
reorganisation of the Children and Young People’s Finance Team is likely to create a 
cost pressure. 

68. The various resources teams continue to help deliver the £750k efficiency savings 
forming part of the Council’s 2008/09 budget. 

Total Budget 
2008/09 
£’000 

August 2008 
Net over or (-) 
underspending 

£000 

 
2,618 

 
 

 
0 
 

Total Budget 
2008/09 
£’000 

August 2008 
Net over or (-) 
underspending 

£000 

 
3,170 

 
4,391 

 

 
0 
 
0 

 

7,561 0 

157



Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
David Powell, Head of Financial Services (01432) 383173 

 Page 16 of 16 

 

69. The current assessment is that an additional £200k of interest will be made from the 
Council’s investments.  This is after contributing £200k to support the service review 
project within the Environment and Culture directorate. 

 

HUMAN RESOURCES DIRECTORATE 

Directorate Summary as at 31 August 2008 
 
  

 
 

  
  
Human Resources   

70. At this stage of the year the service will manage within their cash limited budget.  

71. However due to vacancies being filled using interim agency staff it is possible this 
area could overspend.  

72. A full review will be undertaken when the new Assistant Chief Executive is in post. 

 

Total Budget 
2008/09 

August 2008 
Net over or (-) 
underspending 

£000 

 
1,402 

 

 
0 

 

158



 

 Appendix B 

 

CAPITAL PROGRAMME BUDGET MONITORING 

 

OVERALL SUMMARY POSITION 
 
1. The capital programme forecast outturn for 2008/09 as at 31 August totals £64.306m, 

which is an increase of £6.41m from the original capital programme forecast as 
reported in the corporate plan.  

2. This increase follows the closedown of the 2007/08 accounts and the effect being 
reflected in the 2008/09 forecast.  It also includes additional capital grant funding 
allocations in 2008/09. 

3. The forecast spend on the Ross flood alleviation scheme has increased by £3.64m. 
This increase is grant funded and relates to additional costs associated with 
tunnelling and shaft sinking works schemes. The other main changes represent 
slippage in the Minster replacement secondary school and Rotherwas access road 
expenditure forecasts of £1.21m and £1.39m respectively. The slippage on these 
schemes into 2008/09 does not result in any loss of funding.  

4. Minster replacement secondary school is a wholly grant funded scheme, enabling 
works have started with the main contract of works expected to be started in the near 
future. 

5. Rotherwas access road is funded by a combination of grant, Local Transport (LTP), 
borrowing and capital receipts. The current expenditure forecast for this scheme 
results in a total scheme forecast outturn of £12.78m however compensation events 
are still to be agreed.  

6. A summary of the overall capital programme expenditure forecast and funding for 
2008/09 is provided in table B1.  Detailed capital programmes for directorates are 
reported to the relevant scrutiny committees.  

7. Details of total capital scheme costs, funding, spend to date and any potential issues 
for capital schemes with a revised forecast spend for 2008/09 exceeding £500k are 
provided in table B2. 

Prudential Borrowing Position as at 31 August 2008 

8. A summary of the Prudential Borrowing position for 2008/09 is set out below. The 
prudential borrowing no longer required mainly relates to the completed network 
enhancement capital scheme (£1.5m). This funding has been returned to the 
corporate pot to be allocated to future successful capital bids. The forecast use of 
prudential borrowing includes an amount of £2.53m yet to be allocated to a capital 
scheme. 

159



9. The following summarises the current position. 

 

2008/09 Original Prudential Borrowing 
Allocations 

 £11,320,000 

Add: Slippage from 2007/08 £4,609,000  
        Corporate accommodation funding £3,250,000  

  £7,859,000 
Less: Slippage into future years (£1,945,000)  
          No longer required   (£1,588,000)  

  (£3,533,000) 

Forecast use of Prudential Borrowing in 2008/09     £15,646,000 

 

Capital Receipts Reserves Position as at 31st August 2008 

10. The capital receipts reserve totalled £17.95m as at 1st April 2008. Capital receipts of 
£2.1m have been received to the end of August and £10.1m is expected to be used 
to fund the 2008/09 capital programme. The remaining balance will be used to fund 
future years’ capital programme including strategic housing, corporate 
accommodation and Rotherwas futures. 

 

160



 TABLE B1 

FUNDING OF REVISED 2008/09 CAPITAL PROGRAMME 

Capital Programme Area 

2008/09 
Revised 

Forecast 
31/08/08 

SCE(R) 
Prudential 
Borrowing  

Grant 
Revenue 

Contribution 

Capital 
Receipts 
Reserves 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Children’s Services  20,185 2,384 490 15,420 - 1,891 

Resources 4,117 - 4,010 63 - 44 

Deputy Chief Executive  2,015 - 1,833 51 - 131 

Provider Services 1,530 - 734 478 - 318 

Regeneration 10,396 - 172 2,617 - 7,607 

Environment & Culture 23,536 10,378 5,880 7,168 - 110 

To be allocated 2,527 - 2,527 - - - 

Total Revised Forecast 64,306 12,762 15,646 25,797 - 10,101 

Original Budget 57,896 12,750 14,911 19,961 170 10,104 

Change from Original 6,410 12 735 5,836 (170) (3) 

      
 

       

Reported to date       

Original Budget 57,896 12,750 14,911 19,961 170 10,104 

August 2008 Forecast 64,306 12,762 15,646 25,797 - 10,101 

 

 

161



 

TABLE B2 

Schemes with a forecast spend exceeding £500k in 2008-09 

Scheme Detail By Directorate Whole 
Scheme 
Cost £’000 

Funded by Current 
2008-09 

expenditure 
forecast 
£’000 

Actual 
spend to 
31-08-08 

Comments 

Children’s Services      

Wyebridge Academy 22,189 DCSF Grant 3,655 56 

A Memorandum of Understanding with 
Partnership for Schools is in place to use the 
National Academy Procurement Framework 
for this scheme 

Minster Replacement School 20,642 DCSF Grant 3,881 26 
Contract for whole works to be signed shortly. 
Initial enabling works are underway 

Riverside Amalgamation 8,505 
Grant & capital 

receipts 
2,743 703 

Contamination works required. Scheme now 
anticipated completing in February 2009. 

Harnessing Technology 1,318 Grant 1,318 - Expected to be devolved to schools 

Hereford City North Children’s Centre 923 Grant 923 7 Widemarsh workshop conversion proceeding 

Childcare Grant 662 Grant 662 - Expected to be devolved to nursery schools 

Condition property works n/a SCE® 1,090 153 
Annual programme of works at various sites 
committed on a highest need first basis 

Resources      

Corporate Accommodation 14,740 Prudential Borrowing 3,250 - 
Expenditure plans being drafted by corporate 
accommodation board  

Deputy Chief Executive      

Social Care ICT Solution 1,583 
Prudential Borrowing 

& capital receipts 
1,291 683 

Progressing with minor alterations. To be 
completed by February 

1
6
2



 

Scheme Detail By Directorate Whole 
Scheme 
Cost £’000 

Funded by Current 
2008-09 

expenditure 
forecast 
£’000 

Actual 
spend to 
31-08-08 

Comments 

Environment & Culture      

Rotherwas Access Road 12,780 
Grant, receipts, LTP 

& prudential 
borrowing 

2,255 1,526 
Construction completed, final outturn report to 
be presented when compensation events 
agreed 

Ross on Wye Flood Alleviation  10,331 Grant 4,955 3,831 
Additional grant allocated for funding 
increased costs incurred on tunnelling and 
shaft sinking works 

Crematorium 3,150 Prudential borrowing 1,807 623 
Work on site currently three weeks behind 
schedule but is expected to be regained 

Road & Footway Maintenance n/a LTP allocation 7,374 1,462 
Programmed works have committed £3,536k 
of this budget 

Assessment Strength of Bridges n/a LTP allocation 900 287 
Annual programme of works - £685k 
committed 

Regeneration      

Extra Care Housing Development 6,602 
Grant & capital 

receipts 
1,322 3 

Final payment due following completion of the 
scheme 

Cattle Market 5,000 Capital receipts 3,056 38 
Land purchased, flood alleviation 
investigation works to start shortly 

Rotherwas Futures Estate Development 
Work 

4,358 
Grant & capital 

receipts 
1,387 174 

Total scope of scheme to be finalised - part of 
this budget is expected to be used to meet 
any additional access road costs 

Ross Library 1,187 Prudential borrowing 593 2 
Project in design stage. Work expected to 
start in January 2009 

Affordable Housing Grants n/a Capital receipts 2,000 660 Annual allocation of grants 

1
6
3



Scheme Detail By Directorate Whole 
Scheme 
Cost £’000 

Funded by Current 
2008-09 

expenditure 
forecast 
£’000 

Actual 
spend to 
31-08-08 

Comments 

Private Sector Housing n/a 
Grant & capital 

receipts 
818 152 

This budget has been reduced to increase 
the mandatory disabled facilities grant budget 

Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant  n/a 
Grant & capital 

receipts 
825 276 

This budget is under huge demand, a system 
is being devised to prioritise applications  

To be allocated n/a Prudential borrowing 2,527 - 
This funding is available to be allocated to 
fund either accommodation, Edgar Street 
Grid or the cattle market  

Total    48,632 10,662  

Schemes with a forecast spend in 
2008/09 of less than £500,000 

 
 

15,674 3,884  

Total   64,306 14,546  

   

1
6
4



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE 20 OCTOBER  2008 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
Tim Brown, Committee Manager (Scrutiny)  on 01432 260239 

 

 

activityOctober20080.doc  

 SCRUTINY ACTIVITY REPORT 

Report By: Assistant Chief Executive – Legal and 
Democratic 

 

Wards Affected 

 County-wide 

Purpose 

1. To consider the work being undertaken by the Scrutiny Committees. 

Financial Implications 

2. None 

Background 

3. This report summarises the matters considered by the Scrutiny Committees since the 
last report by this Committee to Council.  It is intended to help keep Council aware of 
the work being undertaken. 

4. The work of the Committees is analysed below in accordance with the following two 
roles for scrutiny based on a University of Birmingham categorisation.  Each 
Committee has also considered and rolled forward its work programme. 

Holding the Executive to Account Developing Policy 

Questioning members of the Executive Pre-Decision Scrutiny – commenting on 
decisions about to be made 

Call-ins – Scrutinising decisions before 
they take effect 

Policy Reviews and Development 

Scrutinising decisions after they are 
made 

External Scrutiny  

Management of Performance Health Scrutiny 

Ensuring Corporate Priorities are Met  

Budget Scrutiny   

Community and Area Scrutiny  

 

 

 

 

AGENDA ITEM 8

165



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE 20 OCTOBER  2008 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
Tim Brown, Committee Manager (Scrutiny)  on 01432 260239 

 

 

activityOctober20080.doc  

 

 Holding the Executive to 
Account 

Developing Policy 

Adult Social Care and 
Strategic Housing 

3 October 2008 

Presentation by Cabinet 
Member (Social Care 
Adults) 

Revenue budget 
monitoring 

Performance Monitoring 

Implementation of the 
Revised Fairer Charging 
Policy 

Integrated Social Care 
Record System 

 

Children’s Services 

29 September 2008 

 

Call-in of Cabinet Decision 
on Swimming Provision for 
Primary Schools in 
Hereford City 

 

Community Services 

17 October 2008 

 

Revenue Budget 

Performance Monitoring 

Review of the Edgar 
Street Grid Project 

Environment 

15 September 2008 

 

Environment Strategy and 
Carbon Management 
Performance 

Performance Monitoring 

Review of planning 
services - Update 

Health 

23 September 2008 

 

 

Update from the Chief 
Executive of the Primary 
Care Trusts 

Update from the Chief 
Executive of Hereford 
Hospitals NHS Trust 

National Institute For 
Health and Clinical 
Excellence (NICE) 
presentation 

Local Involvement Network 

 

 

 

West Midlands 
Ambulance Service NHS 
Trust – Response Times 

 

166



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE 20 OCTOBER  2008 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
Tim Brown, Committee Manager (Scrutiny)  on 01432 260239 

 

 

activityOctober20080.doc  

 

 Holding the Executive to 
Account 

Developing Policy 

 
Strategic Monitoring 
Committee 

10 September 2008 

 

 Review of the Service 
Delivery Partnership with 
Amey 

 

5. Issues of particular note include: 

• Children’s Services Scrutiny Committee 

The Committee called-in Cabinet’s decision on 31 July 2008 to approve the closure 
of St Martin’s Swimming Pool with immediate effect and the subsequent capital 
investment in the Hereford Leisure Pool prior to the new academic year.  The 
Committee has recommended the Council invests £72,500 to enable the pool to 
reopen as soon as possible; there should be no additional costs to schools;  the 
existing charge to schools be maintained; and a thorough feasibility/business case 
for the next 2 years (to include LEA pool, HALO and users/voluntary sector) be 
formulated on the future of the pool in the context of the whole of Herefordshire 
swimming provision. 

Cabinet is due to consider these recommendations in November. 

• Community Services Scrutiny Committee 

The Edgar Street Grid project is the major development project for the County and is 
at an important stage in its implementation.  The Committee has undertaken a review 
with the following aims: 

• To make recommendations to maximise the value and impact of the ESG 
scheme for the benefit of Hereford City and the wider County; 

• To understand the views, aspirations and concerns of partners and stakeholders; 

• To recommend key considerations in the implementation of the ESG scheme, 
especially in relation to creating a whole city approach. 

 
The Committee adopted an innovative approach to the review by seeking to 
complete its evidence gathering on one day at an informal meeting to which all 
relevant interviewees were invited, facilitating an exploration of the key issues 
concerning the scheme, 

The Committee is to consider its recommendations on 17 October. 

 Health Scrutiny Committee 

• Following consideration of response times the Committee is to undertake a formal 
review of the ambulance response service in the County – with particular focus 
on the market towns of Ledbury and Ross –on –Wye. 

167



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE 20 OCTOBER  2008 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
Tim Brown, Committee Manager (Scrutiny)  on 01432 260239 

 

 

activityOctober20080.doc  

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

• None 

168



STRATEGIC MONITORING COMMITTEE 20 OCTOBER 2008 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Tim Brown, Committee Manager (Scrutiny) 
 on 01432 260239 

 

 

WorkProgrammescoverreportOctober080.doc  

 WORK PROGRAMMES 

Report By: Assistant Chief Executive – Legal And 
Democratic 

 

Wards Affected 

 County-wide 

Purpose 

1. To consider the Scrutiny Committees’ current and future work programmes.  

Background 

2. A report on the Scrutiny Committees’ current work programmes will be made to this 
Scrutiny Committee quarterly.  A copy of this Committee’s own work programme will 
be made to each of its scheduled meetings.  Copies of the current work programmes 
are attached. 

3. Should Members become aware of any issues they consider may be added to the 
scrutiny programme they should contact the Chairman to log the issue so that it may 
be taken into consideration when planning future agendas or when revising the work 
programme. 

External Evaluation of the Scrutiny Function 

4. Members have been informed that it has been agreed that the external evaluation of 
the Scrutiny function by the Leadership Centre, which is also looking at the Council’s 
governance arrangements as a whole and Member Development, is to take place in 
November.  The evaluators will be on site conducting interviews on 11.12 and 13 
November.  The evaluation will be based on the Centre for Public Scrutiny’s 
evaluation framework.  A report on the scrutiny function, as originally listed on the 
work programme for this meeting, will now be prepared in response to the findings of 
that evaluation. 

 RECOMMENDATION 

  THAT the current Work Programmes serve as a basis for further 
development, subject to any comment the Committee wishes to make. 

 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

• None 

AGENDA ITEM 9

169



170



Strategic Monitoring Committee – work programme 2008/09 

 November 2008 

 • Integrated Corporate Performance Report (6 month 
April-September) 

• Confirmation of Local Government settlement 

• Extent, costs, purposes and value for money of the 
Council’s use of consultants in 2007/08. 

• Smallholdings Estate Policy (outcome of Executive 
Review) 

 

Scrutiny Review • ICT Services 

 January 2009 

 • Use of Resources Judgment 

• Details of CAA arrangements confirmed (or Feb) 

• Report on place survey and public consultation 

• Presentation by Leader of the Council 

• Local Government Settlement confirmed. 

• Updated Medium Term Financial Strategy 

• Report on the Scrutiny Function 

 

 February 2009 (budget) 

 • Integrated Corporate Performance Report (9 month April-
September) (possibly plus a linked paper with the initial self 
evaluation for the Comprehensive Area Assessment (CAA) 

• 2008 Comprehensive Performance Assessment  
assessments including Direction of Travel Judgment 

• Details of CAA arrangements confirmed 

• Draft 2009/10 Operating Statement 

• Strategic Options and Challenge (provisional) 

• Updated Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 

 TBC 

 Outcome of  officer review of asset management and property 

 April 2009 

 • Strategic Options and Challenge 
 

171



Other issues  

• User Satisfaction Surveys. 

• Gender Equality Scheme Monitoring (reported March 2007 6 month/annual). 

• Comprehensive Equality Scheme Action Plan monitoring. 

• Scrutiny of Police/Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnership. 

• Electoral Registration issues - polling station reviews 

• Elections Action Plan - Monitoring 

• Communications Strategy Monitoring 

•  (Item referred by Audit and Corporate Governance Committee –  (30 November 
2007) – “ that Strategic Monitoring Committee be requested to review the control of 
asset management processes and procedures and actions which are taken against 
officers who do not adhere to these rules” 

• Monitoring of Comprehensive Area Assessment Preparation Programme (July and 
October 2008 and January and April 2009.) 

• Post Office Closures 

• Comprehensive Equality Policy 

• Rose Bank Garden Scheme - reviewing its value for money and whether there were 
any lessons to be learned for future schemes. 

 

• Analysis of Complaints to the Ombudsman – Planning 

• Pay and Workforce Development Strategy (Replacement) 

• Herefordshire Public Services – possible consideration of effectiveness of working 
arrangements – (9 months on) 

• Scrutiny Processes 

 

 

 
Further additions to the work programme will be made as required  
 

172



 

 

Adult Social Care and Housing Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 2008/09 

 

19th December 2008 

Items • Implementation of Social care ICT solution – progress report 
(see 19 March resolution) 

• Budget 

• Performance Monitoring 

• Joint Commissioning – progress report (see 19 March 
resolution) 

• Update from Chief Executive of Herefordshire Housing Ltd 

• Executive’s Response to the Review of Transition from 
Leaving care to Adult Life 

• Executive’s Response to the Review of the Modernisation of 
Day Opportunities Services Provided by Herefordshire Council 

• Progress Reports arising from future needs of 18-64 year-olds 
in Herefordshire with mental health problems and physical 
disabilities.  

• Update on contract monitoring arrangements with Shaw 
Healthcare   

• Workforce Improvements to implement recommendations  
arising from future needs of 18-64 year-olds in Herefordshire 
with mental health problems and physical disabilities 

Scrutiny Reviews • Scoping Statement – Transfer from hospital to Home 

Other issues  

• Home Care Services 

 

Further additions to the work programme will be made as required 

173



Children’s Services Scrutiny Committee - Work Programme 2008/09 for consideration 
at 18 November 2008 

 
 

18 November 2008  

Officer Reports • Extended Schools 

• Early Years Provision. 

• Capital Budget Monitoring. 

• Revenue Budget Monitoring 

• Performance Digest 

• Appointment of Children’s Services Champions 
following the themes of Every Child Matters. 

• Committee Work Programme. 

Scrutiny Reviews  

 8 Dec 2008  

Officer Reports • School transport particular reference to Yellow Bus 
scheme. 

• Statemented and banded funding. 

• Domestic Violence. 

• Capital Budget Monitoring. 

• Revenue Budget Monitoring 

• Performance Digest 

• Committee Work Programme. 

Scrutiny Reviews  

30 March 2009  

Officer Reports • Capital Budget Monitoring. 

• Revenue Budget Monitoring 

• Performance Digest 

• Committee Work Programme. 

Scrutiny Reviews  

 

 
Possible future items on: 

 

• The 14 – 19 Strategy 

• Foundation and Academy Schools 

• Governance arrangements for the Children’s Trust and partnerships. 

• Delivery plans to be submitted to Committee for the Children and Young People Plan. 
 
In consultation with the Chairman and Vice-Chairman the Director of Children’s Services is 
working up a programme of open seminars for Committee Members based on defined 
themes. 
 

174



COMMUNITY SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

WORK PROGRAMME PRESENTED FOR CONSIDERATION ON 17TH OCTOBER 2008 
 

12th December 2008 

 • Budget 

• Performance Monitoring  

• Edgar Street Grid – Update  

• Support for Businesses relocating from the Grid 

• Football Ground options  

• Parish Agreement (as recommended by SMC) 

• Consider the Executive’s response to the Scrutiny 
Review of Tourism 

• Hereford City Centre Regeneration Strategy 

Scrutiny Reviews • Herefordshire’s Future Economic Policy 

• Scrutiny review of Community and Safety Drugs 
Partnership 

6th April 2009  

Items • Budget 

• Performance Monitoring  

• Edgar Street Grid – Update  

• Scrutiny review of the Community and Safety Drugs 
Partnership 

Scrutiny Reviews • Herefordshire’s Future Economic Policy 

 
Further additions to the work programme will be made as required. 

175



 
 ENVIRONMENT SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME – following the 15 

September 2008 meeting. 
 

9.30am Monday 24 November 2008 

Agenda items • Street Lighting – options concerning the possible 
reduction of energy/environmental impact. 

• Council’s Vehicle Fleet inc inventory. – economic and 
environmental implications. 

• Allocation of resources to meet the LAA carbon 
reduction targets. 

• Carbon reduction action plan produced by the Council-
wide Carbon Action Group. 

• Service Delivery Review – update. 

• Capital Budget Monitoring. 

• Revenue Budget Monitoring. 

• Report on Performance Indicators. 

• Committee Work Programme. 

Reviews underway • On-Street Parking Review 

• Planning Services Review. 

 

9.30am Monday 23 March 2008 

Agenda items • Report on extreme weather events and resultant 
actions identified for inclusion in Directorate Action 
Plans within the remit of this Committee. 

• On-Street Parking Review. 

• Planning Services Review. 

• Capital Budget Monitoring 

• Revenue Budget Monitoring. 

• Report on Performance Indicators. 

• Committee Work Programme. 

Reviews underway •  

 
NOTE: While considering a report on the Councils Environment Strategy and Carbon 
Management Performance at its meeting in September the Committee requested a report on 
the current position concerning the Councils Accommodation Strategy.  The Chairman has 
indicated that as Strategic Monitoring Committee in October will be considering the 
Accommodation Strategy both he and the Vice-Chairman will, if appropriate, raise issues 
concerning meeting the carbon management target. 
 
Items for consideration as the programme is further developed: 
 

• The effect on Herefordshire of changes to the Single Farm Payments system (e.g. 
hedge cutting, drainage ditch clearance) 

• Any specific issues arising from Council Strategies or Plans. 

• Contribute to policy development of LTP3. 

• Consideration of revised/reviewed Flood Defence Policy. 

• Safety on the A49 and A465 trunk roads – the Director will update the Committee as 
appropriate. 

176



Health Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 2008/09 

December 2008 

 • Updates by Chief Executives of Health Trusts 

• Strategic Review of Provider Services (including proposals 
for rolling forward the Local Delivery Plan beyond 2008/09 
as prepared for consultation following the publication of the 
Darzi review from March 2008.) 

 

• Scoping of work on access to Healthcare in the South Wye – 
To consider appropriate health care in the South Wye Area 
in view of the fact of the lower health outcomes for this area 
and the expanding population. 

 

• ICT – linkages between Health and Social Care (form 
September 2008) 

• Director of Public Health Annual Report 2008  

• Oral Health/Fluoridation (from September 2008) 

• Commissioning Strategies (physical disabilities and updated 
version of the Joint Commissioning Strategy for mental 
health services – prepared in response to report on  the 
development of high-performing health and social care 
services by 2012 to meet the expected future needs of 18-
64 year-olds in Herefordshire with mental health problems 
and physical disabilities. (from March 2008) 

 

 

Scrutiny Reviews • Ambulance Service Review 

 

March 2009 

 • Monitoring of LINk Performance (& Appointment of 
observers on the Committee) 

• Elderly Falls Review – Report 

 

To be scheduled 

 • Provision of services for children with special needs (from 
April 2008) 

• Reconfiguration of Mental Health Services 

• Consultation on the NHS Constitution 

• Stroke Services – progress report (from June 2008) 

• Sexual Health – National Support Team Report (from June 
2008) 

• Walk in Health Centre Progress (from September 2008) 

• Audiology Services – outcome of external review (from June 
2008) 

• Intermediate Care – monitoring of progress (from June 
2008) 

• Workforce plan including training, recruitment and retention 
issues for the Primary Care Trust, social care and provider 
organisations in the independent sector (in response to 
report on  the development of high-performing health and 
social care services by 2012 to meet the expected future 

177



needs of 18-64 year-olds in Herefordshire with mental 
health problems and physical disabilities.) (from March 
2008) 

 

Scrutiny Reviews • Access to health 1) for ethnic minorities – Scoping 
Statement 

• Access to Health 2) Scoping Statement 

Other issues 

 

• Proposal to look at the long-term implications for people in the county of having an 
inappropriate diet. 

 

 

Further additions to the work programme will be made as required 

 
 

178


	Agenda
	
	3 MINUTES
	5 INTEGRATED CORPORATE PERFORMANCE REPORT FOR APRIL TO JULY 2008
	Cabinet report - ICPR April-July 2008
	Appendix 1 - key to detailed reports
	Appendix 1A - Overall performance
	Appendix 2 - Children and young people
	Appendix 2A - Children and young people
	Appendix 3 - Health and well-being
	Appendix 3A - Health & well-being
	Appendix 4 - Older people
	Appendix 4A - Older people
	Appendix 5 - Economic development and enterprise
	Appendix 5A - Economic development and enterprise
	Appendix 6 - Safer and stronger communities
	Appendix 6A - Safer and stronger communities
	Appendix 7 - Sustainable communities
	Appendix 7A - Sustainable communities
	Appendix 8 - Organisational improvement and efficiency
	Appendix 8A - Organisational improvement and efficiency
	Appendix 9 - Corporate Risk Register
	Appendix 10 - Crookall progress report

	6 COMPREHENSIVE AREA ASSESSMENT - JOINT INSPECTORATE PROPOSALS AND THE IMPLICATIONS FOR HEREFORDSHIRE'S PREPARATIONS
	Cabinet report for 02 10 08 - CAA preparation
	Extracts of July 08 CAA consultation document
	Pages from CAA Consultation - Summer 2008
	Appendix 2 - CAA Consultation Summary - Summer 2008
	Appendix 3 - CAA preparation programme update Sept 08
	Appendix 4 - CAA seminar programme - September 08

	7 BUDGET MONITORING
	CabinetFrontsheetAugust08fin
	Appendix A
	IPR Aug 08 Appendix B

	8 SCRUTINY ACTIVITY REPORT
	9 WORK PROGRAMMES
	work programmes SMC October 08 - composite


